# The Scottish Borders Fens:

•

# **Controls on Vegetation Development and Composition**

Rosalind Tratt

A thesis submitted to the University of Sheffield for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Animal and Plant Sciences.

June, 1997

### Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the University of Sheffield, Edgar Allen Scholarship. Additional funding and facilities were provided by Scottish Natural Heritage.

Thanks is due to Professor J. Lee for providing research facilities in the Department of Animal and Plant Sciences. I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr B.D. Wheeler, for his valuable advice and continual encouragement and my project officer at Scottish Natural Heritage, Robin Payne, for his support.

I would like to thank all the land-owners and tenants of estates in the Scottish Borders who granted access to fen sites and to Nick Whittaker, Reuben Singleton, Phil Eades, Bryan Wheeler, Andrew Buckham and Andrew Panter for their enthusiatic assistance with fieldwork. I am grateful to Dr. K.J. Gaston for sharing his expertise on biodiversity, and helping with the Worldmap analyses. Thanks also to Dr. P. Williams for granting me permission to use Worldmap. Thanks is due to Julie Smith for helping with chemical analyses and to Ian Hart at Thrybergh Comprehensive School who kindly loaned a laser printer. I would like to acknowledge Sian Gaston for her much appreciated practical support by providing childcare.

I am indebted to my family and friends for supporting me in many and varied ways throughout this project. In particular I would like to thank Nick Whittaker for being so patient and tolerant and Liz Ashton, Phil Eades, Reuben Singleton, Sian Gaston, Russ Money and Sue Shaw for their interest and encouragement.

## The Scottish Borders Fens:

## Controls on Vegetation Development and Composition.

### **Rosalind Tratt**

### Summary

- 1. The Scottish Borders fens represent an important group of British fen sites. Despite their small size many of these fens support various rare plant communities and nationally and locally rare plant species as well as a wide range of species characteristic of wetland habitats. This study has demonstrated the importance of management history, site chemical conditions and site size and morphology in the vegetation development of the Scottish Borders fens.
- 2. Sixty-eight sites were included in a general survey. The vegetation at these sites was systematically recorded. Site features (vegetation rafts, springs, drains), surrounding land-use, gross peat stratigraphy and measurements of pH and electrical conductivity of the fen water were also recorded. A subset of contrasting sites was selected for detailed investigations into site chemical conditions and peat fertility, peat stratigraphy and the development of vegetation rafts.
- 3. The quadrat data were analysed using a range of multivariate classification procedures. One classification was selected as the basis for the description of Scottish Borders fen plant communities. Twenty-four plant communities and variants are described representing rich-fen, poor-fen, bog, tall herb fen, fen meadow and swamp habitat types. The Scottish Borders fen plant communities were compared to existing comprehensive classifications of British fen vegetation.
- 4. The impact of marl and peat extraction at each site was investigated using documentary, visual and stratigraphic evidence for disturbance at each site. The status of each site was determined (cutover, partly cutover, un-disturbed) and this was related to the development of the present vegetation. Most of the Scottish Borders fens have been cut for peat or marl to some extent. However at some sites the peat stratigraphic sequences represent un-modified peat development since the late glacial. The efficiency of drains, strength of springs and basin morphology are important factors determining the development of vegetation over former peat and marl cuttings.
- 5. Site chemical conditions show much variation. The intensity of the surrounding land-use is positively correlated with peat fertility at the edges and water inflows of sites. The main axes of floristic variation correspond to the variation in base-richness of the fen water and fertility. There was no simple relationship between chemical variables and the occurrence of different plant communities.
- 6. The vegetation has developed as a quaking raft over fluid peat at many sites. Two Sphagnum dominated plant communities are confined to vegetation rafts. Their occurrence is determined by the inundation of the vegetation surface with base-rich water, the depth of the fluid peat beneath the raft and the degree of isolation of the vegetation surface from telluric water input. Where the vegetation has developed as a raft over the entire site the thickest rafts are found in the central areas. The mechanisms of central raft thickening are thought to be influenced by differential fluctuation of the water table relative to the vegetation surface across sites.

## Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	П
Summary	ш
Summary	
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Topographical Context	4
1.1.1 THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS	4
1.1.2 STUDY AREA	4
1.1.3 GEOLOGY	6
1.1.4 CLIMATE	6
1.2 Historical context	7
1.3 Re-vegetation of peat and marl workings	8
1.4 Rationale	11
1.4.1 PHASE 1: GENERAL SURVEY	12
1.4.2 PHASE 2: DETAILED INVESTIGATIONS	13
1.5 Organisation of thesis	13
Chapter 2: Plant Communities of the Scottish Borders Fens	
•	17
2.1 Introduction	17
2.2 Methods	18
2.2.1 SAMPLING STRATEGY	18
2.2.2 CLASSIFICATION STRATEGY	18
2.3 Results	19
2.3.1 PRESENTATION OF THE PLANT COMMUNITY DESCRIPTION AND	
VEGETATION TABLES	
2.3.2. VEGETATION CLASSIFICATIONS	20
2.3.2.1 TWINSPAN	21
2.3.2.2 Quantitative Ward's Analysis	21
2.3.2.3 Binary Ward's Analysis	25
2.3.2.4 National Vegetation Classification	25
2.3.3 A CLASSIFICATION OF THE PLANT COMMUNITIES OF THE	32
SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS	
2.3.3.1 Rich-fen plant communities	33
2.3.3.2 Bog	51
2.3.3.3 Poor-fen	54
2.3.3.4 Species-poor fen and swamp	54
2.3.4 SYNONYMY WITH OTHER CLASSIFICATION SCHEMES	60
2.3.5 SPECIES RICHNESS AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS	64
ASSOCIATED WITH SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS PLANT COMMUNITIES	
2.3.6 ZONATION AND CONTACT COMMUNITIES	69
2.3.6.1 Microtopographical Zonation	72
2.3.6.2 Macrotopographical Zonation	72
2.4 Discussion	73
2.4.1 LIMITATIONS OF CLASSIFICATIONS AND SAMPLING STRATEGY	73
2.4.2 PROPOSALS FOR THE NATIONAL VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION	75
2.4.3 FEATURES OF THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS AND THEIR	76
INFLUENCE ON VEGETATION COMPOSITION	

2.4.3.1 Terrestrialization of open water and hydroseral	76
succession	
2.4.3.2 Fen water chemistry and peat fertility	76
2.4.3.3 Site management	77

78

## Chapter 3: Stratigraphical Investigations into past peat and

## marl extraction and vegetation development in the Scottish

## **Borders fens**

3.1 Introduction	78
3.2 Methods	80
3.2.1 EVIDENCE OF RECENT SITE HISTORY	80
3.2.2 PEAT STRATIGRAPHY	80
3.2.2.1 Reference cores and uncut peat surfaces	80
3.2.2.2 Individual site development	81
3.2.2.3 Macrofossil analysis	82
3.3 Results and Discussion	82
3.3.1 REFERENCE CORES FROM UNCUT PEAT	82
3.3.2 DESCRIPTION OF PEAT TYPES	84
3.3.2.1 Sphagnum - Eriophorum bog peat	85
3.3.2.2 Golden hypnoid moss peat	86
3.3.2.3 Red-brown hypnoid moss peat	87
3.3.2.4 Sedge peat	88
3.3.2.5 Woody peat	89
3.3.2.6 Black and brown aquatic muds	89
3.3.2.7 Pale, marly aquatic muds	90
3.3.2.8 Shell marl	90
3.3.2.9 Blue-grey clay	90
3.3.3 CHARACTERISTICS AND DEVELOPMENT OF UNCUT PEAT	91
SURFACES	
3.3.3.1 Marl formation	91
3.3.4 BOG DE VELOPMENT	93
3.3.5 SPECIFIC STUDY: LONG MOSS	97
3.3.6 POST-DISTURBANCE PEAT TYPES	100
3.3.7 INDIVIDUAL SITE DEVELOPMENT	101
3.3.8 STATUS OF INDIVIDUAL SITES	112
3.3.9 PEAT AND MARL EXTRACTION IN THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS	118
3.3.9.1 Removal of peat and marl	122
3.3.9.2 Benefits of drainage	122
3.3.9.3 Quantities of peat and marl removed from some	122
Scottish Borders fens	
3.3.10 CHARACTERISTICS AND DEVELOPMENT OF CUT- OVER	123
SURFACES	
3.3.10.1 Formation of vegetation rafts	124
3.3.10.2 Formation of vegetation rooted into the base of the neat cutting	124
3.3.10.3 Factors influencing the revegetation of peat and	124
mari cuitings	

Chapter 4: Investigations into Relationships between Fen Water	
Chemical Conditions, Peat Fertility and Vegetation Composition	127
4.1 Introduction	127
4.2 Methods	128
4.2.1 SAMPLE SITES	128
4.2.2 VEGETATION TYPES	129
4.2.3 PHYTOMETRIC ASSESSMENT OF PEAT FERTILITY	130
4.2.4 WATER CHEMICAL DETERMINATION	131
4.2.5 DATA ANALYSIS	131
4.3 Results	132
4.3.1 VEGETATION TYPES	132
4.3.2 VARIATION BETWEEN VEGETATION TYPES	133
4.3.3 WITHIN SITE VARIATION IN PEAT FERTILITY AND WATER CHEMISTRY	142
4.3.4 IMPACT OF CATCHMENT LAND-USE ON SITE CHEMICAL CONDITIONS	154
4.3.5 VARIATION IN FEN WATER AND SUBSTRATUM CONDITIONS	160
4.3.5.1 L.A.T. model	161
4.3.6 RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN WATER CHEMISTRY, FERTILITY AND VEGETATION	161
4.3.6.1 CANOCO analysis	163
4.4 Discussion	168
4.4.1 COMPARISON WITH OTHER FENS	168
4.4.2 VARIATION IN ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH DIFFERENT VEGETATION TYPES	169
4.4.2.1 Base-richness	170
4.4.2.2 Nutrient status and fertility	170
4.4.2.3 Vegetation management	172

## Chapter 5: Vegetation rafts: Composition, Development and

Chemical Conditions	174
5.1 Introduction	174
5.2 Methods	175
5.2.1 THE OCCURRENCE OF VEGETATION RAFTS IN DIFFERENT PLANT	175
COMMUNITIES	
5.2.2 COMPOSITION AND STRATIGRAPHY OF RAFTS	175
5.2.3 WATER CHEMISTRY	177
5.3 Results	178
5.3.1 OCCURRENCE OF VEGETATION RAFTS IN DIFFERENT PLANT	178
COMMUNITIES	
5.3.2 COMPOSITION OF VEGETATION RAFTS	179
5.3.2.1 Nether Whitlaw Moss	179
5.3.2.2 Kippilaw Moss	181
5.3.2.3 Brown Moor Heights	183
5.3.2.4 Whitehaughmoor Moss	184
5.3.2.5 Greenside Moss	185
5.3.3 RAFT DEVELOPMENT AND BASIN MORPHOLOGY	186
5.3.4 WATER CHEMISTRY	188

5.3.4.1 Spatial variation in water chemistry	188
5.3.4.2 Vertical variation in water chemistry in different plant communities	189
5.3.4.3 Variation between sample sites	195
5.3.4.4 Water types	196
5.4 Discussion	199
5.4.1 OCCURRENCE OF DIFFERENT PLANT COMMUNITIES AS	199
VEGETATION RAFTS: ZONATION AND SUCCESSION	
5.4.2 AUTOGENIC ALTERATION OF CHEMICAL CONDITIONS	203
5.4.3 RAFT FORMATION AND HYDROSERAL SUCCESSION	204
5.4.3.1 Patterns of hydroseral succession in the Scottish Borders fens	204
5.4.3.2 Factors affecting raft formation and development	206
5.4.4 FACTORS AFFECTING THE DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT	208
VEGETATION TYPES	
5.4.5 DEVELOPMENT OF <i>SPHAGNUM</i> -DOMINATED PLANT COMMUNITIES	209

# Chapter 6: Biodiversity, Conservation Evaluation and

Management of the Scottish Borders Fens	213
---	-----

6.1 Introduction	213
6.1.1 ISLAND BIOGEOGRAPHICAL PRINCIPLES AND CONSERVATION	213
STRATEGY	
6.1.2 EVALUATION AND PRIORITISATION OF FEN SITES FOR NATURE	214
CONSERVATION	
6.2 Methods	215
6.2.1 VEGETATION	215
6.2.2 AREA, ISOLATION AND SHAPE	215
6.2.3 SITE EVALUATION AND CONSERVATION PRIORITSATION	216
6.2.3.1 aims	216
6.2.3.2 Species Scores	216
6.2.3.3 Rarity weighted species scores	216
6.2.3.4 Fenbase database	217
6.2.3.5 Worldmap	217
6.2.4 CATCHMENT LAND USE AND SITE MANAGEMENT	217
6.3 Results	217
6.3.1 SPECIES TOTALS	217
6.3.2 SPECIES - AREA / ISOLATION RELATIONS	218
6.3.3 LAND USE AND SITE MANAGEMENT	227
6.3.4 EVALUATION	228
6.3.4.1 Species Richness Scores	228
6.3.4.2 Fenbase Evaluation	230
6.3.4.3 Vegetation Zonation	232
6.3.4.4 Prioritising sites for the maximisation of biodiversity	232
6.4 Discussion	237
6.4.1 EVALUATION AND PRIORITISATION OF SITES FOR NATURE	237
CONSERVATION	
6.4.2 SITE SIZE, ISOLATION AND EDGE EFFECTS	240
6.4.3 IMPACT OF VEGETATION MANAGEMENT ON SPECIES RICHNESS	242

## **Chapter 7: General Discussion**

7.1 Controls on vegetation composition	244
7.1.1 SUBSTRATUM CHEMICAL CONDITIONS	244
7.1.1.1 Base-status	244
7.1.1.2 Fertility	245
7.1.2 WATER LEVELS AND WATER MOVEMENT	245
7.1.3 MANAGEMENT HISTORY AND HYDROSERAL SUCCESSION	246
7.1.3.1 Extraction of peat and marl	246
7.1.3.2 Hydroseral succession and the occurrence of	246
Sphagnum-rich vegetation	
7.1.4 MANAGEMENT OF FEN SITES FOR NATURE CONSERVATION	248
7.1.5 EXTERNAL VERSUS INTERNAL CONTROLS ON VEGETATION	249
DEVELOPMENT	
7.2 Conservation Importance of the Scottish Borders Fens	249
7.2.1 CONSERVATION GOALS	250
7.3 Conclusions	255
References	257
Appendix 1: Site Descriptions	267
Appendix 2: Locations of Sampling Sites and Transects for	
Detailed Investigations into Aspects of the Ecology of some of	278
Appendix 3. Notable mire species, (rich-fen species, poor-fen	
species, bog species, rare fen species) and nationally and locally	202
rare species occurring in the Scottish Borders fens	292

244

### **Chapter 1: General Introduction**

Mires can be defined as freshwater peatlands and related habitats that are permanently waterlogged but not deeply inundated (Gore 1983). Mires have been divided into two basic categories (Du Rietz 1949): minerotrophic mires (fens), and ombrotrophic mires (bogs). Fens are widespread throughout Britain. The vegetation of fens has been described synoptically from a range of sites (McVean & Ratcliffe 1962, Spence 1964, Birse 1980, Wheeler 1980 a.b.c.). They support a rich assemblage of species. A total of 653 plant species have been recorded from British fens (Wheeler 1993). Many of these species are particularly characteristic of wetland habitats, but fens also support more widespread species, many of which are in decline in other, perhaps 'preferred', habitats (Wheeler 1993). This underlines the importance of fen ecosystems for the maintenance of botanical diversity. However their position in the landscape, often within intensively farmed catchments, has frequently led to the destruction of fens through drainage and impoverishment of species-rich vegetation by nutrient enrichment (Wheeler 1983, Verhoeven et al. 1988). Many areas of conservationally-important fen vegetation have been subject to past disturbance, particularly drainage and peat cutting (Giller & Wheeler 1986, Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). Other areas have traditionally been mown to produce reeds and marsh hay and many sites are grazed. Therefore much of the present vegetation of lowland fens is semi-natural and does not represent an unmodified successional sequence from initiation to the present. The composition of fen vegetation is often subject to spontaneous change, especially in sites which have developed hydroserally (through the terrestralization of open water (Tansley 1939, Walker 1970)). Natural processes of succession in fens often lead to the development of fen woodland (carr) from herbaceous vegetation although on solid peat it is often difficult to know whether tree encroachment represents true autogenic succession or just colonisation. Tree encroachment is sometimes perceived as being undesirable by conservationists. Past management in the form of mowing or grazing has been effective in preventing the development of scrub in fens (Shaw & Wheeler 1991) but recent abandonment of these practices may lead to its rapid expansion (e.g. Fuller 1986).

A range of factors is thought to be important in controlling the development of fen vegetation and the occurrence of fen species. These include the chemistry of mire waters (Du Rietz 1949, Sjors 1950, Verhoeven *et al.* 1983, Malmer 1986), water flow (Kulczynski 1949), successional phase (Segal 1966, Walker 1970, Van Wirdum 1991), geographical location (Perring & Walters 1962, Wheeler 1993), past peat excavation (Lambert *et al.* 1960, Giller & Wheeler 1986) and present land management (Shaw & Wheeler 1991). An understanding of the processes and controls on

the development of fen vegetation is necessary for the successful conservation management of fen sites and the restoration of fen vegetation.

The Central Scottish Borders are located approximately 30 miles south of Edinburgh (figure 1.1) at the eastern extremity of the Southern Uplands. The area is bounded in the north and north-east by the Moorfoot and Lammermuir Hills and in the south by the Cheviots. The rivers Tweed and Teviot flow eastwards through the area. The land surrounding the sites is gently undulating, mostly pastoral farmland.

The corrugated hills of the Central Scottish Borders contain a large concentration of small basin fen sites supporting a wide range of vegetation types. Many sites show clear vegetation zonation and support nationally and locally uncommon species. Distinctive vegetation types found in the Scottish Borders fens include:

- Fen vegetation dominated by a mixture of fine-leaved sedges Carex diandra<sup>\*</sup>, Carex rostrata, Carex lepidocarpa and Carex lasiocarpa with a ground cover of Amblystegious mosses is particularly characteristic of the Scottish Borders fens and often very species-rich. Within this rich-fen vegetation, hummocks of base-tolerant Sphagnum species are sometimes found (Sphagnum contortum, S. teres, S. warnstorfii).
- Poor-fen vegetation types characterised by abundant populations of *Sphagnum* species; typically *Sphagnum recurvum*, *S. palustre*, *S. fimbriatum* and *S squarrosum* occur widely and dominate extensive areas at some sites.
- Bog vegetation characterised by the species *Eriophorum vaginatum*, *Sphagnum papillosum* and *Sphagnum magellanicum* has occasionally developed within these systems.

These potentially nationally important fen sites of the Scottish Borders are concentrated in a small geographical area. The sites vary in size but most are small (<5 ha). They support a wide range of different vegetation types, many of which have developed as rafts over flooded former peat and marl workings.

<sup>\*</sup> Species nomenclature follows Clapham *et al.* (1981) for phanerogams, Smith (1978) for mosses and Watson (1981) for liverworts.



Figure 1.1. Location of the Scottish Borders fens within the United Kingdom.

#### 1.1 Topographical context

#### 1.1.1. THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS

The Scottish Borders fens are topogenous mires, developed in small basins. The fens are small, mostly less than 5 ha, and numerous - almost 100 occur in an area of about 300km<sup>2</sup>. They are often found aggregated in "complexes" although a few occur as isolated systems. They can be classified as percolating fens (Succow & Lange 1984, Wheeler & Shaw 1995b), essentially topogenous fens with a subsurface flow of water usually derived from marginal springs and flushes. Upwelling springs, or "well-eyes" are commonly found around the mire margins (Murder Moss, Blackpool Moss, Ashkirk Loch, Wester Branxholm Loch, Boghall Moss, Whitmuirhall Loch etc.). The force of the upwelling water is thought to exploit structurally weak areas in the peat, allowing the establishment of a column of water and preventing the deposition of peat (Tight 1987). They appear as deep, sheer-sided pools, rarely colonised by plants, often with gas bubbles rising to the surface. Other features of the Scottish Borders fens include, peripheral "lagg" areas, floating rafts of vegetation ("schwingmoor").

The Scottish Borders fens represent an important series of basin fens in Britain. No similar concentration of this mire type is known elsewhere in Britain. The fens support a wide range of rich-fen plant communities with associated soligenous flushes and localised development of *Sphagnum*-rich poor-fen and ombrogenous bog vegetation. The flora of some sites includes rare northern continental elements including *Corallorhiza trifida*, *Juncus alpino-articulatus*, *Hierochloë odorata* and *Calamagrostis stricta*. The nationally rare bryophytes *Calliergon giganteum*, *Cinclidium stygium*, *Homalothecium nitens*, *Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum*, *Sphagnum contortum*, *Sphagnum fuscum*, *Sphagnum imbricatum*, *Sphagnum teres* and *Sphagnum warnstorfii* are present and locally abundant in some of the Scottish Borders fens. The nationally scarce sedge *Carex diandra* is widespread and abundant.

#### 1.1.2 STUDY AREA

The study area was chosen as the area which contained the greatest concentration of fens in the Scottish Borders (NT 400300-550100) (figure 1.2). This is an area between Selkirk and Hawick measuring 15x20 km (300km<sup>2</sup>). It contains almost 100 sites (of which 68 are included in this study), including the Whitlaw Mosses National Nature Reserve in the north-east and Wester Branxholm Loch in the south-west. The fens occur at altitudes between 150-300 metres O.D.



Figure 1.2. Locations of the Scottish Borders fen sites within the study area.

- ▲ Sites included in the general survey (see table 1.1)
- $\Delta$  Sites excluded from the general survey (see table 1.2)
- --- Boundary of the former Wilton Common.

#### 1.1.3 GEOLOGY

The bed rocks of the area are the Silurian greywackes (Silurian Birkhill shales and Gala group of the Llandovery series). These lower Palaeozoic rocks are tightly folded and almost vertically oriented. The effect of erosion on the alternating bands of hard and soft rock gives rise to a micro-relief of closely spaced ridges and hollows (corrugations). The bedrock is covered by till or stony drift and solifluction deposits. The till is a fine textured brown-grey matrix with lumps of shale (Ragg 1960). The main directions of iceflow over the area in the Devensian were northeast and east, approximately following the valley of the river Tweed from a dispersal centre in the middle of the Southern Uplands. This area carried glaciers during the Loch Lomond readvance (stadial of the Late Devensian Late-glacial, equivalent to Godwin's zone III (Godwin 1975)) (Sissons 1967, 1974). There are no major differences in the solid or quaternary geology within the study area but the soils around the Drinkstone Hill area and Selkirk Common area are different from those in the rest of the study area. They have less capability for agriculture (grade 5: suited only to rough grazing and improved grassland) than those in the valley areas (grade 4: land capable of producing a narrow range of crops and grassland with short arable breaks) (Macaulay Institute 1982).

#### 1.1.4 CLIMATE

Maps from the Macaulay Institute (1970a, 1970b) categorise the area's climate as:

- Cool (825-1100 Accumulated Day Degrees Celsius above 5.6°C);
- Moist (25-50mm Potential Water Deficit);
- Exposed (4.4-6.2m/s wind speed);
- Rather severe winters (110-230 Day Degrees Celsius. Accumulated frost).

Average annual rainfall data for the period 1941-1970 recorded from 2 stations in the study area were 1012mm (Roberton), and 792mm (Hawick). Total annual rainfall recorded in 1991 was 1009mm (Roberton), 798mm (Hawick) and 814mm (Selkirk). These figures are considerably higher than the total annual rainfall recorded by the rain gauge at Beanrig Moss. Total annual rainfall at Beanrig Moss during 1991 was 577mm and the mean annual rainfall (for the period 1983-1990) was 598mm.

Snow tends to lie for about 20-30 days and the growing season is about 195 days.

#### **1.2 Historical Context**

Most of the fen sites in the Scottish Borders were used by local inhabitants during the 18th and 19th centuries as a source of peat for fuel (Dodgshon 1978, Robson 1985). Many were also drained and dug for marl, a calcareous deposit which served as a low-grade lime to improve farmland. The history of some of these sites is unusually well documented due to the survival of various sources many of which are conserved in estate records and national archives. Material available includes maps, accounts, comments on the quality and quantity of peat, the location of "common" mosses and descriptions of the practice of peat and marl extraction and quantities removed. Evidence for the management history of the Scottish Borders fens has been obtained from the following sources:

- Site survey reports (some with plans). In these reports the peat and marl content of the site
  was assessed and the cost and benefits of drainage and peat and marl extraction were
  estimated (e.g. Todshawhill Moss, Blackpool Moss, Murder Moss, Branxholm Easter Loch,
  Kingside Loch, Over Whitlaw Moss, Whitmuirhall Loch and Huntley Moss). Figure 1.3
  shows a plan of Murder Moss from a survey undertaken in 1785 to assess the peat and marl
  content of the site and estimate the cost of drainage.
- Accounts kept by large Estates. Detailed accounts were kept by large estates describing commercial operations to drain sites and to extract and sell the peat and marl deposits to their tenants and other farmers and householders (e.g. Groundistone Moss, Whitmuirhall Loch, Huntley Moss, Greenhead (Pot Loch) and Todshawhill Moss);
- Tenancy agreements. These included statements about the tenants' rights to obtain peat and marl from mosses within the estate (e.g. Harden and Mabonlaw Mosses, Blackpool and Murder Moss);
- 4. Records of legal proceedings. Legal records document the division of common land into private ownership and the assessment of commoners (fewers) rights to obtain peat from sites for domestic use and the allocation of suitable sites for this purpose. Figure 1.4 shows a plan of the division of Wilton Common (Hawick) between neighbouring farms which took place in 1764. This plan shows the fens (mosses) and the sites with their spread ground which were allocated to the parishioners of Wilton as "common mosses" (Long Moss, Todshaw Moss and Threephead Moss). The area this represents is marked on the sketch map of the study area in figure 1.2;
- 5. Correspondence concerning disputes between parties with shared interests in sites and the rights of different parties to marl (e.g. Blackpool Moss, Murder Moss and Curdyhaugh Moss).

, Nurder Mojs Island The Drain for this morps is meand , to be hept open - So that an after period, mores level can be taken of Approx Scale: 1:5000

Figure 1.3. Surveyors sketch map of Murder Moss and Curdyhaugh Moss c. 1785 showing the location of peat borings and proposed drains.

(The associated surveyors report states that the quantity of peat which would need to be removed to make the drain on Murder Moss from f-k was calculated as 5331 cubic yards; at boring (a) there were 6 feet of peat over 4.5 feet of marl over clay; at boring (b) there were 7.5 feet of peat over 6 feet of marl over clay. No boreswere made at (c) or (d) because they were flooded and no marl was found at (e) (Robson 1985))

Road from the head The Moo Burn Whichumer Hojo The Woo Barn The Vinor Wells HARDEN Acres Roods Falls 363,, 0,, 23 Craggy Squair Moss The SCL Barrelle Jair Road " acres R. Falls Spring. 197, 2, 25 Titlings Innings AUGH HILIPHAUGH a n 70,,0 Stirkshanes , Brieric hole , & North Croft. 0000 94.1.1.8 acres R Falls 1191,1,20 Rotten Me fite 3 ou wells fruit Mor New Whilefield Map From A to B Janglanas March . 1/11. 10 From D to E Lord Justice Clarks Ground (ala Burn **OMMON** Foud house From E' to G Sallonside Ground ..... HOWLAND From G to H Greendistane Ground ..... a. a. a. J. 11, 3, 15 COUDHOUSE From Hto I Drinkston Ground ..... From Ito K Coud houses Ground \_ -----Figure 1.4. Map of Wilton Common (1764) showing the From KtoL Stausly Ground \_\_\_\_\_ From L to A White haughs Ground \_\_\_\_ division of the common land between private estates and the location of 'mosses'. Long Moss, Threephead Moss and Todshaw Moss were allocated to the parishioners of MINIST. N.B. Those Marked thave no Share in the Common Wilton as 'common' mosses. The spread ground for the drying and stacking of peat turves is marked around the 'common' mosses on the map. N.B. The Long & Mols, Threphead Mok, and St 11 M. L. Shi the Spread Ground at each are to L Approx. scale 1:10000 See heads =

Many drainage operations were well documented and refer both to general acquisition of peats and to specific operations at certain named sites. Stone-lined drains and conduits still lead from many of the sites (e.g. Ashkirk Loch, Blackpool Moss, Borthwickshiels Loch, Dunhog Moss, Easter Branxholm Loch, Groundistone Moss, Hall Moss, Kippilaw Moss, Mabonlaw Moss, Muirfield Moss, Murder Moss, St Leonards Moss, Synton Courses Loch, Synton Loch, Whitmuirhall Loch).

The available documentary material has been researched by Robson (1985) and the following is a summary of the main general points from his manuscript.

Peat and marl extraction occurred on a large scale in the parishes of Wilton, Ashkirk, Lilliesleaf, Ancrum, Selkirk and Bowden, which contained abundant peat-filled hollows. Much of the surviving documentary material refers to this area.

The Scottish Borders fens provided fuel for lowland farm and village communities. Records document the removal of peat and use of sites for livestock grazing from the early 16th century although the main period of large-scale peat and marl extraction occurred between 1750 and 1830. The fens had many uses including:

- cutting peat for fuel;
- cutting grass and reeds for fuel;
- wood and brush cutting;
- summer grazing of sheep and lambs;
- winter grazing when the ground was frozen;
- cattle grazing of the margins;
- cutting of hay for cattle fodder.

Certain sites within each parish were designated "common" mosses where the parishioners could obtain peats. Other sites were shared between tenants of farmsteads and householders (fewers) from particular villages. This was the case at Blackpool and Murder Mosses which were shared between Nether Whitlaw Farm, Clarilawmuir farm, Holydean farm and the fewers of Midlem (a nearby village). Some large estates drained sites and then sold the peat and/or marl to householders from settlements nearby and at a discounted rate to tenants. The peat and marl extraction was carried out by the purchaser, tenant, householder or parishioner and his workers. Fens were surrounded by designated "spread" ground, an area adjacent to the site for the drying and stacking of peat turves. Once all the useful material had been removed from a site another source was found. The fen peat was often 6-7 m deep. Exploiting such a depth required the removal of a large quantity of water. Peat cutting could take place around the edges of a site

without major drainage, though sooner or later it became necessary to work further into the moss and this meant getting rid of more water. Draining the moss became a lengthy, expensive but inevitable necessity, particularly if the intention was to reach the marl which lay below the peat. The presence of marl and the depth and quality of the peat was 'proved' by excavation or boring with rods. Shallow surface drains could lower the water level enough to provide extra grazing for stock and to make the site accessible so that the vegetation could be cut. (A very dry summer or hard frost could have the same effect). Deeper drains were required for the removal of peat and subsequently marl. Draining was often very expensive. Shallow surface cut drains were followed by deeper ones and then sometimes by subterranean culverts. Drains were cleared and maintained by the parties with rights to the peat, the householders, tenants, parishioners usually at the start of the main peat-cutting season (which normally began in May). Some large estates employed workers to maintain the drains, and carry out general duties associated with the extraction of peat and marl.

The methods of draining the site, cutting the peat and removing the marl were common to all areas so the practice at one site would be similar to that at all others. These methods are described in detail in Robson (1985).

#### 1.3 Revegetation of peat and marl workings

In the past fen sites have been an important source of peat for domestic fuel throughout Britain, and have been drained and dug on a large scale. The Norfolk Broads are extensive flooded peat cuttings (Lambert et al. 1960) and similar sites exist in the Netherlands (Segal 1966, Van Wirdum 1991). Regular peat cutting in these lowland areas generally ceased with the onset of industrialisation when improved transport and the development of towns meant that the rural communities contracted and other fuel sources, mainly coal, became more widely available (Wells 1988). Many former peat-cuttings have re-vegetated since abandonment. Some factors determining the type of vegetation colonising flooded former peat cutting in bogs were identified by White (1930). She found that the depth of cutting determined the type of colonising vegetation so aquatic communities would colonise the deepest cuttings, followed by fen communities, followed by poor-fen communities dominated by Sphagnum species. The subsequent succession then followed this sequence until the vegetation became indistinguishable from that present on the original bog surface. Its rate was influenced by the area of the peat cutting and was most rapid in the smallest areas. In the Scottish Borders fens some former peat and marl workings reflooded on abandonment and these have re-vegetated hydroserally. In others the drains have remained intact and a vegetation layer of fen meadow or small sedge fen has developed on solid material over the

base of the peat / marl working. At yet other sites the drains were initially effective but then later became blocked leading to the gradual re-flooding of the peat-cutting. This resulted in either rooted vegetation with standing water or, perhaps, floating rafts where the layer of vegetation became detached from the solid peat and floated to the surface. The latter process has been described from some Dutch sites (H. Piek (1972), cited by Bakker (1979)).

Some of the most scarce and valued plant communities in British fens occur in former peat cuttings which have re-vegetated hydroserally (Wheeler 1993). However many of them represent a transient phase in the terrestralization sequence and may be lost as the infilling process continues, despite continued vegetation management (Giller & Wheeler 1986). Therefore the only way of ensuring the perpetuation of these plant communities may be through the re-excavation of peat pits (Wheeler 1993).

In contrast to peat-cuttings, the re-vegetation of marl pits has not been much investigated, although the development of vegetation in an actively depositing marl bed in the U.S.A. has been described by Seichab (1984).

#### **1.4 Rationale**

The concentration of a large number of fens, many with a well documented management history, of the same mire type, within the same geological and climatic region but supporting a wide range of fen plant communities presented an unparalleled opportunity to investigate the influence of management history and environmental conditions on vegetation development.

The aims of this study were to investigate the role of site chemical conditions, surrounding landuse, the past extraction of peat and marl and site size and morphology in the development of the present vegetation of the Scottish Borders fens, and to evaluate the national and regional conservation importance of the Scottish Borders fen sites included in this study.

The project was organised into two phases of investigation:

- 1. A general survey to broadly identify the fen resource of the Central Scottish Borders;
- 2. Ecological studies into aspects of vegetation development at a small number of contrasting sites.

#### 1.4.1 PHASE 1: GENERAL SURVEY

This involved the compilation of an inventory of sites within the study area. Base-line vegetation, chemical (pH and electrical conductivity measurements) and peat stratigraphic data were recorded from all accessible sites within the study area. Features of sites and the surrounding land use were recorded and a sketch map of the vegetation at each site was produced. These data were then analysed with respect to known or measurable site variables which may influence the development of the present vegetation (site history, site management, site modification, base-line chemical status, size, isolation and catchment land-use). The sites included in the general survey are listed in table 1.1. Sites excluded from the general survey are listed in table 1.2.

The main features of each site included in this study are summarised in Appendix 1.

### 1.4.2 PHASE 2: DETAILED INVESTIGATIONS

This involved the selection of a small number of sites which represented the range of site and vegetation types found in the general survey to examine in detail the development of the present vegetation in relation to chemical conditions, catchment land use and site history. Particular emphasis was made on the revegetation of peat cuttings and vegetation raft formation.

The investigations which took place at each site are presented in table 1.1.

Plans of sites selected for more detailed studies showing the location of transects and sample points are presented in Appendix 2.

#### 1.5 Organisation of thesis

This thesis is organised into the following sections:

- Description of vegetation types and peat stratigraphy of the Scottish Borders fens (Chapters 2,3).
- Investigation of factors (water chemistry, peat fertility, intensity of surrounding land use, site morphology and site management) which may affect vegetation development (Chapters 4,5,6).
- Implications for habitat conservation and fen vegetation management (Chapter 7).

In chapter 2 the present vegetation of the Scottish Borders fens is systematically described and classified using multivariate procedures. This classification is compared with existing comprehensive mire vegetation classification schemes (e.g. Wheeler 1980 a,b,c and Rodwell 1991, 1994).

The role of site management histories, in particular peat and marl extraction, in the development of the present vegetation is examined in chapter 3 and the status of each site (cutover, part cutover, un-modified) is determined on the basis of documentary, visual and stratigraphic evidence. Factors affecting the re-vegetation of peat cuttings are discussed.

The relationship of water chemical conditions and peat fertility to catchment land-use and occurrence of plant communities is investigated in chapter 4.

Many of the Borders fens support quaking rafts of vegetation. In chapter 5 the processes of formation and development of vegetation rafts are investigated.

The Scottish Borders fens are a potentially nationally important group of sites. In chapter 6 the relation of species richness to biogeographical variables (shape, area and isolation) is examined and the conservation importance of each of the Scottish Borders fens sites included in this study is evaluated on the basis of species-richness, rarity and biodiversity.

Table 1.1. List of names and grid references of sites included in the general survey (site description and recording of vegetation, gross stratigraphy and pH and electrical conductivity) and indication of their inclusion in detailed investigations of peat stratigraphy, fen water chemistry, peat fertility, and the chemistry and stratigraphy of vegetation rafts.

		Selected Sites		Vegetation Rafts		
Site name	National Grid	Peat	Water	Peat	Water	Stratigraphy
	Reference	Stratigraphy	Chemistry	Fertility	Chemistry	017
Adderstonelee Moss SSSI	NT 533 119		· · ·		·	
Ashkirk Loch SSSI	NT 476 193	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	✓	✓		
Beanrig Moss NNR	NT 517 293	~	✓	✓	✓	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Beeswood Moss	NT 447 232					
Berry Moss	NT 491 250					
Bitchlaw Moss	NT 525 121					
Blackcraig Moss	NT 502 208					
Blackpool Moss NNR	NT 517 290	✓				
Blind Moss SSSI	NT 458 183	✓			✓	
Boghall Moss	NT 491 186					
Borthwickshiels Loch	NT 425 153					
Branxholm Easter Loch SSSI	NT 433 117					
Branxholm Wester Loch SSSI	NT 422 110					
Brown Moor Heights nSSSI	NT 458 247	✓				✓ <b>→</b>
Buckstruther Moss SSSI	NT 540 120					
Clerklands Moss	NT 494 253					
Curdyhaugh Moss	NT 504 282					
Dry Moss	NT 483 266					
Duplog Moss SSSI	NT 435 200					
Fluther Moss	NT 519 122					
Greenside Mess	NT 519 259					
Groundistone Moss	NT 409 105					
	NT 496 193					
	NT 407 273					
Handon Moss	NT 489 197					
Harden Moss	NI 449 104					
Hare Moss	NT 408 247					
	NT 466 269			•		
Highchesters Moss	NI 463 145					
Hummelknowes Moss SSSI	NT 515 127					
Huntley Moss	NT 413 248					
Hutlerburn Loch	NT 420 253					
Kippilaw Moss	NT 493 154	<b>v</b>	<b>√</b>	<b>v</b>		✓
Ladywoodedge Moss	NT 488 256					
Lilliesleaf Moss	NT 539 251					
Lionfield Moss	NT 485 161					
Little Moss	NT 540 144	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Long Moss SSSI	NT 478 185	<b>√</b>			✓	
Mabonlaw Moss	NT 455 167					
Muirfield Moss	NT 504 204	<b>V</b>	✓	✓		
Murder Moss NNR	NT 504 285	✓	✓			
Nether Whitlaw Moss SSSI	NT 508 294	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	✓		✓	✓
Newhouse Moss	NT 518 234				]	
Pickmaw Moss	NT 493 281					
Riddellshiel Moss	NT 501 253					
Rotten Moss	NT 460 170					
Sea Croft Moss	NT 478 104					
Selkirk Hill Moss	NT 486 285					
Selkirk Pot Loch	NT 478 283					

Table 1.1 cont.

r <del></del>			Selected Sites		Vegeta	tion Rafts
Site name	National Grid	Peat	Water	Peat	Water	Stratigraphy
	Reference	Stratigraphy	Chemistry	Fertility	Chemistry	
Selkirk Race Course Moss SSSI	NT 498 276					
Shielswood Loch	NT 453 191					
St. Leonards Moss	NT 483 107	✓	✓	✓		
Stoneyford Moss	NT 486 204					
Stouslie Pool	NT 490 170					
Synton Loch	NT 483 206					
Tandlaw Moss	NT 490 177					
Tathyhole Moss	NT 475 218					
Threephead Moss	NT 450 175					
Tocher Lodge Moss	NT 438 231					
Todshawhill Moss	NT 452 122					
Whitehaughmoor Moss W	NT 471 176					
Whitehaughmoor Moss E	NT 474 176	~	√	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	~	1
Whitehaughmoor Moss M	NT 472 176					
Whitmuihall Loch SSSI	NT 497 272	<b>√</b>	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>		
Whitmuir Moss	NT 492 269					
Woolaw Loch	NT 461 173					
Woolaw Moss	NT 465 172					

Table 1.2. List of site names and grid references of sites excluded from the general survey.

Site Name	N.G.R.	Reason for exclusion
Branxholm Easter Loch	NT 433 117	Open Water
Essenside Loch	NT 449 218	Open Water
Ewens loch	NT 512 137	Landfill site
Green Diamonds	NT 466 250	Open Water
Lindean Reservoir	NT 505 294	Open Water
Nig Knowes Moss	NT 490 122	Access denied
Whithope Moss	NT 433 123	Access denied
Greenhead	NT 497 293	Access denied
Lindean Mast	NT 500 295	Access denied
Prieston Cooksmoss	NT 532 283	Treated with weedkiller
Prieston Templehall	NT 527 282	Treated with weedkiller
Eastfield	NT 539 282	Access denied
Catshawhill 1	NT 540 223	Access denied
Catshawhill 2	NT 543 225	Access denied
Marlside Hill	NT 542 215	Access denied
Big Wood	NT 477 263	Access denied
Braw Moss	NT 469 262	Access denied
Over Whitlaw	NT 505 299	Access denied
Loch Syke	NT 452 237	Forestry Plantation
Groundistone Covert	NT 488 191	Access denied
Acreknowe Reservoir	NT 495 107	Open Water
Williestruther Loch	NT 492 115	Open Water
Weavers Moss	NT 439 177	Forestry Plantation
Mosshills Loch	NT 514 142	Access denied
Akermoor Loch	NT 207 210	Open Water
Cavers Knowes Moss	NT 538 148	Access denied
Headshaw Loch	NT 460 235	Open Water
Alton Pond	NT 518 185	Open Water

### Chapter 2: Plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens.

#### 2.1 Introduction

In lowland agricultural landscapes wetlands provide one of the main semi-natural habitats, and form repositories for a wide range of plant species including those plant species which are particularly characteristic of fens and bogs (Wheeler 1988, 1993). Wetlands support a wide range of plant communities (Wheeler 1980a,b,c, Rodwell 1991, 1994). Many rare species occur within wetland plant communities, including many bryophytes which are well represented in these habitats (Wheeler 1988, 1993). Some of these rare species are specially adapted to the wetland environment, but many other species are simply tolerant of the water regime and the wetland habitat is a refuge for rare species e.g. *Listera ovata*, which would thrive on dry soils but which either cannot compete in certain (e.g. unmanaged) dryland communities or where their dryland habitat has been destroyed (e.g. ploughed up old pasture) (Wheeler 1993). Therefore the potential niche of many species typical of wetland plant communities is considerably broader than their realised niche. The actual habitat requirements of many wetland species is however unknown and comparative screening programmes have not included typical 'wetland' species.

The physical characteristics of a site have often been used to characterise mire vegetation through the classification of wetland type (Kulczynski 1949). The environmental conditions present at a site are often important in determining the occurrence of certain species and plant communities. Generally the mire habitat is very variable and subject to a wide range of different environmental conditions (Wheeler 1993). This variation is manifested in the vegetation and it is often difficult to divide some groups of mire vegetation into distinct floristic units (Wheeler 1980a,b,c, O'Connell 1981). Mire vegetation in the U.K. and Northern Europe has broadly been categorised into rich-fen, poor-fen and bog (Du Rietz 1949, 1954, Sjors 1950). Within these categories several mire plant communities have been described and classifications produced for Britain (e.g. McVean & Ratcliffe 1962, Spence 1964, Daniels 1978, Wheeler 1980a,b,c, O'Connell 1981, Rodwell 1991, 1994).

The most recent classification of British mire vegetation has been the National Vegetation Classification (Rodwell 1991, 1994) which was designed to standardise the description of U.K. vegetation. This is based on analyses of the data from most of the existing U.K. classifications combined with new data recorded using standardised sampling procedures.

The Scottish Borders fens support many nationally scarce plant species and wetland plant communities which represent rich-fen, poor-fen and bog habitat types. The vegetation of many of the Scottish Borders fens has not been systematically described.

The aims of this part of the study were to:

- 1. Describe the full range of wetland plant communities represented in the Scottish Borders fens;
- Compare a range of multivariate classification procedures used to classify the vegetation data recorded in the general survey of the Scottish Borders fens. Assess the performance of different procedures and select one classification as a basis for the description of the plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens;
- 3. Relate the classification of the Scottish Borders fens vegetation data to other schemes, in particular the National Vegetation Classification;
- 4. Relate the vegetation composition of the Scottish Borders fens to particular features of these fen systems.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 SAMPLING STRATEGY

The aim of the survey was to sample the vegetation of all the wetland habitat types (rich-fen, poor-fen and bog) occurring in the basin area at each site.

The methods were designed to be compatible with other studies that have been conducted on fens in the U.K (Wheeler 1975, Wheeler & Shaw 1987) and with the National Vegetation Classification approach (Rodwell 1991, 1994).

Each site was sampled by selecting visually-uniform vegetation units (stands) and recording the following data from a representative  $4m^2$  quadrat (samples).

Vegetation was described and recorded. Abundance of species was scored using the Domin scale. Species occurring within the stand but outside the quadrat within an area of approximately 100m<sup>2</sup> were also noted.

The pH and electrical conductivity of the interstitial fen water were recorded in the field.

#### 2.2.2 CLASSIFICATION STRATEGY

There are several existing schemes for the classification of fen vegetation in Britain and in NW Europe based on comprehensive description of vegetation types (Kulczynski 1949, Wheeler, 1975 & 1980a,b,c, Schaminée et al. 1995). The National Vegetation Classification (Rodwell 1991,

1994) has been produced by the re-analysis of data from U.K. classifications combined with new data from smaller scale surveys.

The quadrat data were classified using multivariate analyses: Ward's analysis (Ward 1963), a polythetic, agglomerative technique and TWINSPAN (Hill 1979), a polythetic, divisive technique. Both binary (presence/absence) data and quantitative data for the  $4m^2$  and  $100m^2$  data sets were analysed and the differences between the classifications were assessed. Prior to the analyses, data for species with less than three occurrences in the entire data set were removed to reduce 'noise' in the data.

A National Vegetation Classification (N.V.C.) community was assigned to each quadrat using the computer programme MATCH (Malloch 1988).

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 PRESENTATION OF THE PLANT COMMUNITY DESCRIPTIONS AND VEGETATION TABLES

The vegetation units are described following the N.V.C. approach using as the basic unit the community. This may contain variants. Each community is assigned to the broad habitat categories of rich-fen, poor-fen, bog, and species-poor fen and swamp. The frequency of species within each group was calculated and scored on a five point scale as follows:

Frequency	Frequency
Score	
I	0-20%
Н	21-40%
Ш	41-60%
IV	61-80%
V	81-100%

In the plant community descriptions constant species (frequency V or IV) are listed and associated species (frequency III) and differential species (with a frequency less than III but which are largely confined to that community) are indicated [in square brackets].

The vegetation tables (tables 2.8-2.24) contain the frequency scores of species with a frequency greater than 5% within the community. Constant species have a frequency of V and IV. Differential species have a frequency 25% higher than that found in any other community, or are confined to one community.

#### 2.3.2 VEGETATION CLASSIFICATIONS

Overall 313 quadrats were recorded from 68 sites. 183 species were present in the data set used in the analyses. The numbers of species recorded are presented in table 2.1. These are categorised into species characteristic of rich-fen, poor-fen and bog habitats (see Appendix 3, Wheeler 1996). Rare-fen species are those which have a national frequency less than 5% (Wheeler 1988, 1996).

	Total species	Rare fen species	Bog species	Poor-fen species	Rich-fen species
Total species	209	39	25	60	90
Vascular species	150	29	16	40	74
Bryophytes	52	10	8	19	16
Liverworts	7	0	1	1	0

Table 2.1. Numbers of species recorded in the Scottish Borders fens.

The number of clusters / end-groups yielded by each classification procedure are presented in table 2.2. The TWINSPAN classification procedure is based on dividing one large group made up of all the samples into smaller groups of similar samples. The TWINSPAN analysis was set to split the data into groups at 5 levels, potentially yielding 32 endgroups. However, if the samples are unevenly split at any point the subsequent division may fail because there are too few samples, as was the case in these analyses. Groups of samples which are very distinctly different from other samples are often split from the mass of data early on in the classification procedure.

The Ward's analysis is based on grouping the individual samples into successively larger clusters based on the similarity of samples. There are therefore potentially as many clusters as samples using this technique! At each step samples and clusters are grouped together which lead to the smallest increase in the similarity coefficient between clusters. The difference between the similarity coefficients at each step in the procedure indicates how similar the clusters at one step are to the next. The final clusters, or end-groups, are identified as those beyond the point of the first marked difference in the similarity coefficient in the clustering procedure.

Table 2.2. Numbers of communities yielded by different classification procedures of the Scottish Borders fens vegetation data.

Classification procedure	Number of clusters / end-groups (plant communities)
Twinspan (binary)	18
Twinspan (quantitative)	17
Wards (binary)	19
Wards (quantitative)	18

There were some broad similarities between the outcomes of the different techniques, but generally the classifications produced strikingly different results, especially between quantitative and binary analyses.

Generally all the classification procedures grouped the samples into groups which could be interpreted as rich-fen, poor-fen, bog and species-poor swamp and fen. Samples representing some distinctive vegetation types (e.g. *Sphagnum recurvum* dominated poor-fen, *Sphagnum papillosum* dominated bog, and species-rich short sedge fen with *Carex dioica*, *Carex hostiana* and *Ctenidium molluscum*) were grouped together by all the classification procedures.

The quantitative analyses grouped samples primarily on the basis of dominance so that samples containing a dominant species tended to be grouped together, often disregarding more subtle variations in species composition, especially when the vegetation was very species-rich. The qualitative classifications grouped the samples more successfully on the basis of composition, although very species-poor vegetation which is often *characterised* by the dominant species tended to be split into a few large indistinct groups.

#### 2.3.2.1 TWINSPAN

In the TWINSPAN classification procedures samples from some distinctive vegetation types were split from the majority of samples early on in the classification leaving just a few unwieldy groups containing a large number of samples that were broadly similar but which represented different types of vegetation. Further division of these groups simply resulted in a few samples being split, apparently arbitrarily, from the main group which remained very large. Therefore the TWINSPAN classifications were on the whole less satisfactory than those produced by the Wards method and were disregarded.

#### 2.3.2.2 Quantitative Ward's Analysis

The quantitative Ward's analysis (figure 2.1 and table 2.3) yielded a classification which was based on a combination of species dominance and composition with variants based upon the prominence of a particular species. This method did not detect some of the more subtle floristic differences within plant communities so that potentially important variants (for example, quadrats representative of small scale mosaics, and transitional plant communities) were often subsumed into larger clusters. The characteristic rich-fen vegetation type containing abundant base-tolerant *Sphagnum* species was not separated from the other rich-fen communities in this classification. The species-poor swamp and fen samples were grouped into 9 communities although one of these was very ill-defined and contained stands from vegetation which could not easily be fitted into the other groups. This was usually because these quadrats were dominated by species which did not



quadrat data. For descriptions of plant communities see table 2.3.

Table 2.3. Plant communities generated by Ward's quantitative classification of Scottish Borders fens quadrat data. n = number of quadrats; N.V.C. codes are for the communities listed in table 2.6.

End-group	Constant species (Differential species, (D) Dominant species)	u	N.V.C.
Plant community			counterpart
l Phraomites australis reedbed	Phragmites australis (D), Mentha aquatica, Galium palustre	20	S4
5	Phalaris arundinacea (D)	5	S28
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed			
4 Carex paniculata fen	<u>Carex paniculata(D)</u> , Salix cinerea, Agrostis stolonifera, Filipendula ulmaria, Potentilla palustris	6	S3
3 Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	<u>Filipendula ulmaria (D)</u> , Carex disticha, Agrostis stolonifera, Angelica sylvestris, Galium palustre	14	M27
2	Valeriana dioica, Rumex acetosa. Molinia caerulea. Juncus acutiflorus. Holcus Ionatus	22	MD3
Molinia caerulea / Juncus acutiflorus fen meadow	Galium uliginosum. Filipendula ulmaria, Carex panicea, Caltha palustris, Calliergon cusnidatum Anoelica subsectris Aarostis stolonifera	4	M25
0			
Flushed Molinia caerulea	curex rostrata, carex panteea, Ertopnorum angustifottum, Moltma caerulea, Equisetum palustre, Equisetum fluviatile	10	M25
grassland			
8 Carex dioica - Carex hostiana rich-fen	<u>Carex hostiana</u> , <u>Carex flacca</u> , Carex panicea, <u>Ctenidium molluscum</u> , <u>Carex dioica</u> , <u>Succisa</u> <u>pratensis</u> , Carex lepidocarpa, Carex rostrata, Campylium stellatum, Drepanocaldus revolvens, Carex diandra, Equisetum palustre, Eriophorum angustifolium, <u>Juncus articulatus</u> Alolinia caerulea, Menvanthes trifoliata	11	M10
7	Carex lepidocarpa, <u>Calliergon giganteum</u> , <u>Carex diandra</u> , <u>Eriophorum angustifolium</u> ,	15	M9
Carex lepidocarpa Carex diandra rich-fen	Calliergon cuspidatum, Campylium stellatum, Carex rostrata, Drepanocladus revolvens, Menyanthes trifoliata, Scorpidium scorpioides		M9b
6	Carex lasiocarpa, Calliergon cuspidatum, Caltha palustris, Campylium stellatum, Carex	12	M9
Carex lasiocarpa rich-fen	lepidocarpa, Carex rostrata, Drepanocladus revolvens, Menyanthes trifoliata, Phragmites australis, Scorpidium scorpioides		M9a

End-group	Constant species (Differential species, (D) Dominant species)	"	N.V.C.
Plant community			counterpart
10	Carex rostrata, Plagiomnium rostratum, Epilobium palustre, Equisetum fluviatile. Aerostis	18	M9h
Carex rostrata-Plagiomnium	stolonifera, Angelica sylvestris, Caltha palustris, Filipendula ulmaria, Galium palustre.		S27a
rostatum rich-fen	Menyanthes trifoliata, Potentilla palustris		
11	<u>Carex diandra</u> , Calliergon cuspidatum, Caltha palustris, Carex rostrata. Carex lepidocarna	31	М9ћ
Carex diandra rich-fen	Plagiomnium rostratum, Potentilla palustris, Equisetum fluviatile, Galium palustre,	<b>1</b> ) _	
	Menyanthes trifoliata, Juncus acutiflorus		
14	Carex rostrata, Potentilla palustris, Calliergon cuspidatum, Galium palustre. Enilohium	16	S77a
Carex rostrata -Potentilla	palustre	2	8170
palustris -Calliergon			
cuspidatum fen and swamp			
15	Carex rostrata, Epilobium palustre, Galium palustre. Carex niera. Fauisetum Auviatile	۲1	527
Carex rostrata - Carex nigra	Juncus effusus	3	170
mixed fen and swamp			
12	Carex rostrata, Equisetum fluviatile, Eleocharis palustris. Agrostis stolonifera. Caltha	54	SQ
Carex rostrata mixed fen and	palustris, Mentha aquatica	•	277
swamp			170
13	<u>Carex rostrata (D), Equisetum fluviatile, Galium palustre, Juncus effusus</u>	37	50a
Carex rostrata swamp		5	0
16	<u>Menyanthes trifoliata (D)</u> , Carex rostrata, Equisetum fluviatile	36	SON
Afenyanthes trifoliata fen and		2	-
swamp			
18	<u>Sphagnum squarrosum, Sphagnum recurvum, Potentilla palustris. Menvanthes trifoliata</u>	10	M4
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum	Carex curta, Aulacomnium palustre, Eriophorum angustifolium, Carex rostrata	2	M5
recurvum community			<b>C111</b>
17	<u>Calluna vulgaris, Eriophorum vaginatum, Eriophorum angustifolium, Sphagnum papillosum</u>	10	MIX
Eriophorum vaginatum -	Sphagnum capillifolium, Aulacomnium palustre, Carex rostrata	•	M21
Sphagnum papillosum		-	
community			
			-

•
_
_
- 0
- 72
<b>u</b>
$\sim$
-
ം
-
-
يبدر
-

.

occur widely, so that several disparate stands were grouped together, apparently on the basis of their dissimilarity from the other samples, not on their similarity to one another. A feature of Ward's analysis is its use of joint absence as well as joint presence to calculate the similarity of samples which often results in the grouping together of species-poor samples on the basis of the large number of species they *do not* contain.

#### 2.3.2.3 Binary Ward's Analysis

The binary Ward's analysis (figure 2.2 and table 2.4) produced a more complicated classification than the quantitative Ward's classification with the samples divided into a larger number of rich-fen clusters, on the basis of overall floristic composition rather than dominance. However the species-poor swamp and fen samples were divided into only five clusters which were not easily differentiated. These quadrats represented vegetation which was dominated by a single species and the binary classification uses composition only to cluster the data. Therefore species-poor vegetation was clustered on the basis of negative scores (the species which were *not* present in each quadrat) and were therefore classed as similar, apparently because of their dissimilarity to samples in other clusters. However this classification did reflect the variability and continuum of vegetation types actually seen in the field and distinguished some distinctive plant communities (e.g. the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community) which were not identified by the other classification procedures.

The plant communities defined by the binary and quantitative Ward's classifications communities are summarised below (table 2.5).

#### 2.3.2.4 National Vegetation Classification

The N.V.C. communities and sub-communities found represented in the Scottish Borders fens are listed in table 2.6. These were recognised using MATCH, a computer programme which lists the N.V.C. communities which most closely resemble each quadrat. Overall 33 N.V.C. plant communities and sub-communities were represented.

The quantitative Ward's classification had more affinities with the N.V.C. mires and swamps and tall herb fen classifications than did the binary Ward's classification, although both classifications generated some groups which had little affinity with any N.V.C. communities. Some groups generated by the above analyses were broadly synonymous with N.V.C. plant communities (table 2.7).



n N.V.C code	Constant species (differential species; [weakly differential] species)	Description	End-group /
		e an occurrence within the community less than 25%	community or variant but hav
ufined to a	community than in other communities. Weakly differential species are cor	l species have at least a 25% higher frequency in the	listed in table 2.6. Differential
he communities	n Borders fens quadrat data. $n =$ number of samples; N.V.C. codes are for t	generated by Ward's binary classification of Scottisl	Table 2.4. Plant communities

End-group / vlant community	Description	Constant species ( <u>differential</u> species; [ <u>weakly differential</u> ] species)	2	V.V.C code	
I Acidified / wooded fen	Species-poor fen and fen carr.	Agrostis stolonifera, Holcus lanatus, Molinia caerulea, Eriophorum angustifolium, Galium palustre, Sphagnum subnitens, Viola palustris	~		1
2 Molinia caerulea / Juncus acutiflorus	Species-rich rush pasture with open	<u>Juncus acutiflorus (D</u> ), Epiloobium palustre, Filipendula ulmaria, Holcus lanatus. Caltha palustris. Galium uliginosum. Molinia caerulea	10 ]	A23	:
fen meadow	sedge species but scattered bryophytes	Carex panicea, Luzula multiflora, Rumex acetosa, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Anthoxanthum odoratum, Phragmites australis, Succisa pratensis, Angelica sylvestris, Potentilla erecta <u>Achillea ptarmica</u> , [Cirsium palustre], [Centaurea nigra]			
3 Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	Tall herb fen vegetation dominated by tall, dense <i>Filipendula ulmaria</i> with tall herbs	Filipendula ulmaria (D), Agrostis stolonifera, Holcus lanatus, Juncus acutiflorus, Epilobium palustre, Carex rostrata, Juncus effusus, Rumex	15 ]	A27	1
	prominent and there is often some scrub development	acetosa, Lychnis Jios-cucuti, Angetica syrvesiris, Carex aisticna, Equisetum fluviatile <u>(Poa trivialis), [Stachys palustris]</u>			
4 Mixed wet grassland	Indistinctive species-poor vegetation with a rather limited variety of sedges and grasses and tussocks of <i>Juncus conglomeratus</i>	Filipendula ulmaria, Agrostis stolonifera, Holcus lanatus, Calliergon cuspidatum, Epilobium palustre, Carex rostrata, <u>Carex nigra</u> <u>Juncus</u> conglomeratus	18		:
5 &6 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community	Rather variable rich-fen vegetation characterised by a basic suite of species.	Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile, Potentilla palustris, Caltha palustris, Galium palustre, Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium rostatum	23 1	A9/S27	·····
5.2 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Typical variant	Species-poor variant lacking differential species.		191	A9/S27	

Table 2.4 cont.					
End-group / plant community	Description	Constant species ( <u>differentia</u> l species; [ <u>weakly differential]</u> species)	4.N u	.C code	
5.1 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	Species-rich variant where the sward is enriched by mixed sedges and the bryophyte layer includes scattered brown moss species	<u>Molinia caerulea, Carex diandra, Carex nigra, Ranunculus flammula, Juncus articulatus, Sagina nodosa, Carex lepidocarpa</u>	19 M9		
6 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Miscellaneous variant	Miscellaneous variant includes stands which do not fit easily into the other two, well defined variants.	Epilobium palustre, Juncus effusus, Dactylorhiza fuchsii, Cirsium palustre, Holcus lanatus, Myosotis scorpioides	23 M9	'S27	
8 Mixed sedge rich-fen community	Rich-fen vegetation with a sward composed of a variety of small sedge species with plentiful herbs and a bryophyte layer including locally abundant brown moss species.	Menyanthes trifoliata, Calliergon cuspidatum, Carex lepidocarpa, Eriophorum angustifolium, Succisa pratensis, Valeriana dioica, Molinia caerulea, Carex panicea, Carex rostrata, Potentilla palustris, Filipendula ulmaria, Galium uliginosum, Cardamine pratensis, Caltha palustris, Carex diandra, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Epilobium palustre, Plagiomnium rostratum, Angelica sylvestris, Agrostis stolonifera	13 M9	0	
7+9 Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	Rich fen vegetation characterised by a rich bryophyte layer containing brown moss species and base-tolerant <i>Sphagnum</i> species <i>Sphagnum contortum and Sphagnum</i> <i>warnstorfii</i> beneath an open sward of sedges.	Menyanthes trifoliata, Calliergon cuspidatum, Carex lepidocarpa, Eriophorum angustifolium, Succisa pratensis, Campylium stellatum, Pedicularis palustris, Scorpidium scorpioides, Potentilla palustris, Cardamine pratensis, Caltha palustris, Carex diandra, Parnassia palustris <u>Sphagnum contortum, Rhizonnium pseudopunctatum,</u> [ <u>Sphagnum warnstorfii</u> ]	17 M9 M9 M8	a?	
10 Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss rich-fen community	Rich fen characterised by small sedges and rich-fen bryophytes. Some stands are transitional to the <i>Carex dioica</i> - <i>Carex</i> <i>hostiana</i> community	Menyanthes trifoliata, Calliergon cuspidatum, Carex lepidocarpa, Eriophorum angustifolium, Molinia caerulea, Carex panicea, Campylium stellatum, Carex rostrata, Equisetum palustre, Drepanocladus revolvens	17 M9,	-	
11 Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	Rich-fen vegetation growing in spring discharge and seepage areas within fens. This vegetation is characterised by a low- growing and open sward, and is very species rich.	Carex hostiana, Juncus bulbosus, Pinguicula vulgaris, Carex dioica, Eleocharis quinqueflora, Fissidens adianthoides, Triglochin palustris, Briza media, Carex flacca, Ctenidium molluscum, Euphrasia officinalis, Luzula multiflora	11 MI	(	
ind-group /	Description	Constant species ( <u>differential</u> species; [ <u>weakly differential</u> ] species)	u	V.V.C code	
--	--	---	-------	------------	-----
slant community					
2.1a	Very species-poor swamp and fen vegetation	Carex rostrata, Phragmites australis (D), Urtica dioica	28	54/S28/S9	
species-poor swamp and fen	containing no distinctive set of species				
hragmites dominated					- 7
2.1	Carex rostrata monoculture accompanied by	Carex rostrata, <u>Potentilla palustris</u>	Π	39	_
<sup>2</sup> otentilla palustris variant	scattered swamp species				
2.2	Dominant Menyanthes trifoliata occurs with	Carex rostrata, <u>Menyanthes trifoliata (D)</u> , <u>Equisetum fluviatile</u>	33	39b	•
Menyanthes trifoliata dominant	scattered blades of Carex rostrata and	Ranunculus lingua	•••••		
	spikes of Equisetum fluviatile				
13.1	Species-poor vegetation dominated by Carex	Carex rostrata, Equisetum fluviatile, Myosotis scorpioides, Mentha	27	59/S27	
Carex rostrata-Equisetum fluviatile	rostrata with a small suite of associated	aquatica, Carex nigra, Epilobium palustre, Juncus acutiflorus, Caltha			
wamp and fen	species.	palustris			
Carex nigra-Juncus variant	This variant includes vegetation enriched by				
	a small number of additional species				
13.2	Usually very wet vegetation with aquatic	<u>Cicuta virosa, Lenna minor, Polygonum amphibium</u>	26	39	•
<i>Ticuta virosa-Lemna</i> variant	species and open water				
[4	Poor fen vegetation characterised by	Carex rostrata, <u>Aulacomnium palustre</u> , Eriophorum angustifolium,	10	M4/M5	
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum	dominant Sphagnum species typical of base-	Sphagnum recurvum, Potentilla palustris, Menyanthes trifoliata, Juncus			
sommunity	poor conditions.	effusus, Sphagnum fimbriatum, Calliergon stramineum	•••••		
15	Bog vegetation with Sphagnum species	Carex rostrata, Aulacomnium palustre, Eriophorum angustifolium,	œ	M18/M21	•
Griophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum	typical of ombrogenous habitats.	<u>Calluna vulgaris, Eriophorum vaginatum, Sphagnum papillosum, Erica</u>			
vapillosum community		tetralix, Drosera rotundifolia, Sphagnum capillifolium, Luzula			
		multiflora, Polytrichum alpestre	•••••		
					L

Table 2.5. Summary of the plant communities derived from the binary and quantitative Ward's analyses of the Scottish Borders fens vegetation data.

	Ward's Classification	
Habitat type	Binary	Quantitative
Rich-fen	<ul> <li>Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community</li> <li>Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community</li> <li>Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community</li> <li>Mixed sedge rich-fen</li> <li>Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum - Plagiomnium rostratum community (3 variants)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community</li> <li>Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community (Carex diandra - Calliergon giganteum variant; Carex lasiocarpa variant)</li> <li>Carex rostrata - Plagiomnium rostratum community (Carex diandra - Carex lepidocarpa variant)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Juncus acutiflorus / Molinia caerulea fen meadow</li> <li>Poorly defined species poor +/- tussocky wet grassland</li> <li>Poorly defined acidified fen and wet grassland with Sphagnum subnitens and Viola palustris</li> </ul>	Juncus acutiflorus - Molinia caerulea fen meadow Flushed Molinia caerulea wet grassland
	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen
Poor-fen	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community
Bog	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community
Species-poor fen and swamp	5 undifferentiated communities	<ul> <li>Carex paniculata community</li> <li>Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris community</li> <li>Carex rostrata mixed community</li> <li>Carex rostrata dominated community</li> <li>Menyanthes trifoliata dominated community</li> <li>Miscellaneous mixed fen and swamp (contains stands which do not fit into the above communities)</li> </ul>
	Phragmites australis reedbed	Phragmites australis reedbed Phalaris arundinacea reedbed

Table 2.6. National Vegetation Classification (N.V.C.)communities and sub-communities represented by Scottish Border Fens quadrat data.

NVC	NVC community name
n.v.C code	N.V.C. Community name
M4	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum mire
M5	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum sauarrosum mire
M6	Carex echinata - Sphagnum recurvum/auriculatum mire
M6a	Carex echinata sub-community
MQ	Carex command sub-community
M9a	Cannylium stellatum - Scornidium scorniaides sub-community
M9h	Carer diandra - Callieran aiganteum sub-community
M10	Carex diaica - Pinguicula vulgaris mire
Ml0aii	Carex deniesa - Iuncus hulhosus sub-community: Carex hostiana - Ctanidium
Miloan	molluscum variant
M10bii	Briza media - Primula farinosa sub-community: Molinia caerulea - Friophorum
	latifolium variant
M15a	Scirpus cespitosus - Erica tetralix wet heath: Carex panicea sub-community
M18	Erica tetralix - Sphagnum papillosum raised and blanket mire
M21	Narthecium ossifragum - Sphagnum papillosum vallev mire
M21b	Spahgnum recurvum - Vaccinium oxycoccus sub-community
M23	Juncus effusus/acutiflorus - Galium palustre rush pasture
M23a	Juncus acutiflorus sub-community
M25	Molinia caerulea - Potentilla erecta mire
M25b	Anthoxanthum odoratum sub-community
M26	Molinia caerulea - Crepis paludosa mire
M27	Filipendula ulmaria - Angelica sylvestris mire
S3	Carex paniculata swamp
S4	Phragmites australis swamp and reed beds
S4c	Menyanthes trifoliata sub-community
S7	Carex acutiformis swamp
S9a	Carex rosrata swamp: Carex rostrata sub-community
S9b	Menyanthes trifoliata - Equisetum fluviatile sub-community
S10	Equisetum fluviatile swamp
S10b	Carex rostrata sub-community
S14	Sparganium erectum swamp
S14b	Alisma plantago-aquatica sub-community
S14c	Mentha aquatica sub-community
S14d	Phalaris arudinacea sub-community
S19	Eleocharis palustris swamp
S19a	Eleocharis palustris sub-community
S22b	Glyceria fluitans swamp: Sparganuium erectum - Mentha aquatica sub-
	community
S26a	Phragmites australis - Urtica dioica tall herb fen: Filipendula ulmaria sub-
	community
S27	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris tall herb fen
S27a	Carex rostrata - Equisetum fluviatile sub-community
S28	Phalaris arudinacea tall herb fen
W3	Salix pentandra - Carex rostrata fen carr

Scottish Borders fens community	National Vegetation Classification community
Carex dioica -Carex hostiana rich-fen	M10 Carex dioica - Pinguicula vulgaris mire
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor-fen	M4 Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum mire
Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	M27 Filipendula ulmaria - Angelica sylvestris mire
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog	M18 Erica tetralix - Sphagnum papillosum raised and blanket mire M21 Narthecium ossifragum - Sphagnum papillosum valley mire

Table 2.7. Affinities of plant communities generated by the binary and quantitative Ward's analyses of the Scottish Borders fens quadrat data and National Vegetation Classification plant communities.

Rich-fen meadow communities dominated by Juncus acutiflorus and Molinia caerulea were not well differentiated by either Ward's classification although the quantitative classification did separate a community with affinities to the N.V.C. M25a Molinia caerulea - Potentilla erecta mire, Erica tetralix sub-community. The N.V.C. M9 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire community showed few affinities to the corresponding vegetation types identified in the Ward's classification procedures although the communities identified in the quantitative Ward's classification showed more affinities to M9 sub-communities than did the corresponding communities produced by the binary Ward's classification. The species-poor fen, swamp and reedbed communities identified by the quantitative Ward's analysis showed more affinities to the swamp and tall herb fen N.V.C. communities than did the binary Ward's analysis because these vegetation types tend to be characterised by the dominant species and the binary Ward's analysis does not distinguish communities on this basis.

## 2.3.3 A CLASSIFICATION OF THE PLANT COMMUNITIES OF THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS

The classification of the Scottish Borders fens vegetation data developed here is based on the binary Ward's classification for most samples, but using a dominance classification of species-poor samples. The results of the binary Ward's analysis were chosen because this dealt most effectively with the continuity of the data, where samples often contained a similar range of constant species but were *characterised* and therefore differentiated by the suite of associated species they contained. These differential species are often not dominant or abundant in the vegetation. The use of binary data as the basis for calculating the similarity of samples ensures that the dominance of particular species will not mask the more subtle differences in the overall floristic composition of the samples. The subtle differences in species composition are often responsible for the differences in the character of the vegetation and they may more accurately reflect ecological differences between plant communities than would classifications based on species dominance (Williams & Lambert 1959). However this approach fails with species-poor data where the vegetation is often characterised only by the dominant species. The tendency of

Ward's method to use joint absence as well as joint presence in the calculation of similarity indices results in species-poor data being grouped as a large group of un-related samples. Therefore in the following classification the samples in the species-poor fen and swamp communities have been grouped on the basis of dominance. A summary table of the composition of the plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens generated by this classification is presented in table 2.8. The main plant communities identified are outlined below.

#### 2.3.3.1 Rich-fen plant communities

## Acidified and wooded fen (table 2.9)

Constant species: Agrostis stolonifera, Potentilla erecta, Viola palustris

[Holcus lanatus, Molinia caerulea, Galium palustre, Eriophorum angustifolium, Sphagnum subnitens]

This plant community represents rich-fen vegetation with poor-fen elements. It is often wooded, *Salix cinerea* (occasionally accompanied by *Salix pentandra*) and *Betula pubescens* often form a shrub layer and sometimes a canopy. The vegetation is often hummocky resulting from tree growth and colonisation around the roots by *Molinia caerulea* and other grasses. *Sphagnum* species (typically *Sphagnum subnitens, Sphagnum squarrosum, Sphagnum palustre*) form carpets between tussocks and sometimes occur as cushions. *Phragmites australis* is frequently prominent. This vegetation is frequently found at the centre of sites and within areas of fen carr although at Branxholm Wester Loch it occurs as a raft of fen carr along the margins of the Loch.

#### Filipendula ulmaria Tall Herb Fen (table 2.10)

Constant species: Filipendula ulmaria (dominant), Agrostis stolonifera, Angelica sylvestris, Juncus acutiflorus

[Holcus lanatus, Carex rostrata, Carex disticha, Equisetum fluviatile, Epilobium palustre, Juncus effusus, Rumex acetosa, Lychnis flos-cuculi]

Tall, rather rank vegetation usually dominated by *Filipendula ulmaria* although some stands contain very prominent *Juncus acutiflorus*. This vegetation type frequently occurs along the margins of sites and near drains and ditches especially where silt has been deposited. These areas frequently experience large fluctuations in the water table and the constant species can be accompanied by a range of other species depending on the conditions. *Carex rostrata* and *Equisetum fluviatile* occur in wetter situations, *Deschampsia cespitosa* and *Juncus effusus* under drier conditions. However, most associated species are scattered beneath the dominant species and bryophytes never attain significant cover due to the closed nature of the vegetation.

Table 2.8. Summary table of species composition of plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens. The frequency of occurrence of species is indicated in roman numerals: I 5-20%6; II 21-40%6; II 41-60%6; IV(constant) 61-80%6; V(constant) 81-100%6. The median abundance (Domin scale 1-10) 6-thouse the frequency corrections of the second scale of the median abundance (Domin scale 1-10) 6-thouse the frequency of the second scale of the frequency of the second scale of the frequency of the second scale of

ມ່
ğ
S S
en
eg.
e L
S II
8
0
<u> </u>
-
cale
3
Ē
<u>Š</u>
3
RDI
Ind
Ĩ
Ē
Ĭ

Ref Ref m         Ref Ref m	Ref Ref m         Ref of the set o	Reventer         Reventer
WFCa.         RFC         RFM         RFF         FSC         FSC         FSA         RPC         RFM         FSA         RFS         RFS         RFS         RFS         RFSA         RFS         RFSA	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
RFN         RFS         RFF         FSG         FSG         RFG         RFG         FSG         FSG <td>RFM         RFS         RFF         FSSA         FSSA         RFO         RFM         FSSA         FSS</td> <td>RFM         RFS         RFM         RFS         RFM         RFS         FSS         FSS</td>	RFM         RFS         RFF         FSSA         FSSA         RFO         RFM         FSSA         FSS	RFM         RFS         RFM         RFS         RFM         RFS         FSS
RFB         RFF         FSCA	RFB         RFF         FSG         FSG <td>RFB         RFF         FSX         FSX         RFG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSM         FSG         FSG</td>	RFB         RFF         FSX         FSX         RFG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSM         FSG
FSCb         FSA         RPG         RPL.         FSM         FSG         FSG<	FSCb         FSCa         FSA         RPG         RPL         FSM         FSC         FSS         FSS<	FSGE         FSGE <t< td=""></t<>
a         FSA         RPG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSE           2         10         5         41         4         5           9         8         7         13         12         10           1         1         1         4         5         10           2         10         5         11         12         10           2         1         1         1         4         5         1           2         1         1         1         1         1         1         1           2         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1           2         1 <td>a         FSA         RPG         RPI.         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSS<td>a         FSA         RPG         RPI         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           1         1         1         4         5         1<!--</td--></td></td>	a         FSA         RPG         RPI.         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSS <td>a         FSA         RPG         RPI         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           1         1         1         4         5         1<!--</td--></td>	a         FSA         RPG         RPI         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           2         10         5         41         4         5         4         6         10         7         16           1         1         1         4         5         1 </td
RPG         RPL         FSM         FSM         FSG         FSE           10         5         41         4         5         13         12         10           8         7         13         12         13         12         10         10           10         5         41         4         5         13         12         10           1         1         1         1         1         1         10         10         10           1	RPG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSE         FSS         FSS <td>RPG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         POID         7         10         7         11         10         7         11         11         10         7         11</td>	RPG         RPL         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         POID         7         10         7         11         10         7         11         11         10         7         11
I.         FSM         FSG         FSE           13         13         12         10           13         12         12         10           14         4         5         1         10           13         12         12         10         10           14         4         1         1         1           15         5         1         1         1           1         1         5         1         1         1           1         1         5         1         1         1         1           1         1         5         1 </td <td>I.         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSS         FSS<td>I.         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR           <math>1</math> <math>1</math> <math>4</math> <math>4</math> <math>6</math> <math>10</math> <math>7</math> <math>16</math> <math>10</math> <math>1</math> <math>1</math> <math>4</math> <math>4</math> <math>6</math> <math>10</math> <math>7</math> <math>16</math> <math>10</math> <math>1</math> <math>1</math></td></td>	I.         FSM         FSG         FSG         FSS         FSS <td>I.         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR           <math>1</math> <math>1</math> <math>4</math> <math>4</math> <math>6</math> <math>10</math> <math>7</math> <math>16</math> <math>10</math> <math>1</math> <math>1</math> <math>4</math> <math>4</math> <math>6</math> <math>10</math> <math>7</math> <math>16</math> <math>10</math> <math>1</math> <math>1</math></td>	I.         FSM         FSG         FSS         FSO         POR $1$ $1$ $4$ $4$ $6$ $10$ $7$ $16$ $10$ $1$ $1$ $4$ $4$ $6$ $10$ $7$ $16$ $10$ $1$
F8G         F8C           4         5           4         5           12         10           12         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         1           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2           1         2	FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSG         FSS         FSS <td>FSG         FSG         FSG</td>	FSG
	Image: Non-State         Image: Non-State<	PSS         FSO         POR           104         6         10         16           104         10         10         10           105         10         10         10           105         10         10         10           106         10         10         10           107         10         10         10           108         10         10         10           109         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         10         10           100         10         1

PLANT COMMUNITY CODE• F	AW	M	Ħ	HL	F	٧C	RFC	RFC	RF	Ş	RFC	6 R1	W	RFS	RF		RFF	<b>FSC</b>	- -	SCa	FSA	R	ç	RPL	ESI	V	ESG	FSE		S	PSO 1	Da	Ĺ	0	
Succisa pratensis	-	H	3	-	-			1		-	1	VI IV	3	IV 3	п	m	ہ ۲		L	L		┝	L	╞	$\left  \right $	L	┝			L	┢	F		-	<b>—</b>
Carex punicea	-	>	3 1	7		3	п	1 3	_	3	Е	N S	3	п 3	١٧	4	۲ 4		2			┝		╞	12	٣	╞	L	╞		┢			+	τ-
Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum	4		1	80	Н			п 3	-	~	Ĺ	-		Ш 2	<u> </u> _	~1	$\vdash$	[	ŀ	┞	Ĺ	┝	F	t	-	F	+-	L	╀	Ļ	╀╴	╞	t	╀	<b>—</b>
Drosera rotundifolia				Η	Н		Π	Н	Н	Ц		$\vdash$		Ш 3	$\vdash$	Ē	1-	Ĺ	L	┝	Ľ	╞		t	╞	L	┝	L	┢	F	╀	╞	F	<u>,</u>	<b>—</b>
Sagina nodosa			_	-	Ц		I				П	П	3	Ш 2	-		-	Ľ		-	L	╞	ſ	ŀ			╞	F	╀	F	+	+		4	<b>—</b>
Sphagnum contortum	4				$\vdash$			I 3	$\vdash$			-		IV 3	<u>_</u>	5	4	Ĺ	ŀ	┞		$\left  \right $	L	┢	╞	[	╞	Ţ	╞		t	$\downarrow$	t	┢	<b>—</b>
Parnassia pulustris				-	-		I		-		Ē	П	-	<u>IV</u> 3	-		4	Ĺ	ŀ	┞	Ĺ	┝	F	╞	╞	L	╞	Ļ	┢	Ī	┢		t	╀	-
Campylium stellatum	3		H	Η	H	-			-	_	Ē	=	~	9 1	≥	-	<u>ر</u>	F	F	┞	L	╀	L	$\mathbf{F}$	12	T-	╞	Ţ	╉	L	┢		t	┢	-
Pedicularis palustris	-		I	-	F	_	Ĺ	1 2	╞╴	<u></u>	Ē	H	~	<u>-</u> ≥	E	~	_ ∎	F			L	╞		┢	7	'[-	╀	-	F	ſ	$\dagger$		T	╉	T
Scorpidium scorpioides			E	┢	┝			-	┞		Ľ		<b>·</b> ·	₹ 2	目	5	2 1	F	F	┞	Ē	╞	L	$\downarrow$	<u>' </u> ~	ſ	╞	1	-		┢	$\downarrow$		+	-
Fyursetum palustre	2	Η	3	Ē		-		1	-	<b>61</b>			~	1 1	≥	6	2	ļ.		╞	t	╞	F	$\uparrow$	<u>' -</u>	· [^	╀	ŀ	╞	ſ	╡	-	Ĺ	ŕ	-
Juncus articulatus			~	┢	-	~		<u> </u>	=				4	1	E	L.	<u>~</u>	F	F	ľ	L	╀	I	+	. v	il.	╀	ļ		Ţ	┢	-	1	1	-
Drepunocladus revolvens				┢	╞			-	╞	-			4	E	2	-		-		-	T	╞	T	┢	12	1-	╀	1		Ť	╉	╀	t	╀	
Brizu media		н	2	┝	-	-		┝	┡		t	-	~	[1	╞	Ĺ	2	F	t	╞	t	╀	T	+		1	+	Ţ	╉	Ļ	$\dagger$	+	t	╉	-
Carex droica			E	┢	┝		Γ	┞	┝	Ĺ	t	╞		1	╞	5	2	F	t	┞	t	╞	L	$\frac{1}{1}$	╀	T	╞	Ţ	┢	Ļ	╀	+	t	╀	-
Carex flacca	2			2	$\left  \right $		_	╞	┞		Ľ	-	-	1	╞	Ĺ	<u>م</u>	F	t	╞	L	╀	T	╞	+	Ţ	╀	Ţ	╉	Ļ	╉	+	T	╉	
Carex hostiana	2			Η	$\vdash$			╞	┝	Ĺ	L	┝		[	=	<u>_</u>	∑ 4	F	t	╞	t	╞	I	┢	╞	T	╀	T	╁	ļ	╉	+	t	╀	-
Ctentdium molluscum				Η	$\vdash$			-	┝	Ĺ	Ė			Ē	-	Ē	~ ~	F	t	╞		╀	L	+	╀	Ţ	╀	1	╀	I	$\dagger$	Ļ	t	╀	-
Fissidens adianthoides			H		$\left  \right $			I 2	-	Ĺ		-		n L	╞	5	N N	F	L		t	╞	F	$\mathbf{f}$	╞	T	╀	Ţ	╀	Ţ	t	Ŧ	t	╀	-
Pinguicula vulgaris				$\vdash$				┝	┡	Ĺ	L	╞	L		┞	Ĺ		F	Ē	ľ	Ĺ	╞	F	5	10/5	F	┼	t	╀	Ţ	$\dagger$	╞	ľ	f	-
Juncus bulbosus	1			┝╼	-	~		-	-	Ĺ	L	╞╴	-	$\left  \right $	┞	Ĺ	2 1			+		+	L	1	-	Ţ	╞	Ţ	╀	Ţ	╉		-	╈	÷
Phragmites australis	5 1	E	5 1	-	┝			╞	=	<del>.,</del>	L	Ξ	~	7		<u>_</u>	┝	F	Ē	ľ	Ĺ	>	[ -	╞	╞	ľ	Ļ	Ţ	F	ſ	E			-	-
Galium palustre	/ 2	1	3 L	L L	E	~	2	IV 3	2	-	2	п ~	<b>C</b> 1	日 7	╞	<u>_</u>	┢	F	Ē	14		2	2		≥	ſ		E	-	ì	╁		, , ,	╋	-
Carex rostrata	3		1 +	V 3	2	9	>	<u>v</u> 5	>		>	>	<u>س</u>	7 1	≥	Ē	<u>م</u> ا	>	ľ	2	ļ		6		1	ľ			1	ļ		. >		ŀ	-
Equisetum fluviatile			2	<u>v</u>		~	≥	N 3	2	[m	5	~ =	-	1	E	~	=	≥	m	∽  ∽		11 6	7		2	"	. E		<u>,</u>	T	╉	E			-
Potentilla palustris	3	Ξ	3 L	I I	Ξ	æ	>	V 3	≥	~	2	<u> ≧</u>	~	IV 3	E	~	<u> -</u>		=	1	L		1	t	N	5			-	Ţ	╀		- 	1 "	-
Afenyanthes trifoliata	5		- L	<u>г</u>	-	2	>	V 5	2	S	>	2	7	<u>&gt;</u>	>	6	≥ ₹	>	F	ľ~	L	╞	F	┢		7			, <del>,</del> ,	Ļ	┢	. 2	* ~	4	-
Afentha aquativa	1		ľ	<u>п</u>	-			П 2	2	-	E	1	-	11 2	-	- <u>-</u>	- -		11	ľ.	Ĺ	E	4			ſ	E		- "		╀	:	,  ,	╇	-
Cicula virosa	Ц			Η	Н	$\Box$			$\vdash$		Ē	-	F	$\vdash$	╞	L	+	-	-	-	T	<u>!</u>	T		╞	<u>ا</u> ر	╞		+	1	+	-	4	╀	-
Afyosotis scorpioides	-	_	_	2	=	5	L L	IV 3		3	П		5	I I	-	5	$\vdash$	L	211	5	⊳	<u>л</u>	٣	$\mathbf{f}$	E	2			7	L	┢	1	t	┢	-
Typha latifolia	$\downarrow$		╡	┥										Н	Ц		$\vdash$	$\square$	$\square$			-	-	$\vdash$	Ω	Š	$\vdash$		╞	L	+	L	╀	╀	-
Carex acutiformis	$\downarrow$			┥	$\rightarrow$			-									Н		I	-	>	10	L	$\vdash$	┞		╞	Ľ	目	~	-		t	┢	<b>—</b>
Eleocharis palustris	$\downarrow$	Ι		┥	+				-								Н	-	11	5		$\vdash$		$\vdash$	-	5	E	>	튾	6	╞	<b> </b> -	t	╞	-
Cilyveria fluitans	┦	I		╉	+			┥		_		-							1	3					ð		>			-	┝		t	$\vdash$	-
Hippuris vulgaris	$\downarrow$			┥	+			$\neg$									$\vdash$	E	2 II	1 3	ш	1 I	~	┢	=	-	┞	⊵	~		┢	F	┢	╞	
Urtica dioica			-	-	-	-		1	-	-									I			-	-		m S	17		Ē	╞	ļ	┢		t	╞	_
Lemna minor	4			+	+			п		7				Н	Ц		$\vdash$	8	2 II	Ē.		-	٣	E	E	Ē		Ē	10		┢		t	╞	-
Polygonum umphibium	_			-	-		I		-	-	1	-		-			-	-	11			-	F	╞	31	F	-	<u> </u> _	7	F	+		t	┞	-
Ranunculus lingua	-							I 3	п	2		-	-	ŀ	┞		┝		Ē	10		┝		┢╴	-	ľ~	╞	t		<u>م</u>	┢	I	t	+	
Sparganium erectum	_				Η			I 2	<u> </u>					╞	-	_	╞╌	-	3 П	٣	H	=	~	╞	Þ	Ē		t_	-		┢	Ţ	┢	╞	-
Aulacomnum pulustre	-	-	5		Н		1	II 2	-			-	5	Ш 3	L	Ĺ	=	[	F	┞	t		L	┢	┞	L	+		╀	ļ	╀	>	~	-	-
Carex curta	_		_	-			1	1 3	_	Ĺ			Ľ	11 4	-		┝-	F	╞	┡	L	┝	L	╞	┞	L	╞	L	╀	Ļ	┢	E	1	-	-
Sphagnum fimbriatum	5			Η	$\left  \cdot \right $				$\vdash$		E	┞		<u> </u>	$\vdash$	L	┢		t	┞	t	╞		┢		Ļ	╀	t	╀		╉	₹ 2		<u>.</u>	_
Sphugnum pulustre	9								_			╞	F	-		Ĺ	9	F	t	┞	Ĺ	┢	L	╞	┞	L	+	T	╞	Ţ	╀		, F	÷	
Calliergon stramineum				Η	$\left  \right $			┢╴	$\vdash$	$\square$		$\vdash$		۳ 	L	Ē	┢			╞	Ĺ	┢	L	┢	5	E	╞	T	=	ſ	┢			╇	-
Sphagnum recurvum	7	L		$\vdash$	F	5		1 2	┢	Ĺ	Ē	Ē	-	0 5	Ļ	E	┝	F	t	╞	t	╞	Ļ	┢	ľ	t	╞	Ţ	1	ľ	┢	₽	╬	+	-
			1		-	]		¦			-	ļ	1	1	-			-	-	_	-	-	-	-	2	- -		-		-		21	ے ع	<u>×</u>	_

	3	~	5	~			+	ų		~	2	~	'n	5	4	۰	4
ľ	2	ľ	1	12		1	1		2		>	2	>	E	3	E	1
	Ž	┢	-	F			-			-		-		-		Ľ	-
Ē					Ì							_				-	
100	705				I	_						_					
		-	4		ļ						4						
100	ŝ			_	+	_		_		-	4	_	-	_	-		-
9	30				╁		+	_	+		+		_		_	_	
f	5		ł	-	ł		1		1	_	t	-	-	-			
000	202	_	ļ		t	-	1		t		t						
			ļ	_	Į		l	_			Ţ						
EC1	6		4		4		4		4	_	ļ	_	4		ļ		
	ł	_	┦		ł	_	$\frac{1}{1}$	_	┦		┦		+	_	$\frac{1}{1}$		
P	4		┦		ł		+		┦		$\frac{1}{1}$		$\left  \right $		+		$\left  \right $
Jan			ł		t		t	_	ł		t		ł		╉	_	
ſ	Ì		İ	_	ţ	_	İ	_	ţ	_	İ	_	ţ		ţ	_	j
L'SA	4		Į		ſ	_	Į		Į		Į		Į		Į		
ļ	ł		ļ		ļ		ļ		ļ		ł		ļ		ļ		
ľ	1	_	ł		┞		╀		ł	_	ł		ł		ł		
PCS:	ł		ł		╀		╞		╀		╀	_	ł		ł	-	
F	t	2	ţ	_	ţ	-1	t	-	ţ.	~	t		ţ	_	t		
RFF		-	ŀ	_	ŀ	=	I	_	ŀ		I		I		Į		
Æ	$\left  \right $		ļ		L		ļ		ļ		┞		ļ	_	┞		
R	+		ł		┞		ŀ	-			ŀ		┞		┞	_	
SFS	ł	m			ŀ	-	┞	-	ŀ	-	┞		┞				
	t	=	t		ľ	-	t		ť	-	t		t		t		
RFN	ľ		I		ľ		ľ	-	ľ		ľ		I		I		
cp C	L	_					L										
RF	╽	_	Ļ			_	Ļ				L		Ļ		Ļ		
FCa	ŀ	_	┝	_	L			-			┡		-			-	
m R	ł		┢		┝	-	┝	-	┝		┝			i	┝	-	
RFC	ľ		t				ŀ		ŀ			1					
RFC	Γ										Γ				Γ		
ç																	
Š				_		4		-		_		_					
Ħ	┡	-	-	4		_		_		-		-	_	_	-	-	
1	┞		-		_			-	-	-		+			-	-	
FM	╞				т С								-			┥	
×				_	-	,	_		~	<u>`</u>			_		_		
FAI	Ĺ		-	]	=	1			_		_				-	]	
ě																	
S																	
NEN		3	d'une				-				ALL MA	I	,		531		
INIU	1.000		" Inter			ļ	office.		21.4		10100		Inerts		Arrest		
CON			100 44		ralur		1070 M	ļ	vuloa		N MUL		11,000 100		1 1/10/0	1	
Ę			muon		ca teti		muon		luna 1		onhor		Arrish		hom		
Ŀ	1	1	Sub.	Ļ	Eru		Sah	-	Cal	į	Fru		Pol	1	12.5		

TH Filipendula ulmaria tall hech fen M Afolinia caerulea / Juncus acutiflorus Fen meadow WG Mixed species wet grassland &FC Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community RFCa typical variant RFCb Carex diandra variant RFC m miscellaneous variant RFC m miscellaneous variant CFM Mixed sedge rich-fen community &FS Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community &FS Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community
PFF Career division - Conew hourising community.

\* FAW Acidified wooded fen

FSC Carex rostrata species-poor community
FSCa Carex rostrata variant
FSCb Menyanthes trifoliata variant
FSA Carex acutiformis species-poor community
RPG Phragmites australis reedbed
RPL Phalaris arundinacea reed bed
FSM Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community
FSG Glyceria fluitans species-poor community
FSE Eleocharis palustris species-poor community
FSS Sparganium erectum - Agrostis stolonifera species-poor community
FSS Eleocharis palustris species-poor community
FSC Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community
FSO Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community

## Table 2.9. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Acidified, wooded community

	Frequency sc	ore	Don
	-		
Species	Range o	f abundance	
Agrostis stolonifera		1-6	1
Potentilla erecta	V V	1-3	
Viola palustris		1-3	<u> </u>
Holcus lanatus	IV	1-6	ī
Molinia caerulea	IV	2-6	
Galium palustre	IV	1-3	2
Eriophorum angustifolium	IV	2-5	
Sphagnum subnitens	IV	4-6	4
Filipendula ulmarıa	Ш	2-4	3
Calliergon cuspidatum	III	3-5	4
Carex panicea		2-6	
Luzula multiflora	III	1-3	
Carex nigra	III	1-3	1
Juncus conglomeratus	III	1-3	
Phragmites australis	III	1-9	8
Succisa pratensis	Ш	1-5	2
Angelica sylvestris	III	2-5	2
Aulacomnium palustre	III	1-5	1
Carex rostrata	П	1-6	Г <sup></sup>
Potentilla palustris	II	2-3	3
Equisetum palustre	II	1-4	2
Menyanthes trifoliata	II	1-6	6
Rhytidiadelphus squarrosus	II	1-3	
Cardamine pratensis	Ш	1-3	1
Carex echinata	II	3-4	
Salix cinerea (c)	II	5-7	7
Polytrichum commune	II	2-3	
Sphagnum palustre	П	5-7	
Erica tetralix	II	1-5	
Valeriana dioica	II	1-4	1
Juncus acutiflorus	II	3	
Epilobium palustre	II	1-2	
Juncus effusus	<u> </u>	1	
Crepis paludosa	<u>II</u>		
Mentha aquatica			
Salix cinerea (g)		1	- F
Sphagnum squarrosum	<u> </u>	4-0	
Details and contortum		2-6	
Diaman and a second (s)			0
Manum komum	- <u>11</u> - <u>1</u>	1-3	
Plaurozium sekrekeri	11 17	1-2	
Druoptarie dilatata		1-4	
Rhytidiadelphus triaustrus		3_5	
Pseudoscleropodium purum	<u> </u>	1-2	
Thusdium tamariscimum	+- <u>ii</u> +	2	
Carex pulicaris	<del>-1 - π</del> 1	2-3	
Betula pubescens (c)	<u> </u>	5-8	
Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum		3-5	5
Sphagnum recurvum		1-6	6
Salıx repens agg.	Ш	3	- <u>-</u> -
Number of species per sample	·1		27

Domir	abunda	ance sco	res (1-1	0) for i	ndividua	il quadra	ats
1	3	1 3	7	12	1 2	6	1 2
1	$\frac{1}{1}$	13	$\frac{2}{2}$	2	1 3	3	1 3
1	3	$\frac{1}{1}$	2	3	3	3	
	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	- <u>1</u>	<u> </u>	I
1		5	3	3	3	6	
		6	2	3	5	3	5
2	3	3	1	2	2	1	
	<b> </b>	5	2	5	4		4
4		6	L	4	4	I	4
3	2	3		T	<u> </u>	4	T
4	5	5	<u> </u>		3		
		6		3	4	1	3
	1	2		2	3		
1		1	3			1	
		3		3	ļ	1	3
8	9	2		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<b> </b>	<u> </u>
2	$\frac{3}{2}$	5			+	<u>                                      </u>	
	$\frac{2}{z}$	<u>⊢.</u> >	2	<u> </u>	1 2		
. 1	L <sup>,</sup>	1	1 3	<u>i</u>	1.2	<u> </u>	I
	3			6	1	1	1
3	3	2				<u> </u>	
2	1				4		ĺ
6			2	1			
		ļ	1	ļ	3		3
1		1			3		
		<b> </b>		3	4_		3
/	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	2	2		- 1	
		┠	7	<u></u>	<u> </u>	5	6
			$\frac{1}{1}$		2		5
ī	3	4			<u>                                     </u>	<u> </u>	
		3			3		
1					2	]	
			1			1	
	1	ļ	<b> </b>	1		<u> </u>	
		<u> </u>		<u>.</u>	<u> </u>		
	1	<u>}</u>		<u> </u>			
	6	,	4	<u> </u>			{
6	2					<u> </u>	
	<u> </u>	h				1	3
2						1	
						1	2
1						4	
			3			5	
					2		
			2	~		2	└──┤
			0	2	3		
- 5			6		2	<u> </u>	
6							
<u> </u>	3	3					
27	27	27	25	24	27	26	21

(c) Canopy

(g) Ground layer

(s) Shrub layer

	Frequency	score	Dom	in ab	undan	ce sc	ores (	1-10)	for in	divid	ual qu	adrat	3		
Species	Range of a	oundance													_
Filipendula ulmaria	<u>v</u>	1-10	10	10	8	1	5	6	6	4	8	3	8	7	
Agrostis stolonifera	v	1-8	6	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	8	4	3	1	
Angelica sylvestris	v	1-8	4	4	4		1	3	8	2	4	4	2	4	
Juncus acutiflorus	v	1-5	1	1	1	5	1	2	1	4		1	3	4	
Holcus lanatus	ΓV	1-6		1	4	2	3	4	6	4	1	Γ	<u> </u>	3	1
Carex rostrata	IV	1-4	2		[	3	4	3	2	1		4	3	2	
Carex disticha	IV	1-8			4	2	8	6		4	1	3	[	1	
Equisetum fluviatile	IV	1-5	3			3	1	3		1	5	2	3		
Epilobium palustre	ĪV	1-3		1		2	2	1	3	3	3		<u> </u>	1	
Juncus effusus	ĪV	1-4		4	3					4	1	1	1	1	1
Rumex acetosa	IV	1-6	1		5				6	3		1	2	2	
Lychnis flos-cuculi	IV	1-3				1	2	2	3	3	Ι	3	2	2	J
Caltha palustris	1 111	1-3		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		2	1	2	<u> </u>	1		1	T
Deschampsia cespitosa		+- <u>1-3</u>		t	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	t	<u>†</u>	ĻŤ	$\frac{z}{3}$	3	$\frac{1}{1}$	1	ti	
Mentha acuatica	<u> </u>	1-3		$\frac{1}{1}$		4	2	3	t —	3	۲	<u>†</u>	t ·	† –	t
Currente aquanca	<del>````</del>	1.3		Ħ	3	<u> </u>	<u>†</u>	Ħ	<u> </u>	ĻŤ	ł			2	t
Cirsian parasire	<u> </u>	1		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>	L		1
Calliergon cuspidatum	П	1-3						3				1	1	3	
Galium uliginosum	п	2-3						3	3			3	3	2	
Galium palustre	<u> </u>	1-4	1	2	1						1				
Plagiomnium rostratum	<u> </u>	1-3						2	L	1		2		2	1
Carex nigra	П	1-3		Ĺ				2		1		1	3		
Equisetum palustre	Ш	2-3					L			3		3	3	2	ł
Lathyrus pratensis	П	1-4		1	4							2	1		
Eriophorum angustifolium	п	2-4					4	2	L			2			1
Potentilla palustris	п	1								1		1	1		
Poa trivialis	п	1-2								1	2		2		ļ
Stachys palustris	Ш	1-3		3	L	L					1		L		l
Molinia caerulea	I	4-5	<b></b>				<u> </u>	r			-	5	4		Ī
Crepis paludosa	I	1-4										1		4	ļ
Menyanthes trifoliata	I	1-3	<u> </u>				1	3							ţ
Carex lasiocarpa	I	1-8						8	1			<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>	t
Cardamine pratensis	I	1-2								<u> </u>			2	1	t
Salux cinerea (g)	I					1								1	t
Calliergon giganteum	I	1-3						3	1						t
Almus glutinosa (c)	Ī						1	1							t
Geum rivale	I I	1-4		1										4	t
Valeriana dioica		2-3										3	2	<u> </u>	t
Calliergon cordifolium	+	4-5	5						4				_		t
Urtica dioica			⊢ –						· ·		1				t
Number of species per sample		·	16	13	12	13	16	25	16	24	15	32	23	24	t

## Table 2.10. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen community.

Molinia caerulea wet grassland and Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture (table 2.11)

Constant species: Juncus acutiflorus, Filipendula ulmaria, Holcus lanatus, Galium uliginosum, Molinia cearulea, Angelica sylvestris, Valeriana dioica

[Calliergon cuspidatum, Caltha palustris, Carex panicea, Cirsium palustre, Epilobium palustre, Luzula multiflora, Rumex acetosa, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Potentilla erecta.]

Variable, generally open and fairly diverse vegetation characterised either by prominent *Molinia* caerulea (Molinia caerulea wet grassland) or Juncus acutiflorus (Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture). Both variants are accompanied by the same suite of species. A variety of grasses and small dicotyledonous species are frequent and the bryophyte Calliergon cuspidatum is frequently found, sometimes accompanied by *Pseudoscleropodium purum*, *Brachythecium rutabulum* and *Climacium dendroides*. This vegetation type occurs mainly in the marginal areas of sites or where the drainage is relatively good and the peat surface has become mineralised.

#### Mixed wet grassland (table 2.12)

#### Constant species: Carex nigra, Holcus lanatus

[Calliergon cuspidatum, Juncus conglomeratus, Carex rostrata, Filipendula ulmaria, Agrostis stolonifera, Epilobium palustre]

This community represents stands of vegetation which are rather rank and which contain a mixture of species which are separately more characteristic of other communities. Generally the vegetation is composed mainly of grasses and sedges, in particular *Holcus lanatus*, *Molinia caerulea* and *Agrostis stolonifera* with *Carex nigra* and *Carex rostrata*. *Carex paniculata* tussocks occur in some stands and the vegetation is often tussocky with small herbs such as *Potentilla erecta*, *Galium uliginosum* growing on the tussocks with species such as *Carex rostrata*, *Equisetum fluviatile*, *Caltha palustris*, *Ranunculus flammula* inhabiting the wetter areas in between. It is therefore a rather patchy community occurring in poorly drained areas with an uneven substratum, often around the margins of a site.

#### Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community (table 2.13)

Constant species: Succisa pratensis, Eriophorum angustifolium, Campylium stellatum, Equisetum palustre, Drepanocladus revolvens, Molinia caerulea, Carex panicea, Carex rostrata, Carex flacca, Ctenidium molluscum

[Carex lepidocarpa, Briza media, Carex hostiana, Carex dioica, Juncus articulatus, Fissidens adianthoides, Menyanthes trifoliata]

This vegetation type is typically very open and characterised by a short sward of sedges and grasses with brown mosses and small dicotyledonous species forming the ground layer. It occurs on flushed peat and mineralised soils around the margins of sites and near spring discharge areas.

# Table 2.11. Vegetation table showing the species composition of rich-fen meadow communities (Molinia caerulea wet grassland and Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture)

	Frequency	score	Don	un abu	ndance	scores	(1-10)	) for in	dividua	al quad	trats	
Species	Range of a	bundance	7							•		
Juncus acutiflorus	v	2-7	1 5	2	3	5	4	5	7	7	5	4
Filipendula ulmaria	v	1-5	1	3	2	5	$\frac{1}{1}$	1	2	5	5	4
Holcus lanatus	v	2-6	1	6	2	4	2	3	4	4	5	4
Galium uliginosum	v	2-3		2	3	2	†	3	2	3	3	3
Molinia caerulea	v	1-7		6	6	7	3	3	<u>†</u>	3	3	1 i
Angelica sylvestris		2-5	1 4	1-	5	3	2	5	4	$\frac{1}{3}$	3	3
Valeriana dioica		1-4		4	4	1	3	2	4	$\frac{1}{3}$	3	3
		1	J <u>1</u>		<u> </u>	-h	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	J	1	1
Calliergon cuspidatum	IV	1-5		5	3	3	T	3	T	1	5	5
Caltha palustris	IV	1-5	1	5	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	2
Carex panicea	IV	1-5	1 4	2	1	3	5	2		5		2
Cirsium palustre	IV	1-3		1	1	2		2	2	1	Tī	3
Epilobium palustre	IV	1-6	1	3	6	ī	2	1	3	-	+	3
Luzula multiflora	IV	1-2			2	2	1	<b>†</b>	2	2	2	1
Rumex acetosa	IV	1-3		1	1	1	$\uparrow$	3	2	3	3	3
Lychnis flos-cuculi	IV	1-4		1	2	1	1	2	2	$\uparrow$	4	3
Potentilla erecta	IV	2-3		3	2	1	2	3	†	3	3	
L		·	. L			<b>.</b>		<u> </u>	*	<u>ـــَـــ</u>		<u> </u>
Agrostis stolomfera	III	2-3	ר ר	T	1	2	2	T	3	2	T	2
Equisetum palustre		1-3	1 3	1	<u>† – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –</u>	1	1	2	3	3	1	†
Anthoxanthum odoratum		1-3	┥┝┷	3	2	†	†	$\frac{1}{1}$	<u> </u>	3	3	<u> </u>
Pseudoscleropodium purum		2-5	1 -	+	†	2	2	†	5	4	4	1
			J L			<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<b></b>		
Eriophorum angustifolium	<u> </u>	1-3	2	3	1	<u> </u>	T	T	T	<u> </u>	1	3
Carex nigra		2-6	1	6	2	<u>†                                    </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	4	3	†
Potentilla palustris	- <u>+</u>	2-5	1	<u>†</u>	<u>†−</u>	<u> </u>	3	3	5	†	<u>†                                    </u>	2
Crepis paludosa	- <u></u>	1-4		1	t	<u> </u>	<u>۴</u>	4	†	1	3	<u>+</u>
Phragmites australis		2-7		†	+	<u> </u>	6	$\frac{1}{3}$	<u> </u>	†	†- <u>-</u> -	7
Succisa pratensis		1-3		$\frac{1}{1}$	t	†	<u>†                                    </u>	<u>† – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –</u>	3	<u> </u>	t	3
Carex disticha		2-5	1	+	2	1	1	4	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	5	5
Achillea ptarmica	- <u> </u>	1-3	1	3	†	$\frac{1}{1}$	t	$\frac{1}{3}$	†	1	<u>†</u>	1
Planiomnium undulatum		1-3	1	†	t	ti	<u>†</u>	† <u> </u>	2	2	3	<u>†                                    </u>
Juncus conglomeratus	- <u>+</u>	1	1 [	11	†	<u> </u>	1	1	<u> </u>	† <u> </u>	†	1
Deschampsia cespitosa	- <del>  <u>11</u></del>	1-2	1	┼╌╴	<u>+</u>	1	┼┷	<u>├</u> ──	1	<u>├</u> ──	2	† <u> </u>
Menvanthes trifoliata	- <u> </u>	1-2	1	$\frac{1}{1}$	t	<u>†</u>	fī	1	t	<u> </u>	<u>†                                    </u>	2
Ranunculus acris		1-3	1	+	<u>† —                                   </u>	<u> </u>	<u>├</u>		<u> </u>	3	2	<u> </u>
Climacium dendroides	- <u> </u>	1-3		2	t	<u> </u>	<u>†                                    </u>	ti	t	t	<u>↓</u>	1
Brachythecium rutabulum	- <u>-</u>	1-2	1	+	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u>+</u>	ti	<u>├</u>	2	2	<u> </u>
Centaurea mera		1-3	$\frac{1}{3}$	<u>†                                    </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	3		<u> </u>	† <u> </u>	$\frac{1}{1}$
		L	<u>ــا</u> د	1	L	L	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	L	L	L	<u> </u>
Carex rostrata		1-6	ר ר	6		·	r		<u> </u>	r—–		
Rhytidiadelphus squarrosus		4	1	†~~	┢╧─	<u>├</u> ───		t	4	4	ţ	
Carex echinata		3-5		<u> </u>			<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	┝╌╴	3	
Salix cinerea (c)		<u> </u>	1	<u>+</u>	┢───┘	┝	1	<u> </u>	i		†	<u>├</u>
Schaonum subnitens		1.3	1	t	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	3	<u> </u>	$\frac{1}{1}$		<u>├</u> ──	
Erica tetralix		1.3	1	<u> </u>		1	3	<u> </u>	<b></b>		<u> </u>	
Thuidium tamariscinum		3_4	1	<u>+</u>			3	<u> </u>			<u> </u>	
Geum rivale		1_7	1	<u> </u>		┝╌┅╸	<u>├</u> ──		<u> </u>	1	2	<u> </u>
Carastium fontonum		1_2	┥ ┝━━	1				h			<b>├</b> ──	<u>  </u>
Hylocomium splandane		3_4	1	<del>† * -</del>	<u>├</u> ──┤					<b> </b>	<u>├</u> ──	
Vicia cracca		1_2	┦ ┝	+			<u>                                     </u>	+			├	
lungue articulatur				──		<u> </u>		<u>├</u>		2	t	
Baza madia		1.2	┥┝╧╸	──					<u> </u>	2	├──-	
		1-3	┥┝╤╴	<u>├</u> ──						<u> </u>		
International and the second s			∣ ⊢≟	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		┝┿┥			┣	
Lainyrus pratensis			┦ ┝──	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<b>├</b>		L		┠	-
Equisetum jiuviatile		1-2	<u>ا ا ا</u>					<u> </u>		- 22		
Number of species per sample			21	23	23	43	26	53	- 24	32	20	- 28

## Table 2.12. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Mixed species wet grassland community

	Frequency s	core	D	omin	abun	dance	score	-(1-1	0) fo	r indi	ividu	al qu	adrat	5						
Species	Range of ab	undance	L		_															
Carex nigra	v	1-8	- Ľ	3	1	1	6	5	7	2	6		5	4	4	4	1	4	6	4
Holcus lanatus	V	1-6	Ľ	2 6	6	4	3			2	4	3	1	2	3	3	3	1	1	5
			_												_					
Calliergon cuspidatum	I IV	1-7		<u>۱</u>		5	5	7	3	5	4	7		5		3	4	2	4	
Juncus conglomeratus	IV	1-3		3 ] ]	1 3			1	2	1	2	1	3		3		2	3		1
Carex rostrata	IV	1-9		3		Т	6	7	4	9	7	5	1	6	4	3	8		5	
Filipendula ulmaria	ſV	1-8	_ [ <sup>-</sup>			6	6	2	1				1		3		3	8	2	
Agrostis stolonifera	ĪV	1-5		1 4	1 3	5	3			1	2	1			3		3		1	4
Epilobium palustre	IV	2-5	_ [?	5		2	2	3	2			2	3	2	3	2		3	3	
Deschampsia cespitosa	Ш	1-4				1	1	Γ	Ι	[ _	1		4	1	1	2	3	4	1	2
Juncus acutiflorus	Ш	1-6		6	3	3	3	Ι				3	1	3	4		1			
Galum palustre	Ш	1-7		3		T	3	4	3	2	Γ		3	1	3				7	
Galnum uliginosum	Ш	1-3		3	3	3	1	1	1	3	3	3				2	1	<u> </u>		1
Caltha palustris	ш	1-5		1	2	3	3	3		1	1				1				5	
Molinia caerulea	Ш	1-6		16		3	3	1	1	1			6				Γ			6
	<b></b>	·		••••	-	-	•	<u> </u>		<u> </u>							·			
Equisetum palustre	П	1-4		13		3		Γ	1			Γ		<u> </u>	4	4	3			1
Cardamine pratensis	П	1-3		3	1					2		1		2	1		3		2	
Potentilla palustris	П	2-8		12	2 2	3	Γ	6	8	<u> </u>			3				[	Γ.		
Ranunculus flammula	Ц	1-5	Γ		T	I		Γ		5	$\Box$	1		4	1		2		4	
Potentilla erecta	П	1-5					5		2	ī	3		1					-		4
Myosatis scorpioides	П	1-3				1	1	3	2			1		1					2	Ī
Equisetum fluviatile	П	1-4							T	2	1			3	4	-	1		4	
Carex panicea	П	1-7				7	1-	1	1-	t	3						1			3
Juncus effusus	I	1-2				1	<u> </u>			<u> </u>		1		1	<u> </u>	1		2	1	
Veronica scutellata	П	1-3			-		1	2	<b></b>	3	1			2					2	
Anthoxanthum odoratum	П	1-5		3		+	<u> </u>	1	1							2			1	5
Plagiomntum rostratum	П	1-2			-	1	1-	2	<b></b>	-				_		2	1		<u> </u>	
				•	-			· · · ·	-											
Rumex acetosa	I	1-3			1	3	1						1					1		
Luzula multiflora	I	1-4			-		1		1		2	1								4
Carex lasiocarpa	I	4-8				-		8	4				7							
Carex echinata	Ι	1-3					1			<u> </u>	2	3							1	
Ranunculus repens	I	1-2														2		1	1	
Pedicularis palustris	I	1		-			1			1		1							1	
Cirsium palustre	I	1		1								1					1			
Climacium dendroides	I	1-3			1-						3	1		_					1	
Juncus articulatus	I	2-3							-	2		2				3	<u> </u>			
Brvum pseudotriquetrum	<u> </u>	1-3			1-					2	3			1						
Valeriana dioica	1	1-3	1			3	1	-											[]	
Viola palustris	I	2				2	2		1	<u> </u>										
Achillea ptarmica	I	2-3		1	1	2	3													
Eriophorum angustifolium	I	1				1							1							
Calliergon giganteum	1	2-5		: [	1	$\top$	1-							5						
Festuca rubra	I	3		1		1	<u> </u>			<b> </b>						3				3
Carex diandra	I	1-2				1	1	t							_		2		1	
Juncus bulbosus	I	1-2			1	1-	t			2		1								
Sphagnum recurvum	Ī	5		+-			†	5	5											
Brachythecium rutabulum	I	1-3		+		1-	†									3	1			
Trifolium repens	<u> </u>	1-2				$\uparrow$	†									2			1	
Dactylorhiza fuchsii	I	1		1	+	+	1								1					
Myosotis laxa caespitosa	<u> </u>	1-2		+	+	+	†								2	1				
Cratoneuron commutatum	Ī	1		+	$\uparrow$	1	1			1										
Hippurus vulgaris	ī	2-3	F	+	+	+	1			3				2						
Potamogeton polygonifolius			H	+	+-	+	1	<u> </u>		1				-						
Giveria fluitans			H	+	+-	+	1								1	1				
Carex paniculata	T	10		+-	10	+	t –													
Number of encies ner sample	·····			11		110	16	15	14	23	18	19	16	20	19	21	21	18	23	12
reaction or sporter ber semple			ئےا	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		<u> </u>	1 10	<u> </u>			••				<u> </u>				لتقت	<u> </u>



Table 2.13.	Vegetation table	showing species	composition	of individual	quadrats representing
Carex dioica	a - Carex hostian	a community			

	Frequency	score	]	Don	nin ab	undar	nce sc	ores (	1-10)	for ine	dividu	al qua	adrats	
Species	Range of at	undance	]	{	_									
Eriophorum angustifolium	V	1-6	1		3		3	5 3	5	3	1	1 6	5 3	3 4
Succisa pratensis	V	1-4	1	2	4		1 2	2 3	2	3	3		1	1
Campylium stellatum	v	2-7	1	5	3		2 4	5 2	2 3	,†	7	1 3		1 4
Equisetum palustre	V	1-3	1			1 3	3 3	2	:	2	2	3	1 3	2
Drepanocladus revolvens	v	1-7	1	5	1 3	1 7	$\frac{1}{\epsilon}$	1	5	†	5	6	4	3
Molinia caerulea	v	2-7	1	2	6		3 4	1 7	1 3	3	1	6	,†	4
Carex panicea	v	2-5	1	4		,†		4	$\frac{1}{2}$	5	<u>+</u>	5	4	4
Carex rostrata	v	1-4	1	4				1-3	2	$\frac{1}{1}$	t	†	+	4
Carex flacca	- v	1-5	1	3	<u>+</u>				3	5	1-2	5	<u></u>	+
Ctenidium molluscum	+	2-5	1	<u> </u>	┼──╴					1	1-3			1 3
	+	<u>↓                                     </u>	1	<u>                                     </u>	ł	<u>†</u>	·	†—-	1-	<u>├</u> ──	┼──	┼──ਁ	·/	1
Carex lepidocarpa	IV	1-6	1	6	$\frac{1}{1}$	†	1 6		- 3	┟──	<del>-</del> 3	1-4	4	<u>†</u>
Briza media		1-3	1		t i	<u>† – –</u>	1		2	3	$\frac{1}{2}$	<u>†                                    </u>	+	+
Carex hostiana		2-5	1	<u>├</u> ──	+	1 3			4	1 3		4		5
Carex dioica		1-6	1	2	t	4		+	- 4	$\frac{1}{1}$	6	- 3	+	<u>†–</u>
Juncus articulatus		1_1_1	1		<u>├</u> ──	†;		t - 2	1 3	<u>+</u>		<u>                                     </u>	+	1 - 2
Fissidens adjunthoides	IV	2-5	1		t	+		5	<u>†</u>	┼──	t-7	1 -	<u>+</u>	<u>+-</u>
Menvanthes trifoliato		3.6	1		1	1-3		<u> </u>		<u>├</u> ───	+	<u>+</u>	+	+
	+		ł	├ <sup>-</sup>	<u>†</u>	t	<u>+</u>	+	<u>+</u> *	+	<u>+ - '</u>	<del> </del>	<del> </del>	+
Valeriana dioica	<u> </u>	1-4	1		4	t	+	3	2	4	†	t	<u>†</u>	1
Parnassia palustris		1-4	1	<u>}</u>	†—-	1	4	4	4	3	3	1	†	$\frac{1}{1}$
Carex mulicaris		1-6	{	[	3	2	1	f	6		$\frac{1}{1}$	<u> </u>	<u>├</u> ──	3
Plagiomnium rostratum	<u> </u>	1-4	t	┝	<u> </u>	†	1	3	$\frac{-}{3}$	4	$\frac{1}{2}$	┼──	┼──	$\frac{-}{2}$
Pinguicula vulgaris	+	1-3	ſ		1	1-3		<u>+</u>	- 3	<u> </u>	$\frac{2}{2}$	<u> </u>	1-3	$\frac{1}{2}$
Juncus bulbosus	1 111	2-3	1	- 2		<u>+</u>	1 2	<u> </u>	1 2	3	1 - 2		<u> </u>	<u>+−−</u>
Calliergon cuspidatum	+	1-5	[	<u> </u>	- 3	┼──	+	+	5	5			╂───	- 4
Pedicularis palystris		1-3	1		- 3	┼──	+	┢──	$\frac{1}{1}$	3	t			<u> </u>
Scornidium scornioides	<u>+</u>	1-3	1	- 3	Ť	┢───	1	<u>+</u>	<u>├</u>		- 3		╂───	<u> </u>
Anthoranthum odoratum	+	1-3		<u> </u>	3	<u>+-</u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u>├</u>	2	+	{		<u> </u>
	<u>+</u>				<u> </u>	┟─∸	<u> </u>	<u> </u>			<u>├</u> ;	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Filipendula ulmaria	II	1-5				<u> </u>	1	5	2	3		<u> </u>		1
Bryum pseudotriquetrum	II	2-3				2		3	2	3				
Carex nigra	II	1-4			4	2	1	2						
Luzula multiflora	II	1-2		_	2	[		1	1					1
Dactylorhiza purpurella	II	1-2				1	†	T	1		2			1
Angelica sylvestris	II	1-2		1						2	1		<u> </u>	1
Eleocharis guingueflora	<u> </u>	2-5		3		5	3	<u> </u>			2		<u> </u>	
Euphrasia officinalis agg	<u> </u>	1-2				2	<u> </u>		1	1	2		<u> </u>	I
Crepis paludosa	<u> </u>	1-2					<u> </u>	<u> </u>		2	1			
Juncus acutiflorus	<u> </u>	1-6			1		<u> </u>			6				2
Potamogeton polygonifolius	11	1-4		1		1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					4	<u> </u>
Cardamine pratensis	II	1-3			3			<u> </u>					1	
Aneura pinguis	11	1-2		2			Ī				1		<u> </u>	
Potentilla erecta	TT TT	2			2	<u> </u>		2						2
Selaginella selaginoides	Π_	2-3				3	<u> </u>		3		2			
Erica tetralix	II	2-3	1	2	3	2								
Triglochin palustris	II II	1-2	· †			<u> </u>			1	2	1			
Dactylorhiza fuchsii	<u>п</u>	1-3	ł									3		$\vdash$
							<u> </u>							
Galium uliginosum	I	2-3			3			2						
Holcus lanatus	1	1-3	ľ		3									1
Mentha aquatica	I	2-3						3	2					
Carex demissa	I	3-4				4					-			3
Dactylorhiza incarnata	I	1-3	1	3									1	
Narthecium ossifragum	I	1	ľ	- 1	1									
Juncus conglomeratus		1	l						1					1
Number of species per sample	•		t I	25	36	29	27	29	36	25	32	15	15	35

Molinia caerulea is sometimes prominent, creating a tussocky zonation to the community; where it is absent the bryophytes are more abundant. Campylium stellatum and Drepanocladus revolvens are the main bryophyte species but these can be accompanied by Scorpidium scorpioides, Bryum pseudotriquetum, Calliergon cuspidatum and Cratoneuron commutatum and C. filicinum with Ctenidium molluscum and Fissidens adianthoides abundant around the stem bases of sedges and grasses. The sedges Carex panicea, Carex rostrata, Carex flacca, Carex lepidocarpa, Carex hostiana and Carex dioica are sometimes accompanied by Carex pulicaris, Eriophorum latifolium, Eleocharis quinqueflora and Triglochin palustris. Juncus articulatus is frequently found and often accompanied by the rare hybrid Juncus alpinoarticulatus. Small dicotyledonous species are characteristic of this community. Succisa pratensis is prominent and often accompanied by Valeriana dioica, Parnassia palustris, Pinguicula vulgaris and Pedicularis palustris.

### Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community (table 2.14)

Constant species: Carex lepidocarpa, Menyanthes trifoliata, Eriophorum angustifolium [Calliergon cuspidatum, Drepanocladus revolvens, Campylium stellatum, Carex panicea, Carex rostrata, Molinia caerulea, Equisetum palustre]

This community is characterised by an open sward of sedges, in particular, *Carex lepidocarpa*, *Carex rostrata*, *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *Carex panicea*. *Carex lasiocarpa* is sometimes prominent and *Carex diandra* sometimes occurs although it is never abundant. Tussocks of *Molinia caerulea* sometimes occur and support species typical of drier flush communities. *Menyanthes trifoliata*, *Potentilla palustris* and *Equisetum fluviatile* form the understorey to the sedge sward and beneath this brown mosses form the ground cover and are often quite expansive. *Campylium stellatum*, *Calliergon cuspidatum* and *Drepanocladus revolvens* are most frequently found but can be accompanied by *Scorpidium scorpioides*, *Plagiomnium rostratum* and *Calliergon giganteum* at low cover. This community frequently occurs as large stands either as a raft over soft peat and muds or on solid, flushed peat.

## Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community (table 2.15)

Constant species: Carex diandra, Carex lepidocarpa, Menyanthes trifoliata [Eriophorum angustifolium, Potentilla palustris, Parnassia palustris, Pedicularis palustris, Succisa pratensis, Caltha palustris, Calliergon cuspidatum, Campylium stellatum, Scorpidium scorpioides, Sphagnum contortum]

This community is species rich and characterised by an open sward of sedges with a ground cover of lawns and hummocks of base-tolerant *Sphagnum* species (*Sphagnum contortum* and *Sphagnum warnstorfii*) occurring as a small scale mosaic with *Drepanocladus revolvens* and

## Table 2.14. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing

the Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community

	Frequency score						ance	scor	<b>cs</b> (1-	-10) :	for in	divid	ual q	uadr	ats					
Species	Range of al	oundance																		
Menyanthes trifoliata	v	1-7		2	1	3	7	6	5	1	1	3	1	3	7	3	5	3	3	5
Carex lepidocarpa	t v	1-6		4	5		2	5	3	5	6	1	1	1	5	1	4	4	1	
Eriophorum angustifolium	v	1-6		6	2	4		3	<u> </u>	2	1-	3	3	3	3	1	2	3	2	3
		<u> </u>			· · · ·							<u> </u>	· · · ·		L			-		
Calliergon cuspidatum	IV	1-4	1 1	3	3	4		2	T	Τ 3	Ti	1	2	4	4	<u> </u>	3	1	4	<u> </u>
Drepanocladus revolvens	TV IV	1-6		3	2	6	4		3	4	1	3	<u> </u>	3	1	<u> </u>	2	1	-	
Camovlium stellatum	I IV	1-5		1	5		5	- 4	$\overline{1}$	4	2	3	<u> </u>	3	<u> </u>	-	4		1	
Carex panicea	IV	1-8			1	4	3	6	1-	1 4	4	<u> </u>	6	4	1-	8	2	-	- 4	5
Carer rostrata	rv	1-7		4	<u>⊢ :</u>	7	3	4	1	1 3	1 3	+	2	<u>+</u>	┼──	<u> </u>	2	5	+	<u> </u>
Mohma caerulea		1-7			3	3	<u> </u>	4	<u> </u>	1 4	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	7	4	1	5	1		-	6
Fausetum palustre	TV	1-4			<u> </u>				3	3	4	2	3		t i	3		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
		L			L	<u> </u>	L		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	L
Faussetum fluoratile		1-3		3	1	<u> </u>	2	r—	T 2	1	<u> </u>	1		1		r	3	2	3	<u> </u>
Scorndium scornoides	1 m	1-5		3	5		<u> </u>	4	<u> </u>			$\frac{1}{2}$		-	5		5	1 1		
Potentilla nalustris	<u> </u>	1-3				<u> </u>		1 3	<del>- 3</del>		<del> </del>			1	<u>                                     </u>					
Canon niona	<u> </u>	1-5			-		<u> </u>		<del>  ~~</del>		6		-	<u>ب</u>	t - 7	<u> </u>				
lungus agutflorus		1.7	}	1		<u> </u> ;		<u></u>	−	$+\frac{3}{1}$	1 1	+		┣──	┟─╴╴	<u> </u>		- <sup>3</sup>	1 2	
Potamonton polycomfolius	<u> </u>	1_4			2	–	•	<del>  ,</del>	┼──		- 4	$\frac{2}{1}$			├─		<u>ر</u>			┝─-
Phroamitae and -1-	<u> </u>	1-0				<b> </b>	<b>⊢</b> ‡	<u>⊢</u>		+	⊢°	┝╌┆					- 7	<del>ر</del> ا		-
Planomnium postation		1-0		1	<b>–</b>	<u> </u>			┝──	╞╴		┝╧	-		1 2			<del>,</del>	2	<b>–</b>
I lagiomnium Postratum	<u> </u>	1.4		1		├	<u> </u>	- 7	<u> </u>	2	1	┣──		+	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u>├</u>		
Duncus articulatus		1.2				<u> </u>		<u>-</u>	<u> </u>				-	<u> </u>	┝─┴	-		<u> </u>	,	<b>–</b>
Pearcularis patustris	<u> </u>	1-5			- 2	-		<u>                                     </u>		<sup>,</sup>		<u>⊢</u> –			+-,				7	
Carex lasiocarpa	<u> </u>	1-/	1				°		<u>'</u>	<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>		0					<u> </u>	
Comme di ser de s	Π_	1.	l I	_	-	-		1	1 3	т	1 2	1			<u> </u>			1 3		r
Carex aranara	<u> </u>	1-4						- <u>-</u>	<u> </u>	+ ,										
Cteniaium moliuscum	<u> </u>	1-4		<u>1</u>				2						2	$\frac{2}{2}$		. 4	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	4
Succisa pratensis	<u><u> </u></u>		-	_				- 3		- 3				2				+ ,	2	<u> </u>
Pinpenaula ulmaria	<u> </u>	1-3	- }		1			-	<u>⊢</u> +	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				╞╼┙		2			
Calification and Calification	<u>н и</u> п	1.2	ŀ		- 1				┝	<u> </u>		-7	3	- 3	├──				1	
Canna panusiris		1-3	ł	-	-	<u> </u>		-			-			1			- 3		2	1
Comer hostign g	<u> </u>	1-3	ŀ			3		-	–	<u> </u>	-			1						4
Carex nostiana	<u>п</u>	1-4	ŀ	_		Ļ		<b>-</b>		+ - +				4					2	2
Calliangon augentaum	Π	2-5	1	_				3	5			- 7	-							
Endobium nolustro		1.2	ŀ	_					<u> </u>			- 1		- 1	7			1		
Europaum patastre	<u>н п</u>	2-3	ŀ				- 1							-		2	- 7		3	3
Fissidans adjanthoidas	π	1-5	ŀ	_	Δ			1					1	5				$\vdash$		<b>-</b>
Tissidens ununnoides	<u> </u>	1-5	L					1	L	L	<u> </u>							L		
Valeriana dioica	T	1-3	ſ		1			-	<b></b>	<u> </u>		_	3	1	<u> </u>			<u> </u>		
Parnassia palustris	+	2-3		_			-	3									2			3
Galum uliginosum	$\frac{1}{1}$	2	ł					<u> </u>	t	t	<u> </u>		-	2	2		2			
Holcus lanatus		1-2	ŀ							<del>  ;</del>	-				2					
Crepus paludosa		1-3	ł					1		<u> </u>			1				3			
Carex echinata		1-3	ł	_		3				2		1								
Rampeulus flammula	<u> </u>	2-5	ł		_	Ť		3		$\frac{-}{2}$	5					-	-	-		
Carer naniculata		1-5						-	$\frac{1}{1}$	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				5			1		
Mentha aquatica	+	3-4	ł	-				-					4		<u> </u>	3				
Cirsum palustre		1	ŀ	_							-		1				_	1		
Cardomine protensis		1	t					1				1								
Galum nalustre		3	ŀ			3		<del>ا ن</del>	-	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	3			-				
Potentilla erecta	i i	2-3	ŀ	-1	_	<u> </u>			<u> </u>	2			Ť	3		$\square$			-	
Cratoneuron commutatum		3-4	ł	1	-		3			<u> </u>						_	_			
Sagina nodosa		2-3	H	- 2						<b>—</b>							3			
Rhizomnum nseudonunctatum		1-2	ł	<u> </u>	1					┝				i	2			<u> </u>		
Carer flacca	T	2-3	ŀ		-			2					3		<u> </u>					-
Carex dioica		2-3	ł	-		-		Ĩ		2							3			
Number of species per sample	L		ŀ	14	23	14	13	25	17	29	15	23	18	29	24	20	24	23	24	13
rearrest or shortes her sample			L L	1.4	~	47		<u> </u>	· • ·	<u> </u>	L 47	~~		~~	<u> </u>					<u> </u>

Species         Range of Annuance Caree chambon         V         1-7           Caree chambon plant         V         1-7           Caree chambon plant         V         1-7           Karey andher replactant         V         1-7           Broephenia arguetificium         IV         1-6           Permissi plantra         IV         1-6           Paransis plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-7           Complexing plantra         IV         1-6           Segreture         II         1-8		Frequenc	score	ם ב	Don	nin	abur	ndan	ce s	core	s fo	r in	divi	idua	l qu	ıadr	ats			
Later and and mathematical mathematimatical mathematical mathematical mathematical mathematical ma	Species	Range of	abundance	┥┟	<del>.</del>			-						_					_,	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Carex diandra	+ <u>v</u>	1-7	┥┝	6	7	1	5	3	4	5	6	4	4	2	4	3	2	1	3
Encrychrvm. surputifium         V         1-4           Disprints         IV         1-5           Paramatia palwatra         IV         1-5           Paramatia palwatra         IV         1-5           Paramatia palwatra         IV         1-5           Paramatia palwatra         IV         1-5           Calle palwatra         IV         1-5           Caller palwatra         IV         1-5           Caller palwatra         IV         1-5           Caller palwatra         IV         1-6           Caller palwatra         IV         1-7           Caller palwatra         IV         1-7           Caller palwatra         IV         1-6           Palwatra         IV         1-7           Caller palwatra         IV         1-7           Caller palwatra         IV         1-7           Caller palwatra         II         1-3           Caller palwatra         III         1-3           Caller palwatra         III         1-3           Caller palwatra         III         1-3           Caller palwatra         III         1-3           Carer contratu         III         1-3	Carex lepidocarpa		1-5	┥┝	3	4	-3	+	3	5			1		+	+	+	5	3	3
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	prenyanines in jonata	<u>*</u>	2-7	J L	-	+		2	41	41	2	1	2	6	3	3	2	4	2	3 .
Protestic polarise         IV         1-5           Parasetic polarise         IV         1-5           Secces preterms         IV         1-5           Secces preterms         IV         1-4           Caller on couplation         IV         1-4           Caller on couplation         IV         1-7           Caller on couplation         IV         1-7           Caller on couplation         IV         1-7           Caller on couplation         IV         1-5           Seprightm scolarum         II         1-4           Caller on couplation         IV         1-5           Seprightm scolarum         III         1-5           Caller on couplation         IV         1-5           Seprightm scolarum         III         1-5           Parasettic policitie         III         1-4           Caller on couplative         III         1-5           Parasettic policitie         III         1-4           Caller on couplative         III         1-4           Caller on couplative         III         1-4           Caller on couplative         III         1-5           Parasettio policiti         III         2 <t< td=""><td>Eriophorum angustifolium</td><td>IV</td><td>1-6</td><td>ר ר</td><td>3</td><td>3</td><td>1</td><td>Т</td><td>21</td><td>2</td><td>Т</td><td>3</td><td>Т</td><td>1</td><td>6</td><td>3</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>5</td><td>4</td></t<>	Eriophorum angustifolium	IV	1-6	ר ר	3	3	1	Т	21	2	Т	3	Т	1	6	3	4	4	5	4
Parasata palatars         IV         1-5           Sacca protesta         IV         1-5           Sacca protesta         IV         1-4           Sacca protesta         IV         1-3           Calla palatara         IV         1-3           Secondum scorpoides         IV         1-5           Secondum scorpoides         IV         1-6           Stactara palatara         III         1-4           Dergonacidam scorpoides         IV         1-5           Stactara palatara         III         1-4           Dergonacidam scorpoides         III         1-4           Dergonacidam contram         III         1-4           Palaticommin paratematic mature statum         III         1-4           Palaticommin paratematic mature statum         III         1-4           Palaticommin paratematic mature statum         III         1-4         3         3         4         3         4 </td <td>Potentilla palustris</td> <td>ĪV</td> <td>1-5</td> <td>1 1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>2</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>5</td> <td>3</td> <td>4</td> <td>5</td> <td>2</td> <td>3</td> <td>1</td> <td>+</td> <td>2</td>	Potentilla palustris	ĪV	1-5	1 1			3	2	2		2	5	3	4	5	2	3	1	+	2
Packetare packers         IV         1-4           Callergo outplatter         IV         1-4           Callergo outplatter         IV         1-4           Callergo outplatter         IV         1-7           Campoint sellation         IV         1-7           Campoint sellation         IV         1-5           Sphagrum contortion         IV         1-5           Sphagrum contortion         IV         1-6           Callergo outplatter         III         1-7           Callergo outplatter         III         1-7           Callergo outplatter         III         1-8           Degranoclatic revolvem         III         1-5           Ritcommum passive         IIII         1-8           Degranoclatic revolvem         III         1-8           Delassen revolvem         III	Parnassia palustris	IV	1-5	] [	2	Τ	5	Т	1	3	4	1	1		1	+	3	3	3	1
Success pretense         IV         1-4         3         1         1	Pedicularis palustris	IV	1-5				1		1	2	ī	1	1		1		5	2	3	1
Caller consumption         IV         1-3         2         2         2         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         1         1         1         3         1 <th1< th="">         1         1         1</th1<>	Succisa pratensis	IV	1-4	┥┝	3	1	3	$\perp$	1	1	<u>3</u>	4		3	3	3	5	3	3	1 4
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Caltha palustris		$\frac{1-3}{1-3}$	┥┝	2	4	+	2	2	1	3	3	+	2	3	+	1	3	2	2
Computer         I         2-6         3         3         4         2         1         0         4         0         4         3         3         4         1         0         4         1 <th< td=""><td>Camplum stallatum</td><td></td><td>1-/</td><td>┥┝</td><td>4</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>╈</td><td>3</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>1</td><td>2</td><td>3</td><td>3</td><td>4</td><td>2</td></th<>	Camplum stallatum		1-/	┥┝	4	-	-	4	4	╈	3	4	4	4	1	2	3	3	4	2
Physicans       Constrain       IV       I = 6         Calliargon geganteum       III       1-4         Deployment constrain       III       1-5         Stationnum rotectum       III       1-5         Relationnum rotectum       III       1-6         Calliargon geganteum       III       1-5         Relationnum rotectum       III       1-6         Carer costrata       III       2-6         Carer costrata       III       2-6         Carer costrata       III       1-3         Equication pulsare       III       1-3         Valennan daco       III       1-3         Valennan daco       III       1-3         Equivaria       III       1-3         Carer costrata       III       2-2       3       3       1-3       1-2         Molina contulate       III       1-3       2       3       3       1-3       2       2       3       3       1-1       2       1       1-2       1       1-2       1       1-2       1       1-2       1       1-3       1-2       1       1-3       1-2       1       1-3       1-3       1-3       1-2	Scornidium scornioides		1-5	┥┝	5	4	-	-	計	4	<u>'</u>	┿	3	4	╋	╉	+-	2	2	+ -
Collergen gganteum         III         Collergen gganteum         III         Collergen gganteum         III         III         Collergen gganteum         III         III         III         III         IIII         IIII         IIII         IIII         IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Sphagnum contortum	IV	1-6	┥┝	1	3	+	2	3	$\frac{1}{1}$	\$	2	5	╈	╋	1	6	╀	4	7
Callergon granteum       III       1-4       3       2       3       3       4       3       2       1       1         Dergencolator       III       1-3       Placemann palatre       III       1-3       III       3       1<3       1<3       1<5       2       2       1       1<3       1<5       2       2       1       1<3       1<5       2       2       3       3       4       4       6       3       3       4       4       3       3       4       4       5       5       2       2       3       3       4       4       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       6       7       7       7       1       1       1       1       1       1       <																	_		-	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Calliergon giganteum	<u></u>	1-4	┥┝	3	2	3	3	4	3 4	4	2	$\bot$			2		1		
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Drepanocladus revolvens	<u> </u>	1-5	┥┝	+	-	5	3	1	4 4	1		1	+	$\downarrow$	_	+	5	5	1
Construint         Constru	Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum	<u>+ <u>m</u></u>	1-3	┥┝	2	╇	2	<u>1</u>	+	$\frac{2}{2}$	2 2	2	4	3	3	3		+-	+	+
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Aulacomnium polystra	<u> </u>	1-5	┥┝	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	-	$\frac{1}{1}$	4-	3 2	-				┿	$\frac{1}{2}$		╋	+	1 5
Carse values       D       2-6       D       J       4       4       6       3       J       4       2       1         Corex laisocrpa       III       2-6       J       J       4       6       3       J       4       0       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       1       2       1       3       3       1       1       2       1       3       1       1       2       1	Drosera rotundifolia		1-6	┥ ┝	2	2	1	+	╋	+			<u>}</u>	<u>+</u>	2	1	<del>}</del>  -	┿	4	4
Carse lancespa       III       2.6         Valerana dioce       III       1.3         Carse lances       III       1.3         Equiretim pulatre       III       1.3         Holess lanatas       III       1.4         Molina correlia       III       2       2       3       3       4       3       1       2         Galum pulatre       III       1.3       2       2       3       3       4       3       3       2       1       2       2       3       3       4       3       3       2       2       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       <	Carex rostrata	<u> </u>	2-6	1	┭	+	╧	3	╁╴		1			3	+	4	+	2	+	+
Valerana divoca       III       1.3         Equisetum pulustre       III       1.3         Equisetum pulustre       III       1.3         Holma corrulea       III       3.4       3.2       1.2       1.1       2         Molina corrulea       III       3.3       1.2       2       3.3       1.1       2       1.3       3.4       4       3.3       3.4       4       3.3       3.4       4       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       2       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       2       1.1       2       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       1.1       3.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.1       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       1.1       2       1.1       1.1       3.3       3.1       2       2       1.1<	Carex lasiocarpa	m	2-6	1	5	╈	2	+	+	╧	$\uparrow$	t	t	+	╋	+	3 0	6	6	6 4
Equivalent polative         III         1-3           Molina coerulea         III         3-5           Galum polative         III         1-3           Segina nodosa         III         1-3           Cardamine pratensis         III         1-3           Cardamine pratensis         III         1-3           Cares curata         II         2-6           Cares curata         II         2-6           Cares curata         II         1-5           Sphognum squarrosum         II         1-5           Sphognum squarrosum         II         1-5           Sphognum squarrosum         II         1-3           Bryain pasudotriguetrum         II         2-4           Virola patientris         II         1-3           Bryain pasudotriguetrum         II         2-3           Cares parica         II         2-4           Virola patientirs         II         1-3           Bryain pasudotriguetrum         II         2-4           Potamogeton polycorificius         II         1-4           Protensiga         II         1-4           Protensiga         II         1-4           Cares regra	Valeriana dioica	ш	1-3			1	3	1	T	12	2	2		3	T		3	1	3	1 2
Holess lanams       III       1-4       3       3       4       3       3       4       3       3       4       5         Galum palatire       III       1-5       3       3       1       1       2       3       3       1       1       2       3       3       4	Equisetum palustre	ш	1-3		T	2		2	3	3 2	E	Γ	Γ		2	Ι	1	1	2	L
Motion coernica         III         3-5         3         3         4         4         4         4         1         3         3         4         5           Carlam pailouse         III         1-3         1         1         2         3         3         1         1         2         3         3         4         5           Sagna nodosa         III         1-3         2         3         1         1         2         3         1         1         2         3         1         1         2         1         1         2         1         1         2         1         1         1         3         4         5         5         1         1         1         2         1         1         1         3         4         5         5         1         1         1         3         4         5         5         1         1         1         1         2         1         1         1         1         1         3         4         5         3         4         5         5         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1	Holcus lanatus	<u> </u>	1-4	$\downarrow$	1	4	2		Ļ	Ĺ	Ĺ	3	3	3	ŧГ	3	3	L	F	2
Gamma power         II         1-5         3         I         I         2         3         I         I         2         1         1         2         1	Molinia caerulea		3-5	$\downarrow$ $\vdash$	3	+	3	+	+	+-	+	L	4	¥	+-	ļ	3	3	4	5
Learning production       Lat       1-2       1       2       3       1       2       3       1       2       3       1       2       3       1       2       3       1       2       3       1       2       1       2       3       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       1       3       1       3       1 </td <td>Gaitum paiustre</td> <td><u>+−</u><u>₩</u>−</td> <td>1-3</td> <td>+ <math>+</math></td> <td>╬-</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>╞</td> <td>4-</td> <td><math>+^{3}</math></td> <td>3</td> <td>1</td> <td>+-:</td> <td></td> <td>4</td> <td>1</td> <td>4</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td>	Gaitum paiustre	<u>+−</u> <u>₩</u> −	1-3	+ $+$	╬-	+	+	╞	4-	$+^{3}$	3	1	+-:		4	1	4	+	+	+
Line       Line <thline< th="">       Line       Line</thline<>	Sagina nodosa		1-3	4 1-	4	+	1		÷	2 3	1 3		4-	<u>الا</u>	<u> </u>	+	21 -	<u>۱</u> -	+	1 2
Carex curta       II       2-6         Carex pulcars       II       1-5         Cares pulcars       II       1-5         Sphagnum squarrosum       II       1-5         Sphagnum squarrosum       II       1-5         Sphagnum squarrosum       II       1-7         Salar repers agg.       II       2-3         Probamogetor polygonifolus       II       1-3         Bryum pseudotraquetrum       II       2-3         Carex mgra       II       1-4         Phragmutes australis       II       2-3         Carex mgra       II       1-4         Phragmutes australis       II       2-3         Carex mgra       II       1-4         Phragmutes australis       II       1-3         Carex mgra       II       1-4         Salar repart       II       1-4         Solar repart       II       1-4         Phragmutes australis       II       2-2       1       1         Carex mgra       II       1-4       3       2       1       2       1         Seluctral minor       II       1-4       3       2       2       1       1	Cardamine pratensis		1-3	┥┝	+	+	1		$\frac{1}{2}$			┢	╋			2	+-		+	1 2
Careex curita       II       2-6       6       2       4       2       3         Careex curita       II       1-5       2       5       1       1       3			1		-		- <b>-</b> -					<u> </u>	-L_	<u> </u>				<u> </u>		-1
Carex ephicars       II       1-5       2       5       1       1       3         Sphagnum squarcosum       II       1-5       2       1 <td>Carex curta</td> <td>П</td> <td>2-6</td> <td>] [</td> <td>T</td> <td>T</td> <td>T</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>L</td> <td>6</td> <td>2</td> <td>2 4</td> <td>۱Ī.</td> <td>۱Ľ.</td> <td>2</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>Τ</td> <td>Τ</td> <td>3</td>	Carex curta	П	2-6	] [	T	T	T	Γ	Γ	L	6	2	2 4	۱Ī.	۱Ľ.	2	Γ	Τ	Τ	3
Carex exchinata       II       1-2       2       1       1         Sphagmi squarroum       II       1-7       1       1       4       3       5       1         Sphagmi squarroum       II       1-7       2       2       1       1       2       3       4       2       3       4       2       4       2       3       4       2       3       4       2       2       3       3       2       2       3       4       2       3       4       2       3       3       3       2       2       2       2       3       3       3       2       2       3       3       3       2       2       3       3       3       2       2       1       1       1       1       3       3       3       2       2       1	Carex pulicaris	п	1-5		2	_	5	_	L			L						ЧĽ.		3
Deplogram squarcosum       II       1-5         Sphognum security       II       1-7       7       7       2       1       1       7       7       2       1	Carex echinata	<u> </u>	1-2	┥┝		-	2	+-	+	+-	<u> </u>	2	!	$\vdash$		<u>I</u>	4	╇		ц
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Sphagnum squarrosum	<u> </u>	1-5	┥┝	+	+-	+	4	+	4	┝╴	4		<u>1</u>	5	<u>۹</u>	+	┢	+-	+
Image: Construction of the second of the	Salix renens and		2-4	$i \vdash$	ᡪ┥	+	-1-	4-	╉╌	+	+-'	+	+-	4-	┢	╉╴	<del>,  </del> ,	<del>,   -</del>	+-	+
Bryum pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3       2       2       2       3       3       2         Carex pancea       II       2-6       I       2       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       6       5       3       1       2       1<	Viola palustris	<u>— ш</u>	1-3	1 -	+-	╈	╋	+	┢	+	+	┝╌	$\frac{1}{2}$			ť	+	+	+	-
Carex panicea       II       2-6       3       6       5       3         Potamogeton polygoni/olius       II       1-6       6       6       4       2       1       1         Phragmites australis       II       2-5       1       1       3       4       3       4       3       2       1       1         Phragmites australis       II       2-5       3       4       3       4       3       1       2       1       1         Beliohum palustre       II       1-3       1       3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       <	Bryum pseudotriquetrum	Π	2-3	1 1:	2	2	+			┿╴	+ -	┢──	+-	Ŧ		3	13	<del>,</del> †	╋	2
Potamogeton polygonifolius       II       1-6       6       6       4       2       5       1         Utricularia minor       II       1-4       3       4       3       2       1       1         Pragmets asstraits       II       1-3       1       3       1       2       1       1         Equivariant minor       II       1-3       3       4       3       2       1       2       1       1         Pringemets asstraits       II       1-3       2       1       3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1 <th1< th="">       1       1</th1<>	Carex panicea	П	2-6	1 [	T			T	Γ			2		T		13	3 6	5	5	3
Ultricularia minor.       II       1-4       3       4       3       4       3       1       2       1         Phragmites australis       II       2-5       3       2       4       3       1       2       1       1         Equisiting flow and the aquatica       II       1-3       3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1	Potamogeton polygonifolius	П	1-6		L			5 6	5 4	١ <u> </u>		Γ	Γ	2	2	5	1		Γ	
Phrogmites australis       II       2-5       3       1       5       5       3       2       4         Epilobium palustre       II       1-3       1       3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       2       1 <th< td=""><td>Utricularia minor</td><td>П</td><td>1-4</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>3 4</td><td>1 3</td><td>3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>L</td><td></td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td></th<>	Utricularia minor	П	1-4				1	3 4	1 3	3				L		2			1	
Lepicolum palastre       II       1-3       II       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1 <td>Phragmites australis</td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>2-5</td> <td>ļĻ</td> <td>3</td> <td>+</td> <td>+-</td> <td>╇</td> <td>┢</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td>┢</td> <td><math>\downarrow</math></td> <td>L.</td> <td>5</td> <td><u>;</u></td> <td>3 2</td> <td>2 4</td>	Phragmites australis	<u> </u>	2-5	ļĻ	3	+	+-	╇	┢				_	┢	$\downarrow$	L.	5	<u>;</u>	3 2	2 4
Lagrand invitatie       L       1-3       2       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       2       1       2       2       1       1       2       2       1       1       1       2       1	Epilobium palustre		1-3	┥┝	+	<u>1</u>	+	+	⊢	+	3	_	<u>  1</u>	+-	1-	2		╀	+	+
Arrow organd       I       1-4       1-2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1	Mentha aquatica	<u> </u>	1-3	┥┝╴	╉	+-	-	+	╀	1 2	-4	┢╌	┝	╧	+	╀	+-	╋	┽╴	+
Cirstum palustre       I	Carex nigra	Π	1-3			i	<u>-</u>	t f	+	+-	┝	┢─	┼─	╉	┼╌	+-	+-	┢	╆╾	$\frac{2}{2}$
Agrostis stolonifera       II       1-4         Galium uliginosum       II       1-2         Luzula mulnflora       II       1-3         Filipendula ulmaria       II       1-3         Angelica sylvestris       II       1-3         Angelica sylvestris       II       1-3         Angelica sylvestris       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-3         Dactylorhiza incarnata       II       1       3       2       2       4       2       2       1       1         Sidens adianthoides       II       1-3       3       1 <th< td=""><td>Cirsium palustre</td><td>п</td><td>1-2</td><td></td><td></td><td>i</td><td>1</td><td>+</td><td>1</td><td>+-</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>2</td><td>1-</td><td>┢</td><td>+-</td><td>1</td><td></td><td>┢╌</td><td>Ť</td></th<>	Cirsium palustre	п	1-2			i	1	+	1	+-	1	1	2	1-	┢	+-	1		┢╌	Ť
Galium uliginosum       II       1-2         Luzula muliflora       II       1-3         Arigelica sylvestris       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Dactylorhuza incarnata       II       1       2       2       4       1         Diactylorhuza incarnata       II       1       2       2       4       1         Filipendula vulgaris       II       1-3       3       1       1       2       2       4       1         Dactylorhuza incarnata       II       1	Agrostis stolonifera	п	1-4		T	T	2			T	4	2	1-	1-	1-	2	1		$\mathbf{T}$	
Luzula mulifiora       II       1-3         Filipendula ulmaria       II       1-3         Angelica sylvestris       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Dactylorhiza incarnata       II       1       1       1         Pinguicula vulgaris       II       1-3       3       1       1       1       1         Crepts paludosa       I       1-2       3       3       1 <td>Galium uliginosum</td> <td>П</td> <td>1-2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Γ</td> <td>Γ</td> <td></td> <td>Γ</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>2</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>Γ</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td>	Galium uliginosum	П	1-2			Γ	Γ		Γ			2	2	Γ	Γ	Γ	2		1	1
Filipendula ulmaria       II       1-3         Angelica sylvestris       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-4         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-3         Dactylorhiza incarnata       II       1         Tissidens adianthoides       II       2       1         Pinguicula vulgaris       II       1-3         Crepts paludosa       I       1-2         Juncus acutiflorus       I       1-2         Betula pubescens (g)       I       2         Aneura pinguis       I       1-4         Philonotis calcarea       I       1-4         Climacium dendroides       I       1-2         Philonotis colcarea       I       1-2         Philonotis colcarea       I       1-2         Philonotis colcarea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Philonotis fontana       I       1-2         Prola rotundifolia       I       2-2         Sphagmum warnstorfii       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       1-2         Vaccinum axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza medi	Luzula multiflora	П	1-3				1						2	3		1				
Angelica sylvestris       II       1-4       2       2       4       1         Selaginella selaginoides       II       1-3       3       1       2       1       2         Dactylorhiza incarnata       II       1 <td>Filipendula ulmaria</td> <td><u>n</u></td> <td>1-3</td> <td></td> <td>┢</td> <td>┢</td> <td>╇</td> <td>2</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td>L_</td> <td>L</td> <td>┡</td> <td>┢</td> <td>3</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2</td>	Filipendula ulmaria	<u>n</u>	1-3		┢	┢	╇	2	-		1	L_	L	┡	┢	3	2			2
Seligineita setagineitaes       II       1-3       3       1 <td< td=""><td>Angelica sylvestris</td><td></td><td>1-4</td><td>▎┝</td><td>┢</td><td>┢</td><td>+-</td><td>┢</td><td>┢╌</td><td></td><td></td><td>_</td><td>┣</td><td><u> </u></td><td>╞</td><td><u>  2</u></td><td><math>\frac{1}{2}</math></td><td>14</td><td>4</td><td><math>\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ - \end{bmatrix}</math></td></td<>	Angelica sylvestris		1-4	▎┝	┢	┢	+-	┢	┢╌			_	┣	<u> </u>	╞	<u>  2</u>	$\frac{1}{2}$	14	4	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ - \end{bmatrix}$
Description has in the inclusion of the inc	Dactylorhiza incarnata		1-3 		╋	÷	4-	+-	┢			-	┝─	┝	┢╌	╋╌╸	<u> </u>	╂.,	+	4
Pinguicula vulgaris       I       1-3         Crepts paludosa       I       1-2         Juncus acuttflorus       I       1-2         Juncus acuttflorus       I       1-2         Betula pubescens (g)       I       2-3         Aneura pinguis       I       1         Philonotis calcarea       I       1-4         Climacium dendroides       I       1-2         Philonotis fontana       I       1-4         Victa cracca       I       1-2         Salix cinerea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothectum nitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Spraa media       I       1-2         Subrot of species per sample       I       2-3	Fissidens adjanthoides	π	2-3		+-	┢	1	+	+	+	+			+	+	┿╌	+-	+		1
Crepis paludosa       I       I-2         Juncus acutiflorus       I       1-2         Betula pubescens (g)       I       2-3         Aneura pingus       I       1         Philonotis calcarea       I       1-4         Climacium dendroides       I       1-2         Philonotis colcarea       I       1-4         Climacium dendroides       I       1-2         Philonotis fontana       I       1-4         Victa cracca       I       1-2         Salix cinerea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothecium nitens       I       1-6         Sphagmum warnstorfii       I       2-6         Sphagmum warnstorfii       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19       12       28       29       24       28       24       35       23       36	Pinguicula vulgaris	π	1-3	3			i	$\uparrow$	ī	┢─		-		┢	┢	t	┢	┢╌	╧	-
Crepts paludosa       I       I-2       I					_	_		-		_	_			<u> </u>	_		<u> </u>	-	_	
Juncus acutțiorus       I       1-2       I       2       I       3       2         Betula pubescens (g)       I       2-3       I       1       I       1       I       1       I<	Crepis paludosa	I	1-2		F	Γ	чГ	F	Γ	$\square$							2	2		$\Box$
Bernia procescens (g)       1       2-5       3       2         Aneura pinguis       I       1       1       1       1       1         Philonotts calcarea       I       1-4       4       2       1       1       1       1         Philonotts calcarea       I       1-4       2       1	Juncus acutiflorus		1-2		_	+	+	╞	┣	닌비			L	<b> </b>	<u> </u> 2	+		Ļ	_	$\square$
Image: Second program       I	Angura pupescens (g)	l т	2-5		+	┢	+	╂—	┣	$\vdash$				<u></u> ⊢.	⊢	┢	$\left \frac{3}{\cdot}\right $	<u> </u>	┢	$\vdash$
I       I	Philomotis calcarea	T	1-1		$\vdash$	+	+	╂──	-	$\vdash$				┞┸	┣	┝		┞╹	┢╌	⊢┤
Philonoits fontana       I       1-4         Vicia cracca       I       1-2         Salix cinerea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothecium nitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       2-6         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19       31       23       28       25       33       34       29       24       28       24       35       38	Climacium dendroides	I	1-2	⊢	t-	†-	+	+-	+ -	╞╌┤	2	1				+-	$\vdash$	╂	+-	⊢┤
Victa cracca       I       1-2         Salix cinerea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothectum nitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-8         Pyrola rotundifolia       I       2-6         Shagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19       21       23       24       28       24       25       33       34       29       24       28       24       35       37	Philonotis fontana	I	1-4		†	1 2		F	$\vdash$	┝╧┨	-	1		-	1	1	+	$\vdash$	┝	┝╌╢
Salix cinerea (s)       I       1-2         Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothectum nitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-8         Pyrola rotundifolia       I       2-6         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19       21       23       24       28       28 </td <td>Vicia cracca</td> <td>I</td> <td>1-2</td> <td></td> <td>t</td> <td>t</td> <td>+</td> <td>t</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math>\neg</math></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>ŕ</td> <td>2</td> <td>1</td> <td>┢──</td> <td>┢╴</td> <td><math>\exists</math></td>	Vicia cracca	I	1-2		t	t	+	t			$\neg$	-			ŕ	2	1	┢──	┢╴	$\exists$
Dactylorhiza purpurella       I       1-2         Homalothectum nitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-6         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-8         Pyrola rotundifolia       I       2-6         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19       31       23       28       25       33       34       29       24       28       24       35       38       38       32       36       38       34       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       28       28       19       21       23       28       29       24       28       29       24       28       28       28       29       24       28       28       28       28       28       28       28	Salix cinerea (s)	I	1-2		L	T	1									$\frac{1}{2}$	Ē		1	Π
Homalothecrum nitens       I       I-6       I       6       2         Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-8       8       1       1         Pyrola rotundifolia       I       2-6       6       2       1         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5       6       2       2         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3       2       2       2       3         Briza media       I       1-2       2       2       2       3         Carex limosa       I       2-3       2       3       3       3         Number of species per sample       28       19       31       23       28       25       33       34       29       24       28       23       36       38	Dactylorhiza purpurella	I	1-2			Γ	Γ	2		1						2				
Sphagnum subnitens       I       1-8         Pyrola rotundifolia       I       2-6         Sphagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3         Briza media       I       1-2         Carex limosa       I       2-3         Number of species per sample       28       19         28       19       31       23       28       25       33       34       29       24       28       23       38	Homalothecrum nitens	I	1-6		Ē	Ľ		1		6							2	L		
typola rotundifolia     I     2-6       Sphagnum warnstorfii     I     1-5       Vaccinium axycoccos     I     2-3       Briza media     I     1-2       Carex limosa     I     2-3       Number of species per sample     28     19     31     23     28     25     33     34     29     24     28     23     38	Sphagnum subnitens	I	1-8		Ĺ	L				Ц	8	1						1		
Spinagnum warnstorfii       I       1-5       5       1       1         Vaccinium axycoccos       I       2-3       2       3       3         Briza media       I       1-2       2       2       1       1         Carex limosa       I       2-3       2       3       3         Number of species per sample       28       19       31       23       28       25       33       34       29       24       28       23       38	Pyrola rotundifolia	1	2-6		1_	⊢	1			$\square$	$\square$					6	2	2		
Actinum (aycoccos)     I     2-3       Briza media     I     1-2       Carex limosa     I     2-3       Number of species per sample     28 19 31 23 28 25 33 34 29 24 28 32 43 52 32 36 38	Sphagnum warnstorfii	I	1-5		1	_	┢	$\vdash$	H	$\vdash$	4	_			L	5				$\square$
Image: Carex limosa         I         I-2         I <thi< th="">         I         I         I</thi<>	v accinium axycoccos	L T	2-3		$\vdash$	┝	+	$\left  \cdot \right $				$\neg$	_				2	3	_3	$\vdash$
Number of species per sample 28 19 31 23 28 25 33 34 29 24 28 32 43 52 32 36 38	Carex limosa		2-3		┝─	+	+	$\vdash$		┝╌┨	-	$\dashv$	_		-	2	1		1	$\vdash$
	Number of species per sample			28	19	31	23	28	25	33	34	29	24	28	32	43	52	32	36	38

## Table 2.15. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community

Campylium stellatum. The rare bryophytes Homalothecium nitens and Cinclidium stygium occur within this community at one site. Aulacomnium palustre and Drosera rotundifolia are found scattered through the Sphagnum hummocks and the bryophyte Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum is frequently found at the base of the Sphagnum hummocks. Carex diandra and Carex lepidocarpa are the most abundant sedges, accompanied by Eriophorum angustifolium although Carex lasiocarpa and Carex rostrata can be prominent and sometimes abundant. Carex curta, Carex pulicaris and Carex echinata are locally frequent and Carex limosa is occasionally found. Small herbs Parnassia palustris, Pedicularis palustris, Valeriana dioica, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Sagina nodosa and Cardamine pratensis grow around the margins of hummocks. This community is typically found on vegetation rafts over shallow fluid peat, near the edges of sites, or on small sites.

#### Mixed sedge rich-fen community (table 2.16)

Constant species: Menyanthes trifoliata, Callergon cuspidatum, Carex lepidocarpa, Carex panicea, Carex rostrata, Caltha palustris, Carex diandra, Eriophorum angustifolium, Cardamine pratensis, Plagiomnium rostratum

[Potentilla palustris, Galium uliginosum, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Epilobium palustre, Filipendula ulmaria, Angelica sylvestris, Agrostis stolonifera, Succisa pratensis, Valeriana dioica, Molinia caerulea]

A rather variable community characterised by an open sward of mixed sedges Carex diandra, Carex rostrata, Carex panicea, Carex lepidocarpa, Eriophorum angustifolium with an understorey of Menyanthes trifoliata, Caltha palustris, Potentilla palustris and a mixture of herbs including Galium uliginosum, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Epilobium palustre and Filipendula ulmaria. The ground layer comprises patches of Calliergon cuspidatum and Plagiomnium rostratum, sometimes accompanied by Calliergon giganteum, Calliergon cordifolium all of which can be locally abundant, with more scattered patches of Campylium stellatum and Drepanocladus revolvens.

#### Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community

A vary variable community, occurring on solid peat and as quaking vegetation rafts. Carex rostrata is usually the most prominent component in the sward but is often accompanied by Carex diandra and Eriophorum angustifolium. A range of species are characteristic in the understorey notably Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile and Potentilla palustris. In some areas, especially in the Carex diandra variant, the bryophyte cover is luxuriant with abundant Calliergon cuspidatum and Plagiomnium rostratum frequently accompanied by Calliergon giganteum and Calliergon cordifolium in wetter areas. Cushions of Sphagnum

## Table 2.16. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Mixed sedge rich-fen community

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	IPEQUENCY Soft           Range of abundance           Intermediate Everses (1-10) for individuel quark           Intermediation           Intermediate Everses (1-10) for individuel quark           Intermediate Everses (1-10) for individuel quark           Intermediate Everses (1-10)           Intermediate Everses (1-10)           Intermediate Everses (1-10)           Intermediate Everses (1-10)		<u> </u>		יש ו		. ·				16	<u> </u>				
ist         Range of abundance wights triplation         V $2.7$ wights triplation         V $3.7$ $3.7$ $3.2$ $2.2$ $2.6$ $1.3$ $3.7$ $3.2$ $5.2$ $2.12$ $3.3$ $5.2$ $2.12$ $3.3$ $5.2$ $2.12$ $2.3$ $3.4$ $3.5$ $4.11$ $2.2$ $2.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.2$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $4.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $4.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.1$ $4.3$ $3.4$ $3.3$ $3.1$ $1.4$ $1.6$ $3.1$ $1.3$ $3.2$ $1.1$ $1.3$ $3.3$ $3.1$ $1.3$ $3.2$ $1.3$ $3.3$ $3.1$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$ $1.4$	Range of abundance mither tryfolicita         V $2.7$ argen cuyotatam         V $3.7$ $3$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $7$ $3$ $2$ $2$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $7$ $3$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $7$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $7$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $4$ $3$ $1$ <		Frequency se	core		nın a	bund	ance	score	s (1-	10):	for i	ndivi	duai	quad	rate
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	anther tryloitata         V         2-7         4         3         3         7         5         2         2         6         4           leprodecarpa         V         1-4         3         1         3         2         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         4         3         3         2         1         3         1         1         3         1	ecies	Range of ab	undance									_			
linegon supplatum       V       3-7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       7       3       3       5       4       1       3       1       3	right outpatham         V         3-7         3         3         7         3         2         7         3         5         4           pannea         V         1-4         2         1         3         1         2         1         3 <td>enyanthes trifoliata</td> <td>v</td> <td>2-7</td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>7</td> <td>5</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math>\overline{2}</math></td> <td><math>2 \boxed{6}</math></td> <td>515</td> <td>T</td>	enyanthes trifoliata	v	2-7		3	3	7	5	2			$\overline{2}$	$2 \boxed{6}$	515	T
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Inducerya         V         1-4         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         4         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         4         3         3         3         3         3         4         2         2         1         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         2         2         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         2         3         3         3         3         3         3 <t< td=""><td>lliergon cuspidatum</td><td>v</td><td>3-7</td><td></td><td></td><td>3</td><td>7</td><td>3</td><td>2</td><td>5</td><td></td><td></td><td>5</td><td>5 4</td><td></td></t<>	lliergon cuspidatum	v	3-7			3	7	3	2	5			5	5 4	
a bankstrig       V       14       2       2       3       3       3       3       4       3       5       5       5       3       4       3       5       3       4       1       4       6       4       3       2       1       1       4       6       4       3       4       1       4       6       4       3       2       1       3       1       4       6       4       3       <	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	rer lendocarna		1-6		1,	+	1 2	5	- 6						+
index particle       index partin       index particle       index	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $						+	<del>1</del>	1	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	<u> </u>		<del>;  -</del> ;	<u></u>		+
Tere traita,       V       1-3         13       2       1       2       2       3       3       4         Tere dandra       V       1-4       4       6       3       2       3       3       4       3         Tere dandra       V       1-4       4       6       4       3       2       3       1       1       3       3       3       1       1       3       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       3       1       1 <t< td=""><td><math display="block">\begin{array}{c} \mbox{ration} (1,2) \\ \mbox{rest} (2,1)</math></td><td>irex punicea</td><td></td><td>1-4</td><td></td><td>+ 4</td><td>+</td><td><u></u></td><td><u></u></td><td></td><td></td><td>4</td><td>2</td><td>2</td><td><u>}</u></td><td>-</td></t<>	$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{ration} (1,2) \\ \mbox{rest} (2,1)$	irex punicea		1-4		+ 4	+	<u></u>	<u></u>			4	2	2	<u>}</u>	-
atiltà polatria       V       1-4       3       2       3       1       3       2       3       1       4       6       3       1       3       2       3       1       4       6       3       1       1       1       3       1 <th1< th="">       1       <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<>	a palatrix         V         14           diandra         V         14           horum anguit/joham         V         27           mine presents         V         13         2         3         3         4         3           mine presents         V         1-3         2         1         3         2         3         3         4         3           mine presents         V         1-3         2         2         3         3         4         3         2         2         3         3         4         3         2         2         3         3         4         3         2         2         3         3         4         3         2         2         3         3         4         3         2         2         1	arex rostrata	V	1-5		1 3	-	2	1	2	2	2	31 3	3	<u>1 2</u>	<u>!</u>
area dandra       V       1-6         crightman grustifilium       V       1-7         ardanne protensis       V       1-3         agrommum rostratum       V       1-7         signomium rostratum       V       1-3         inmula loginoum       IV       1-3         iohom glanuare       IV       1-3         iohom solature       IV       1-3         iohom solature       IV       1-3         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-3         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       IV       1-3         iopensidu dumaria       II       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       III       1-4         iopensidu dumaria       III       1-4	danata       V       1-6       4       3       5       4       1       4       6       5       3       1         mine protentis       V       1-3       1       2       7       5       4       3       3       3       1       2       1       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       2       3       3       3       3       3       1	altha palustris	V	1-4	3	] 2	3	1	3	2	3		3 4	<b>1</b> ] 3	3	T
	Incum argustifolum         V         2.7         S	arex diandra		1-6		4	3	5	4	1		4	1 6	5		Г
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	bit of an ungeright of	nonkomm annistifolium		2.7				7	1-1	5		1 -				+-
ardamine pratentis       V       1-3       2       1       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       3       2       1       1       3       3       1       3       3       1       3       3       2       1       1       3       1       3       3       1       1	nime prime prime prime prime prime prime prime prima	riophorum angustijotium	~	<u><u> </u></u>		<del>  _</del>		+ +			4		2	<u>' </u>	4	-
loguonnum rostratum       V       1-7       S       3       3       S       1       6       1       1         otentila palustru       IV       2-5       3       3       3       5       1       6       3       1       1       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       1       1       3       1	Immum rostratum         V         1-7         5         3         3         5         1         6         3         1         1         7           tilla politatris         IV         2-5         3         3         3         5         1         6         3         1         1         7           tilla politatris         IV         1-3         3         3         5         1         6         3         1         1         7           tilla politatris         IV         1-3         3         3         2         2         3         4         3         1         2         1         2         3         3         1         2         1         2         3         3         4         1         2         1         2         3         3         3         4         4         1         3         3         2         1         2         3         3         1         2         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         3         1         1         1         1         1	ardamine pratensis	V	1-3				2		3	2		ų <u>3</u>	3 2	2 2	
initial palustrus       IV       2-5         alam ulignosum       IV       1-3       3       2       4       2       3       4         chun ulignosum       IV       1-3       1       3       2       3       3       2       1         chun ulignosum       IV       1-5       3       1       3       2       3       3       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       4       1       1       3       3       2       1       4       1       4       1       1       3       3       2       1       4       1       4       1       1       3       3       1       3       1       4       1       1       3       3       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1 </td <td>V       2.5         m ligronaum       <math>V</math>       1.3         is floa-sucuit       <math>V</math>       1.5         addu lumaru       <math>V</math>       1.5         addu lumaru       <math>V</math>       1.5         is floa-sucuit       <math>V</math>       1.5         is floa-sucuit       <math>V</math>       1.5         arcanues       <math>V</math>       1.5         arcanues       <math>V</math>       1.4         is conside       <math>V</math>       1.4         is conside       <math>W</math>       1.4       1.4       1.4       1.</td> <td>agiomnium rostratum</td> <td>V</td> <td>1-7</td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>5</td> <td>1</td> <td>6</td> <td><u>i 3</u></td> <td>3 1</td> <td></td> <td>1 7</td> <td>Ĺ</td>	V       2.5         m ligronaum $V$ 1.3         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.3         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.3         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.3         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.3         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.5         addu lumaru $V$ 1.5         addu lumaru $V$ 1.5         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.5         is floa-sucuit $V$ 1.5         arcanues $V$ 1.5         arcanues $V$ 1.4         is conside $V$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4         is conside $W$ 1.4       1.4       1.4       1.	agiomnium rostratum	V	1-7		3	3	3	5	1	6	<u>i 3</u>	3 1		1 7	Ĺ
IV       2-5       2       2       4       2       3       4         alom digroum       IV       1-3       3       2       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       1       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       1       3       3       2       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       3       3       1       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1	IIII polastria       IV       2-5       2       4       2       3       3       4       3         is flas-ouculi       IV       1-3       3       2       2       1       3       2       1       3       4       3         is flas-ouculi       IV       1-3       3       2       2       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       1			_												
alum ulginaum       IV       13         alum ulginaum       IV       14         ichns floa-cuali       IV       14         ichns floa-cuali       IV       14         ichns floa-cuali       IV       14         ichoam paluare       IV       14         ichoam paluare       IV       15         igendula ulmarra       IV       16         igendula ulmarra       IV       14         iseria       III       14         iseria       III       14         iseria       III       13       I         iseria       III       13       I       1         iseria       III       14       III       III       IIIIII         iseria       IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	multiprovam         IV         1-3           is flox-cuculi         IV         1-4           is flox-cuculi         IV         1-3           is flox-cucus         IV         1-3           is accaruleo         IV         1-4           is accaruleo         IV         1-4           is accaruleo         IV         1-4           is accaruleo         III         1-3         1-1         1-1         1-3         1-1           is accaruleo         III         1-4         1-4         1-3         1-1         1-4           is accaruleo         III         1-4         1-4         1-3         1-1         1-1         1-1           is accaruleo </td <td>otentilla palustris</td> <td>IV</td> <td>2-5</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>T</td> <td>2</td> <td>4</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>3 3</td> <td>3 4</td> <td>IT 3</td> <td>Г</td>	otentilla palustris	IV	2-5		1		T	2	4	2		3 3	3 4	IT 3	Г
attam algorization       iv       i v        i v	an algebra i	alnum uliquinosum		1 2		1 -	1-3	1 7	┢╾═╽	_		<u> </u>	1			
chns flow-ucuit       IV       I-4       J <thj< th="">       J       <thj< th=""></thj<></thj<>	is flow-column polumer       IV       1-4       3       1       1	aitum uitginosum		1-3		4-4	4-4		₋∔	-		+	<u>+</u> +	1	4-4	+
pibbam palatre       IV       1-3       1       3       2       3       1         rgelica sylvestria       IV       1-5       3       2       3       1       4       3       3       2       3       1       4       3       3       2       3       1       1       3       1       3       2       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       3       1 <td>Num palastre         IV         1-3         1         3         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         4         1         4         1         1         2         1         3         4         1         1         1         2         1         3         4         1         1         1         1         1         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         1         1         3         <th1< th="">         1         3</th1<></td> <td>vchnis flos-cuculi</td> <td></td> <td>1-4</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-3</td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>1</td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>1</td> <td>4</td> <td>1</td>	Num palastre         IV         1-3         1         3         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         1         2         3         4         1         4         1         1         2         1         3         4         1         1         1         2         1         3         4         1         1         1         1         1         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         3         1         1         3         3         1         1         3 <th1< th="">         1         3</th1<>	vchnis flos-cuculi		1-4			-3	3			2	1	<u> </u>	1	4	1
ipendula ulmaria       IV       1-5         orgalica sylvestria       IV       1-5         orgalica sylvestria       IV       1-5         orgalica sylvestria       IV       1-5         organization sylvestria       IV       1-5         I       2       1       5       4       2       5         organization sylvestria       IV       1-5       1       2       1       1       3       2       2       1       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       3       1       1       3       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1	nable unarea       IV       1-5         is sylvestris       IV       1-5         is sylvestris       IV       1-5         a pratensa       IV       1-5         a pratensa       IV       1-5         a pratensa       IV       1-3         a canda doca       IV       1-3         a canalea       IV       1-4         is adanta       II       1-1       1-1       1-3       3       2       2       1       3       1       3       2       2       1       3       1       3       2       2       1       3       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       1       3       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1	oilobium palustre	IV	1-3	( (	1	3		1	3	2	1 3	3 3	3  1	ι <b>[</b> 2	
IV       2.5         and doise       IV       1.5         ieruna dioxe       IV       1.5         olina caerulea       IV       1.3         ieruna dioxe       IV       1.3         olina caerulea       IV       1.4         arex nigra       III       1.4         arex nigra       III       1.4         arex nigra       III       1.4         arex nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         ares nigra       III       1.4         acylorhica purpurella       III       1.3         Iii concreat (g)       III       1.2         incas actufforms       II       1.3         ress actufforms       II       1.3         incas actufforms       II       1.2         ress actufforms       II       2.3         ress actufforms       II       3.4         incas actufforms       II       1.1 <td< td=""><td>is a solution frame       iv       2-5         is stolondera       iv       1-5         is stolondera       iv       1-5         ana dioca       iv       1-3         ana dioca       iv       1-3         ana dioca       iv       1-4         is a consulta       iv       1-2         is a consulta       iv       1-2</td><td>lipendula ulmaria</td><td>rv</td><td>1-5</td><td></td><td>2</td><td></td><td>5</td><td></td><td>1</td><td>5</td><td>4</td><td></td><td>4</td><td>1</td><td>Т</td></td<>	is a solution frame       iv       2-5         is stolondera       iv       1-5         is stolondera       iv       1-5         ana dioca       iv       1-3         ana dioca       iv       1-3         ana dioca       iv       1-4         is a consulta       iv       1-2	lipendula ulmaria	rv	1-5		2		5		1	5	4		4	1	Т
Upper La         U         2-2           cersta stalon fera         IV         1-5         1         2         1         2         1         2         3         1         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         2         5         4         3         1         1         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         3         1         1         3         1         1         3         1         1         3         1         1         3         1         1         1         3         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1 <t< td=""><td>La system       Li       <thli< th=""> <thli< th="">       Li       <thli< th=""></thli<></thli<></thli<></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1-1</td><td>1 7</td><td>1 2</td><td></td><td>- 7</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u>-</u></td><td>+</td><td>╋</td></t<>	La system       Li       Li <thli< th=""> <thli< th="">       Li       <thli< th=""></thli<></thli<></thli<>					1-1	1 7	1 2		- 7				<u>-</u>	+	╋
grats       formula       IV       1-3         cisis       IV       1-3       1       1       1       3       1         aleriona doca       IV       1-3       3       1       1       1       3       1       3       1         aleriona doca       IV       1-3       3       1       1       1       3       1       3       1       1       1       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       1       3       1 </td <td>is stochygra       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-4         nigra       II       1-3         a gratemsis       IV       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nits scarpion card(b)       III       1-4         nits scarpiondes       III       1-2         nit scarpiondes       II       1-2         nit scarpiondes       II       1-1         naduora       II       1-2         nit scarpiones       II       2       1</td> <td>ngericu sylvesinis</td> <td></td> <td>2-5</td> <td></td> <td><u>+ </u></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>-4</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td><u>'</u> </td> <td>+</td> <td>+-</td>	is stochygra       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-3         ana duoca       IV       1-4         nigra       II       1-3         a gratemsis       IV       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nits scarpion card(b)       III       1-4         nits scarpiondes       III       1-2         nit scarpiondes       II       1-2         nit scarpiondes       II       1-1         naduora       II       1-2         nit scarpiones       II       2       1	ngericu sylvesinis		2-5		<u>+ </u>	+		-4			+		<u>'</u>	+	+-
Image: Construction of the image of th	a protentis       IV       1-3       1       1       1       1       1       3       3       2         and aloca       IV       1-3       1       1       1       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1 <th< td=""><td>grostis stolonifera</td><td></td><td>1-5</td><td></td><td><math>\frac{2}{1}</math></td><td></td><td>15</td><td>┢╾┥</td><td>4</td><td></td><td><math>L^2</math></td><td>4_4</td><td>4-</td><td><math>+^{2}</math></td><td>1</td></th<>	grostis stolonifera		1-5		$\frac{2}{1}$		15	┢╾┥	4		$L^2$	4_4	4-	$+^{2}$	1
aleriana diacca       IV       1-3         tolina cagrulea       IV       1-3         tolina cagrulea       IV       1-4         arex nigra       III       1-3         aussian polistris       III       1-4         aussian polistris       II       1-3         ares central       I       1-4 <tr< td=""><td>ana atoxica       IV       1-3         a carvidea       IV       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nigra       III       1-3         culus flammala       III       1-3         tartm fluvattie       III       1-3         sacuiforus       III       1-4         mites australis       III       1-4         rines australis       III       1-2         rines australis       II       1-2         rines austris       II       &lt;</td><td>accisa pratensis</td><td>IV</td><td>1-3</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>L</td><td></td><td><u>1</u></td><td>1</td><td>3</td><td><u> </u></td><td><u>-</u></td><td>1_</td><td>2</td><td></td></tr<>	ana atoxica       IV       1-3         a carvidea       IV       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nigra       III       1-4         nigra       III       1-3         culus flammala       III       1-3         tartm fluvattie       III       1-3         sacuiforus       III       1-4         mites australis       III       1-4         rines australis       III       1-2         rines australis       II       1-2         rines austris       II       <	accisa pratensis	IV	1-3	1	1	L		<u>1</u>	1	3	<u> </u>	<u>-</u>	1_	2	
folling cagnules       IV       1-4         arex nigra       III       1-4         arex nigra       III       1-4         arex nigra       III       1-4         anunculus flammula       III       1-3         anunculus flammula       III       1-4         irrassia palustris       II       1-4         is cenera (g)       III       1-3         is cenera (g)       III       1-2         is cenera (g)       III       1-2         is cenera (g)       II       1-2         is cenera (g)	accarulea       IV       1-4         nigra       III       1-3         sacuiglorus       III       1-4         nites acuiglorus       III       1-4         nites acuiglorus       III       1-4         londus       III       1-4         londus       III       1-3         sacuiglorus       III       1-3         sacuiglorus       III       1-2         saticulatus       III       1-3         saticulatus       III       1-3         saticulatus       II       1-2         saticulatus       II       1-2         saticulatus       II       1-3         londus       II       1-3         saticulatus       II       1-3         paludora       II       1-4         londus       II       1-4         londus       II       1-4	aleriana dioica	IV	1-3	2		<b></b>		2	1	3	1		13	3	Г
area: nigra       II       I-4         area: nigra       III       I-4         munculus flammala       III       I-4         pusetum flaviatile       III       I-4         munculus flammala       III       I-4         pusetum flaviatile       III       I-4         munculus flammala       III       I-3         munculus flammala       III       I-4         ilis concrea (g)       III       I-4         munculus flammala       III       I-2         munculus flammala       III       I-2         munculus flammala       III	nigra       II       14       I       3       I       1         nigra       III       14       1       3       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       1       4       1       1       3       1       1       4       1       1       3       1	lolinia caenilea		1_4		1-1	<u> </u>			- 1	1		1	+ 7	+	t
area: nigra       III       1-4         amunculus flammula       III       1-3         puseinm fluviatile       III       1-3         nuss acufforus       III       1-3         puseinm fluviatile       III       1-3         nurss acufforus       III       1-4         nicss actiforus       III       1-2         nicss actiforus       III       1-2         nicss actiforus       III       1-2         nicss actiforus       II       1-3         nicss actiforus       II       1-2         nicss actiforus       II       1-2         nicss actiforus       II       1-3         nicss actiforus       II       1-4	ngra       III       1-4         uculus flammula       III       1-4         uculus flammula       III       1-3         s acutiflorus       III       1-4         mites australis       III       1-4         mites australis       III       1-10       3       2       1         s acutiflorus       III       1-4       1       3       3       1       4       1         s acutiflorus       III       1-4       10       3       1       3       2       1         offers       III       1-4       10       3       1       2       1       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       1       3       1       1       2       1			L	، <u>ل</u>	<u> </u>	4	L	<u> </u>			L_3		<u> </u>	<u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	4
area: $nigra       III       1:4       4       1:1    $	Imgra       III       1-4         III       1-3       I       1       1       2       3       2       1         stam fluviatile       III       1-3       I       1       1       2       3       2       1         stam fluviatile       III       1-3       I       3       3       3       1       1         stam fluviatile       III       1-4       1       3       3       3       1       1         stam fluviatile       III       1-4       1       3       3       3       1       1         stamits       III       1-3       3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1 <td>····</td> <td>·</td> <td><b></b>-</td> <td></td> <td>r</td> <td><b>.</b></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><b>-</b></td> <td></td> <td><b>-</b></td> <td><b>T</b></td> <td></td>	····	·	<b></b> -		r	<b>.</b>					<b>-</b>		<b>-</b>	<b>T</b>	
Immedia flammala       II       1-3         quisetum flaviatile       III       1-3         neus acut/forus       III       1-3         neus acut/forus       III       1-3         neus acut/forus       III       1-3         allergon gigoneum       III       1-3         allergon gigoneum       III       1-3         allergon gigoneum       III       1-3         allergon gigoneum       III       1-3         arcs artifications       III       1-3         arcs artifications       III       1-3         arcs artifications       III       1-3         arcs artifications       II       1-3         arcs artifications       II       1-3         arcs artifications       II       1-3         arcs chinata       II       1-3         arcs chinata       II       1-4	Incluig fluvnatile       III       1-3       1       1       2       3       2       1         stam fluvnatile       III       1-3       1       1       1       2       3       2       1         stam fluvnatile       III       1-4       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1         stam fluvnatile       III       1-4       10       3       1       3       2       1       4       1       3       1       1       3       2       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1	arex nigra	<u> </u>	1-4		4	1 1		3			1		4	<u>!</u>	
quisetum fluvnatile       III       1-3         ancus acuiglonus       III       1-4         fragmites australis       III       1-4         acty acuiglonus       III       1-4         fragmites australis       III       1-10         allergon giganteum       III       1-4         acty acuiglonus       III       1-4         acty acuiglonus       III       1-4         acty acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       III       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II       1-3         actionus acuiglonus       II <th1-4< th="">         actionus acuiglon</th1-4<>	num fluviatile       III       1.3       1       3       3       2       1         sa cuuffons       III       1.4       3       3       2       1       1         sa cuuffons       III       1.4       3       3       2       1       1         rise austais       III       1.4       3       3       2       1       4         forthis augreentia       III       1.3       3       1       2       1       1       3       1       1         sata palustris       III       1.3       3       1<	anunculus flammula	ш	1-3		Ł	1		I T	1		2	2 3	2	1	Γ
Image: acuty forus       Image: acuty forus <thimage: acuty="" forus<="" th=""> <thimage: acu<="" td=""><td>Image: Constraint in the sourth of the sourthof the sourth of the sourth of the sourth of the sourth of the so</td><td>ausetum fluviatile</td><td></td><td>1-3</td><td></td><td><b></b></td><td>1 1</td><td>1</td><td></td><td>-1</td><td>7</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td>1 1</td><td>t</td></thimage:></thimage:>	Image: Constraint in the sourth of the sourthof the sourth of the sourth of the sourth of the sourth of the so	ausetum fluviatile		1-3		<b></b>	1 1	1		-1	7	1	1	1	1 1	t
Incus augurats       III       1-4       1       2       1       3       2       1       4         alliergon giganteum       III       1-4       1       3       1       3       1       1         alliergon giganteum       III       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1	a catagories       m       1-4         miles austrols       m       1-10       3       1       3       1       4         rgen giganteum       m       1-4       1       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       1         rgen giganteum       m       1-3       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1	man anit d'			$\vdash$	+	<u>+</u>	┝─╨┤	┝╌┥		<u> </u>	+-	; <del>     ;</del>	+	+	⊢
III       1-10       3       1       3       1         alliergon giganeum       III       1-4       3       1       2       4       1       5       3       2       1         allier gon giganeum       III       1-3       I       2       4       1       5       3       2       1         uncus articulatus       III       1-3       I       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       1       3       1       2       1       2       1       1       1       3       1       2       1       1       3       1       2       1<	III       1-10       3       1       3       1         rgo gigoneum       III       1-4       1       5       3       1       1         rinerea (g)       III       1-3       III       2       1       2       1       1         s articulants       III       1-3       III       2       1       2       1       1         s articulants       III       1-3       II       2       1       1       2       1       2       1       1       1       1       1       2       1       <	incus acuigiorus		↓ <u>1-4</u>		+_3	+	┣	┝╤┦			<del>{                                    </del>	+	4-4	4	Ł
III       1-4       2       4       1       5       2         actylorhiza purpurella       III       1-3       1       2       1       2       1         actylorhiza purpurella       III       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       3       1       2       1	III       1-4       2       4       1       5       3       2       1         lorhiz a purpurella       III       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       2       1       <	hragmites australis		1-10		<b></b>	10		3	1	3	<u>  3</u>		·	<u> </u>	L
actylorhiza purpurella       III       1-3       1       2       1         alta cinerea $(g)$ III       1-2       1       2       1       2       1         arnassia palustris       III       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1 <td>Iorhiza purpurella       III       1-3         interea (g)       III       1-2       1       2       1       1         sarticulans       III       1-3       3       1       2       1       1         ssia palustris       II       1-3       3       2       3       1       2         ssia palustris       II       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       2         sta palustris       II       1-2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1<td>alliergon giganteum</td><td>- [ m<sup></sup></td><td>1-4</td><td>2</td><td>4</td><td>]</td><td>1</td><td>5</td><td>3</td><td></td><td>2</td><td></td><td>I</td><td></td><td>[</td></td>	Iorhiza purpurella       III       1-3         interea (g)       III       1-2       1       2       1       1         sarticulans       III       1-3       3       1       2       1       1         ssia palustris       II       1-3       3       2       3       1       2         ssia palustris       II       1-3       1       2       1       2       1       2         sta palustris       II       1-2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1 <td>alliergon giganteum</td> <td>- [ m<sup></sup></td> <td>1-4</td> <td>2</td> <td>4</td> <td>]</td> <td>1</td> <td>5</td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>I</td> <td></td> <td>[</td>	alliergon giganteum	- [ m <sup></sup>	1-4	2	4	]	1	5	3		2		I		[
III       III       1-2       I       2       1       1       3       1       1       2       1<	Imerea $(g)$ III       1-2         interea $(g)$ III       1-2         s articulatus       III       1-3         s articulatus       III       1-3         sta palustris       II       1-3         a nodosa       II       1-3         sta palustres       II       1-2         tus scorpioides       II       1-2         tus scorpioides       II       1-2         tus scorpioides       II       1-2         tus scorpioides       II       1         palustre       II       2         palustre       II       1         palustre       II       1         palustre       II       1         palustre       II       1-2         tus recita       II       1-3         tus recita       II       1-3         tus recita       II       1-2         tus recita       I	actylorhiza purpurella	<u></u>	1-3		$\Gamma^{-}$	1	3	1			2	2	1	1	Γ
and c infered rg/       and infered rg/       and infered rg/       and c	Interent of point of the section of the sectin of the section of the section of the section of the section of	alin ormanoa (a)		1.2		┝──		<u> </u>		-,†		t ī	+	+	+	+
Incus articulatus       III       1-3       3       2       3       1       2         arnassia palustris       II       1-3       I       1       3       1       2         arnassia palustris       II       1-3       I       1       3       1       2         arnassia palustris       II       1-3       I       1       3       1       1         gene nodosa       II       1-2       1       2       3       1	s articulatus III 1-3 3 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 3 2 3 1 2 4 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 2 4 5 3 1 1 2 4 5 3 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	litx cinerea (g)	<del></del>	1-2		┣—	<u> </u>			-1		+ +	+ .	+	+	┢──
arnassia palustris       II       1-3         ingina nodosa       II       1-3         arnassia palustris       II       1-3         arnassia palustris       II       1-3         arnassia palustris       II       1-3         arnassia palustre       II       1-2         vosoits scorpioides       II       1-2         pusteum palustre       II       2.2       1       1         arras palicaris       II       2.3       2       1       2       1       1         arras palustre       II       2.3       2       3       1       1       1         arras paludosa       II       1       1       3       1 <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>	sis a palustris       II       1-3         n nodosa       II       1-3         n nodosa       II       1-3         s effisus       II       1-2         st scorpioides       II       1-2         tits scorpioides       II       1-2         s lanatus       II       2       3       2       1       1         pisuidaris       II       2-3       3       3       3       3       3         pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3       3	incus articulatus	<u> </u>	1-3		L	L		3	_2		3		1_2	L	
armassia palustris       II       1-3         armassia palustris       II       1-3         argina modosa       II       1-3         argina modosa       II       1-3         argina modosa       II       1-3         argina modosa       II       1-2         yosoits scorpioides       II       1-2         pusetim palustre       II       1-2         yoyam pseudoriquetrum       II       2-3         arex pulcaris       II       1         II       1       3       1         arex pulcaris       II       1-2         arex pulcaris       II       1-4         ydrocolyle vulgaris       II       1-2         allingron cordifolium       II       2-2         allinergon cordifolium       II       2-2         anapplum stellatum       II       3-4         arex cohan       II       1-3         alliergon cordifolium       II       2-2         anapplum stellatum       II       2-2         archanita polymorpha       II       2-2         archanita polymorpha       II       2-3         archanita polymorpha       I       2-3	ssia palustris       II       1-3       1       1       1       3       1       2         nodosa       II       1-3       1       1       1       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       2       1															_
angina nodosa       II       1-3         ancus effisus       II       1-2       1       1         yosotis scorpioides       II       1-2       1       1       1         yuseum palustre       II       1-3       1       2       1       1         yosotis scorpioides       II       1-2       1       2       1       1         yuseum palustre       II       1-3       3       2       1       1         arex pulcaris       II       3-4       3       2       3       2       3       2         arex pulcaris       II       3-4       3       1	a nodosa       II       1-3         s effusus       II       1-2         s ts corpioides       II       1-2         stum paiustre       II       1-2         s lanatus       II       2-3         pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3         pulcaris       II       3       3         pandolosa       II       1         i patulatistre       II       1-3         pandolosa       II       1         i patulatistre       II       2-3         pulcaris       II       1-4         colyle vulgaris       II       1-4         i la erecta       II       1-3         inmitifiora       II       2-3         i matifilora       II       2-3         i la erecta       II       1-3         i la erecta       II       1-3         i adguatica       II       1-2         a aquatica       II       1-2         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         i la tipolymorpha       I       1-2         i la vulgarss       I       2-3         i la vulgariss       I       2-3	arnassia palustris		1-3		1			1	1		3				Γ
uncus effusus $u$ $1 - 2$ $1 - 2$ $(yosotis scorpioidesu1 - 2(yusenum palustreuuncus effususu2 - 31 - 2(yusenum palustreuuncus effususu2 - 31 - 2(uncus effusus)u2 - 31 - 3(uncus effusus)u2 - 31 - 3(uncus effusus)uuncus effususu2 - 33 - 4(uncus effusus)uuncus effususuuncus	Image: Second second	agina nodosa		1.3	2	r			31	- 21		1-	1	+	1-2	$\mathbf{T}$
Induce giveness       II       1-2       1       2       1       1       1         yound section points       II       1-2       1	$u$ $1^{-2}$ $1^$	A second				h			<u> </u>		<u> </u>	$\vdash_{1}$	1	+	+	1-
yassis scorpioldes       II       1-2       2       1       1         puisetum palustre       II       1-3       3       3       3         puisetum palustre       II       2-3       3       3       3       3         yum pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3       3       3       3       3       3         reps paludosa       II       1       3	Its scorpioides       II       1-2       I       I       1         strum palustre       II       1-3       3       3       3         strum palustre       II       2-3       3       3       3         pulcaris       II       1       3       3       3         pulcaris       II       1-4       3       3       3         polladosa       II       1	incus effusus		1-2	↓		<u> </u>			4		<u> </u>	+	<b>↓</b>	┿╾┷	┡
puserum palustre       II       1-3       3       1       3         olcus lanatus       II       2-3       3	Item palustre       II       1-3         is lanatus       II       2-3         pseudotriquetrum       II       3       3         pseudotriquetrum       II       3       3         pseudotriquetrum       II       3       3         pseudotriquetrum       II       3       3         palustre       II       1-4         colyle vulgaris       II       1-4         n palustre       II       1-3         malustre       II       1-3         rgon cordifolnum       II       2-2         illa recta       II       1-3         questosa       II       1-2         acetosa       II       1-2         andelatus revolvens       II       2-3	yosotis scorpioides		1-2				2	2		_	1		1		
olcus lanatusII2-3ryum pseudotriquetrumII2-3grum pseudotriquetrumII2-3arex pulicarisIIII3-4arex chinataIIII1-4arex echinataIIII1-4arex echinataIIII1-4arex echinataIIIII2-3alium palustreIIIII2-3III erepts agg.IIIII erepts agg.IIIII erepts agg.IIIII erepts agg.IIIII erepts agg.IIIII area cotsaIIIII area cotsa	s lanatus       II       2-3       3       3       3         pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3       3       3       3       3         pulcaris       II       3-4       3       3       3       3         pulcaris       II       3-4       3       3       3       3         pulcaris       II       1-4       1	guisetum palustre		1-3	i l	1			3		-					
ryam pseudotriquetrumI2.3arex pulicarisI3-4repis paludosaI1arex chinataII1arex echinataIIarex echinataIIaliergon cordifolaumIIaliergon cordifolaumIIII2ampylum stellatumIIII1-2corpidium scorpioidesIIII1-3alocomium splendensIIII2-3archantia polymorphaIIII2-3rex paniculataIIcorpiduata cerisIIand apatareaIinanculus acrisIIII1-2inanculus acrisII11-1inanculus acrisII11-2inanculus acrisII11-1inanculus acrisII11-2inanchum odoratumII11-2inanthus minorI12inanthus minorI12inanthus minorI12inanthus minorI11-2inanthus minorI <td>pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3         pulicaris       II       3-4         pulicaris       II       3-4         pulicaris       II       1       1       1         paulidosa       II       1       3       3       3         pulicaris       II       1       1       1       1       1         paludosa       II       1-4       1<td>olcus lanatus</td><td><u> </u></td><td>2-3</td><td></td><td>3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-1</td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td>1</td><td><math>\mathbf{t}^{-}</math></td><td>3</td><td>t</td></td>	pseudotriquetrum       II       2-3         pulicaris       II       3-4         pulicaris       II       3-4         pulicaris       II       1       1       1         paulidosa       II       1       3       3       3         pulicaris       II       1       1       1       1       1         paludosa       II       1-4       1 <td>olcus lanatus</td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>2-3</td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-1</td> <td></td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>1</td> <td><math>\mathbf{t}^{-}</math></td> <td>3</td> <td>t</td>	olcus lanatus	<u> </u>	2-3		3				-1		<u> </u>	1	$\mathbf{t}^{-}$	3	t
yum pseudoriqueirum       II       2-3       3       3       3         rerex pulicaris       II       1 <td>preductoring       II       2-3       3       3         pulicaris       II       3-4       3       1       <th1< th=""> <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td><u>+-</u></td><td>+-</td></th<></th1<></td>	preductoring       II       2-3       3       3         pulicaris       II       3-4       3       1 <th1< th=""> <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td><u>+-</u></td><td>+-</td></th<></th1<>					<u> </u>			+		_			+	<u>+-</u>	+-
arex pullcaris       II       3-4       3	pullcaris       II       3-4       3       3       3         i paludosa       II       1       1       1       1       1       1         i paludosa       II       1       1       1       1       1       1       1         cotyle vulgaris       II       1-9       1	yum pseudoiriqueirum						<b></b>				<u> </u>	<u></u>	1-	+	┣
repis paludosa       II       I	is paludosa       II       1 <th1< th=""> <th< td=""><td>arex pulicaris</td><td><u>U</u></td><td>3-4</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>1_</td><td>3</td><td></td></th<></th1<>	arex pulicaris	<u>U</u>	3-4						<u> </u>			1	1_	3	
area echinata       II       1-4 $vdrocolle vulgaris       II       1-9         alium palustre       II       2-3         vula multiflora       II       1-2         vintiflora       II       1-3         vula multiflora       II       2         vula multiflora       II       1-3         vula multiflora       II       2         vula multiflora       II       1-3         vula xeetosa       II       1-3         vula xeetosa       II       1-2         vula vula vula vula xersis       II       1-2         vula vula vula vula vula xersis       II       1-2         vula vula vula vula vula vula xersis       II       1-2         vula vula vula vula vula vula vula vula $	echinata       II       1-4 $cotyle vulgaris       II       1-9         m palustre       II       2-3         in multiflora       II       1-2         illa erecta       II       1-3         epens agg.       II       1-3         illa erecta       II       1-2         illa erecta       II       1-2         illa its palustris       II       1-2         illa its palustres       II       1-2         inum recurvum       II       2-3         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-3         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-3         iaderefaces       I       2-3      $	repis paludosa	п	1					1			1		1		
undrocotyle vulgarisII1-9alnum palustreII2-3 $unul i palustreIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustrisIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunul i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIIIIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIunu i palustreIIIIIIunu i p$	cotyle valgaris       II       1-9         in palustre       II       2-3         in multiflora       II       1-2         in multiflora       II       1-3         illa erecta       II       1-3         epens agg.       II       1-3         igon cordfoluum       II       2-5         i acetosa       II       1-3         illaris palustris       II       1-2         idrum scorpioides       II       1-2         idrum scorpioides       II       1-2         indum scorpioides       II       1-2         indum scorpioides       II       1-2         indum scorpioides       II       1-2         indelphus squarrosus       II       2-3         industree       I       1-2	arex echinata	П	1-4		1				1	4					
varies of the valgentsu1.92311varies of the valgents $\Pi$ 1.9111121varies of the valgents $\Pi$ 1.21112112values of the values $\Pi$ 1.31113111211	Conversion       I       10	udrocotulo un do ano		10	2		- 0				<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	+-	<u> </u>	+
altum palustreII $2-3$ I $3$ $2$ $2$ szula multifloraII $1-2$ $1$ $1-2$ $2$ szula multifloraII $1-3$ $1$ $2$ $1$ star repens agg.II $1-3$ $1$ $2$ $1$ altiergon cordifolumII $2-5$ $1$ $2$ $5$ altiergon cordifolumII $2-5$ $1$ $2$ $5$ ampylaum stellatumII $1-3$ $3$ $2$ $-1$ ampylaum stellatumII $3-4$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $-1$ ampylaum stellatumII $1-2$ $2$ $2$ $1$ $-1$ orpidum scorpiodesII $1-2$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $2$ epanocladus revolvensII $3-6$ $6$ $4$ $3$ and squaticaII $1-2$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $1$ ocomium splendensII $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $2$ strex paniculataII $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $2$ strex paniculataII $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ strex lastocarpaI $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $2$ thilea ptarmicaI $1-2$ $3$ $3$ $1$ $2$ hillea ptarmicaI $1-2$ $3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ inanthus minorI $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $2$ unalla vulgarisI $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ <td>m palustre       II       2-3       3       2       2         i multiflora       II       1-2       1       1       2       1         illa erecta       II       1-3       1       2       1       1         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5       1       1       2       5       5       3         rgon cordifolium       II       3-4       4       3       1       1       2       1       1         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5       3       3       2       5       5       3       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       2       1</td> <td>urocoryte vulgaris</td> <td><u>-</u></td> <td>1-9</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>"+</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>╂──</td> <td>+</td> <td>╋╼━━</td> <td>╂</td>	m palustre       II       2-3       3       2       2         i multiflora       II       1-2       1       1       2       1         illa erecta       II       1-3       1       2       1       1         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5       1       1       2       5       5       3         rgon cordifolium       II       3-4       4       3       1       1       2       1       1         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5       3       3       2       5       5       3       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       2       1	urocoryte vulgaris	<u>-</u>	1-9					"+			<u> </u>	╂──	+	╋╼━━	╂
Litical amultiflora       II       1-2       1       2       1 $disc repens agg.       II       1-3       1       2       1         disc repens agg.       II       1-3       3       2       5       3         ampylaw stellatum       II       3-4       4       3       3       2       1         dicularis palustris       II       1-2       2       2       2       1       1         ampylaw stellatum       II       1-2       3       1       1       1       2       1       1         epancoladus revolvens       II       3-6       1       $	Imilifiora       II       1-2       1       2       2         illa erecta       II       1-3       1       2       1       1         epens agg.       II       1-3       1       2       1       1       1       2       1	alnum palustre	<u>u</u>	2-3					_	3	2	L	I	4	L	4
Image: Sector of the sector	III       I-3       I       I-3         epens agg.       II       I-3       I <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<></thi<></thi<>	zula multiflora	П	1-2		1									2	
II       1-3       I       1-3       I       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       3       1       1       1       3       1       1       1       1       3       1 <th1< th="">       1       <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>	epens agg.       II       1-3         is acetosa       II       1-2         is acetosa       II       1-3         is acetosa       II       1-3         is acetosa       II       1-3         is acetosa       II       1-3         is acetosa       II       1-2         is acetosa       II       1-2         is acetosa       II       1-2         is acetosa       II       1-2         is acetosa       I       1-3	otentilla erecta	п	1-3		1			T	T	2			<b>—</b>	1	Γ
alliergon cordifolium       II       2:       5:       3         alliergon cordifolium       II       1:3       3       2       5:         alliergon cordifolium       II       1:3       3       2       5:       5:         ampylium stellatum       II       1:4       3:       2       1:       2       5:       5:       3:         ampylium stellatum       II       1:-2       2       2:       2:       1:       2:       2:       1:       2:       2:       1:       2:       1:       2:       1:       2:       2:       1:       2:       2:       1:       2:       2:       1:       1:       2:       2:       1:       1:       2:       1:       2:       1:       2:       1: <td< td=""><td>rgon cordifolium       II       2-5         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5         <math>rgon cordifolium       II       2-5         <math>rgon cordifolium       II       2-3         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2         <math>rlains palustris</math>       II       1-2         <math>rlains palustris</math>       II       1-2         <math>rlains palustris</math>       II       1-2         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-3         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-3         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-3         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2         <math>racetosa</math>       II       1-2        </math></math></td><td>alux repens and</td><td>- n</td><td>1.3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td>-1</td><td>3</td><td>1</td><td><u> </u></td><td><u> </u></td><td>1</td><td></td></td<>	rgon cordifolium       II       2-5         rgon cordifolium       II       2-5 $rgon cordifolium       II       2-5         rgon cordifolium       II       2-3         racetosa       II       1-2         rlains palustris       II       1-2         rlains palustris       II       1-2         rlains palustris       II       1-2         racetosa       II       1-3         racetosa       II       1-3         racetosa       II       1-2         racetosa       II       1-3         racetosa       II       1-2         racetosa       II       1-2         racetosa       II       1-2         racetosa       II       1-2        $	alux repens and	- n	1.3					+	-1	3	1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1	
allergon coraijonumu $2-3$ $3$ $3$ umex acetosaII $1-3$ $3$ $2$ $3$ ampylium stellatumII $3-4$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $2$ ampylium stellatumII $3-4$ $4$ $3$ $3$ $1$ edicularis palustrisII $1-2$ $2$ $2$ $1$ corpidum scorpiodesII $3-6$ $2$ $2$ $1$ genanciadus revolvensII $3-6$ $6$ $4$ $3$ viocomium splendensII $2-3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ viocomium splendensII $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ archantia polymorphaII $1-2$ $3$ $3$ $2$ archantia polymorphaII $1-2$ $1$ $2$ $2$ anunculus acrisII $1$ $1$ $2$ $1$ anunculus acrisII $1$ $1$ $2$ $1$ trsum palustreI $1-2$ $3$ $3$ $2$ trsum palustreI $1-3$ $3$ $8$ $2$ trsum fontanumI $1-2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ unanthus minorI $2-3$ $3$ $8$ $2$ $2$ unanthus minorI $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ unanthus minorI $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ unanthus minorI $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ unanthus minorI $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ </td <td>rgon coraujoirum       u       2-3         i acetosa       II       1-3         uhum stellatum       II       3-4         uharis palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         nocladus revolvens       II       3-6         a aquatica       II       1-3         num recurvum       II       1-3         mium splendens       II       2-3         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         paniculata       II       2-3         adelphus squarrosus       II       2-3         culus acris       II       1         ni palustre       I       1-2         num palustre       I       1-3         num fontanum       I       2-3         lasiocarpa       I       3-8         num fontanum       I       2-3         la vulgaris       I       2         la vulgaris       I       2         la vulgaris       I       2</td> <td>-lline def !</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>┝╼┷┥</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>┝┿</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>┿──</td> <td>┝</td>	rgon coraujoirum       u       2-3         i acetosa       II       1-3         uhum stellatum       II       3-4         uharis palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         diaris palustris       II       1-2         nocladus revolvens       II       3-6         a aquatica       II       1-3         num recurvum       II       1-3         mium splendens       II       2-3         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         paniculata       II       2-3         adelphus squarrosus       II       2-3         culus acris       II       1         ni palustre       I       1-2         num palustre       I       1-3         num fontanum       I       2-3         lasiocarpa       I       3-8         num fontanum       I       2-3         la vulgaris       I       2         la vulgaris       I       2         la vulgaris       I       2	-lline def !			┝╼┷┥				+	+		┝┿	+	+	┿──	┝
umex acetosa       II       1-3       3       2         ampylium stellatum       II       3-4       3       3       1         ampylium stellatum       II       3-4       3       3       1         ampylium stellatum       II       1-2       2       2       1       1         corpidium scorpioides       II       1-2       3       1       1       2       2       1       1         repanocladus revolvens       II       3-6       6       4       3       3       1       <	acetosa $II$ $I-3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $alaris palustris$ $II$ $1-2$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $dium scorpioides$ $II$ $1-2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $1$ $dium scorpioides$ $II$ $1-2$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $nocladus revolvens$ $II$ $3-6$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $nocladus revolvens$ $II$ $3-6$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $nom recurrum$ $II$ $1-3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $minum splendens$ $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $antia polymorpha$ $II$ $1-2$ $1$ $2$ $1$ $1$ $adelphus squarrosus$ $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $1$ $2$ $adelphus squarrosus$ $II$ $1-2$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $manthum odoratum$ $II$ $1-2$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ <	amergon cordifolium		2-3		<u> </u>	<b>⊢</b>		_4	+		<u>ہ</u>	<u>+                                    </u>	1-3		┞
ampylium stellatum       II       3-4       4       3       3	II       3-4       4       3       3       1         duaris palustris       II       1-2       2       2       1         duaris palustris       II       1-2       2       2       1         nocladus revolvens       II       1-2       3       1       1       2         nocladus revolvens       II       1-3       3       1       1       2         nocladus revolvens       II       1-3       3       1       1       1         aquatica       II       1-3       3       1       1       1         mum recurvum       II       1-3       3       2       1       2         antia polymorpha       II       1-2       1       2       1       2         paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2       2       2         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-3       3       3       2       2       2         iadelphus squarrosus       II       1       1       1       1       1       1         monum dendroides       I       2-3       3       3       2       3       3       2	umex acetosa	<u>п</u>	1-3		3					2	L	1_		L	L
2 are paniculata $II$ $1-2$ $2$ $2$ $1$ $3$ are paniculata $II$ $1-3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $3$ are paniculata $II$ $1-3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $3$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $1$ $1$ $3$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $2$ $1$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $2-3$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $2$ $3$ $3$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $2$ $3$ $3$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $2$ $3$ $3$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ $1$ are paniculata $II$ $1$ $2$ $3$ $3$ $2$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $2$	Iaris palustrisII1-2dum scorpioidesII1-2anum scorpioidesII1-2nocladus revolvensII3-6a aquaticaII1-3num recurvumII1-3num recurvumII1-3mium splendensII2-3antia polymorphaII1-2paniculataII2-3iadelphus squarrosusII2-3iadelphus squarrosusII2-3minum palustreI1-2iam dendroidesI2-3iasiocarpaI3-8num fontanumI1-2ia vulgarisI2-3ia vulgarisI<	ampylium stellatum	п	3-4	4			T	_3	3		L			1	[
orpidum scorpioles       II       1-2       1       2         repanocladus revolvens       II       3-6       6       4       3         entha aquatica       II       1-3       3       1       1       2         intha aquatica       II       1-3       3       1       1       1       2         intha aquatica       II       1-3       3       1	dium scorpioidesII1-2nocladus revolvensII3-6a aquaticaII1-3num recurvumII1-3mium splendensII2-3antia polymorphaII1-2paniculataII2-3iadelphus squarrosusII2-5culus acrisII1iadelphus squarrosusII2-3iadelphus squarrosusII2-3iastocarpaI3-8iau dendroidesI2-3iastocarpaI2-3iastocarpaI2-3iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2iau ugartsI2 </td <td>dicularis palustris</td> <td>Π</td> <td>1-2</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td></td>	dicularis palustris	Π	1-2		2			2	-				1		
Image: Separation subsectionImage: Separation subsection <td>a any second</td> <td>ornidum scornioides</td> <td></td> <td>1_2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-,†</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><u>}</u></td> <td><del>1</del></td> <td>1 -</td> <td>-</td>	a any second	ornidum scornioides		1_2						-,†			<u>}</u>	<del>1</del>	1 -	-
repanociaus revolvensII3-643enha aquaticaII1-3311shagnum recurvumII1-3321vlocomium splendensII2-3321archantia polymorphaII1-2332archantia polymorphaII2-3332archantia polymorphaII2-5212archantia polymorphaII2-5212archantia polymorphaII2-5212archantia polymorphaII2-5212innunculus acrisII1111thoxanthum odoratumII2-3332rsium palustreI1-23332rsium palustreI1-33333imacium dendroidesI2-33333arex lasiocarpaI3-83333aunila vulgarisI2222aunila vulgarisI2222	II       3-0       II       3-0       II       3       II       1         a aquatica       II       1-3       3       1       1       1       1         num recurvum       II       1-3       3       2       1       1       1         num recurvum       II       1-3       3       2       1	in piones							+	-++		<u> </u>	<del>  .</del>		<u>+</u>	-
II       1-3       I       1         bhagnum recurvum       II       1-3       I       1         viocomium splendens       II       2-3       I       1         archantia polymorpha       II       1-2       I       2         archantia polymorpha       II       1-2       I       2         archantia polymorpha       II       2-3       I       2         arex paniculata       II       2-3       I       2         inunculus acris       II       1       1       1         inunculus acris       II       1       1       1         thkoxanthum odoratum       II       2-3       3       3       2         rsium palustre       I       1-2       1       1       1         thilea ptarmica       I       1-3       2       3       3         tractum dendroides       I       2-3       3       3       3       3         tractum fontanum       I       1-2       3       3       3       3       3         unanthus minor       I       2       2       2       2       2       2         unella vulgarits	a aquaticaII1-3num recurvumII1-3num recurvumII1-3mium splendensII2-3antia polymorphaII1-2paniculataII2-3iadelphus squarrosusII2-5culus acrisII1iadelphus squarrosusIIII2-3iadelphus squarrosusIIII2-3iadelphus squarrosusIIII1II	repanociaaus revolvens		5-0						0		h	<u>↓ 4</u>	┣	1 3	┝
II       1-3       3       2       1         vlocomium splendens       II       2-3       1       2         archantia polymorpha       II       1-2       1       2       1         arex paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2       1         arex paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2       1       2         hytidiadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5       3       3       2       1	num recurvum       II       1-3         antia polymorpha       II       2-3         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         paniculata       II       2-3         uadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         culus acris       II       1         m palustre       I       1-2         n palustre       I       1-2         indendroides       I       2-3         as ptarmica       I       1-3         indendroides       I       2-3         issiocarpa       I       3-3         issiocarpa       I       2-3         issiocarpa       I	entha aquatica	<u>п</u>	1-3				3		1			1_1			
viocomium splendens       II       2-3         archantia polymorpha       II       1-2         arex paniculata       II       2-3         hytidiadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         inunculus acris       II       1         nthoxanthum odoratum       II       2-3         rsium palustre       I       1-2         chillea ptarmica       I       1-3         imacrum dendroides       I       2-3         irrex lasiocarpa       I       3-8         irrex lasiocarpa       I       2         unella vulgaris       I       2         inactum fontanum       I       2         inactum fontanum <td>II       2-3         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         paniculata       II       2-3         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         culus acris       II       1         culus acris       II       1         culus acris       II       1         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         culus acris       II       1         ianthum odoratum       II       2-3         m palustre       I       1-2         iand endroides       I       2-3         lasiocarpa       I       3-8         num fontanum       I       2-2         la vulgaris       I       2         corhiza fuchsii       I       1-3         corhiza f</td> <td>hagnum recurvum</td> <td>μ</td> <td>1-3</td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td>T</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td></td>	II       2-3         antia polymorpha       II       1-2         paniculata       II       2-3         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         culus acris       II       1         culus acris       II       1         culus acris       II       1         iadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5         culus acris       II       1         ianthum odoratum       II       2-3         m palustre       I       1-2         iand endroides       I       2-3         lasiocarpa       I       3-8         num fontanum       I       2-2         la vulgaris       I       2         corhiza fuchsii       I       1-3         corhiza f	hagnum recurvum	μ	1-3		3	2		T					1		
archantia polymorphaI1-2archantia polymorphaII1-2arex paniculataII2-3arex paniculataII2-5hytidiadelphus squarrosusII2-5nunculus acrisII1It hoxanthum odoratumII2-3rsium palustreI1-2hillea ptarmicaI1-3imactum dendroidesI2-3arex lastocarpaI3-8crastium fontanumI2unella vulgarisI2anthum fullowingI12121112111112121112111211111111111111111212121211121211121112111212111211121112111111 <t< td=""><td>antia polymorpha     II     1-2       paniculata     II     2-3       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-5       culus acris     II     1       culus acris     II     1       culus acris     II     1       mantum odoratum     II     2-3       matter     I     1       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-3       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-3       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     2-3       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     I     1-2       iadelphus acris     I     2-3       iadelphus acris     I     2-3       iasiocarpa     I     3-8       iam fontanum     I     2       ia vulgaris     I     2       ia of mexim mex campla</td><td>vlocomium splendens</td><td></td><td>2-3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>+</td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td><u> </u></td><td>†—</td><td>1 3</td><td><b>-</b></td></t<>	antia polymorpha     II     1-2       paniculata     II     2-3       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-5       culus acris     II     1       culus acris     II     1       culus acris     II     1       mantum odoratum     II     2-3       matter     I     1       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-3       iadelphus squarrosus     II     2-3       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     2-3       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     II     1       iadelphus acris     I     1-2       iadelphus acris     I     2-3       iadelphus acris     I     2-3       iasiocarpa     I     3-8       iam fontanum     I     2       ia vulgaris     I     2       ia of mexim mex campla	vlocomium splendens		2-3						+		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	†—	1 3	<b>-</b>
arcnania poymorpha       II       1-2       I       2       I         arex paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2         hytidiadelphus squarrosus       II       2-5       2       1       1         inunculus acris       II       1       1       1       1       1         inunculus acris       II       1       1       1       1       1       1         inthoxanthum odoratum       II       2-3       1       1       1       1       1         inthoxanthum odoratum       II       2-3       1	ania porymorpha       II       1-2       II       2       II       1         paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2       1       1         paniculata       II       2-3       3       3       2       1							;+	-+			<u>├</u>	<b> </b>	<u></u>	<u>├</u>	
II     2-3       aytidiadelphus squarrosus     II       aytidiadelphus squarrosus     II       anunculus acris     II       inunculus acris     II       1     1       1	paniculataII2-3332iadelphus squarrosusII2-5211culus acrisII1111culus acrisII1111culus acrisII1111culus acrisII1111culus acrisII1111culus acrisII2-3111m palustreI1-2111in palustreI1-3333in palustreI2-333lasiocarpaI3-833in fontanumI1-222la vulgarisI222corhiza fuchsiiI1-33corhiza fuchsiiI1-33corhiza fuchsiiI1-33corhiza fuchsiiI2-32corhiza fuchsiiI2-3corhiza fuchsiiI2-3corhiza fuchsiiI2-3corhiza fuchsiiI2-3corhiza fuchsiiI2-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchsiiI1-3corhiza fuchs	archantia polymorpha		1-2				_4	+	+	2	<u> </u>	┣		<b> </b> '	<b>_</b>
Image: Description of the second s	Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line     Image line       Ima	arex paniculata	<u>ц</u>	2-3				3	3				L	L	2	
Immonulus acris     II     I       inthoxanthum odoratum     II     2-3       rsium palustre     I     1-2       inthoxanthum odoratum     II     1-2       inthilea ptarmica     I     1       idacomnium palustre     I     1-3       imacium dendroides     I     2-3       irrex lasiocarpa     I     3-8       irrestium fontanum     I     1-2       unella vulgaris     I     2       unuella vulgaris     I     2       unuella vulgaris     I     2	II $I$ $I$ $I$ $I$ $II$ $II$ $2.3$ $II$ $II$ $2.3$ $II$ $II$ $I$ $II$  $III$ $IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII$	ytidiadelphus squarrosus	u u	2-5				2	ſ	Τ			1	1		
Image: State state	I $I$	munculus acris		1		1				-+			<b></b>			<u> </u>
Introduction     I     I     I     I       rsium palustre     I     I     I       hillea ptarmica     I     I       hillea ptarmica     I     I       lacomnum palustre     I     I       imacium dendroides     I     2-3       irex lasiocarpa     I     3-8       rastium fontanum     I     I-2       unallus vulgaris     I     2       unallu vulgaris     I     2	Impalustre     I     1-2       in palustre     I     1-2       in palustre     I     1       in palustre     I     2       in palustre     I     1       in palustre     I     1       in palustre     I       in palustre	the search and a dense	- <del> </del>					+	-+	-+				├		
rsnum palustreI1-2hillea ptarmicaIIlacomnnum palustreIIlacomnnum palustreI1-3umactum dendroidesI2-3rex lasiocarpaI3-8rastium fontanumI1-2unallus minorI2unallus valgaritsI2unallus forkerI2	In palustre       I       1-2         ia ptarmica       I       1         ia ptarmica       I       1         immnum palustre       I       1-3         inum dendroides       I       2-3         lasiocarpa       I       3-8         num fontanum       I       1-2         itum fontanum       I       1-2         itum sminor       I       2         Ia vulgaris       I       2         itum sminor       I       2         itum fontanum       I       2	inoxaninum odoratum	<u> </u>									L	L	L	5	
I     1-2       hillea ptarmica     I       lacomnium palustre     I       lacomnium palustre     I       lacomnium palustre     I       1-3     I       lacomnium palustre     I       1     1-3       imacium dendroides     I       2     I       irex lasiocarpa     I       1     1-2       inanthus minor     I       2     I       2     I       2     I       2     I       2     I       2     I       2     I	Impalustre     I     1-2       aa ptarmica     I     1       immun palustre     I     1       immun palustre     I     1-3       immun palustre     I     1-3       immun palustre     I     1-3       immun palustre     I     2-3       immun palustre     I     2-3       lasiocarpa     I     3-8       num fontanum     I     1-2       la vulgaris     I     2       orhiza fuchsu     I     1-3       orhiza fuchsu     I     1-3       of merum mer sample     20     23					_										
Image: Second second	Image: Second second	rsium palustre	III	1-2				11		T						
Initial putrinica     I     I       Iacomnum palustre     I     1-3       Iacomnum palustre     I     1-3       Imacium dendroides     I     2-3       Irex Iasiocarpa     I     3-8       Irex Iasiocarpa     I     3-8       Irex Iasiocarpa     I     1-2       Inanthus minor     I     2       Inanthus minor     I     2       Inanthus minor     I     2       Inanthus for forbru     I     2	Immunum palustre     I     I       Immunum palustre     I     1-3       Istum dendroides     I     2-3       Iasiocarpa     I     3-8       Iasiocarpa     I     3-8       Imum fontanum     I     1-2       Ithus minor     I     2       Ia vulgaris     I     2       Ia vulgaris     I     2       I     1-3     1       I     2     2       I     1-3     1       I     1-3     1	hilles stances	-+ <del>-</del> +		<del> </del>		-,†	+	-+-	$\rightarrow$				<u> </u>	h	
dacomnum palustre     I     I-3     3       imac num dendroides     I     2-3     3       irrex lasiocarpa     I     3-8     3       irrex lasiocarpa     I     3-8       rastitum fontanum     I     1-2       inanthus minor     I     2       unella vulgaris     I     2       I     2     2	Immnum palustre     I     I-3       num dendroides     I     2-3       lasiocarpa     I     3-8       num fontanum     I     1-2       num fontanum     I     1-2       lasiocarpa     I     2       lavugarts     I     2       orhiza fuchsu     I     1-3       a vulgarts     I     2       lasion par sample     20     21	ninea piarmica	_ <del></del> ++				4	+	$\rightarrow$	-+-			<u> </u>	┣		_
imacium dendroides     I     2-3     2     3       irex lasiocarpa     I     3-8     3     8     1       irex lasiocarpa     I     3-8     3     8     1       irex lasiocarpa     I     1-2     2     1     2       inanthus minor     I     2     2     2     2       unella vulgaris     I     2     2     2	Image: Strum dendroides     I     2-3       Iasiocarpa     I     3-8       num fontanum     I     1-2       ithus minor     I     2       Ida vulgaris     I     2       Ida vulgaris     I     2       Image: Strum dendroides     Image: Strum dendroides     2       Image: Strum dendroides     1     3       Image: Strum dendroides     2     2       Image: Strum dendroides     2     2	llacomnum palustre		1-3						_1			L	L	3	
arex lasiocarpa     I     3-8       grastium fontanum     I     1-2       hinanthus minor     I     2       unella vulgaris     I     2       I     2     2	lasiocarpa     I     3-8       num fontanum     I     1-2       thus minor     I     2       la vulgaris     I     2       orhiza fuchsii     I     1-3       1     3     2       2     2     2       3     3     2       1     3     2       2     2     2       3     3     3	imacium dendroides		2-3	2		T	T	T	T	T				3	
erastium fontanum I 1-2 2 2 hinanthus minor I 2 2 2 unella vulgaris I 2 2 2	rum fontanum I I-2 tithus minor I 2 la vulgaris I 2 orhiza fuchsii I 1-3 of menim per sample	arex lasiocarna		3-8	2	- 2	-1		-1	$\neg$						
trastium jontanum     1     1-2       unanthus minor     I     2       unella vulgaris     I     2       uplophra ficheu     I     1.3	Image: Second second	nen iusiocurpu	<del>─┼──┊</del> ──┤				+	+	-+	+						
unanthus minor I 2 unella vulgaris I 2 2 2	Inthus minor     I     2       Id vulgaris     Id vulgaris     2       Id vulgaris     Id vulgaris     2     2       Id vulgaris     Id vulgaris     2     2       Id vulgaris     2     2     2       Id vulgaris     2     2     2       Id vulgaris     2     2     2        Id vulgaris	rastium Jontanum	<u></u>	1-2	┝╼┥					-21			<b> </b>	<b></b>		<u> </u>
unella vulgaris I 2 2 2	Ia vulgaris         I         2         2         2           orhiza fuchsii         I         1-3         1         3         1         3           of mering per sample         20         25         20         22         24         24	unanthus minor		2											2	
	orhiza fuchsii I 1-3 1 3 1 3 20 22 28 20 20 22 24 4	unella vulgarıs		2		2	T	T		T	7	2				
		actulorhiza fuchsu	- <del>   </del>	1.3				-1	-+	$\rightarrow$	-					

47

squarrosum and Aulacomnium palustre are occasionally found. Small herbs such as Caltha palustris, Epilobium palustre, Mentha aquatica and Ranunculus flammula are frequently found.

a) Typical variant (table 2.17)

Constant species: Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile, Galium palustre

[Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium rostratum, Filipendula ulmaria, Potentilla palustris, Mentha aquatica, Caltha palustris]

Rather swampy vegetation, usually occurring as a raft. The vegetation has a fairly open structure but is generally quite species-poor. *Carex rostrata* is the main sedge species, sometimes accompanied by *Carex lasiocarpa* and *Carex diandra* which can be locally abundant. *Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile* and *Potentilla palustris* form the main components of the herb layer accompanied by *Mentha aquatica, Caltha palustris* and with scattered individuals of species such as *Epilobium palustre, Lychnis flos-cuculi* and *Cardamine pratensis. Ranunculus lingua* is found in this community. *Calliergon cuspidatum* and *Plagiomnium rostratum* are often found in the ground layer and they are sometimes abundant; *Calliergon giganteum* and *Calliergon cordifolium* are sometimes found scattered among the stem bases. *Phragmites australis* can be a prominent species in this community and *Salix cinerea* seedlings and shrubs are frequently found. At some sites this community is also found beneath willow carr.

#### b) Carex diandra variant (table 2.18)

Constant species: Carex rostrata, Carex diandra, Menyanthes trifoliata, Potentilla palustris, Caltha palustris, Ranunculus flammula

[Equisetum fluviatile, Plagiomnium rostratum, Calliergon cuspidatum, Eriophorum angustifolium, Agrostis stolonifera, Galium palustre, Carex nigra]

This community is characterised by a sedge sward with abundant *Carex diandra*, *Carex rostrata* and *Eriophorum angustifolium* and sometimes prominent *Carex nigra*, beneath which is a dense understorey of *Menyanthes trifoliata*, *Caltha palustris* and *Potentilla palustris*. *Ranunculus flammula*, *Equisetum fluviatile*, *Agrostis stolonifera* and *Galium palustre* are all constant but rather sparse. *Calliergon cuspidatum* and *Plagiomnium rostratum* form the main components of the ground layer and they can both be abundant. *Calliergon giganteum* is also locally abundant. This is a widespread community mainly occurring on solid peat, or a 'grounded' vegetation raft.

Table 2.17. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Carex rostrata -
Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant.

	Frequency	Do	min	abu	indai	nce :	score	s (1-	10) f	or inc	lividi	ېې اهد	uadra	ts								
Species	Range of al	oundance						_														
Menyanthes trifoliata	V V	1-9		8	3	Ι	7	3	3	4	4	5	6	9	1	9	T	3	5	3	6	8
Carex rostrata	V	1-10		3	8	3		10	4	3	4	3	5	1	5	7	3		4	8	1	4
Equisetum fluviatile	_ v	1-7		5	5	_3	3	1	3	1	7		1	3		4	7	1		3	5	3
Galium palustre	[V	14		4	3	2	3	1	3		2	3	2	2	3	2	3	3			3	3
Calliergon cuspidatum	IV IV	1-6	r	3	6	4	2	<b></b>	3	r	1	4	3	T	5	1	1	<u> </u>	4	<u> </u>	3	3
Filipendula ulmaria	IV	1-7			5	4		1	4	1	2	<u> </u>	2	T	1	1 i	2	7		ī		3
Plagiomnium rostratum	IV	1-9		2	8	3			3		5	7	6		2	1	2			1	9	4
Mentha aquatica	IV	1-7		6	4	7	I	2	3		1	3	3	3		5	4	-	-	1		3
Potentilla palustris	IV	1-6		T	1	3	5		2	1 i	2	1-	4	2	6	1	<u> </u>		3	3	<u> </u>	1
Caltha palustris	IV	1-4		2	2	2	_3				3	3	3				2	2	1		4	4
Epilobium palustre	<u> </u>	1-5		T	3			1		<b>.</b>	<u> </u>	4	3	2	l ī	T	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	2	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	5
Angelica sylvestris	Ш	1-4		4	2		1	1	1	1							Γ_	1	1			
Agrostis stolonifera	п	1-5		3	2	·			r		<u> </u>	1	1	2	<b>—</b>	<u> </u>	3	5	-		<b></b>	<b></b>
Cardamine pratensis	<u> </u>	1-2			-		2		2		2	$\overline{1}$	1		<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	2		i	
Calliergon giganteum	п	1-5		3			3		2		2	5	<u> </u>		t	1	3					
Equisetum palustre	П	1-4		4		1	-	1	1		1		<u> </u>	4			<u> </u>	2	2		4	
Salix cinerea (g)	Ш			$\top$					1	1		1	1	1-	1		t			1		1
Carex lasiocarpa	II	1-6		5	T		6	3		6	4		<u> </u>	1	6	1						
Carex diandra	П	49			1		5				4	5	<u> </u>	9	7					4	7	
Phragmites australis	п	1-10		Τ	1	10	6		8	5							3					
Juncus articulatus	П	1-4		Γ	Τ							1	1	2		1			4			
Carex paniculata	II	1-6		Τ			3					1	1			Ι	3					6
Lychnis flos-cuculi	<u> </u>	1-4				_		1				2		2							4	
Valeriana dioica	II	1-3		2	2	_	3					1										
Ranunculus lingua	II	1-6		1							2					2	6					
Holcus lanatus	<u> </u>	2-3		2								2	2								3	
Myosotis scorpioides	11	1-3							1			3	2				3				ئے	
Juncus acutiflorus	I	3-5		5		Ι								3		3						
Carex lepidocarpa	<u> </u>	3					3							3					3			
Carex panicea		2-3												2					3			
Drepanocladus revolvens	I	3-4			3	_1	4															
Bryum pseudotriquetrum	I	3-5					3				5											
Marchantia polymorpha	I	2-3		2							3											
Potentilla erecta	I	1-2		2											1							
Pedicularis palustris	I	1-3				$\rightarrow$	3											_		1		
Eurhynchium praelongum	I	2	_		2	_	_ 2															
Nasturtium officinale	I	2-3		4	+-	-				L						2			3			
Dactylorhiza incarnata		1		<b>_</b>	4	_	1						1									
Salıx cinerea (c)		4.7		+-	╇	7	-									L.,	4					
Calhergon cordifolium		1-3		+	+-		_	- <u></u> -	3							1						
Number of species per sample			19	41	9[_	12	23	11	-17	9	19	22	20	16	12	18	17	10	14	13	13	15

#### Table 2.18. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant

	Frequency	score	Dor	nın a	bund	ance	SCOT	<b>cs</b> (1	-10)	for in	divid	tual o	ruadi	ats		_					
Species	Range of a	hundance						(-	, -				1								
Carer rostrata	V	1.8		6	1	13	2	1 3	3	7	8		3	3	3	2	2	7	4	5	Ŀ
Curex Tostratu	V V	1.8			5	1 1	- ž	<u> </u>	<del>ار</del>	- 1	1 x	l i			5	2		- 5		7	7
Deterry Un selvetrie		1-0			⊢∹	+ -	2		1 1	2	- <sup>°</sup>		- 1		1 2	- 2			+		+
Potentila palustris	+ <u>-</u>	1-3		4	<u></u>	<u><u> </u></u>		- 1	- 3	- 3						2	4	+	<u></u>	4	┝┽
Caltha palustris	- <u>+</u>	2-4		4-4	4	4	5			$\frac{2}{2}$	4	-4	2	<u> </u>		4	-2	4		- 1	3
Ranunculus flammula	<u> </u>	1-3		<u> </u>	1	$\frac{2}{2}$	2	2	- 3	3		<u> </u>		2	1	3	3	3	2	2	
Carex diandra	<u> </u>	1-9	3	1_1	7	3	9	7	L		3	8		_1	7	6	6	1	2	7	4
								-	-												
Equisetum fluviatile	IV	1-4		3	4	ļ	4	4	L	4		4	1	_	3	1		3		3	3
Plagiomnium rostratum	IV	1-6	2	3	5	5	6	_ 5		3	5	1			4	2	_ 2		1	3	5
Calliergon cuspidatum	IV_	1-6	6		3	5		3	4	4	1	1		1	4		6		1	5	5
Agrostis stolomfera	ΓV	1-5	3	1	3	3	3	4	4	3		1.	2		5	2		2			
Galium palustre	ĪV	1-3	3	2	Ι	2	3	3	3	_		2	1		3	3				2	2
Eriophorum angustifolium	IV	1-8	2	1		Γ		2	[	5	2			8	1		1	2	4	3	4
Carex mera	IV	1-6		1	-	5	2	1	6						3	2	5	1		3	3
								-												·	
Filinendula ulmaria	π	1-5		T	4	Γ	<b></b>	<u> </u>	Г <sup>—</sup>		1	1	1		4	3		1	<u> </u>	2	4
Luncus articulatus	<u>+</u> <u>π</u>	1.5		1	† †	<u> </u>	3	4	5	2	$\frac{1}{2}$	2	ī	3		2	3			<u> </u>	
Carer lendocarpa	<u>+-</u> <u> </u> — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	2.8	"		2	1 7	Ť	4	6		t-ĩ	6	5		2	2	5	5	8		<u> </u>
Calliangon giggntarm	<u> </u>	1.7		1-1	<del>  ~</del>	t'	-	1	5			1			<del>ہ</del>	7	げ	<u> </u>	⊢⊸	-	-
Equipation Balustra		1 2		1	<del>ر</del> ا	┣──	7	+-	<u> </u>		⊢	<b>-</b>	- 7	-1	<del>,</del>	-i	<del>آر</del>	1	┣	2	
Course com parasire	<u> </u>	1.5		+	-	+		┝-,	┝──┤		F				+	-		<del>  - '</del>	<u></u>		1 2
Carex particea	- <u> </u>	1-0		+		<u> </u>		<u>+-</u> '			<u> </u>				1 2				<u> </u>	+	
Mentha aquatica	<u> </u>	1-3			<u> </u>				<u> </u>		┝┯				-			-	┝╌		<u>ہ</u>
Epilobium palustre	<u>Ш</u>	1-2		<b>-</b>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		_ 2	-4			4		Ļ	<u> </u>	- 4	⊢⊢		<u> </u>
Molinia caerulea		1-5		1		L		L_				2	3	د_	2	5	5	3	L	_	1
			_								_							<del>.</del>			
Cardamine pratensis	<u>п</u>	2-3		⊢	2	L	2	3	3	2				3	2				L	h	<u> </u>
Juncus acutiflorus	п	1-5	5			4	2					1			5						L
Sagina nodosa	I	1-3		1	1	2		2	3	2				2							
Galium uliginosum	П	1-3			2									3		2		1	1		
Drepanocladus revolvens	П	1-5							3					1	1		3		5		
Bryum pseudotriquetrum	Π	2-3		Γ	3	3		3	3								2				
Myosotis laxa caespitosa	Π	1-2			1	2	. 1	2	2												
Holcus lanatus	п	1-3				2	_		2	2				3				[	1		
Myosotis scornioides	п	1-2		1							2	1		2				2			
Angelica subjectives		1-5	5	1							3	1									
Lychnis flos-cuculi	<del></del>	2.3		$\frac{1}{2}$	<u> </u>							2								2	3
Velaziona dioioa	<u> </u>	14		<u>† – </u>				-					4	_	ī			<u> </u>	-		2
Cropin polydogo	<u> </u>			+	2			-	-			-			· · ·	1		<u> </u>	-		
Viala - aluatria	+ #	1-2		Η,	2							1	,			- 1					
viola palusiris	<u> </u>	1-2	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	2	<u> </u>					<u> </u>	•						L			<b>.</b>
	·	<del></del>	· · · · ·	<u> </u>	1		<b></b>					_	1			<u> </u>	<b></b>		<u> </u>	r –	<u> </u>
Salix cinerea (g)	+			┢┼	┝──	<sup>1</sup>	<b></b>				<b>—</b>		1					<del>  ,</del>	┣		1
Succisa pratensis	┿╍╍╧╍╍	1-3		┢	-	<u> </u>				$\vdash$			<u> </u>				1	⊢÷	-	-	+
Potentilla erecta	1	1-2	⊢					—												<b>—</b>	
Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum	<u> </u>	2-6		_	6	<b></b>	1	<b></b>					_			2	<u> </u>			<b> </b>	-
Carex disticha	I	2-7											2		<b></b>	7		ļ	<u> </u>		
Veronica scutellata	I	1									_									1	1
Parnassia palustris	I	1													1		1				L
Carex lasiocarpa	I	6	6	6																	
Deschampsia cespitosa	I	1	1														1				
Potamogeton polygonifolius	1	3-5		T						3	5										
Climacium dendroides	I	1		T							1								1		
Fissidens adjanthaides		2.3		<u> </u>	<u> </u>										3		2				
Scutellaria galericulata	+	<u></u>		t	- ?	2		h										<u> </u>	-		<b>Г</b>
Primella vulgaris	1 T	<u> </u>		†	Ē	<u> </u>				-				2			2			-	1
Committee reigeris	$+$ $\frac{1}{1}$ $-$	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1						$\vdash$								2	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Scorpialum scorpiolues	+ +			–	┝╌┷	h													<u>ب</u>	1	
suncus essus	<u>+</u>			<u> </u>	I	<u>i 1</u>			L	L	h	L	<u> </u>				L	<u> </u>	L	L	
Number of marine and second			57	1 21	- 10	- 22	17	1 31	10		21	- 77	75	10	25	- 721	26	20	16	21	2

Number of species per sample

27 21 28 22 17 21 18 17 21 27 25 19 25 23 26 20 16 2

c) Miscellaneous variant (table 2.19)

Constant species: Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Potentilla palustris, Epilobium palustre, Holcus lanatus

[Galium palustre, Equisetum fluviatile, Plagiomnium rostratum, Calliergon cuspidatum, Caltha palustris, Filipendula ulmaria]

This community contains samples representing very variable vegetation. It represents the samples which could not be included in the previous two, better defined, variants and is therefore named a miscellaneous variant. Generally this community is characterised by a dense sward of *Carex rostrata* with locally abundant *Carex diandra*, *Carex paniculata* and *Eriophorum angustifolium* accompanied by *Menyanthes trifoliata*, *Potentilla* palustris, Equisetum fluviatile Galium palustre and Caltha palustris. This herb layer is enriched by *Holcus lanatus*, Epilobium palustre, Filipendula ulmaria and Myosotis scorpioides. This community often occurs beneath a canopy or shrub layer of Salix cinerea and/or Alnus gluinosa; in these situations the sedge sward is less dense due to shading. The main components of the ground layer are Calliergon cuspidatum and Plagiomnium rostratum. Bryophytes tend to occur as localised cushions amongst the vascular plants. Calliergon giganteum, Sphagnum squarrosum, Aulacomnium palustre and Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum can all be locally abundant.

## 2.3.3.2 Bog

Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community (table 2.20)

Constant species: Eriophorum angustifolium, Calluna vulgaris, Eriophorum vaginatum, Sphagnum papillosum, Drosera rotundifolia, Sphagnum capillifolium [Carex rostrata, Aulacomnium palustre, Erica tetralix, Luzula multiflora]

This vegetation type is typical of bogs where the vegetation surface is irrigated by meteoric water rather than telluric water. It is a very distinctive vegetation type with tussocks of *Calluna vulgaris* and *Eriophorum vaginatum* and lawns and cushions of *Sphagnum* species, in particular *Sphagnum papillosum*. Other *Sphagnum* species occur in pools (*Sphagnum cuspidaum*) and as lawns between the hummocks (*Sphagnum recurvum, Sphagnum palustre*). Cushions of *Polytrichum commune* and *Polytrichum alpestre* are sometimes found. *Narthecium ossifragum* and *Vaccinium oxycoccos* are locally frequent. This community is frequently found at the centre of sites, usually over solid peat, but one stand was recorded from a raft of vegetation over a recolonised peat cutting.

Table 2.19. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Carex rostrata
Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, miscellaneous variant

<u> </u>		Don	nun a	abur	ıdan	ice s	core	<b>≈</b> (1	-10	) for	indi	ndu	al qu	adra	ts									_		
Species	Range of at	bundance	4 4	-	-	_		<u> </u>	<del>.</del>		-1		- 1	. 1	-	_		-	_					_	_	
Menyanthes trifoliata	V	1-8	4 1	- 2	2	- 3			1 -	-	<u> </u>	4		<u>}</u>	3	5	15		4	<u>+  -</u>	<u>.</u>	5 1	8	6	1	58
Potentilla palustris	V V	2-0	4 6	- 5			<u><u></u></u>	4		+	4	+ :	3		2	2	3		4	2		2	+-	2	5	4 4
E pilobium palustre	· · · · · ·	1-4	4 4	-4	_	3		- 1	1-	+-	+	3		4	<u>y</u> 3				4	$+^2$	-	2 4	4	1	2	3 3
Carex rostrata	V V		4 1	4	3	3		7	1	+	-	6 (	5 6	5	5 6	4	1		4	1 7	1	7	1	7	5	3 4
Tioicus ianaius	- V	1-4	4 }	-4		_	- '	- 4	+ '	+-	╬	4	¹	+ '	4-4	4-4	1 3	4	┝	4-3	4	· - ·	4-	1	+	2 1
Galum aslustra	R/	+		-				+ ,	+ ,	+ -	+	+-,	+	; <b> </b> ;	+	+	+	+-	+	+	+		+-		_	+
E guantum flum at la		2.4	4 1		2	-	-	-		<u>' </u>	<u>'</u>	2	<u>'</u>	2	1 -	+	- 1	1		2 - 3	4	3	4-	+		4
Plagomeum partratum		1 2-5	4 1				4	ŀ.,	-	<u>'</u>  -	+ •	4	+-	+	<u>+</u>		+ 4		+	1	÷	1	<u>-</u>	<u>-</u>	<u> </u>	신권
Filinandula ulmania		1-7	4 F	-4	-		2	<u>+                                    </u>	+		-	+		+	<u>'</u>	-	1 2			4	4		Ϋ−-	+-	<del>.</del>   ·	* •
Calliergon cusnidatum		1-0	4 1	4	1		4	┢	+	1	-	┽	+	<u>'</u>	<del>.   - </del>				+			-	+-	-	4	+ +
Caltha polysters		1.5	4 1					-	┢╴			+-	+-		ή,	1	┢╌┤	1-3	1 -	<u> </u>	-	+	;	<u>-</u>  -	<u>/</u>	
		+ · · · · ·	4 F	-			-	1	+	+-	1		ᡩ᠆	+-	+-	+	+-	+	┢	+'	+	+	4-	4	-+	4-4
Juncus effusus	Π	1-7	1 F	7	3	7		5	2	1	+	+	+	$\mathbf{f}$	+ · ·	1-7	1-7	1	+-	┢	+	+	╋	+	<del>. </del> -	
Myosotis scorpioides	<u> </u>	1-8	1 1	-+	-	_	8	Ť	F	+			1	Ŧi		1 2	-	۲ĩ	1	1 3			+-	+	+	1 1
Juncus acutiflorus	π	1.5	1 1	2			<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	t	+	+	1	ti	+		1 2	Ť					<del>; </del> -	, -	╞	<del>1 1</del>
Agrostis stolonifera	m	1-6	1 1	3	2	6		Ľ	1		1	+-	+		3 4	ŀ	13	1	† i	13			-	╧╋	╧	11
Cirsium palustre	<u>ш</u>	1-3	1 1	$\frac{1}{1}$	_	-			† i			2				1	1	2	1 3	1-	1		+-	1-	7 1	+1
Angelica sylvestris	ш	1-7	1 1	2	2	5			<u>+</u>	1 3		7 4	1 5		+		t i	+	1	1	ti	+	+-	<u>+</u>	<u> </u>	
Salix cinerea (c)	Ш	1-9	1 1			-	9		1	17			+-	+	1	t ī	1	5		1	$\square$		┢	5	3	+
Cardamine pratensis	ш	1-3	1 1				-			t		1		13	1 i	2	2	13	†	† i			2	1	2 :	1 2
Lychnis flos-cuculi	Ш	1-5	1 t	1	-1	-1		4	Γ-	1	13	1 5	3			3	3	3	3	3	1-	+-	$\uparrow$	+	it i	1-1
Carex diandra	ш	2-6	ן נ					5	1	1	1 2	2 5		5	1	6	6	3	5	T	3	$\epsilon$	5	+		1-1
Ranunculus flammula	Ш	1-5	1 1						2	2		1.	L	I	Γ	1		1	2	5	3	1	T	1	12	2 1
			l L						Ľ	Γ	Γ	Γ	Γ	Γ				[	Γ		Γ	Γ	Г	T	Τ	П
Calliergon giganteum	I	1-8	I L	J		4			3		8	8 8	6		L	L					1	Г	Γ	3	3	
Eriophorum angustifolium	П	1-7	l [	6	3			4			Γ	Γ		Γ	7				5	4	3	3	Γ	Г	Γī	
Dactylorhiza fuchsii	П	1-3	1 [	1	1							Γ	2			3	1	3			Ľ	1	Γ	Γ	Γ	Ī
Carex nigra	П	1-4	1 C		T					1	Ľ	Ē				4	3			4	Ē	1 2	1	Γ	1	
Aulacomnium palustre	П	1-3	1 [		2	3					1	1	Ľ	L	1			L		L	Ē	Γ	Γ	T	3	
Mentha aquatica	Ш	1-5	1 C							1	2	2	5			2		L	5		Ē	Ľ		2	Γ	
Lemna minor	П	1-3	ΙĹ							L			3	3	1							2		1	1	3
Calliergon cordifolium	П	1-4	1	2							1				3						2	2			3	4
Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum	П	2-5		2		5	_		L		-	5	L	-	<b>.</b>	3			2							
Sphagnum squarrosum	1	1-7		3	7	3	_			L		2		-	1				_	ļ				1		$\square$
Marchantia polymorpha	Ш	2-4		3	$\rightarrow$	2		3					3			L						+	┢	-	4	
Carex paniculata	П	1-7		+	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	-4		1	5	-	-	⊢					7	2	L			1		_	
Galium uliginosum	П	1-4		_	_	_					⊢	+	_	L		2	2	4					1	4	3	
Carex panicea	<u> </u>	1.5	-	-+	_	_	_			<u> </u>	-	+	-			5	3		<u> </u>	3	L	+		¥	+-	+
Deschampsia cespitosa	<u> </u>	1-3		+	3	-	_	_		$\frac{1}{2}$	╞	+	<b> </b>	<u> </u>	12			_	1	<u> </u>	-		┢	13	2	$\square$
Dryopteris carthusiana	Щ	1-3		4	-2					13	┣	+	+	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	_		-	1	┞	<u> </u>		┢		_	$\square$
T			-	+	-	-	-	_		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		┝	┢─	┢╼	╋	┿	+
Funcus conglomeratus	I	1-4	-	+	-2	4	_	_		_		-			┢	-			-			+-	╂	╋	1	+
Eurnynchium praeiongum	1	1-4	⊢	+	+						┝	┢	4	l ;	$\vdash$			1	<u> </u>		-	╀,	+	╉	+	+
E augatum palustra	À	1-2	-	+	+	-+	÷.			-	-		-	<u> </u>							-	+÷	+	+-	+ ,	╂┫
Lyuiseium palusire	T	2	i F	-+-	-+	+			-		-	+ - +	-	-						2	-	┝─┶	+	+		+
Valeriana dioica		1_3		+	-+	$\rightarrow$	-		<u> </u>			+	1 7			3		-		,			+	+	+ '	- 1
Carer disticha	T	1-7		-+-	+	+	-	-	7	-	⊢	1	<u> </u>	-		_	_					╞──	t i	+	+	
Rumer acetosa		1-1	⊢ ⊢	+	+	-+	-+		-		1	+		-		1		2			-	+	<u>⊢'</u>	+	+	H
Dactylorkiza purpurella	T.	1.3	i  -	╈	+	+	-	-		-	1	1 3	⊢		<u></u>	1	-	-				┢	┢╌	┢	+,	
Climacium dendroides		1-2		+	-+	-+					-	+	<u> </u>	-		1		_	2				$\frac{1}{1}$	1,	┢╌	
Carex curta	1	1-3		2	3	-+						+		-	3	· · ·			ī			t	÷	╧	+-	+
Brachythecium rivulare	ī	1-4		+	-	+		1	_		<b>i</b>	+		4	Ť			_	÷			3	┢──	+	+	
Mylia anomala	I	1-4		4	-+	3								<u> </u>		_	_	-		Η		Ť	┢──	+		H
Carex lepidocarpa	I	1-4		+	+	-						1-				2						t	4		1	H
Salix cinerea (g)	I	1-3		+	+	t	-1	-			[	1							3		-	t-		1-	† i	
Pedicularis palustris	I	2-3		1		1									2	2			3				Γ	1	T .	
Veronica scutellata	I	2		T					2	2		Ľ				2									t	
Salix cinerea (s)	I	1-2		2	1							1												1		
Geum rivale	I	1		Ι		$\Box$											1						[]	1	Γ	
Salix pentandra	I	1-3		Ι	Τ	T	T									1		1	3				Ľ	Γ		
Utricularia vulgaris	I	1-3		Ι	Т	T	Τ	T				3		3											1	
Ranunculus lingua	I	2-3		3	T	2																	Ē			
Cicuta virosa	I	1-3		3		1	T																L			
Poa trivialis	I	3	Ľ	ſ			3											3			_					
Molima caerulea	I	1-2	L	1		_	_	_[								_1	1		2				L	<u> </u>		
Drepanocladus revolvens	1		Ľ			1		_								1										$\square$
Bryum pseudotriquetrum	I	1-3	L	$\downarrow$		_	_	$ \rightarrow $								3							L	1	$\square$	
Crepis paludosa	I	3-4	L	+	_		_	$ \rightarrow $	4	3								_			_		Ļ	1		$\square$
Potentilla erecta	I	1-2		+	+	+	-	$\rightarrow$					_		_	$ \rightarrow $		_						1 2		$\square$
Viola palustris	I	1-3	L	∔		-		_	_1							_		_		_			L	3		$\square$
Hippuris vulgaris	I	1-2	L	╇	+		$\rightarrow$	_	_	_		2						_		$ \rightarrow $			L	┞	$\square$	$\square$
Potamogeton polygonifolius	1	1-2	L	╇	1	_	-+	$ \rightarrow $		1					_	2	_						L			
Carex echinata	1	1	F	+-	+	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	$\rightarrow$	1			$\square$				_	$\rightarrow$	_	1	$\rightarrow$			<u> </u>	_		
Scutellaria galericulata	I	1-2	F	2	-	+	$\rightarrow$	-	_	_				_	$\rightarrow$	1	_	$\rightarrow$	_	$\rightarrow$	_		<u> </u>	_	H	
Knytidiadelphus squarrosus	I	1-4		+	╇	+	$\rightarrow$	_					_		4		_+	_+	_	_			$\square$	_		
Polytrichum commune	I	4-8	F	+	8	+	$\rightarrow$	-	$\rightarrow$	_		$\square$		_	4	-+	-+		_	-+			<u> </u>	_		
Betula pubescens (g)	_ !		F	4	-	+	$\rightarrow$	+		_						4	+	_			_	Щ		<u> </u>		
Ainus giutinosa (c)		/-10	F	+	╉	-	$\rightarrow$	+	10	-4			_	_	,+		$\rightarrow$	-+		-+	_				$\vdash$	
Sienaria alsine	1	1	Ļ	1.				,			10	-		10	70	-		7.	-1			~ ~		1	Ļ	
Number of species per sample			2	<u>2</u>	<u>v</u> ] 2	01	12	18	42	15	19	-4	19	19	<u>_8</u>	191	-0	25	51	دد	ون ا	د نه	27	1 23	57	-0

Table 2.20. V	egetation table showing t	he species composition of	f individual quadrats r	epresenting the	
Carex rostra	ta - Sphagnum recurvum	community and the Erio	pho <mark>rum</mark> vaginatum	Sphagnum papillosum	community.

Total         Construction		Frequ	ency s	core		[	Dom	in abu	indano	e sco	res (1	-10) f	or ind	irvidu	al qua	drats									
Space         Interventing (RAS)         Community (RAS)         Community (RAS)           Calibace number and later         V         1/2		Range	e of ab	undanc	æ j	- [	Care	x rost	rata -	Spha	agnun	1 recu	rvum	ı				Eno	horu	m vaį	ginati	m - S	phag	nu m	
Currentizion       V <t< td=""><td>Species</td><td>POR</td><td></td><td>BOG</td><td></td><td></td><td>comn</td><td>nunity</td><td>(POI</td><td>R)</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u>,</u></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>рарн</td><td>losun</td><td>n con</td><td>เกานกา</td><td>ty (B(</td><td>2G)</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Species	POR		BOG			comn	nunity	(POI	R)				<u>,</u>				рарн	losun	n con	เกานกา	ty (B(	2G)		
(4) (2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2	Carex rostrata	V	2-7	IV	2-4		4	2	5	7	4	3	7	3	7	6		2	3	3				4	2
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Aulacomnum palustre	v	14	IV	1-5	l	2	4	1	4		3	4	<u>] 3</u>		4			5	4	_			5	2
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		117	116		1 2 7 1	ſ				5		5				2	1		2		7	2	2	2	5
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Enophorum angustijoitum		4 10		2-7	ł	10	4		4	10	5	4	4	,	<u> </u>			- 4	10		3	8		,
Dimensional polarity         V         1         1         1         2         2         3         4           Diverse diffust         IV         1.7         1         1         1         2         2         3         4           Sphagman fibro minimum         II         1         1         2         3         3         4         7         1         1         1         2         3         4         1	Springriam recurvam		1+10	1	1.0-101	ι	10		L		1.0		- <b>-</b> -			<b>.</b>	l	Ľ-	<b>.</b>				<u> </u>		
	Potentilla palustris	V	1-4	I	3	ſ	1	1	1		2	2	2	3	3	4				3		· · · ·			
$ \begin{array}{c cccc} lines & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 17 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 11 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ lines (plans & (V & 11 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\$	Menyanthes trifoliata	iv	1-8	п	1-2	1	3	1				5	3	5	8	7		2		1	2				
Sphagem and mohanam         IV         1.10         1         3	Juncus effusus	IV	1-7	I	1	[	2		6		7	2	1	1		1				1					
Sphaymen squarroom         III         15         3         2         3         1         3         1         5           Callergon structure         III         1         2         3         2         3         1         1           Cycling for couch         III         1         2         3         2         3         1         1           Cycling for couch         III         1         1         3         2         3         1         3         2         1         1         3         3         1         5         1	Sphagnum fimbriatum	ΓV	1-10	Ι	3		1	2	10	8			4	1		3			3						
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Sphagnum squarrosum	ш	1-5	<u> </u>	I		3	2	3				3	<u> </u>		5									
$\begin{array}{c} y_{chrons} (p_{1}, b_{1}, b_{1}, b_{2}, b_{1}, b_{1}, b_{2}, b_{1}, b_{2}, b_{2}, b_{1}, b_{2},	Calliergon stramneum	<u> </u>	1-3	<u> </u>				2			3	2	3			<u> </u>							-		
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Lychnis flos-cuculi		1-2	- <u>-</u> -					2		i		1	$\frac{2}{1}$	3	1		$\vdash$	~						-
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Holous longtus		1-5		2	ł			1			3	<u> </u>	3	1	$\frac{1}{1}$			-			3			
Galum pulare         1 <t< td=""><td>Betula nubescens (9)</td><td></td><td>1-4</td><td>1 I</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td>· ·</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4</td><td>3</td><td>2</td><td>4</td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Betula nubescens (9)		1-4	1 I	1			· ·	1				4	3	2	4		1							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Galum palustre	I	1	<u> </u>		ł							_		1	1					-				
Epidom palater         I         13         I         I         3         1           Rumes controls         I <tdi< td=""><td>Agrostis stolonifera</td><td>Ι</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></tdi<>	Agrostis stolonifera	Ι	1						1				1												
Menth acquates       I       13         Immer sectors       I       1       3         Elecohard       I       1       1       1       1         Elecohard       I       1       1       1       1       1         Angels apbestrs       I       1       1       1       1       1       1         Callergon cupation       I       1       1       1       1       1       1       1         Solie carrea (a)       I       1	Epilobium palustre	Ι	1-3			[								3		1									
Rume: centosa         I         <	Mentha aquatica	I	1-3								1			<u> </u>	3	ļ									
Line of the synthesis       1	Rumex acetosa	I	1	<u> </u>	-	ļ			1				<u> </u>	<del>.</del>	1										
Caller or curplearm       1       1       1       1       1       1       1         Caree diadra       1       6       1       1       6       1	Eleocharis palustris	<u>↓</u>		<u> </u>				$\vdash$						$\vdash^1$	<b>,</b>										$\vdash$
Angento approxima         1         2         -	Calliergon cuspidatum				$\left  - \right $						┣──			<u> </u>	1 2	┣─				-					
Image: Construction of the second o	Angenca sylvesiris	$\frac{1}{T}$	4	<del> </del>	┟╌╍┨								-	6	<u></u>										
Brachydreium retubulum       I       I       I       I       I       I         Aneurg singuis       I	Salix cinerea (s)	i	1	<u>                                      </u>	╞┈┥	ł	1							Ť											-
Interform officinalis         1	Brachythecium rutabulum	Î	$\frac{1}{1}$				<u> </u>				-				1										
Value anoma       I <th< td=""><td>Aneura pinguis</td><td>I</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>_</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	Aneura pinguis	I	1								_	1													
Abpla anomala       1       2       1 <th1< th=""> <t< td=""><td>Valeriana officinalis</td><td>Ι</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<></th1<>	Valeriana officinalis	Ι	1						1																
Alma glutnosa (g)       1       1       1       1         Carex limosa       1       5       1       1       1         Carex limosa       1       5       1	Mylia anomala	Ι	2									2		L	L										
Caree limosa       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       S       I       I       S       I       S       I       I       I       S       I <t< td=""><td>Alnus glutinosa (g)</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td>Ĺ</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Alnus glutinosa (g)	1	1												1			Ĺ							
Calluna vulgaris       V       2-5         Enophorum voginatum       V       1-7         Sphagmu popillosum       V       2-7         Sphagmu popillosum       V       2-7         Sphagmu popillosum       V       2-7         Drosera stroludifolia       1       2-3       V       1-4         Sphagmu conflictum       I       V       3-5       2       2       3       2         Drosera stroludifolia       1       2-3       V       1-4       1       -       4       2       2       3 <td>Carex limosa</td> <td>1</td> <td>5</td> <td>I</td> <td></td> <td>L</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>5</td> <td></td> <td>L</td> <td>L</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>L</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Carex limosa	1	5	I		L						5		L	L					L					
Calling Vigants       V       1.7         Sphognum yaginatum       V       2.3       2       2       3       3       2       2       3	C-W	1	r –	l v	125	ſ					r			T	<b>—</b> —	<b></b>			5	2	2	3		5	2
Largin and linear       V       2.9         Sphagrum papilly/olum       I       2.9       6       6         Droser arotantyfilia       I       2.9       6       6       6         Sphagrum papilly/olum       I       1       V       3.5       5         Droser arotantyfilia       I       1       V       3.5       5         Droser arotantyfilia       I       1       V       3.5       5         Droser arotantyfilia       I       1       V       3.5       5       5         Luruk anutyflora       I       1       V       1       1       4       3 <td>Erionhorum yaginatum</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math>\frac{v}{v}</math></td> <td>1.7</td> <td>ŀ</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><del> </del></td> <td><u> </u></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math>\frac{3}{2}</math></td> <td>4</td> <td>-</td> <td>1</td> <td>7</td> <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>5</td>	Erionhorum yaginatum			$\frac{v}{v}$	1.7	ŀ								<del> </del>	<u> </u>			$\frac{3}{2}$	4	-	1	7	3	3	5
Chroa tarraix         IV         1-5           Droser a rotund/fola         I         2.3         V         1.4           Droser a rotund/fola         I         2.3         V         1.4           Droser a rotund/fola         I         2.3         V         1.4           Droser a rotund/fola         I         2.3         3 <th< td=""><td>Sphagnum napillosum</td><td><u>├</u>──</td><td></td><td>+ v</td><td>2-9</td><td>ŀ</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><u> </u></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4</td><td>2</td><td>2</td><td>9</td><td>5</td><td>6</td><td>6</td></th<>	Sphagnum napillosum	<u>├</u> ──		+ v	2-9	ŀ		-						<u> </u>					4	2	2	9	5	6	6
Drosera rotundi/bla       I       2.3       V       1.4         Sphagnum capiliforum       I       1       V       3.5       I       I       4       2       2       3       I         Sphagnum capiliforum       I       I       V       1.4       I <thi< th="">       I       <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>	Erica tetralix			IV	1-5	ŀ												4			3	1		5	5
Sphagnum capilifolium       I       I       V       3-5         Luzula multifora       I       I       V       I-4         Carex enhunda       I       2       I <thi< th="">       I       I       <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>	Drosera rotundifolia	I	2-3	v	1-4	]		2				3						2	1	1	4	2	2	2	3
Luxia multifora       I	Sphagnum capillifolium	I	1	V	3-5									1				5	3	3	3		3	3	3
Carex echmata       I       2       I       1       3       2       3       2       3       3       2       3	Luzuia multiflora	Ι	1	IV	1-4	ļ		1						ļ					1	1	1	4			1
Potentila erecta       111       1-3       3         Narthecium ossifragum       111       1-3       3         Narthecium ossifragum       111       1-3       3         Polytrichum alpestre       111       1-8       4       1       3       3         Polytrichum alpestre       111       1-8       4       1       1       3       3         Salix repens agg.       1       1       1       2       2       1       1       1       1       3       3         Disraum scoparum       1       2       2       1       1       2       2       2       1       1       2       2       2       1       1       1       1       3       1       2       2       2       2       2       1       2       2       2       1       2       2       1       2	Carex echinata	I	2	III	2-3	-		2						<u> </u>				3		2	2	1			3
Vaccinum acycoccos       111       14       111       14         Polytrichum alpestre       111       1.3       1       1       1       3       3         Polytrichum alpestre       111       1.8       1       1       1       1       3       3         Polytrichum alpestre       111       1.8       1       3       1       1       8       1         Polytrichum alpestre       1       1       2       2       2       2       2         Salar repers agg.       1       1       2       1       1       1       8       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       2	Potentilla erecta		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1-3	ŀ								<u> </u>	<u> </u>			4	<u> </u>		1		$\neg$	3	3
Value 111       1.1       1.1       1.2         Polytrichum aplestre       III       1.1       2.3       1       1       8       2       2         Cladonia squamules/sp       III       1.2       1       2.3       1       8       2       2         Salix repens agg.       I       1       3       1       1       8       2       2         Imprucial vulgaris       III       1.2       2       2       2       2       2         Lophocolea bidentata       I       2       <	Vaccinium oxycoccos	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	1-4	ŀ										$\vdash$		-			1		<u> </u>	3	3
1. 10, 11, 11, 11, 12, 12, 13, 14, 11, 12, 14, 11, 14, 14	Pohytrichum alnestre	<u> </u>			1-8	ŀ				_				t –				<u>ا</u>	3	1	1	8			-
Salix regens agg.       I	Cladonia souamules/sp	<u> </u> ···		11	2-3	ŀ		-				-						3			2			2	
Pingucula valgans       I       3         Dicranum scoparum       I       2         Johrson mailering       I       3         Dicranum scoparum       I       2         Lophocolea bidentata       I       3         Catypoge an mellering       III       1-2         Sphagnum palustre       III       1-2       8       1       9       7       7         Saix currea       III       1-2       I       1       4       3       2	Salix repens agg.	<u> </u>		I	1	ľ												1							
Dicranum scoparium       I       2         Lophocolea bidentata       I       2         Calypogeta muelleriana       I       2         Calypogeta muelleriana       I       2         Sphagnum palustre       III       1-9       II       1-2         Caree curta       III       1-9       II       1-2         Salix cinerea (g)       II       1-2       3       5       3       1       5         Salix cinerea (g)       II       1-1       1       4       3       2       1       2       2         Molima caerulea       I       I       II       1-2       3       5       3       1       2       2       1         Dypoptens carthusiana       I       I       II       1-2       2       1       1       2       2       1         Equisetum palustre       I       1       II       1       2       2       1       1       2       2       1         Sphagnum submitens       I       3       II       2       2       1       1       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2	Pinguicula vulgaris	1	<u> </u>	I	3	Ī																			3
Lophocolea bidentata       I       3       3       3         Calypogena muellemana       II       2       2         Sphagnum palustre       III       1-9       7       7         Sphagnum palustre       III       1-5       II       1-3         Salux cinerea (g)       II       1-2       1       2       2         Anthoxanthum odoratum       II       1-4       1       1       4       3       2         Dyopteris carthusana       I       1       II       1-2       2       1       -       3       -       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       -       1       -       1       -       1 </td <td>Dicranum scoparium</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Ι</td> <td>2</td> <td>ĺ</td> <td></td> <td>2</td> <td></td>	Dicranum scoparium			Ι	2	ĺ																		2	
Catypogena muellenana       I       2         Sphagnum palustre       III       1-9       I       1-2       8       1       9       7       7         Carex curta       III       1-2       I       1-2       3       5       3       1       5         Salix cnerea (g)       III       1-2       1       1-3       3       1       2       2       2         Anthoxanthum odoratum       II       1-4       I       1       4       3       2       1	Lophocolea bidentata			I	3	[									ļ			$\square$					3		
Sphagnum patustre       III       1-2       II       1-2       I       9       7       7       7       1       1       2       1 <th1< th="">       1       1       1<td>Calypogeia muelleriana</td><td>L</td><td><u>  .</u></td><td>1</td><td>2</td><td>ļ</td><td></td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>⊢, I</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>2</td><td></td></th1<>	Calypogeia muelleriana	L	<u>  .</u>	1	2	ļ		_						-				⊢, I					-	2	
Carex curra       III       1-5       II       II <thii< th="">       II       II</thii<>	Sphagnum palustre		1-9		1-2	ļ		8			1	9	7	+-		-		⊢÷-					4		4
Success pratents       II       1-4       II       1       4       3       2         Success pratents       II       1       II       1       1       1       II       1       II       III       II <thii< th=""></thii<>	Carex curta		1-2	<u> </u>	1- <u>1-</u>	ŀ	3	2			-		,	⊢+	5	7		$\frac{1}{1}$					μ		$\vdash$
Molinia caserulea       I <thi< th="">       I       <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>	Anthoranthum odoratum		1-4		┝┽┨	ł		1				4		3	-	2		┝┷┥				1	$\vdash$		
Dryopteris carthustana       I       I       II       I-2         Equisetum palustre       I       I       II       I-2         Carex mgra       I       I       II       2-3         Sphagnum submtens       I       3       II       3       II       3         Deschampsta flexuosa       II       I-4       II       2-5       1       4       1       I       2       2       I         Succisa pratensis       II       1-4       II       2-5       1       4       1       I       2       2       I       I       2       2       I       I       2       2       I       I       I       2       2       I       I       I       2       2       I       <	Molima caerulea		$\frac{1}{1}$	<del>u</del>	1-3	ŀ	-1						1	Ť		<u> </u>		3			1	1			
Equisiting palastre       I       I       II       III       IIII       IIII       IIII       IIII       IIII <thiiii< th="">       IIII       <thiiiiiii<< td=""><td>Dryopteris carthusiana</td><td>Ī</td><td><math>\frac{1}{1}</math></td><td>п</td><td>1-2</td><td>ł</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td>2</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td></thiiiiiii<<></thiiii<>	Dryopteris carthusiana	Ī	$\frac{1}{1}$	п	1-2	ł		-					1	1					1			2	2		
Carex mgra       I       I       I       2-3         Sphagnum submiens       I       3       II       3       II       3       2         Deschampsia flexuosa       II       I-4       III       2-5       1       4       1       3       2       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       2       3       3       1 <th1< th=""> <th1< <="" td=""><td>Equisetum palustre</td><td>I</td><td>1</td><td>П</td><td>1-2</td><td>Ì</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td>2</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th1<></th1<>	Equisetum palustre	I	1	П	1-2	Ì							1					1		2	2				
Sphagnum submitens       I       3       II       3       II       3         Deschampsta flexuosa       II       1.4       III       2.5       1       4       1       3       2       5       2       2       2         Succisa pratensis       II       1.4       III       2.4       1       4       1       1       2 <td>Carex mgra</td> <td>Ι</td> <td>1</td> <td>Ц</td> <td>2-3</td> <td>Ē</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2</td>	Carex mgra	Ι	1	Ц	2-3	Ē		1													3				2
Deschampsia flexuosa       II       1.4       III       2.5       1       4       1         Succisa pratensis       II       1.4       II       1       4       1       2       5       2       2         Succisa pratensis       II       1.4       II       1       1       3       4       1       1       2       5       2       1       1         Polytrichum commune       II       1.4       II       2.4       3       4       1 <t< td=""><td>Sphagnum submtens</td><td>Ι</td><td>3</td><td>Ш</td><td>3</td><td>[</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>3</td><td>3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Sphagnum submtens	Ι	3	Ш	3	[							3					3	3						
Succisa pratensis       II       1-4       II       1       3       4       1         Polytrichum commune       II       1.4       II       2.4       3       4       1       <	Deschampsia flexuosa	п	14	ш	2-5	[		1			4	]	1					2	5	2					2
Succisa pratensis       II       I-4       II       I		T	<b>.</b>			r	<u> </u>		·					<u> </u>	<u> </u>			<b></b> -1			ı				· , ]
Polytrichum commune       II       1-4       II       2-4       3       4       1       1         Juncus acutiforus       I       2-3       I       6       2       3       6       2       1         Phragmites australis       I       6       I       2       3       6       2       2       1         Viola palustris       I       1       I       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1	Succisa pratensis	<u> </u>	14	ЦП		ļ	1							3	4	4								2	
Phragmites australis       I       2-3       I       0       2       3         Phragmites australis       I       6       I       2       I       2       I         Viola palustris       I <thi< th="">       I       I       I<!--</td--><td>Polytrichum commune</td><td><u><u> </u></u></td><td>14</td><td></td><td>2-4</td><td>ŀ</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4</td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>2</td><td>1</td><td></td><td><math>\vdash</math></td><td></td><td>6</td><td></td><td></td><td><del>ا ت</del></td><td>4</td><td>-</td></thi<>	Polytrichum commune	<u><u> </u></u>	14		2-4	ŀ					4			1	2	1		$\vdash$		6			<del>ا ت</del>	4	-
Imaginites destrains       I <thi< th="">       I       <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>	Phroamter metrole	$\frac{1}{7}$	4-5		<b> </b> <sup>♀</sup>	ŀ				6				<u> </u> *	,	$\vdash$				0			2		
Dactylorhnza fuchsni       I	Viola palustra				<del> </del>	ŀ							-			1									2
Juncus bulbosus         I <thi< th="">         I         <thi< th="">         &lt;</thi<></thi<>	Dactylorhiza fuchsi	1 T	$\frac{1}{1}$	1 I		ł										1									
Betula pubescens (s)         I	Juncus bulbosus	1 ī	$\frac{1}{1}$	Ī	fi	ŀ		ī						t				1							
Number of species per sample         14         20         13         6         10         15         21         25         18         22         27         16         16         17         13         14         15         21	Betula pubescens (s)	Ī	1	I	2	ł	1							L									2		
	Number of species per sample					]	14	20	13	6	10	15	21	25	18	22		27	16	16	17	13	14	15	21

## 2.3.3.3 Poor-fen

## Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community (table 2.20)

Constant species: Carex rostrata, Aulacomnium palustre, Potentilla palustris [Eriophorum angustifolium, Sphagnum recurvum, Menyanthes trifoliata, Juncus effusus, Sphagnum fimbriatum]

This community is characterised by a dominant ground cover of Sphagnum species forming lawns between the vascular plants. Sphagnum recurvum, Sphagnum fimbriatum and Sphagnum palustre are the most frequently dominant species and they also occur as mixtures. Sphagnum squarrosum is also frequent but not dominant. Cushions of Polytrichum commune are occasionally found. The main vascular species are those typical of fen and swamp vegetation: Carex rostrata, Eriophorum angustifolium, Potentilla palustris and Menyanthes trifoliata. These are accompanied by Carex curta and tussocks of Juncus effusus. This vegetation is developed as often rather treacherous rafts over water, usually at the centre of sites, sometimes as "islands" or around bog vegetation.

#### 2.3.3.4 Species-poor fen and swamp

These vegetation types usually have standing water for most of the year. Bryophytes are scarce in these vegetation types.

### Carex rostrata-Potentilla palustris species-poor community (table 2.21)

Constant species: Carex rostrata

[Equisetum fluviatile, Potentilla palustris, Galium palustre]

[Menyanthes trifoliata, Myosotis scorpioides, Epilobium palustre, Mentha aquatica, Juncus acutiflorus, Agrostis stolonifera]

Mixed fen with Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile and Potentilla palustris. This can be transitional to Carex rostrata rich-fen especially where the sward is enriched by Carex diandra, and where bryophytes occur. However, bryophytes are generally more scarce in this community and there is usually more standing water. Many species occur as scattered individuals in this community. Eleocharis palustris, Juncus effusus, Typha angustifolia, Carex acutiformis, Carex disticha, Carex nigra and Carex paniculata can all be locally abundant. Cicuta virosa and Ranunculus lingua also occur in some stands. This community can occur in an impoverished form beneath fen carr.

-				China and china and china and an an an an an an an an an an an an an
Species	Frequency Range of abu	mdance	Domin abundance scores for individual quadrats (1-10)	
Carex rostrata	>	1-10	3 4 6 1 7 8 5 5 5 3 6 10 6	<u>6 5 9 7 7 4 5 6 5 9 6 5 1 5 1 3 1 1 5 3 5 6 5 4 5</u>
Equisetum fluvratile	ΙΛ	1-7		
Galum palustre	2	1-5		
Potentilla palustris	N	1-10	2 7 6 5 3 2 3 3 9 3 3 5 10	
Alenyanthes trifoliata	III	1-8		
Afyosofis scorpioides	Ξ	1-6		
Epilobium pulustre	111	1-3		
Afentha aquatica	Ξ	1-6		
Juncus acutifiorus Avrostis stolomfera	EE	1-5	3 2 5 1 1 2 4	
Caltha pulustris	I	1-5		
Juncus etfusus	II	1-6		
Carex nigra	п	1-10	5 4	
Hippuris vulgans	H	1-5		
Culliergon cuspidatum	Π	1-7		
Filipendula ulmana	=	1-5		
Ranunculus flammula	1	1-2		
Errophorum angustifolium	=	1-10	2 3 1 6 3 1	
Lemna minor	=	1-5		
Sparganium erectum	=	<u>.</u>	1 5	
Carex disticha		1-10		
c.	ļ			
C ICHIA VIYOSA		3-1		
Callengen corajolium	- -	01-1		
Ranunculus Innoua	- -	194		3 1 1 3 2 1
Veronica scutellata	) 	5-1		
Phraemites australis				2 3
Pluetomnium rostratum		L-1		× × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × ×
Eleochans palustns	-	1-7		
muduhqme munogyod	-	1-3		
Carex pamculata	I	1-10		
Carex diandra	1	3-6	6 5 3 5	
Sultx cinerea (c)	-	1-10		
Irrs pseudacorus	-	1-10		
Potamogeton polygonifolius		1-8		
Number of species per sample			<u>15  10  16  11  11  10  11  14  12  13  11  10  7  12  11  1</u>	14 13 13 17 21 15 20 15 13 15 14 9 4 16 14 8 9 16 14 22 10 15 10 9 13 16

Table 2.21. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing the Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community

## Carex rostrata species-poor community

This fen differs from the above in the abundance of the main species and lack of additional species. *Carex rostrata* forms the main component of the vegetation and can form a very dense sward. In the *Menyanthes trifoliata* variant *Menyanthes trifoliata* attains dominance with a more sparse cover of *Carex rostrata*.

a) Dominant Carex rostrata variant (table 2.22)
Constant species: Carex rostrata, Equisetum fluviatile
[Myosotis scorpioides]
Carex rostrata forms a dense sward with few associates.

b) Dominant Menyanthes trifoliata variant (table 2.22)
Constant species: Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata
[Equisetum fluviatile]
Menyanthes trifoliata forms a dense, low-growing cover with sparse shoots of Carex rostrata and Equisetum fluviatile. This community often occurs as a precarious raft over open water representing an early phase in hydroseral succession.

## Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community (table 2.23)

Constant species: Equisetum fluviatile, Carex rostrata

[Lemna minor]

Characterised by a dense sward of *Equisetum fluviatile* spikes with few associated species this community is found at the edges of areas of open water and around the edges of very wet sites.

Glyceria fluitans species-poor community (table 2.23) Constant species: Glyceria fluitans, Carex rostrata, Juncus effusus [Nasturtium officinale, Epilobium palustre, Sparganium erectum] This community frequently occurs in ditches and drains.

<u>Eleocharis palustris species-poor community (table 2.23)</u> Constant species: Eleocharis palustris, Carex rostrata [Hippuris vulgaris]

Areas dominated by Eleocharis palustris frequently occur at the edges of sites and within the Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community.

	Frequenc			Care	ar rostr	ata spe	cles-pc	NOT SWA	Mo. M	mont	in the	liata	Jariant	(FSCh	F		NOAU	rateor	o ener	lee Poor	or error	- Com	1	a ferator	and the set	1080				Г
	Range of	f abund	ance								<i></i>			1 200				11001	bode m	nd-enr		- -	יו ראוי	אונמומ	Valiali	i (L'art	-			_
Species	FSCb	FS	Ca	Dorr	nin abun	ndance :	scores (	1-10)1	for indu	vidual q	uadrats					-														
Curex rostrata	-1 N	10 V	1-10	7	4	2 4	9	8	6 7	F	1 0	5	10	7 3	8	 [∞			6 10	6		8 10	1	6	01 6	F	6 0	ſ	~	Iœ
Equisetum fluviatile	1V 12-	6 17	2.7		~		Ē	-	2 5	1	(m) (m)	~	m	6	m	<u>م</u> ا	†-	-	L	1	╞	ſ	~	5	2	╋	2	-	, <u>~</u>	T
A ferty-unthes trifoliata	V 5	<u> -</u>  2	1-5	S	6	5	0	~	8 5	10	4	2	5	8 10	∞	-1	t	╞		┢	F		<u>_</u>	-	ľ	┢	<u>}</u>	ì	-	T
A fyosofis scorpioides	1 2	2	4				Ē		-		L	L	+-		t	т_	4	╞	[-	=	$\Gamma$		t	╀	Ē	╞	-	1-	+-	Τ.~
Epilobium palustre	-	E	<u>~</u>		F	F	t	┝		$\vdash$	Ļ	t	╞				1-	╞		+-	12			1~		+	- -	•	+-	1.0
Gultum palustre	H	Ħ	1-3		$\square$	Н	Ц	Н	П	H	μ	Ħ	$\left  \right $	П	$\square$	Ţ]	2	$\left  \right $	Ē	2	$\vdash$	2		-	F		-	-	╀	Im
																										ĺ		1		1
llippuns vulgans	1	3 111	1-6	-		- -		-			2 3	╘	Н		Н	_ កោ	H	Н		Η	9	3 5	Н	Н	2	F	4		┝	
Dotautille a ductor	1		, ,	[	F	F	ŀ	+	F	$\left  \right $		Ľ	$\left  \right $	ŀ	ŀ	Г	ŀ	ŀ		ŀ	┝	ſ	ľ	-		ŀ			-	l r
		-		Γ	+	1	1	╡	ļ	┨			┦	-1			1	-	Ţ	+		_		_	_		_		_	
Carex nigra		-		<u>`</u> ]	+	+	=	~	_		4		-	1		-							7	_		-				
Enophorum angushfolium				~	-	-	=	_			-	-	+			-7		-												r
Afentha aquatica	=	=	<u>3</u> 6			-			_		_		_		4	2				5		5 3		_	6 5	m	~		┝	<u> </u>
Lemna minor	II I-	3 11	2-5			(*)	-							3		-		┝		├-		6		~		┢	5	~	17	Im
Potamogeton polygonifolius	-1 11		1-5	2	-	7		_	_	1								┡		┢	5			-		┢	┞	T	┢	T
Juncus effusus	-1 I-	4 II	1-3					1					ŀ		╘	-	-	-	3	┢─	┡				_	┢	╞		-	Т
Juncus acutifiorus	1 1	1	2		╘	Ē		-	-				┞		L	_ 		╞		7	╞			╞		7	┞	T	╀	Т
Ranunculus flammula	I I	1	4	1		F				╞			╞			_ 		╞		╞	4		t	-	L	1-	$\downarrow$	t	┢	Τ-
Caltha palustris	1	Ξ	1-5			H		$\vdash$		╞			-	_		г_		-		-	~	Ļ	-	-	s S	~	╞	t	╞	<b>T</b>
Sparganium erectum	I 1-	5 II	1-5			Ц		$\vdash$	1 5				┝				L	┡		5	F	1 2	-	┝	[	╎	╞	t	~	1
Agrostis stolonifera	1	3 ==	2-5			H		Н	Ц	$\square$	Ц		m				٣	┞		$\vdash$		5	5	╞	2	╀	╞		·	T
Carex disticha	-1 1	6 II	1-5				9	-					-			-		╞		-	╞			-	[^	┢∽	╞	T		Т
Ins pseudacorus	1	-	7			Н	E	$\left  - \right $					$\vdash$			- I	L	+		┢	╞		+-	+	-	1	╞	1-	╀	T -+
Algal mat	I 2-	1	4			3 2				$\vdash$			┝			_ 	E	┞		┢	╞			-		7		·	┝	
Juncus articulatus	1 2-	3 1	2	3						_	 	2			F					┢	17			$\left  \right $		ŀ			╀	T
Carex punicea	I [1	9		3		Η	F	┝					┞		F		t	╞		┢	-			╞	L	┢	_	T	╀	T -
Polygonum amphibium	1 1	Ξ	2-3					$\vdash$			$\vdash$		-			-	F	$\vdash$	Ľ	$\vdash$	╞		m	╞		┢	7	~	5	T
Calliergon giganteum	I 3	-	1-3		3	Н		-					$\vdash$					╞		5	┞			╞		┢	-		┢	1
Eleocharis pulustrus	1	-	45							_			-			-		┞		$\vdash$	┝		4	╞		┢		ſ	╀	L.o
Nasturtium officinale	1 4	I	2-3					-					-		4		L	┡		17	$\vdash$		ſ	╞	٣	+			╀	T
Calliergon cuspidutum		1	1-2							╞							-	┞	<b> </b> _	┢	-			╞		┢		t	$\left  \right $	Tai
Filipendula ulmaria		-	1-2					_					-			_	2	┝		┢	┞		$\vdash$	╞		-		F	╞	· · ·
Phalaris arundinacea		I	-					L										╞	Ĺ	-	┞		F	╞		┢	Ļ	-	-	τ.
Ranunculus lingua		I	1-5					-			_				F		F	┝		5	┞		1	┞	Ē	f			┢	T
Alisma plantugo-aquatica		-	-								-		-		┢		F	╞		-	╞		t	╞	Ē	-	-	t	┢	-
Glyceria fluituns			1-5			H		$\vdash$	$\square$	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		┞	F	E		F	╞	E	╞	╞	L	t	F	Ľ	┢	╞	t	┢	T
Phragmites australis		1	7					┡		-			-		╞	_ _	-	4	L	╞	┞	L	┢	┢		┢			╀	<b>T</b> -
Bryum pseudotraquetrum		-	1-2			$\parallel$		$\vdash$					┝		$\left  \right $		-	┝		┢			$\left  \right $	1		┢		$\left[ \right]$	╀	<b>.</b>
Urtica dioica		-	1		-			$\vdash$		┢			┝				L	┝	Ē	$\vdash$			╞	┞		┢			╞	1
Epilobium hirsutum		-	1					_			_		┡					$\vdash$		╞	╞		$\uparrow$	╞	-		Ļ	ŀ	┢	T-
Number of species per sample				-	9	- +	6		0 7	7	4	5	9	5 6	9	নি	12	5	5	5	<u> </u>	2	6	ĩ	8 15	15	<del>7</del>	80	-	1

Table 2.22. Vegetation table showing the species composition of quadrats representing the Carex rostrata species-poor community

A (Carex	tiformis)	-		[-	3						-			10 10	2 1	C1			T	T				ŀ				  -	•				T	ŀ		T	T	Ţ	Ţ	Ţ	]-  -	
FS.	CB B			L.															1			L	1_											L		1		T	1		L	T
Γ		0	ì	Γ	-				4			2	4		~	-1	ſ		T	1-	T	T	Ť	Ι	Γ	T	Т	Ι	T	14	1	Г	Γ	T	Τ	T	ſ	T	<del>ا</del> ر	गन	7-	Ŧ
	rectum	-	•		3		┫					0	7		-	┥	╋	╈	t	t	╞	┢	┢		t	$\uparrow$	t	╀	t	$\mathbf{f}$	t	╎	╞	╋	╈	╈	╀	+	╀	╋	╀	╀
	unm e	F	╀	F	2	1	╡		+	-	3	6	2			┥	╈	"	<u>,</u>	┢	$\dagger$	t	┢	┢	┢	t	t	┢	┢	┢	┢	t	t	6	· ~		+	╀	╋	$\dagger$	$\dagger$	╀
SS	Sparga	┢	m		4		ত					8	8	_		5	╈	╉	†-	1	$\dagger$		┢		╞	t	T	┢	┢	1-	┢		┢	┢	$\dagger$	╀	$\dagger$	╀	┢	╀	┢	t
Ľ.		_L.	1															1		1.	-	1	1	1	<u>.</u>	1_	1	1	1	1	<u> </u>	L	1	1		1	1	1	1	1	+	T
	(su	2					Ţ			∞ 	7	~				Ţ				Γ						Γ			[						-		ľ	I	I	I	L	I
	a fluita	3	-				_	4	-	~	~	-				_	Ļ	~		Ļ	-		Ļ	-		┞	╞		 	-			-	Ĺ	1	ſ	+	╞	╞	╞	╞	Ļ
U.	ilycen		+		4	+	4	~	77	+	-	ত	5	-	-	-1-	╀	-	+	┢	~	-	╞	┞	╞	╞	╞	╞	$\left  \right $		┝	-	-		-	╞	╞	╞	╞	╀	╞	╀
E.	<u>9</u>							1					1	1			1				L	L	L	L	1		1	L_	L	L	L	1		<u> </u>	Ļ	L	1	L	1		L	L
Γ		ľ			~	2			T	T		7				2	ſ	10		٣	[	Γ				Γ	I	Γ	Γ	m		[			Γ	Ι	Γ	Γ	Γ	Γ	Γ	T
		8	1	-	~	-			Ţ		$\square$	$\square$								2													9				L	L			Ľ	L
	vianle	Ľ	Ц		5		-	╡	╞	4	4	$\downarrow$	7	_	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\downarrow$	-		~			L		Ļ							5			-			L	Ļ	$\downarrow$	╞	L	Ļ
	nm flu	2	$\mathbb{H}$		0	<u></u>	~	+	┦	┦	+	+	+	+	+	+	╞	+	6	╞	┢	┝	-	_		-	╞	$\vdash$							$\vdash$		╞	╞	╞	╞	╞	╞
sQ	Equise	4	Н		<u>م</u>	-+-	+	+	╉	╉	+	+	╉	╉	┥	+	╀	$\left  \right $	~	╞	╞		┝	┝	┝		╞	┝	┝	$\vdash$		╞	$\vdash$	┝	-	$\vdash$	┢	┝	╀	╞	┝	┝
4	<u>)</u> Ierdoivil														L		.L.,	1	<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	1	L	<u> </u>		L	<b>L</b>	<u> </u>					Ļ		L	L	<u> </u>	L	L_	<b>_</b>	L	L.,
$\square$	for in		2	-			T		Ι	Ι	Ι	Ţ	~	ľ	~1	Ĩ	(C)		5			-						m														Γ
	itrus ) scores	3008	2	-																		~	17																			
	s palus ndance	s s	Ś	_	~				_	$\downarrow$		'		ľ	°					<u>^</u>	L						Ĩ.		10								L	L		L		L
	ochari		6		_	-1	⊥	ļ	-	-	_	_	$\downarrow$		_				5		_				5												L	Ļ	Ŀ	L		L
FSE	(Ele Don	3																																				L	L			L
1	¥S.	Τ	Π		Τ	Т	Т	T	Т	Т	Ţ	Ţ	T	Ţ		Ţ	Ι	Γ										II								Γ	Γ	Γ	Γ			
	SS I									Ť.		=+ _:										-	1			-		1		=												
*UITY	FSG		Ξ								2	≥¦:						Ξ			11	II						Π	111					II III		Ξ	Γ	Ē	Γ	Ē	Ī	Ē
commu	FSQ ency so				>	2		1	Ţ	T	Ţ.			1.			Ξ		III	11	1						I			_	_	_	1						Γ			
Plant	FSE Freau		>	≥.		_			_	].		_[	=	-	=	-	Ξ	III	п	1	1	II	-	_	1	_	1	I	1											:		
																																	S		sono							
			. 1			1														m,		3	m			F			_	<i>a</i>	mugu		nifolu		sas psu		olium			шп		
									1.	"I		_1		1.					5	, ≓i		12	đ١	- 1	أمر	- 21			I		1		~									
			lustris	ans	vante		ugua vic		Scincle	Intrue	nstre	rectum	nijera	Sum 2	sapioid	2	2	ica	pilofi	qiydii	ustris	umme	spida		nug!	anter		ellatu	abung	dinace	praelo		opygo	SILIO	cespit	5	ngustif		ata	qustifoli	(3	muna
		rostrata	arrs pulustris	is vulgans	num furrante	minor	ta Autone		er/usus	uum oljicinale	ium puiustre	mium erectum	is stotonijera	the second of the	an scorpiolaes	turnin 13	1 pulustre	a aquatica	nthes trifolia	qiydiuv unu	lla palustris	culus flamm	gon cuspida	ngra	una vulgun.	gon gigantei	disticha	ca scutellatu	ca beccabung	15 anundinace	ichium praelo	nat	ogeton polygo	acutilions	impsia cespita	lanatus	orum angustif	virosa	puniculata	um angustifoli	inerea (g)	orumin club

Table 2.23. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing species-poor plant communities.

Г

			Phr	agmi	tes a	ustr	alis	eedbe	d					Phalaris arundina	cea
	Frequenc	y score		-										reedbed	
Species	RPG	RPL	Dor	nın al	bund	ance	scor	es for	indivic	lual qu	adrats				
Phragmites australis	v		1	0	6	9	10	10	8	10	10	10	10		1
Galium palustre	īv	I		1	1	1	1	1	2		3	2	2		
lentha aquatica	Ш	I				6		5	1	3	3		8		
Calliergon cuspidatum	Ξ	I		2		4	1		İ		4	2		2	
Phalaris arundinacea	Т		<b>—</b>	<b>—</b>	-				r—-	-	·- 1				10
Ingelica sylvestris	I	ш		1	1										
ausetum flumatile				1				5							
ilinendula ulmama	<del></del>				+	-		-							$\rightarrow$
Insperiaula umaria	+ <u>+</u>				+	4					<b>,</b>			<u> </u>	-+
stantilla nakustrua	+ +	┝─╬─┥	_	+	+			-			1	- 21		┝╾┼╶┾╾┾	
otentilla palustris	$+-\frac{1}{7}$	┝┿┥	- I	+	3	-1					┝──┤			┝╌┿╼┼╌┼	
oiygonum amphibium		┝╍╬╾┥	- H	+				<u> </u>			$ \rightarrow \downarrow$	$\rightarrow$	_1		
letica diosca	$\frac{1}{7}$	┝╍╌╬╌╺┥		+	7	9		<b> </b>	$\vdash$			-+		$\left  -\frac{2}{4} \right $	$\rightarrow$
	+-+	<u> </u>		+	+-	-+		<u>⊢</u> ,	$\vdash$		$ \rightarrow $	-4			-+
enna minor	++	<u> </u>		+	+	-+					+	+			-3
prioblum palustre	. <b>I</b> I	1	L	4				نــــا			4				
altha palustris	I			T				1		1					Т
alliergon cordifolium	I				5						2				-1
urhynchium praelongum	I			1	T				8	1					+
lippuris vulgaris	I				1							-+	4		-+
arex rostrata	Ű			1	2	1						-+	5		- +
lyosotis scorpioides	П			$\mathbf{T}$	1					3		2	5		-+
uncus acutiflorus	I		· · · ·	1		1						-	_		-
parganium erectum	I			1	1-	$\neg$							- 3		-+
arex disticha	I			1		1		_		-		-+			-+
aleriana dioica	I			1	$\top$						-				-+
huidium tamariscinum	I			T		1			_			-			-
etula pubescens (c)	I			1	1-	2			_						-+
lyosotis laxa caespitosa	I			1		-+		1				-+			+
ypha latifolia	I			+	+	-+		· · ·				-1			-+
ardamine pratensis	I			1	+	1					2				-+
lolcus lanatus	I			1		-†						2			-+
ryopteris carthusiana	I			1	+	1									-
Inium hornum	I			1	-	3	_					+			-+
rachythecium rutabulum	I		-	1		-1						1	1		$\neg$
uncus effusus		I		1		1				-	-1	-†	1		1
ychnis flos-cuculi		I		1		-+	-								-+-
aleriana officinalis				1-		- †					-+		_		-+-
alium aparıne		Π		1	$\top$	-†	-				-+	-+	1		-+
alypogeia muelleriana				1		+						-+			-+
rrhenatherum elatius				1-	+	-+				-+		-+			-+
icuta virosa	1	I		+	+-	+					-+	-+	1	┝╼┾╼┾╼╄╸	+
eschampsia cespitosa				1-	+	+				-+	-+	-+-			-t
arex paniculata				1	+	-+			-+	+	-+	-+			
pilobium angustifolium		- <u>-</u>		1-	+	-+			-+	+	+	-+		<b>├</b> ─ <del>│</del> ─ <del>│</del> ─ <del>,</del> <u></u>  ─	-+
	+ +			+	+-	-+-						+-		┝╌┼╌┾╌╨┼╸	-

## Table 2.24. Vegetation table showing the species composition of individual quadrats representing Phragmites australis and

## Sparganium erectum-Agrostis stolonifera species-poor community (table 2.23)

Constant species: Sparganium erectum, Agrostis stolonifera, Equisetum fluviatile Frequently found at the edges of sites, along drains or around shallow pools within sites.

#### Carex acutiformis species-poor community (table 2.23)

Constant species: *Carex acutiformis*, *Myosotis scorpioides* A community sometimes found at the edges of sites, or bodies of open water.

## Phalaris arundinacea reedbed (table 2.24)

### Constant species: Phalaris arundinacea

Reedbeds dominated by *Phalaris arundinacea* often occur in dried out areas at the edges of sites and on the banks of open water.

## Phragmites australis reedbed (table 2.24)

Constant species: *Phragmites australis* [Galium palustre]

This community occurs in both very wet and very dry conditions. The reeds are often very tall and dense and often only thinned if the community occurs beneath fen carr when sometimes some *Veronica beccabunga* and *Calliergon cordifolium* can gain a foothold. *Galium palustre* often straggles amongst the reeds and *Eurhynchium praelongum* sometimes grows epiphytically on exposed rhizomes.

## 2.3.4 synonymy with other classification schemes

The synonymy between the Ward's classification and other comprehensive mire classification schemes is presented in table 2.25. The *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* community, *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* community and the *Filipendula ulmaria* tall herb fen defined above correspond well with the N.V.C. M10 *Carex dioica -Pinguicula vulgaris* mire, M4 *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* mire and M27 *Filipendula ulmaria - Angelica sylvestris* tall herb fen communities respectively. Other communities show broad similarities to N.V.C communities but are not adequately described by these alone. The M9 *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum* rich-fen community comprises two sub-communities but the classification of the Borders fens vegetation data identifies 3 communities, one with 3 variants, which could all be subsumed within M9. The latter community, the *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community, has clear similarities with M9b *Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum* sub-community and incorporates the *Circuetosum* subassociation of the *Acrocladio-Caricetum* 

Table 2.25. The plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens and their affinities to communities described in recent comprehensive classifications of rich-fen vegetation (Wheeler 1975, 1980a,b,c) and mire vegetation (National Vegetation Classification, Rodwell 1991, 1994).

\* The cluster (end-group) in the Ward's classification procedure from which the plant communities were derived. The species-poor fen and swamp communities were subjectively grouped on the basis of dominance of particular species.

	CODE	177 1)		
HABITAT TYPE /	CODE	Ward's	Counterpart N.V.C.	Counterpart rich-fen
PLANT COMMUNITY		Binary	community	community (wheeler
Rich-fen		ciusier+	[	<u>1980a, b, c)</u>
Acidified and wooded fen	FAW	1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	FTH	3	M27 Filipendula ulmaria - Angelica sylvestris mire	Filipendulion
Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture	FRP	2	M23 Juncus acutiflorus - Galium palustre rush pasture	
Molinia caerulea wet grassland	FMC	2	M25 Molinia caerulea - Potentilla erecta mire	Fen meadow
Mixed wet grassland	FWG	4	M26 Molinia caerulea - Crepis paludosa mire	Carex nigra - Sangusorba officinalis community
<i>Carex dioica - Carex hostiana</i> community	RFF	11	M10 Carex dioica - Pinguicula vulgaris mire	Pinguiculo-Caricetum dioicae
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	RFS	7&9	M8 Carex rostrata - Sphagnum warnstorfii mire	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae subassociation Sphagnetosum
<i>Carex lepidocarpa -</i> brown moss community	RFB	10	M9a Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire, Campylium stellatum - Scorpidium scorpioides subcommunity	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae
Mixed sedge rich-fen	RFM	8	M9 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum community	RFC	5-6	M9 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae
a) Typical variant (no differentials)	RFCa	5.2	M9 Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire and S 27a Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris tall herb fen, Carex rostrata - Equisetum fluviatile sub- community	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae subassociation Cicutosum
b) Carex diandra variant	RFCb	5.1	M9b Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire, Carex diandra - Calliergon giganteum sub- community	Acrocladio-Caricetum diandrae
m) Miscellaneous variant	RFCm	6		

Table 2.25 cont.				
HABITAT TYPE /	CODE	Ward's	Counterpart NVC	Counterpart rich-fen
PLANT COMMUNITY		Binary	community	community (Wheeler
		cluster*		1980a, b, c)
Bog	· · · · ·			······································
Eriophorum vaginatum -	BOG	14	M18 Erica tetralix -	
Sphagnum papillosum			Sphagnum papillosum	
community			raised and blanket mire	
			M21 Narthecium	
			ossifragum - Sphagnum	
			papillosum valley mire	
Poor-fen				
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum	POR	15	M4 Carex rostrata -	
recurvum community			Sphagnum recurvum mire	
Species-poor fen and swamp				
Carex rostata - Potentilla	FSM	13	S27a Carex rostrata -	Potentillo-Caricetum
<i>palustris</i> species-poor community			Potentilla palustris tall	rostratae community
			herb fen, Carex rostrata -	
			Equisetum fluviatile sub-	
			community	
Carex rostata species-poor	FSC	12.1	S9 Carex rostrata swamp	
community				
a) Dominant Carex rostata	FSCa	12	S9a Carex rostrata	
variant			swamp, Carex rostrata	
			sub-community	
b) Dominant Menyanthes	FSCb	12.2	S9b Carex rostrata	
trifoliata variant			swamp, Menyanthes	
			trifoliata sub-community	
Equisetum fluviatile Species-poor	FSQ	12.2	S10b Equisetum fluviatile	
Eleocharis nalustris species-poor	FSF	13	S19 Fleocharis palustris	Potentillo-Caricetum
community	150	15	swamn	rostratae community
Carer acutiformis species-poor	FSΔ	13	S7 Carer acutiformis	
community		15	swamn	
Glyceria fluitans species-poor	FSG	13	S22 Glyceria fluitans	
community	150		swamp	
Snarganium erectum - Agrostis	FSS	13	S14 Sparganium erectum	
stolonifera species-poor	1.00	10	swamp	
community			F	
Phragmites australis reedbed	RPG	12.11	S4 Phragmites australis	Species-poor community
			swamp and reedbeds	dominated by Phragmites
				australis
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed	RPL	12.11	S28 Phalaris arundinacea	
			tall herb fen	

*diandrae* identified by Wheeler (1980b) as the typical variant (a). The mixed sedge community and the *Carex lepidocarpa* - brown moss communities represent respectively species-rich and relatively species-poor versions of base-rich rich-fen vegetation. These vegetation types are often developed as quaking vegetation rafts and in seepage areas on solid peat many examples are transitional to the *Carex dioica* - *Carex hostiana* community in their composition. They are broadly synonymous with the *Acrocladio* - *Caricetum diandrae* association of Wheeler (1980b) and base-rich examples of M9 generally. Another related community identified in the Scottish Borders data is the *Carex diandra* - *Sphagnum contortum* community. Wheeler described this community from Beanrig Moss (Wheeler 1980b) and placed it within the *Acrocladio* - *Caricetum diandrae* nodum as the *Sphagnetosum* subassociation. This community appears to be synonymous with the N.V.C. M8 *Carex rostrata-Sphagnum warnstorfii* mire which is described as an exclusively upland community in the N.V.C. description, based on the data of McVean and Ratcliffe (1962). The examples of this related *Carex diandra* - *Sphagnum contortum* community in the Borders fens may represent a lowland expression of this community.

The reedbed and species-poor fen and swamp communities presented are broadly synonymous with their N.V.C. counterparts.

Rich-fen meadow communities comprise Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture, Molinia caerulea wet grassland, Mixed wet grassland (Carex nigra - Holcus lanatus) community (this contains vegetation placed in the Carex nigra-Sanguisorba officinalis community described by Wheeler (1980c)) and acidified wet grassland. Samples within these communities correspond to N.V.C. M23a Juncus acutiflorus - Galium palustre rush pasture, M25 Molinia caerulea-Potentilla erecta mire and M26 Molinia caerulea - Crepis paludosa mire communities although these communities were not distinguished by the classification procedure.

Some N.V.C. communities assigned by the MATCH analysis to samples of vegetation were not identified by the classification procedures. Most of these, for example the M5 *Carex rostrata* - *Sphagnum squarrosum* mire community, were under-represented in the data and where this type of vegetation occurred it was often as a mosaic of *Sphagnum* hummocks within *Carex rostrata* - *Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* fen or *Carex rostrata* - *Potentilla palustris* species-poor fen and swamp vegetation and was included in these plant communities.

Fen carr vegetation (N.V.C. W3 Salix pentandra - Carex rostrata fen carr) was also not distinguished as a distinct community in the classification procedures probably because trees tend to occur as a canopy over a wide range of vegetation types and their main impact is on the structure, and not necessarily the floristic composition, of the vegetation.

2.3.5 SPECIES RICHNESS AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS PLANT COMMUNITIES

Mire plant communities often occur under a range of environmental conditions and are not easily separated on the basis of the range of values of pH and conductivity of the mire waters in which they occur, or on the numbers of characteristic species they contain (Sjors 1950). Each vegetation type can occur under a wide range of environmental conditions (table 2.26) and the numbers of characteristic species present in each vegetation type is very variable (Table 2.27). Generally the pH and electrical conductivity of fen water recorded from quadrats representing acidified plant communities (*Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen, *Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum* bog and acidified and wooded rich-fen) were lower than those recorded from quadrats representing other rich-fen and species-poor plant communities. Rich-fen and species poor fen and swamp vegetation are difficult to differentiate on the basis of pH and electrical conductivity of the interstitial water with which they are associated.

Rich-fen communities contain the most species per unit area and species-poor fen and swamp the least (figure 2.3). Rare fen species are also concentrated in the rich-fen communities (figure 2.4). Many nationally and locally scarce plant species occur in the Scottish Borders fens (table 2.28). These tend to be more abundant in rich-fen communities, in particular the *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* community and the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community.

Table 2.28. N	ationally rare p	plant species and	their occurrence	e within plant	communities in	the Borders
fens.						

Species	Plant community
Eriophorum latifolium	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community
Pyrola rotundifolia	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community
Calamagrostis stricta	Molinia caerulea fen meadow community
Cicuta virosa	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species poor fen and swamp
Cinclidium stygium	Carex diandra/lepidocarpa - brown moss rich-fen
Homalothecium nitens	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community
	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community
Sphagnum contortum	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community
Sphagnum imbricatum	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community

If certain plant communities were confined to a narrow range of environmental conditions then the variation in the measurements of environmental variables recorded from different communities would be small between samples representing the same community. If this was the case then the variation found in measurements of pH and electrical conductivity from samples within communities derived from different classifications could be used as a basis for assessing the validity of the plant community classifications. The 'best' classification would have the lowest variation in environmental values in each community. However the different classifications derived in this study cannot be easily separated on the basis of differences in the co-efficient of variation for pH and conductivity of the interstitial water. The co-efficients of variation for the
	•								
		Hd			$\mu S \ cm^{-1}$			C.O.V.	
Plant community	code	mean	min	тах	mean	min	хош	$H^{d}$	E.C.
Acidified / wooded fen	FAD	5.5	4.80	5.97	156.2	82	287	9.2	46.2
Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	FTH	6.8	6.38	7.32	445.0	196	823	4.3	42.5
Molinia caerulea / Juncus acutiflorus fen meadow	FM	6.5	6.06	7.14	264.7	122	455	6.5	41.1
Mixed wet grassland	FWG	6.2	4.98	7.28	334.6	95	603	9.5	48.5
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum miscellaneous variant	RFCm	6.4	4.76	7.57	225.2	83	432	9.2	45.4
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum typical variant	RFCa	6.6	5.62	7.33	363.9	171	601	7.0	29.8
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum community, Carex diandra variant	RFCb	6.4	5.58	6.96	348.6	127	578	5.7	41.2
Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss rich-fen	RFB	6.6	6.24	7.40	343.2	104	471	4.6	27.2
Mixed sedge rich-fen	RFM	6.2	5.30	7.10	249.4	107	477	7.6	50.6
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	RFF	6.5	5.86	7.16	332.0	161	444	8.2	33.3
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	RFS	6.2	5.20	7.02	296.5	83	478	10.2	47.8
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	POR	5.0	3.79	6.56	114.3	59	360	20.4	83.3
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	BOG	4.7	3.49	6.45	214.9	73	685	21.6	105.2
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community	FSM	6.5	5.40	7.13	327.2	90	665	6.0	53.0
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Carex rostrata variant	FSCa	6.5	6.02	66.9	344.0	162	652	4.8	36.0
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Menyanthes trifoliata variant	FSCb	6.5	5.64	7.53	449.6	113	857	7.9	45.0
Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community	FSQ	6.4	5.74	6.82	353.0	231	449	7.1	23.6
Eleocharis palustris species-poor community	FSE	5.8	5.40	6.02	223.7	96	328	5.7	52.1
Carex acutiformis species-poor community	FSA	6.6	6.40	6.71	293.0	240	346	3.3	25.6
Sparganium erectum- Agrostis stolonifera species-poor community	FSS	6.8	6.57	7.14	423.7	259	550	4.2	35.2
Glyceria fluitans species-poor community	FSG	6.8	6.26	7.43	436.5	365	571	7.3	211
Phragmites australis reedbed	RPG	6.5	5.64	7.12	382.0	142	695	8	55.9
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed	RPL	6.4			401				

Table 2.26. Mean values of pH and electrical conductivity (E.C.,  $\mu$ S cm<sup>-1</sup>) of fen waters from quadrats representing different plant communities.

													I			
		Total sr	ecies ric	hness	Rare fen	species n	chness	Bog spec	ties richr	l ssa	oor-fen s	oecies ric	hness	Rich-fen s	pecies rich	ness
Plant community	code	mean	тт	max	mean	тт	max	mean	mim	max	mean	uim	тах	mean	иш	max
Acidified / wooded fen	FAW	25.5	21	27	1.6	0	3	4.8	7		1.1	9	4	14.1	9	50
Filipendula ulmarıa tall herb fen	FTH	19.2	12	32	0.5	0	9	0.7	0	7	6.8	10	=	13.5	2	22
Mixed wet grassland	FWG	17.7	11	23	1.2	0	4	<b>8</b> .0	0	17	7.4	<u>س</u>	=	11.6	4	17
Afolinia cuerulea wet grassland	FMC	22.5	21	23	0.5	0	ы	2.3	7	6	8.8	∞	10	14.8	13	18
Juncus acutifiorus rush pasture	FRP	28.2	24	33	0.5	0	-	2.2	-	4	7.7	~	12	15.8	13	21
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum miscellaneous variant	RFCm	24.3	15	39	2.3	0	7	2.1	0	s	10.0	~	18	18.4	6	31
Carex rostrata - Calltergon cuspidatum typical variant	RFCa	15.7	6	23	1.5	0	4	1.0	0	2	7.5	4	Ξ	13.8	6	21
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum communityCarex diandra variant	RFCb	21.8	16	28	3.4	2	8	2.3	1	4	11.3	7	14	18.9	13	25
Carex lepidocarpa brown moss rich-fen	RFB	20.5	13	29	3.1	0	9	2.6	1	4	12.6	6	19	18.1	10	25
Mixed sedge rich-fen	RFM	32.0	20	41	4.0	0	7	3.0	2	9	13.8	~	18	25.1	16	33
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	RFF	27.6	15	36	4.8		6	3.2	1	6	12.6	8	20	20.2	=	29
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	RFS	31.5	19	52	7.7	2	13	4.8	2	8	16.5	=	23	24.5	16	39
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	POR	16.4	6	25	0.8	0	2	5.1	2	8	11.6	6	18	9.3	4	15
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	BOG	17.4	13	27	0.1	0	1	9.3	7	13	12.3	-	18	7.0	4	E1
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community	FSM	12.9	4	22	1.3	0	3	0.9	0	3	6.8	2	=	11.0	4	18
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Carex rostrata variant	FSCa	9.1	4	15	0.4	0		0.1	0	1	4.0	7	e e	6.9	۳	=
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Menyanthes trifoliata variant	FSCb	6.9	4	14	0.3	0	1	1.2	0	2	4.8	3	6	5.7		10
Equiserum fluviatule species-poor community	FSQ	7.3	4	11	0.7	0	2	0.5	0	1	3.5	2	s	5.5	~	6
Eleocharis palustris species-poor community	FSE	10.0	6	12	0.8	0	2	0.4	0	1	5.0	3	9	8.0	~	=
Carex acutiformus species-poor community	FSA	6	7	=	-	0	2	0			2	0	4	<b>90</b>	9	10
Spargamum erectum- Agrostis stolonifera species-poor community	FSS	9.8	5	18	0.8	0	2	0.5	0	1	3.5	2	s	7.5	4	14
Glyceria fluitans species-poor community	FSG	11.5	6	15	0.5	0	2	0			5.5		∞	7.75	4	10
Phragmites australis reedbed	RPG	7.6	4	15	0			0			3.3	1	9	5.8		12
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed	RPL	7.2	4	11	0.2	0	1	0			1.4	0	4	4.6	7	7

Table 2.27. Mean species-richness per quadrat of different Scottish Borders fen plant communities.

Figure 2.3. Mean total species richness per quadrat (+/- maximum and minimum) of different rich-fen, poor-fen, bog and species-poor fen and swamp plant communities in the Scottish Borders fens. Plant community codes follow those in table 2.25.







presented plant communities, the Ward's binary and Ward's quantitative classifications are presented in table 2.29. The variation found is probably largely due to microtopographical vegetation zonation and corresponding large vertical variation in water conditions found in the Scottish Borders fens.

Spot measurements of pH and chemical conductivity showed that all the plant communities occurred under a wide range of environmental conditions (table 2.26). The mean pH was 6.32 (range 3.49-7.57) and the mean electrical conductivity was 318  $\mu$ S/cm (range 59-857). Based on the coefficient of variation (C.O.V.) of pH and electrical conductivity within each community described above the most variable communities were:

- pH Carex rostrata Sphagnum recurvum poor-fen community (C.O.V. 20.4) and Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog community (C.O.V. 21.6).
- Electrical conductivity Carex rostrata Sphagnum recurvum poor-fen community (C.O.V. 83.3), Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog community (C.O.V. 105.2), Phragmites australis reedbed (55.9), Carex rostrata-Potentilla palustris species poor community (C.O.V. 52.1)

The least variable communities were:

- pH Carex acutiformis species- poor fen and swamp (C.O.V. 3.3), Sparganium erectum species- poor community (C.O.V. 4.2), Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen (C.O.V. 4.3), Carex lepidocarpa- brown moss fen (C.O.V. 4.6), Carex rostrata species- poor community (C.O.V. 4.8)
- Electrical conductivity Glyceria fluitans species- poor community (C.O.V. 21.1), Equisetum fluviatile species- poor community (C.O.V. 23.6), Carex acutiformis species- poor community (C.O.V. 25.6), Carex lepidocarpa brown moss community (C.O.V. 27.2), Carex rostrata Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant (C.O.V. 29.8)

#### 2.3.6 ZONATION AND CONTACT COMMUNITIES

Plant communities often appear as distinct zones. There are two main scales of zonation, small scale, vertical (microtopographical) and large scale, horizontal (macrotopographical). Often a boundary between vegetation types (macrotopographical zonation) occurs as a small scale mosaic with microtopographical zonation. However sometimes small scale mosaics are extensive and the microtopographical zonation is regarded as a feature of the plant community.

synonymous plant communities derived from different classification procedures. Lower values of the co-efficient of variation (C.O.V.) indicate smaller variation. The end-group numbers for the Ward's Quantitative and Binary classifications correspond to those in figure 2.1 and table 2.3, and figure 2.4 respectively. Table 2.29. Co-efficient of variation ((standard deviation / mean)\*100) of pH and electrical conductivity (E.C.) of interstitial water of quadrats representing broadly

	Scottish	Borders fe	ns plant	Ward's Bin	ary Classi	fication	Ward's	Quantitat	ive
	Ö	ommunitie	S				Clas	sification	
		C.O.V.			C.O.V.			C.O.V.	
PLANT COMMUNITY	Code	ΡH	E.C.	End-group	Ηd	E.C.	End-group	μd	E.C
Rich-fen									
Acidified / wooded fen	FAW	9.2	46.2	1	11.9	48.3	•	1	
Filipendula ulmaria Tall Herb Fen	FTH	4.3	42.5	3	4.3	42.5	3	9.7	37.2
Juncus acutiflorus Rush Pasture	FRP	6.5	41.1	2	7.0	42.9	2	8.2	61.9
Afolinia caerulea wet grassland	FMC						2 & 9	10.8	54.6
Mixed wet grassland	FWG	9.5	48.5	4	10.7	46.8	2	8.2	61.9
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	RFF	8.2	33.3	11	8.2	33.0	×	7.5	29.2
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	RFS	10.2	47.8	7&9	10.2	47.8	,	•	
Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community	RFB	4.6	27.2	10	4.6	27.2	6	6.5	27.8
Mixed sedge rich-fen	RFM	7.6	50.6	8	7.6	50.6	7	7.5	29.2
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum community	RFC			5-6			10	10.5	47.5
a)Typical variant (no differentials)	RFCa	7.0	29.8	5.2	7.0	29.8	11	5.9	42.3
b) Carex diandra variant	RFCb	5.7	41.2	5.1	5.7	41.2	ł	1	•
m) Miscellaneous variant	RFCm	10.7	44.2	6	10.7	44.2	•	•	•
Bog									
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog	BOG	21.6	105.2	15	21.6	105.2	18	19.4	106.9
Poor-fen									
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor fen	POR	20.4	83.3	14	20.4	83.3	17	19.2	73.8

cont.
2.29
le 2
Tat

	Scottish	Borders fe	ins plant S	Ward's Bin	lary Classi	fication	Ward's Cla	Quantitat	ive
		C.O.V.			COV			ΛUJ	
PLANT COMMUNITY	Code	Ha	EC	End-proun	Hu	С Н	End-oroun		C L
Species-poor fen and swamp						5 i	dnorg-mirt	110	
Carex rostata-Potentilla palustris species-poor	FSM	5.9	52.9				14	7.0	9 67
community							<b>F</b> 7		14.0
Carex rostata species-poor community	FSC			12.1	6.5	583	12	74	30.8
a) Dominant Carex rostata variant	FSCa	4.8	35.9		2		1 1	- 0	53.7
b) Dominant Menyanthes trifoliata variant	FSCb	7.9	45.0	12.2	7.3	44 3	91	с. С. Г.	
Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community	FSQ	7.1	23.6	12.2	1	2		1.	7.00
Glyceria fluitans species-poor community	FSG	7.3	21.1	13.1	6.8	44.5	15	911	20.5
Eleocharis palustris species-poor community	FSE	5.7	52.1				2		
Sparganium erectum-Agrostis stolonifera species-	FSS	4.2	35.2	13.2	3.9	351			
poor community									
Carex acutiformis species-poor community	FSA	3.3	25.6				5		
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed	RPL		•	12. la	67		, <del>-</del>	ΓO	17.1
Phraemites australis reedbed	Daa	<u>8</u> 1	55.0						F F
0	) ]	1.0					<u> </u>		474

## 2.3.6.1 Microtopographical zonation

Microtopographical zonation is usually associated with hummock-hollow vegetation where different components of the vegetation within a community create a mosaic over a small area and the vegetation appears complex and heterogeneous in structure and composition. There is often a difference in the derivation of water supplying the different components of the vegetation which is partially responsible for the differing composition. Also species typical of different components may mix because some species are deeper rooting and can grow through the more shallow rooting vegetation merging the components and therefore justifying their classification as one vegetation unit. This situation often occurs on rafts of vegetation where, for example, deep rooting *Phragmites australis, Carex rostrata* and *Menyanthes trifoliata* (raft pioneers) can grow though poor fen vegetation which has developed on the surface of the raft (Kulczynski 1949, Van Wirdum 1991).

Microtopographical zonation is frequently found in the Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community (e.g. Whitehaughmoor Moss, Beanrig Moss, Woolaw Loch, Branxholm Wester Loch), Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community (e.g. Beanrig Moss, Mabonlaw Moss, Threephead Moss, Muirfield Moss), local development of bryophyte hummocks within Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor fen community (e.g. Nether Whitlaw Moss, Long Moss), Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community (e.g. Blind Moss, Long Moss, Branxholm Wester Loch, Hutlerburn Loch).

## 2.3.6.2 Macrotopographical zonation

Macrotopographical zonation concerns the arrangement of vegetation types within the fen site. At some sites the vegetation types are arranged in striking, often concentric, zones. Examples of vegetation zonation in the Scottish Borders fens are presented in table 2.30.

Edge			Centre	Examples
Carex rostrata Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community	Carex rostrata species with scrub developme	s poor fen nt	Open water pools	Kippilaw Moss Murder Moss Tandlaw Moss
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	Carex diandra- Sphagnum contortum community	Carex rostrata- Sphagnum recurvum community	Eriophorum vaginatum-Sphagnum papillosum community	Branxholm Wester Loch Blind Moss Long Moss Hutlerburn Loch Brown Moor Heights
Carex rostrata Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community or Phragmites australis reedbed	Carex rostrata - Spha recurvum community	gnum	(Eriophorum vaginatum-Sphagnum papillosum community)	Nether Whitlaw Moss Greenside Moss Groundistone Moss

Table 2.30. Examples of macrotopographical zonation found at Borders fen sites.

These patterns of zonation may represent phases in autogenic hydroseral succession where their occurrence is determined by site factors such as basin shape, history and chemical conditions (Van Wirdum *et al.* 1992). However vegetation zones may also be determined by other factors such as fluctuating water levels (Tallis 1973), nutrient inputs from the edges of sites, differential grazing etc. Therefore these sequences may bear little relation to autogenic successional sequences.

#### 2.4 Discussion

#### 2.4.1 LIMITATIONS OF CLASSIFICATIONS AND SAMPLING STRATEGY

The aims of this part of the study were to describe the plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens using a range of multivariate classification procedures, to compare these communities to those described in comprehensive classification schemes of British fen vegetation and to relate the plant communities to broad environmental conditions found in the Scottish Borders fens.

Mire vegetation in Britain and Northern Europe has been broadly categorised into rich-fen, poor fen and bog (Du Rietz 1949, 1954, Sjors 1950). Within these categories several vegetation types have been described and classifications of fen plant communities produced (Wheeler 1980a,b,c).

The plant communities described in this part of the study correspond to these habitat categories. Rich-fen habitats in the Scottish Borders fens contain a variety of closely related vegetation types. Poor-fen and bog vegetation types are defined by a small selection of very characteristic vascular plant species and *Sphagnum* species which are not typically abundant in rich-fen vegetation types. Continua between vegetation types were frequently encountered in the Scottish Borders fens. Stands of vegetation which contain elements from more than one plant community (e.g. *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community) have often been regarded by other workers, and in the National Vegetation Classification, as transitional communities or mosaics so they have been infrequently sampled; however these vegetation types are often very distinctive and persistent and may deserve to be recognised in their own right (Rose 1957, O'Connell 1981).

Some of the problems encountered in the sampling and subsequent classification of the Scottish Borders fens vegetation data were:

• The vegetation at many of the Borders fens has developed as floating rafts of vegetation where the deep rooting, raft-forming species may be receiving a different nutrient supply from the shallow rooting species and bryophyte species growing at the surface. The vegetation in many of these areas is similar sharing the basic suite of pioneer raft species (*Carex rostrata, Carex*) diandra, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile). However subtle differences in the composition of other components of the vegetation, in particular the bryophyte component, may reflect important ecological differences between ostensibly similar vegetation types (Van Wirdum 1991).

- Fen carr is scarce in the Scottish Borders fens. Where present it occurs as a (usually sparse) canopy over various vegetation types with strong compositional parallels to those of open fen. It is difficult to define as a floristically distinct community as it generally has an understorey containing the same species found in the communities without a canopy but the individuals are more scattered and the herb layer and sward is less dense.
- The distinction between plant communities with similar species composition was often blurred, for example between fen meadow and rush pasture where the dominance of either *Molinia caerulea* or *Juncus acutiflorus* became the deciding factor for assigning a sample to a rush pasture or wet grassland community.
- Small scale mosaics of vegetation were also often found, particularly where poor fen was
  developing within rich-fen and in tussocky vegetation where the tussocks may contain species
  very different from those of the runnels in-between. These situations were common in the
  Scottish Borders fens and caused problems when attempting to sample a homogeneous unit of
  vegetation.

The continuity of the Borders fens vegetation data, much of which consisted of samples that were transitional between different plant communities, caused some problems in its classification. In the classification of vegetation types a data set made up of continuous variables (floristic composition) may become divided on the basis of minor discontinuities or by "arbitrary lines bisecting axes of continuous variation" (Moore 1984). It is consequently difficult to produce a satisfactory classification of vegetation data which represents variations on a unifying theme (O'Connell 1981).

TWINSPAN is known to distort data, particularly beyond the first or second levels of division (van Groenewoud, 1992), and where the quadrats represent a continuum of vegetation types rather than clearly distinctive vegetation types. The TWINSPAN classifications of the Scottish Borders fens quadrat data consisted of a few well defined groups (bog, poor-fen and rich-fen characterised by *Carex dioica*, *Carex flacca* and *Carex hostiana*) fragmented from a large group of samples which were not satisfactorily divided by the programme into smaller units. Therefore the TWINSPAN classifications were disregarded.

The binary Ward's analysis produced a classification on the basis of *floristic* units and where this failed to produce a satisfactory classification (in the case of very species poor fen and swamp vegetation) these samples were subjectively ordered by dominance.

The N.V.C. classification was found to be inadequate in describing the variation found within fine-leaved sedge dominated rich-fen vegetation where 4 distinctive communities described in this study (*Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community (3 variants), Mixed sedge rich-fen community, *Carex lepidocarpa* - brown moss community, *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community) were represented by only 2 sub-communities within the N.V.C. M9 *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum* mire community. The communities defined in the N.V.C. appeared to correspond more closely to those derived by the quantitative Ward's analysis. The outcome of this analysis was that in a classification based on quantitative species scores some floristically distinct plant communities were often subsumed into a broader cluster or clusters and the differences in the vegetation which seemed obvious in the field were lost in the classification.

Wheeler's classification of rich-fen vegetation (1980b) described the Acrocladio cuspidatum-Caricetum diandrae community with variants more similar to those derived by the Ward's binary classification. Wheeler's (1980a, b, c) classification was based upon an objective binary analysis of the data (Information Analysis) followed by some subjective re-ordering. The National Vegetation Classification was derived by various techniques which included binary and quantitative analyses (Association and Information analysis, Cluster analysis and Indicator species analysis (TWINSPAN)) (Rodwell 1991, 1994), though it is not known exactly what techniques were used for specific parts of the N.V.C. However it appears that at least some of the N.V.C.'s rich-fen communities were derived with an emphasis on species dominance rather than species composition. Also the numbers of samples representative of the M9 community in the N.V.C. were small (24 samples were used to generate M9b (mean species richness 27, range 12-35) and 16 samples were used to generate M9a (mean species richness 23, range 16-33)). It is therefore unlikely that the range of variation found within this community is fully represented in the N.V.C. in its present form.

#### 2.4.2 PROPOSALS FOR THE NATIONAL VEGETATION CLASSIFICATION

Currently the NVC M9a Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum mire, Campylium stellatum -Scorpidium scorpioides sub-community contains the most 'base poor' and most 'base rich' examples of this vegetation type. The results of this study suggest that this sub-community should be re-defined to include only 'base-rich' examples and those which are transitional to M10 Carex *dioica-Pinguicula vulgaris* community (incorporating the mixed sedge rich-fen community and *Carex lepidocarpa*-brown moss community described in this study).

In addition it is proposed that the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community described from the Scottish Borders fens should be included within the NVC M8 *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum warnstorfii* mire as lowland form of the present community and not within M9 *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum* mire community.

2.4.3 FEATURES OF THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS AND THEIR INFLUENCE ON VEGETATION COMPOSITION

#### 2.4.3.1 Terrestrialization of open water and hydroseral succession

Much of the vegetation of the Scottish Borders fens has developed as quaking vegetation rafts over watery peat or semi-solid peat of varying depths as a result of past excavation of peat and marl deposits. Many plant communities which frequently occur as quaking vegetation rafts share a basic suite of species (*Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile* and *Potentilla palustris*) which are pioneers in raft formation (Van Wirdum 1991). Some of the plant communities described in this part of the study may therefore represent successive stages in the development of a vegetation raft. Plant communities of rafts are often differentiated by their bryophyte flora (which can be very luxuriant) (Segal 1966). As the raft is colonised by additional species, chemical conditions at the vegetation surface may be altered so the vegetation may consist of various components rooted in different layers of the raft and nourished by contrasting water types. The deeper rooting initial raft colonisers, nourished by water beneath the raft, can persist in the vegetation into later successional plant communities (Kulczynski 1949). At Groundistone Moss an area of 'bog' vegetation has developed over a former peat cutting but still has shoots of *Phragmites australis* growing through hummocks of *Sphagnum papillosum*.

The status of sites (cut for peat and / or marl, undisturbed) is investigated in chapter 3 and the processes of raft development are examined in chapter 5 of this study.

#### 2.4.3.2 Fen water chemistry and peat fertility

The Scottish Borders fens are developed in small basins fed by runoff from adjacent land and through discharge of telluric water from the mire margins. The sites are not closed systems; most have inlets and outlets. Where the drainage is effective, usually around the edges of sites, wet grassland and rush pasture vegetation types persist. Species-rich rich-fen vegetation (e.g. *Carex dioica -Carex hostiana* community) thrives on areas of skeletal peat, usually at the mire margins in situations which appear to be affected by seepage of base-rich water. The land surrounding the sites is farmed with varying intensity. Many of the sites are threatened by nutrient enrichment

from the surrounding fields. In some areas nutrient inputs have had a dramatic effect on the vegetation of the fens (e.g. rapid expansion and dominance of *Phragmites australis* at Murder Moss) (R. Payne, pers. comm.).

The water chemistry, peat fertility and impact of surrounding land-use on the vegetation of the Scottish Borders fens is investigated in chapter 4 of this study.

## 2.4.3.3 Site management

Management of fen vegetation can have a dramatic effect on species composition (Wheeler 1983, Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). Most of Scottish Borders fens are fenced and unmanaged although some sites are used as rough grazing for cattle and sheep. Three of the Whitlaw mosses (Beanrig Moss, Blackpool Moss and Murder Moss) are mowed for conservation management. This form of management reduces the dominance of large species which otherwise may shade associates of lower stature. It also prevents the development of scrub. Cattle poaching can create 'hummockhollow' areas around the margins of sites which can increase the microtopographical zonation of the vegetation. In very wet sites cattle grazing may also be partially responsible for the development of a very swampy 'lagg' around a firm central raft (Selkirk Racecourse Moss, Groundistone Moss, Nether Whitlaw Moss).

The impact of management on the species richness of the Scottish Borders fens is analysed in chapter 6 of this study.

# Chapter 3: Stratigraphical Investigations into Past Peat and Marl Extraction and Vegetation Development in the Scottish Borders fens

### **3.1 Introduction**

Peat consists of the partially decomposed remains of plant material. The process of decomposition is retarded due to the decreased activity of aerobic bacteria and soil fauna in waterlogged environments. Plant remains can often be preserved intact in peat for thousands of years and provide a record of the vegetation of the site (macrofossil remains) and of the region (microfossil remains) (Walker 1970).

Peat has been a valuable fuel to humans in lowland Britain before coal became widely available and many fens and bogs have been subject to some degree of peat extraction. In such mires, some or all of the present vegetation has developed in abandoned peat cuttings (White 1930, Lambert *et al.* 1960, Giller & Wheeler 1986, Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). Some sites also contained deposits of marl beneath the peat which was extracted and used as a low grade form of lime to improve agricultural land. There is documentary evidence in the Scottish Borders for both peat and marl extraction at many sites and characteristic drainage structures present at the outflows of sites indicate past peat and / or marl cutting activity (Dodgshon 1978, Robson 1985).

Peat cuttings in fens contain a wide range of vegetation types, many of which are conservationally important (Segal 1966, van Wirdum 1991, Den Held *et al.* 1992, Wheeler 1993) especially where the vegetation has developed as a raft. The Scottish Borders fens support a wide range of raft-forming vegetation types, many of which are regarded as notable plant communities in the U.K. and Europe. Areas of bog vegetation are also present on some sites and these areas are of particular interest as they represent what is often considered to be a characteristic successional "climax" plant community (Walker 1970) where the vegetation surface is isolated from the groundwater and receives nourishment solely from rainwater. Intact peat areas may represent a continuous sequence of mire formation during the current postglacial (Webb & Moore 1982) to the present. However raised bog vegetation also occurs on vegetation rafts, sometimes over peat-cuttings (Walker 1966).

It seems likely that some post-glacial peat has been removed from most of the fens in the central Scottish Borders. The template for post-disturbance site and vegetation development is therefore determined by the history of peat and marl extraction at each particular site, but the occurrence of past peat cutting is sometimes difficult to establish. Peat stratigraphy might be expected to indicate this, but there are some difficulties:

- Stratigraphical discontinuities can be difficult to detect sometimes, especially in situations when the entire site has been uniformly, or completely, stripped;
- Stratigraphical discontinuities can be difficult to interpret (e.g. peat cutting versus sudden flooding);
- It is often not known in advance whether any site has been stripped to some extent, so the characteristics of reference material *versus* disturbed material are often uncertain and cannot be assumed *a priori*.

In the field the interface between peat which has accumulated since the cessation of peat and marl operations (post-disturbance peat) and un -modified post-glacial peat (residual peat) can be detected in a peat core with varying degrees of difficulty. It often occurs as a hiatus or fairly definite junction between peat types as at Beanrig Moss (Webb & Moore 1982) where the pale post-glacial muds and clay meet dark, oxidised monocot peat. The interface can also be distinguished by a junction of very solid peat and more detrital loose peat above it (as in the turf ponds of the Norfolk Broads (Giller & Wheeler 1986) and at Kingside Loch in the Scottish Borders (Tight 1987)).

The Scottish Borders Fens are exceptional in having good documentary evidence for disturbance in at least some sites (Robson 1985). This allows the examination of relationships between recent mire stratigraphy and documented disturbance, possibly the best known opportunity in the U.K. The documents describe in detail the drainage and peat and marl extraction operations at some sites. Sometimes these operations were not entirely successful as at Kingside Loch where the site could not be completely drained, so was re-flooded after some peat removal leaving substantial quantities of residual peat (Robson 1985, Tight 1987). Many of the sites where the drainage was very successful were almost completely stripped leaving little but the clay and rock base (Robson 1985). The comparison of the peat stratigraphy together with documentary and visual evidence for past peat cutting at a number of sites permit a co-ordinated reconstruction of the developmental history of the site.

The aims of this part of the study were to compare the peat stratigraphy of sites in conjunction with other evidence for disturbance with a view to:

- 1. Identifying uncut *versus* cutover sites and the stratigraphical features of cutover and intact peat surfaces;
- 2. Examining the role of peat and marl extraction in the development of the present vegetation.

# 3.2 Methods

## 3.2.1 EVIDENCE OF RECENT SITE HISTORY

Documentary evidence of peat and marl extraction and the past state of sites was investigated using:

- 1st Edition Ordnance Survey maps (c. 1860). These provided crude evidence of the status of sites in the 1860's and the presence or absence of drains;
- Estate records. Some of these are very detailed (for sources see Robson 1985).

The presence of characteristic drainage structures including surface drains, open outflows ('cundys') and stone-built subterranean culverts ('rumbling cundys') (some of which are so deep they have stone lined 'chimneys' as access points for maintenance) was recorded at each site as visual evidence of past disturbance.

## 3.2.2 PEAT STRATIGRAPHY

# 3.2.2.1 Reference cores and Uncut peat

Sites, or parts of sites, with well developed raised bog vegetation and lacking any obvious sign of past disturbance were assumed to be intact (i.e. uncut) peat surfaces and peat cores were extracted from these (table 3.1) to provide a reference for un-modified postglacial site development against cores from cutover sites. Comparison of the reference cores with the cores from cutover sites enabled an accurate location of the interface between post-disturbance and residual peat deposits. It is possible that such profiles show a bias towards sites, or part of sites which have a propensity for raised bog development and may therefore not be typical. Equally, however, it seems likely that many of these basins supported some sort of bog before peat extraction.

Table 3.1. Location of reference cores from uncut peat. Locations of cores are presented in A	ppendix 2
and figure 3.3	

Site (Sample site code)	Suspected	Evidence for suspected	Vegetation type
	status	status	
Brown Moor Heights (BMH2 & (BMH3)	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Blind Moss (BL2)	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Wester Branxholm Loch (WBL1 & WBL2)	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Long Moss (LM1)	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog

## 3.2.2.2 Individual Site Development

## General Survey

The gross peat stratigraphy of all sites was recorded up to a depth of 3m from at least one core at each site included in the general survey. In total 68 sites were included in this study.

## **Detailed Investigations**

A subset of 9 sites (table 3.2) was selected for more detailed stratigraphical investigations, to include a range of site types, quaking and solid vegetation, and to include areas suspected of being cutover and uncut on the basis of visual and documentary evidence. Peat cores were extracted with a Hiller borer along transects across sites. Samples of characteristic post-glacial peat types from uncut areas and from residual peat were analysed for macrofossil remains to provide a basis for stratigraphical comparison (for analytical procedure see section 3.2.2.3). Where sites were drained by a deep drain the height of the lip of the drain above the current fen surface was estimated (by levelling) to provide a crude measure of the original surface height of the site.

Site	Suspected	Evidence for suspected	Vegetation type
	status	status	
Brown Moor Heights	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Blind Moss	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Wester Branxholm Loch	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Long Moss	Uncut	Vegetation	Bog
Long Moss	Cutover	Documented history	Quaking fen
Nether Whitlaw Moss	Cutover	Drainage	Poor fen
Muirfield Moss	Cutover	Drainage	Rich fen
St. Leonards Moss	Cutover	Drainage	Rich fen
Blackpool Moss	Cutover	Documented history	Rich fen and Fen carr
Groundistone Moss	Cutover	Documented history	Poor fen and Bog

Table 3.2	Sites selected	for	detailed	stratigra	nhic	investigation
14010 5.2.	Dites serected	101	ucumed	Juaugia	pine.	mresugauon.

## Specific study: Long Moss

The general survey indicated a wide range of peat stratigraphic sequences at different sites and within sites. Long Moss was selected in the light of the general survey to investigate the stratigraphy of:

- 1. A site which has documentary evidence for peat removal but which was almost certainly not entirely cutover;
- 2. A site which apparently provides a particularly good reference section of uncut peat.

# 3.2.2.3 Macrofossil analysis

Macrofossil analysis involves the extraction of identifiable fragments of plants (shoots, leaves, stems, rhizomes, wood, seeds, scales) from peat samples. Samples of peat were collected from cores in the field, stored at 5°C and used for macrofossil analysis.

#### Analytical procedure

A sample of peat of known volume (50cm<sup>3</sup>) was mixed with warm water for a few hours to disperse the sediments. This mixture was then washed through a fine sieve (0.2mm) until the washings were clear. The remains were then examined under a low power dissecting microscope, and all seeds and identifiable remains were removed, identified and quantified with reference to Wells (1988), Beggren (1969, 1981), Katz *et al.* (1965). Seeds, scales and oospores and other fragments of plant material were identified as accurately as possible and scored semi-quantitatively as follows:

xxxx Abundantxxx Frequently recordedxx Occasionally recordedx Present

Although the composition of the plant communities at any time cannot be *completely* reconstructed, and although seeds are produced in varying quantities by plants and decay at different rates, macrofossil analysis nonetheless provides many useful insights into the general composition of past vegetation.

#### 3.3 Results and discussion

## 3.3.1 REFERENCE CORES FROM UNCUT PEAT SURFACES

Several peat cores from areas believed to represent uncut peat surfaces were examined to establish the un-modified stratigraphic sequences of post-glacial peat deposits. Some cores at Blind Moss and Branxholm Wester Loch contained deep marl deposits whereas Long Moss and Brown Moor Heights did not. Generally a common sequence was recognised with many distinctive peat types.

The stratigraphy of peat cores obtained from areas of bog vegetation on solid peat deposits are summarised in table 3.3.

	Blind Moss	Branxholm	Branxholm	Brown Moor	Long Moss
	BL2	Wester Loch 1	Wester Loch 2	Heights BMH2	LMI
Peat type	Depth below veg	etation surface (c	ms)		
Loose	0-40	0-80	0-125	0-190	0-75
Sphagnum -					
Eriophorum					
peat					
Brown	40-80				
monocot peat					
Golden-brown	80-300	80-630	125-300	190-260	75-410
or red-brown					
hypnoid moss					
peat					
Monocot peat		630-700			
Brown mud			300-335	260-290	410-470
with					
Potamogeton					
fruitstones					
Marl	300-350	700-750	355-450		
	(shell marl)	(khaki marl)	(bands of shell		
			marl and mud)		
Blue-grey clay				290-450	470-

Table 3.3. Peat stratigraphy of areas representing uncut peat surfaces.

Generally a thin layer of *Sphagnum* and *Eriophorum* peat was found overlying fen peat, often very distinctive golden-brown fresh bryophyte peat containing abundant shoots of *Paludella squarrosa* (a species which is now extinct in Britain but which still occurs in basin mires in continental Europe) and other distinctive bryophyte macrofossils (table 3.4). A layer of peat containing prominent monocot remains sometimes with wood fragments was sometimes found between these layers. Red-brown moss peat with abundant *Scorpidium scorpioides* was sometimes found in deeper layers (table 3.4). Beneath the hypnoid moss peat there were usually layers of muds and / or marl often containing *Potamogeton* fruitstones and beneath this blue-grey clay.

Core	depth	Bryophyte species	Vascular species
Branxholm Wester Loch 1	200- 250	<b>Paludella squarrosa,</b> Homalothecium nitens, Calliergon giganteum, Sphagnum sp.	Menyanthes trifoliata, Carex sp., Lychnis flos-cuculi, Calluna vulgaris, Wood
	400- 450	<b>Calliergon giganteum,</b> <b>Scorpidium scorpioides,</b> Paludella squarrosa	Carex sp., Equisetum , Lychnis flos-cuculi
Branxholm Wester Loch 2	225- 250	<b>Paludella squarrosa</b> , Homalothecium nitens, Sphagnum sp.	Menyanthes trifoliata, Carex diandra/paniculata, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Caltha palustris, Juncus sp., Wood
Long Moss	130- 150	<b>Paludella squarrosa</b> , Homalothecium nitens, Calliergon giganteum,	Wood, Betula sp., Carex rostrata, Potentilla erecta,
Blind Moss	200- 250	<b>Scorpidium scorpioides</b> , Paludella squarrosa, Calliergon giganteum	Carex sp., Betula sp., Carex diandra/paniculata, Potamogeton sp.
Brown Moor Heights	200- 250	Sphagnum sp., Calliergon cf. giganteum, Paludella squarrosa, Homalothecium nitens	Carex diandra/paniculata, Equisetum sp., Menyanthes trifoliata, Lychnis flos-cuculi, Potamogeton sp.

Table 3.4. Macrofossils present in samples of hypnoid moss peat from reference cores. (Main peat builders in *bold* type).

# 3.3.2 DESCRIPTION OF PEAT TYPES

Samples of peat types corresponding to those found in the reference cores were also collected from sites believed to contain deposits of residual peat (remaining at the base of the peat cutting) as well as from uncut peat surfaces. These were included in the macrofossil analyses of peat types. The main peat types found in reference peat cores (from uncut peat surfaces) and residual peat (from cutover peat surfaces) are described below.

# 3.3.2.1 Sphagnum - Eriophorum bog peat (table 3.5)

Usually a thin layer of fresh and often rather loose peat directly beneath the vegetation surface. Mainly found on uncut peat surfaces.

	Sample site	and depth b	elow vegetatic	on surface (cms)		
Macrofossils	LM13 30- 50	LM 1 0- 20	LM 1 20- 35	BMH 2 150- 190	BMH 3 150- 200	
Eriophorum remains	xx	xx	xxxx	x	x	
Eriophorum fruits		x		x	x	
Calluna leaves/shoots	x	XXX		x		
Sphagnum sect acutifolia	xx	x	x	XXXX	XXXX	
Sphagnum sect. palustre	XXXX	XXXX	XXX			
Wood fragments	xxx	x	x			
Monocot remains	xxx			x	XX	••••
Erica tetralix leaves		x				
Carex diandra nutlets	x		x			
Carex lasiocarpa nutlets			x			
Lychnis flos-cuculi seeds			x			
Carex nutlets			x		x	
Betula fruits			x		X	
Homalothecium nitens			x			••••
Potamogeton fruitstones	x					
Paludella squarrosa	x					
Juncus seeds	x				X	•••
Calliergon spp.		X		XXX		
Scorpidium scorpioides	XXX					
Equisetum remains				x		
Aulacomnium palustre					x	

Table 3.5. Macrofossils found in samples of *Sphagnum - Eriophorum* bog peat. LM (Long Moss), BMH (Brown Moor Heights). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

## 3.3.2.2 Golden hypnoid moss peat (table 3.6)

Very distinctive golden-brown moss peat usually very fresh with well preserved moss remains dominated by shoots of *Paludella squarrosa* accompanied by often abundant *Homalothecium* nitens, Calliergon giganteum and Sphagnum sect. Acutifolia leaves. Remains of vascular species include Carex diandra nutlets, Carex cf. rostrata nutlets and utricles, Carex sp. nutlets, Menyanthes trifoliata seeds, Lychnis flos-cuculi seeds, Betula fruits, Equisetum fragments, Calluna twigs and wood fragments cf. Betula.

Table 3.6. Macrofossils found in samples of golden hypnoid moss peat.

LM (Long Moss), AL (Ashkirk Loch), WBL (Branxholm Wester Loch), BMH (Brown Moor Heights), SL (St. Leonards Moss). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

	Sampl	e site ar	nd depth	below ve	egetation .	surface (c	rms)		
Macrofossils	LM 1 35- 50	LM 1 130- 150	LM 16 120- 150	AL 8	WBL 1 150- 200	WBL 1 200- 250	WBL 2 225- 250	BMH 2 200- 250	SL 5* 235-
Paludella squarrosa	XXXX	xxxx	xxxx	xx	xxx	XXX	xxx	XX	XXXX
Homalothecium nitens	xxx	xxx	xx		xxx		xxx	XX	x
Calliergon giganteum		xx	xx	<u>.</u>	xx		xx	XXX	
Betula fruits	<u>x</u>	x	x	x					x
Potentilla seeds		x		x					
Carex rostrata fruits	x	xx							
Carex diandra nutlets	x	x	xx				xx	XX	
Wood fragments	x	x	xx	xxx	x	x	x		
Monocot remains	XXX	xx	xxx	xx	xxx	XXXX	xxx		xx
Bryophyte capsules	xx	XX		<u>.</u>		x	x		
Sphagnum sect palustre	xx			<u> </u>					
Calluna roots	xxx			<u>.</u>					
Eriophorum fruits	x						<b>.</b>		
Carex nutlets	x		x		xx				x
Alnus fruits			x		<u> </u>				
Menyanthes trifoliata seeds				x	x		x	x	
Sphagnum sect Acutifolia leaves				XXX	x		XXX	XXX	xx
Lychnis flos-cuculi seeds				x	x	x	x	x	х
Equisetum remains	<b></b>			x				XX	XX
Chara oospores	<b>f</b>			x					
Calluna shoots					x	x			
Juncus seeds	<b>[</b>					x	x		
Caltha palustris seeds	1						x		
Potamogeton fruitstones	[		7					x	

## 3.3.2.3 Red-brown hypnoid moss peat (table 3.7)

Rather loose red-brown moss peat dominated by leaves of *Scorpidium scorpioides*. Often accompanied by *Calliergon giganteum* and *Paludella squarrosa*. Vascular remains include *Menyanthes trifoliata* seeds, *Potamogeton* sp. fruitstones, *Carex* sp. nutlets, *Carex* cf. *diandra* fruits, *Carex lasiocarpa* fruits, *Betula* sp. fruits, *Equisetum* fragments and occasional *Lychnis flos-cuculi* seeds.

Table 3.7. Macrofossils found in samples of red-brown hypnoid moss peat. LM (Long Moss), MU (Murder Moss), WBL (Branxholm Wester Loch), SL (St. Leonard's Moss). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

	Sample s	ites and depth	below vege	tation surface	e (cms)	<u> </u>
Macrofossils	LM 14 25-50	LM 14 150-200	MU 8*	WBL 1 400-450	Blind 150- 200	SL 5* 170-
Scorpidium scorpioides	XXX	xxxx	xxx	XXXX	XXXX	XX
Calliergon?	XXX	XX				
Calliergon giganteum				XXXX		XXXX
Carex diandra	XX	x			X	
Carex lasiocarpa fruits		X				
Carex nutets		x			x	
Menyanthes trifoliata seeds	x				x	
Homalothecium nitens	x					XX
Paludella squarrosa	X			x		XX
Potamogeton fruitstones	x					
Carex rostrata fruits	x					
Betula fruits	x	X	x		x	
wood fragments	x	XX	xxx		х	
Rhizomnium/Cinclidium	x	х				
Monocot remains	1	XX	xxxx	XX	XXX	x
Equisetum remains		XX	XXX	x		
Potentilla palustris	Ţ	х				
Lychnis flos-cuculi seeds	1	х	x	x		x
Chara oospores	1		x			
Alnus fruits	1		xxx			
Juncus seeds			l		x	x

# 3.3.2.4 Sedge peat (table 3.8)

Dark brown, often dry and humified peat containing abundant monocot remains and sedge stem bases sometimes accompanied by plentiful wood fragments.

Table 3.8. Macrofossils found in samples of monocot peat.

LM (Long Moss), BPM (Blackpool Moss). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

	Sample site	and depth below veg	getation surface (ci	ms)
Macrofossils	LM 3 0-50	BPM 6 100-150	BPM 7 50-100	Blind 130-150
Carex diandra/paniculata	XXXX		x	
Sedge remains	XXXX	XXXX	xxx	XXXX
Wood fragments	XXXX	xxx		
Equisetum remains	x	xxx	XXXX	
Betula fruits	x	XX	XXX	
Lychnis flos-cuculi	X	x	X	
Potentilla erecta seeds	XX	x		
Carex rostrata	]	x	x	
Carex nutlets		x	x	XX
Moss stems		x		
Chironomid heads		x		
Calliergon giganteum			xxx	
Scorpidium scorpioides?				XXX
Potamogeton fruitstones			x	
Menyanthes trifoliata seeds			x	
Mentha seeds		x	x	
Potentilla palustris seeds				
Angelica sylvestris			x	
mericarps				
Caltha palustris seeds			X	

## 3.3.2.5 Woody peat (table 3.9)

Humified dark crumbly peat dominated by wood and twigs with sedge rhizomes, *Carex* sp. nutlets, *Betula* fruits, *Potentilla palustris* seeds, *Cirsium palustre* seeds and a few bryophyte stems.

Table 3.9. Macrofossils from samples of woody peat.

LM (Long Moss). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

	Sample site and depth below vegetation surface (cms)					
Macrofossils	LM 5 30-50	LM 15 25-50	LM 14 125-150	LM 3 0-50		
Wood fragments	XXXX	XXX	XXXX	XXXX		
Sedge remains		xxx	xx	XXXX		
Equisetum remains	x	xx	x	x		
Calluna roots/shoots	X	xx				
Carex diandra / paniculata fruits	x	XXX		XXX		
Carex nigra fruits	x					
Carex rostrata fruits	X	xx				
Carex nutlets	xx	X	X	x		
Potentilla erecta seeds	x	x		x		
Cirsium palustre seeds	X					
Betula fruits		xx	xx			
Juncus seeds		x		x		
Potamogeton fruitstones		x				
Lychnis flos-cuculi seeds				x		
Potentilla palustris seeds			X			
Moss	x	x	X	x		

## 3.3.2.6 Black and brown aquatic muds (table 3.10)

Very fine textured smooth muds containing few identifiable macrofossils. Occasional *Potamogeton* fruitstones are found along with *Nymphaea* and *Nuphar* seeds. Chironomid head parts and insect wing cases are found frequently. Shell fragments sometimes occur. These mud layers can sometimes be several metres deep as at Ashkirk Loch, Wester Branxholm Loch, Blackpool Moss and Whitmuirhall Loch.

Table 3.10. Macrofossils found in samples of aquatic mud.

BPM (Blackpool Moss); AL (Ashkirk Loch), MU (Murder Moss), BE (Beanrig Moss). The abundance of macrofossils in each sample is indicated as follows: xxxx - abundant; xxx - frequently recorded; xx - occasionally recorded; x - present.

	Sample	site and	depth bel	ow veget	ation sur	face (cms	)		
Macrofossils	BPM 6 550- 600	AL 6 450	AL 7 <b>*</b> 250- 300	AL 7** 80	AL 7** 325	Green side 3 280	MU 8	Blind 200- 250	BE 130- 140
Sphagnum sect. acutifolia leaves	XX	xx	х	XX	x				XX
Nymphaea alba seeds	x				x		xxx		
Nuphar lutea seeds			x	XX	x				
Chironomid heads	x	x				x			
Insect remains	x	xx				XX			
Moss fragments	x	XX			х	X			
shell fragments	x								
Equisetum remains	x	x		x	x	XXXX	xx		x
Carex spp. nutlets	x			X		х	X	x	x
Chara oospores	X	x			XX		XXX		XXX
Betula fruits	X					х		x	
Monocot remains	}	X				xx	х		x
Calliergon giganteum						XX		XX	
Potamogeton fruitstones			x		х	xxxx	х	X	
Scorpidium scorpioides								XX	
Ranunculus flammula seeds				x					х

#### 3.3.2.7 Pale, marly aquatic muds

Pale brown fine textured muds containing *Potamogeton* fruitstones and some vascular remains and abundant *Chara* oospores.

## 3.3.2.8 Shell marl

Very white sticky deposit containing calcified *Chara* oospores and abundant shells of aquatic crustacean species and sometimes remains of aquatic plant species.

## 3.3.2.9 Blue-grey clay

Very distinctive smooth blue-grey clay found at the base of postglacial peat and marl deposits. Sometimes quite a thick layer, occasionally found between peat layers, sometimes overlies deposits from the Allerød interstadial (Late Devensian) (Webb & Moore 1982).

#### 3.3.3 CHARACTERISTICS AND DEVELOPMENT OF UNCUT SURFACES

The peat stratigraphic sequences commonly found in residual and un-modified peat deposits in the Scottish Borders fens are summarised in figure 3.1. In most sites the peat deposits are underlain by a thick blue-grey clay. Within this layer there are some peaty bands which represent the interstadial periods in the last glaciation (Webb & Moore 1982, Tight 1987). These clays are generally overlain by shell marl and/or fine textured pale brown, mid-brown or dark brown and black aquatic muds with Potamogeton fruitstones, Nuphar lutea seeds, Nymphaea alba seeds and wing cases of insects. This is overlain by hypnoid moss peat or monocot peat, sometimes in alternating layers (as at Blind Moss - this could represent a mosaic of raft vegetation as is seen currently at sites with well developed moss cushions surrounded by sedge-dominated vegetation). In many cases the moss peat is strikingly well preserved and it can be dominated by Calliergon giganteum, Scorpidium scorpioides, or Paludella squarrosa. Vascular plant species include Menyanthes trifoliata, Caltha palustris, Lychnis flos-cuculi and Carex cf. diandra suggesting that these communities were similar to those which presently occur on some of the Scottish Borders fens. The Paludella squarrosa peat is golden-brown in colour and often contains shoots of Homalothecium nitens and Sphagnum species. Wood fragments and sedge rhizomes are common in these deposits and they can become more prominent, changing the character of the peat. In a few cases the moss layer is poorly defined and the overlying peat is dominated by sedges and wood. This peat type also sometimes overlies the moss peat supporting the supposition that in other sites the peat extracted as a fuel source was this upper, solid, woody peat. However, in most extant examples of uncut peat the peat overlying the moss peat is Sphagnum peat though often only a thin layer, up to one metre in depth, and the present peat surface is embryonic raised bog. Similar stratigraphic sequences have been described by Bellamy et al. (1966) from two sites in the Tees basin.

#### 3.3.3.1 Marl formation

Shell marl is formed by the deposition of calcium carbonate encrusted aquatic plants, in particular charophyte species, and faunal species with calcareous skeletons: Ostracods, Gastropods, Bivalves (Wetzel, 1960; Kelts & Hsu, 1978). Calcium ions are mainly derived from





groundwater input and carbonate ions may be derived from direct atmospheric equilibria, respiration and bacterial reduction of organic matter (Kelts & Hsu, 1978). The conditions required for the formation of marl are: sufficient quantities of assimilable organic matter. maximum light conditions (for photosynthesis), and high temperatures (for supersaturation of dissolved carbon dioxide and precipitation of carbonates/calcite). These are most likely to occur in very shallow littoral zones, calm and seldom renewed waters where base cations (calcium and magnesium) are likely to be more abundant due to runoff from surrounding soils, peripheral springs are more likely to discharge and submerged aquatic plants and their associated fauna are likely to thrive. (Some macrophytes become encrusted with calcium carbonate amounting to more than their own weight per growth season, and can lead to sedimentation rates in the order of metres per hundreds of years (Kelts & Hsu 1978).) Chara species almost always contain more calcite than other plants probably because they more efficiently utilise bicarbonate in photosynthesis (Wetzel 1975). The deepest and whitest deposits of marl are therefore most likely to occur within sites which, during the period of marl formation (generally around the early postglacial), were relatively shallow lakes or edges of lakes influenced by strong base-rich springs, or which were surrounded by base-rich soil leaching calcium. Where the springs were less base-rich or the run-off catchment smaller or the water depth greater, the aquatic sediments become progressively darker, with a continuum from grey marl to coarse textured pale muds to brown muds and to fine-textured dark brown and black muds in the deepest regions.

### **3.3.4 BOG DEVELOPMENT**

The reference cores extracted from areas of solid peat (assumed to be representative of unmodified postglacial peat development) show strikingly similar patterns of development (figure 3.2). These sites appear to have developed hydroserally through an aquatic phase where muds, sometimes calcareous, were deposited, through a phase dominated by rich-fen bryophytes (*Scorpidium scorpioides* and *Calliergon giganteum*) with sparse monocots, to a vegetation dominated by *Paludella squarrosa*, *Homalothecium nitens* and *Sphagnum* with sedges and dicots and small trees. After this the vegetation would either become dominated by sedge fen or fen carr, or the vegetation may be invaded by bog species, notably *Sphagnum* species typical of ombrogenous bogs (table 3.11). Where bog vegetation does occur it is generally over the deepest peat deposits at a site, which are usually the areas furthest from the influence of groundwater inputs.



Table 3.11. Un-modified postglacial succession at reference sites.

Succ	essional phase	Deposit
1	Aquatic phase	marl, muds containing Potamogeton, Nuphar, Nymphaea
2	Bryophyte dominated floating raft	Scorpidium scorpioides, Calliergon giganteum
3	Thicker floating raft dominated by Paludella with Sphagnum, sedges, dicots and scrub	Paludella squarrosa, Homalothecium nitens, Sphagnum leaves, Betula twigs, Lychnis flos- cuculi, Carex diandra, Carex rostrata, other sedges
3a	Grounded raft with more dominant monocots and more extensive scrub development	Woody peat, monocot remains, more oxidised
4	Isolation of vegetation surface from groundwater input, development of ombrogenous bog	Sphagnum papillosum, Sphagnum spp., Eriophorum angustifolium, E. vaginatum, Betula, Calluna.

Peat dominated by Paludella squarrosa is frequently found beneath Sphagnum peat at bog sites in the British Isles (table 3.12), especially in northern Britain (Hammond 1968, Dickson 1973, Jones 1977) and in most cases dates to the early part of the Flandrian period. Extensive development of bog in the British Isles occurred in zones VII and VIII of the Flandrian. Zone VIIa coincides with the Boreal-Atlantic transition which occurred 7000-7500 years ago and where Dickson (1973) recognised a marked reduction in rich-fen bryophyte species. In most cases the rich-fen bryophyte peat has been succeeded by bog, sometimes via fen woodland. Sphagnum leaves are often found as a conspicuous component of the Paludella squarrosa peat; however Sphagnum did not become dominant in the peat until zone VIIa in the Flandrian when ombrogenous bogs became widespread. This change was thought to be due to the increased oceanicity of the climate, making conditions more favourable for Sphagnum species but causing the decline of northern continental bryophyte species such as Paludella squarrosa by the reduction of available habitats (Dickson 1973). Paludella squarrosa is now extinct in the UK but its habitat has been described from Fennoscandia where it is common in subalpine zones in fens accompanied by Drepanocladus revolvens, Sphagnum warnstorfii and Homalothecium nitens (Martensson, cited in Dickson 1973). Homalothecium nitens still occurs in fens in the Borders amongst rich-fen vegetation often as cushions on a "grounded" raft of vegetation accompanied by Drepanocladus revolvens, Scorpidium scorpioides, Sphagnum contortum and Sphagnum warnstorfii.

There is only one case where recent hydroseral development of bog in the Scottish Borders fens is certain although plenty of cutover sites show development of poor fen. At Groundistone Moss an embryonic raised bog plant community has developed since the cessation of peat and marl operations in the 1830's (figure 3.2). Sphagnum capillifolium, Sphagnum magellanicum, Sphagnum papillosum and Eriophorum vaginatum all occur in a small area as a quaking raft

Site	Zone	Deposit below	Deposit above	Thickness of	Moss macrofossils
				hypnoid moss peat	
Kirkmichael	LDe	Sand and gravel	Sand and gravel	At interface	Calliergon trifarium, Helodium blandowii, Sphagnum,
					Homalothecium nitens, Meesia trichista, Scorpidium scorpioides
Burtree Lane	IV-V	Detrital mud/marl	Wood peat	~100cm	Paludella squarrosa, Helodium blandowii, Homalothecium
				-	nitens, Sphagnum teres
Midgeholme Moss	IV-V	Carex, Cladium,	Sphagnum / Eriophorum	100cm	Paludella squarrosa, Homalothecium nitens
		Phragmites fen peat	peat		
Malham Tarn	VI-VIIa	Marl	Sphagnum / Eriophorum	50cm	Calliergon giganteum, Paludella squarrosa, Homalothecium
			peat		nitens, Sphagnum subsecundum
Fallhogy	VIIa-VI	Detrital fen peat	Sphagnum / Eriophorum	50cm	Drepanocladus fluitans, Paludella squarrosa, Homalothecium
			peat		nitens
Buckenham Broad	NI-VIII	Wood peat	Clay and fen peat	150cm	Homalothecium nitens, Meesia trichista, Calliergon giganteum,
					Paludella squarrosa, Sphagnum teres
Bradford Kaims	LDe	Late Devensian clay	Detrital mud	At interface	Scorpidium scorpioides, Paludella squarrosa, Calliergon
					giganteum, Cratoneuron commutatum,
	VIIa-VIIb	Detrital mud	Sphagnum and wood peat	50cm	Paludella squarrosa, Calliergon giganteum
Holme Fen	VIIb	Fen peat and wood	Sphagnum peat	<50cm	Calliergon giganteum, Drepanocladus revolvens, Afeesia
					longiseta
Amberly Wild Brooks	VIII	Fen peat and wood	Molinia peat	<50cm	Homalothecium nitens, Meesia trichista
	VIII	Clay	Fen peat and wood	<50cm	Homalothecium nitens, Sphagnum spp.

Table 3.12. Summary of the occurrence of hypnoid moss fen peat in peat cores from British fens. Modified from Dickson, J.H, Bryophytes of the Pleistocene: The British record and its chronological and ecological implications (1973).

over 3.6m of fen water. This is one of the deepest parts of the site and is an example of the very fast development of bog vegetation over a 160 year old base-rich peat cutting.

#### 3.3.5 SPECIFIC STUDY: LONG MOSS

The stratigraphy of the peat at Long Moss was investigated along a transect from the area of solid peat supporting raised bog vegetation into the area of quaking fen vegetation (figure 3.3). The results are presented in figure 3.4.

At Long Moss the deepest part of the basin is at the southern end, beneath an area of *Eriophorum* vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog vegetation. The basin becomes shallower towards the outflow in the north. There is a shelf of peat where the solid peat adjoins a strongly quaking vegetation raft, supporting rich-fen plant communities. This is a striking change which can be clearly seen in the junction of vegetation types and on aerial photographs.

The peat at Long Moss is solid and greater than 5m deep in the central bog area. The Sphagnum - Eriophorum bog peat forms a superficial layer less than 1m deep. Beneath this there is a deep deposit of very fresh golden-brown hypnoid moss peat which is mainly composed of Paludella squarrosa. This is accompanied by Homalothecium nitens and Scorpidium scorpioides. Among the vascular species represented are Carex rostrata and Menyanthes trifoliata. Deeper in this deposit Chara oospores become increasingly frequent. Beneath the hypnoid moss peat there is a layer of pale aquatic mud which contains abundant Potamogeton fruitstones and Chara oospores. The basal deposits are blue grey clays and clayey peats which are believed to be of late-glacial origin (Webb & Moore 1982, Tight 1987). The surface peat becomes more humified and woody nearer to the area of quaking fen. In the quaking fen the raft is developed over upto 1m of watery peat. Beneath this the peat is solid and identical to the golden-brown Paludella squarrosa dominated peat found beneath the bog area.

Long Moss was allocated as a 'common' moss to the parishioners of Wilton (Hawick) as a source of peat for domestic fuel. The most suitable peat for this purpose is that with a high calorific value so woody peat would be particularly suitable. The peats were firstly cut from the most accessible and most easily drained parts of a site (Robson 1985) which at Long Moss would probably have been the shallower north end and maybe around the edges of the north end, leaving the more inaccessible central area intact.

The upper surface of the golden *Paludella squarrosa* peat beneath the vegetation raft appears to represent the base of a peat cutting and the template for post-disturbance vegetation development. Had the peat not been removed the layers of very woody peat encountered at the edge of the peat



Figure 3.3. Sketch map of Long Moss (Wilton Common) showing the locations of peat cores along a transect from the central bog area (solid peat) into the fen (quaking vegetation raft). Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m)





cutting probably would have extended over the peat cutting area. It seems likely that the residual peat was not removed because:

- It was too difficult to remove;
- Drainage was ineffective;
- It was of poor quality and therefore not worth the effort;
- It did not overly shell marl deposits.

The peat stratigraphy at other sites is comparable to that at Long Moss, with some variation in the depth and actual content of the deposits. Deeper uncut sites (e.g. Branxholm Wester Loch) contain a considerable quantity of fine textured brown aquatic muds beneath the hypnoid moss peat and in some areas there are deposits of white shell marl. The example from Long Moss illustrates how stratigraphic sequences from uncut sites can be extrapolated to other sites which are known or believed to have been used for peat and marl extraction to determine the extent of peat and marl removal at sites, the depth of residual deposits which remain. This can then be related to the development of the present vegetation.

# 3.3.6 POST-DISTURBANCE PEAT TYPES

The junction of residual peat and post-disturbance peat is referred to as a hiatus in the peat stratigraphy. After the cessation of peat cutting a number of different peat types developed in the Scottish Borders fens (table 3.13). Generally these peat types are less compact than the residual peat types and are often difficult to sample with a peat borer. In many sites the post-disturbance peat is fluid detrital peat which has been formed in and beneath quaking vegetation rafts. The vegetation rafts contain a network of rhizomes and moss fragments and can be up to 1m thick.

Post-disturbance peat type	Situation
Watery peat	Formed beneath a quaking vegetation raft
Detrital amorphous peat	A thin layer formed beneath a quaking
	vegetation raft or in the rooting zone of the
	present vegetation.
Amorphous peat with inwashed wood fragments	Can occur beneath rafts or where the vegetation
	is rooted into the substratum.
Inwashed silt (can be mixed in with amorphous	Forming the rooting zone of the present
peat)	vegetation or beneath a raft
Sedge - Equisetum peat	Loose peat formed in swampy areas
Oxidised / humified monocot peat	Formed in areas where the drainage has
	remained effective. Usually < 50cms thick and
	the rooting zone of the present vegetation.

Table 3.13. Post-disturbance peat types found in the Scottish Borders fens.
#### **3.3.7 INDIVIDUAL SITE DEVELOPMENT**

A summary of the past and present conditions at all sites included in the survey is presented in table 3.14.

Thirty-one out of 68 sites have some documentary evidence of past disturbance. Of these 31 have visual evidence of extensive drainage, 21 show a distinct hiatus in the peat stratigraphy and 15 have quaking vegetation rafts (table 3.15). Rather surprisingly two sites which present apparently uncut peat also have documentary evidence of some peat removal. This suggests that not all sites where peat removal took place were stripped uniformly. The occurrence of vegetation rafts cannot be relied upon as an indicator of past peat cutting as only 50% of sites with documentary evidence of peat removal actually support vegetation rafts. A marked hiatus in the peat stratigraphy is a more reliable indicator of past disturbance as is the presence of deep drains and culverts.

Documentary evidence	31					
Uncut peat	2	5		_		
Visual evidence	21	0	41			
Hiatus	17	0	31	41		_
Recently modified	4	0	4	2	9	
Vegetation raft	15	5	18	19	1	33
	Documentary evidence	sites with intact peat	Visual evidence	Hiatus in peat stratigraphy	Recently modified	Vegetation raft

Table 3.15. Numbers of sites with features related to past disturbance.

A summary of the peat stratigraphic sequences from the Scottish Borders fens is presented in table 3.16. The deposits at many sites are uneven in depth and contain several of these sequences indicating the differential removal of peat from different areas within sites and possibly the occurrence of different peat types prior to disturbance.

Some cutover sites do not have a distinct hiatus in the peat stratigraphy because:

- They have been recently modified in pond creation schemes (Borthwickshiels Loch, Cavers Long Moss, Hare Moss, Huntley Moss, Newhouse Moss, Tocher Lodge Moss, Lionfield Moss, Synton Loch);
- 2. They are largely open water (Pickmaw Moss, Selkirk Pot Loch);
- 3. They have a clay base overlain by a thin layer of recent peat with rooted vegetation (Curdyhaugh Moss, Little Moss, Threephead Moss);

Table 3.14. Evidence for past peat and marl extraction at Scottish Borders fen sites.

\* In the substratum category *quaking* refers to areas with 'grounded' vegetation rafts where the peat beneath the raft is soft but not watery, *floating* refers to areas where the vegetation raft is floating over deposits which are watery and which cannot be sampled by a Hiller peat borer, *solid* refers to areas where the peat immediately beneath the surface is solid.

	PAST CONDITION		PRESENT CONDITION			
Site Name	Documented History	1st Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum*	Marl
Adderstonelee Moss		Rough land with drains	Central fen carr area with <i>Betula</i> and <i>Salix</i> scrub. Flushes along western edge and wet sedge swamp to the south. Deep open peripheral drain and outflow to the north	Drain	Quaking and solid areas	
Ashkirk Loch		Open water surrounded by marsh with a nearby track and subterranean culvert	Small Loch surrounded by quaking rich-fen vegetation and more extensive fen to the west. Flushes along the north western boundary. Drained by a stone lined subterranean culvert	Culvert	Quaking and solid areas	>
Beanrig Moss		Rough land with an outflow drain	Fen carr, rich fen flushes, grounded raft with base tolerant Sphagnum species.	Drain	Quaking and solid areas	
Bees Wood Moss		Marsh	'grounded' raft of small sedge fen	Stream	Quaking	
Berry Moss		Open water surrounded by marsh with a drain	Fen carr and species poor sedge fen. Open drain to the west	Drain	Solid	
Bitchlaw Moss		Rough land with a drain	Open water with floating raft of <i>Carex rostrata</i> fen to the north. Open outflow drain to the south	Drain	Floating raft and open water	
Blackcraig Moss		Rough land with a drain	Degraded sedge fen and rush pasture. Surface drains	Stream	Solid	
Blackpool moss	Drained in 1780s;peat and marl removed. Fewers of Midlem had rights to cut peat from the south edge.	Marsh with open drains at the west end and a subterranean culvert at the eastern end	Extensive fen carr, species poor Phragmites reed bed and sedge fen, wet grassland. Subterranean culvert.	Culvert	Quaking and solid areas	>
Blind Moss	Marked as the "Far Moss" on a plan of Burnfoot Farm from the early 1800's	marsh at the north-eastern end	Pool at north eastern end with floating islands of rich fen and poor fen vegetation. Abrupt junction with areas of solid peat supporting shallow raised bog vegetation. Quaking 'grounded' rafts of rich fen vegetation	Drain	Quaking and solid areas	
Boghall Moss		Marsh with a drain and a nearby track	Tall herb fen and species poor sedge fen. One upwelling spring at western edge. Large subterranean drain.	Culvert	Solid	>

	-				
AST CONDITION		PRESENT CONDITION			
Documented History	1st Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum *	Marl
	Rough land	Partly excavated to form a pond. Areas of quaking rich-fen		Quaking and	
		surrounded by species poor swamp		solid areas	
ormerly known as the Roberton	Marsh	Modified to create fishing Loch. Blocked stone-lined	Culvert	Solid	>
SSOL		sublerranean cuivert with stone lined access chimneys			
	Open water surrounded by	Loch surrounded by quaking rich fen with extensive fen	Drain	Quaking and	>
	marsh with rough land to	development to south west surrounding an area of raised bog		solid areas	
	thesouth-west	vegetation. Upwelling springs and flushes.		and open	_
				water	
	Marsh with a small drain	Shallow raised bog vegetation surrounded by quaking poor	Drain	Quaking	
		fen and peripheral spring fed areas with base-tolerant		1	-
		Sphagnum species			
	Open water	Open water at north and south ends with a mosaic of pools	Drain	Floating raft	
		and poor fen floating rafts with some birch scrub in between.		and open	
		Dammed at northern end		water	
	Open water	Open water with fringing species poor swamp	Stream	Solid and	
				open water	
	Rough land with a drain	Wet grassland and species poor fen/rush pasture. Peripheral	Drain	Solid	
		open drain			-
The shepherd at Clarilawmuir cut	Marsh with a drain	Wet grassland and small sedge fen with reeds.	Drain	Solid	
eats at this site.					
art of Selkirk Common. (marked	Peripheral drain	Species poor sedge fen and scrub. Peripheral deep open drain	Drain	Solid	
s open water on a 1840s map)		•			
	Marsh with a subterranean	Central poor fen surrounded by quaking rich fen. Flushes at	Culvert	Quaking and	
	culvert with a nearby track	eastern end. Blocked sluice at western end		solid areas	
	No symbols	Species poor sedge fen, rush pasture	Stream	Solid	
	Open water with a nearby	Floating poor fen vegetation surrounded by floating raft of	Drain	Floating raft	
	track	nutrient enriched rich-fen vegetation.		and open	
				water	
	ocumented History ormerly known as the Roberton Aoss hoss field at Clarilawmuir cut eats at this site. art of Selkirk Common. (marked s open water on a 1840s map)	Documented History Ist Edition OS (1860's)   Rough land Rough land   formerly known as the Roberton Marsh   formerly known as the Roberton Marsh   formerly known as the Roberton Marsh   formerly known as the Roberton Open water surrounded by   formerly known as the Roberton Open water surrounded by   formerly known as the Roberton Open water surrounded by   formarian Marsh with a small drain   formarian Open water   formarian Open water   formarian Open water   formarian Open water   for shepherd at Clarilawmuir cut Marsh with a drain   for solen water on a 1840s map) Marsh with a subterranean   for sopen water on a 1840s map) Marsh with a subterranean   for sopen water on a 1840s map) Marsh with a subterranean   for sopen water on a 1840s map) Marsh with a nearby track   for some water with a nearby track No symbols	occumented filtstory   Ist Edition OS (1860's)   Description 1990's     Rough land   Partly excavated to form a pond. Areas of quaking rich-fen surrounded by species poor swamp     ormerty known as the Roberton   Marsh   Modified to create fishing Loch. Blocked stone-lined     forse   Den water surrounded by quaking rich fen with extensive fen marsh with rough land to development to south west surrounded by quaking point thesouth-west   Den water surrounded by quaking point and peripheral spring fed areas with base-tolerant <i>Springsium</i> species     Open water   Den water   Day and peripheral and peripheral spring fed areas with area of raised bog vegetation. Upwelling springs and flushes.     Open water   Open water   Open water at north and south ends with a mosaic of pools and peripheral spring fed areas with base-tolerant <i>Springsium</i> species     Den water   Open water   Open water at north and south ends with a mosaic of pools and poor fer and peripheral deep open drain     In e Shepherd at Clarilawmur cut   Mer with a drain   Wet grassland and species poor swamp     In e Shepherd at Clarilawmur cut   Mer with a drain   Wet grassland and small sedge fen with reeds.     In e Shepherd at Clarilawmur cut   Selix Common. (marked Period and Selix Common. (marked Period and small sedge fen with reeds.     In e Shepherd at Clarilawmur cut   Mer anin   Wet grassland and small sedge fe	occumented History   Ist Edition OS (1860 s)   Description 1990 s   Conflow   Outflow     nearty known as the Roberton   Marsh   Rough land   Partly excavated to form a pond. Areas of quaking rich-fen   Outfor     normerty known as the Roberton   Marsh   Modified to create fishing Loch. Blocked stone-lined   Datin     forus   Der water surrounded by ucking Loch. Blocked stone-lined   Datin   Datin     forus   Der water surrounded by ucking a area of raised bog   Datin     forus   Marsh with a small drain   Shallow raised bog vesetation surrounded by quaking poor   Drain     forus   Marsh with a small drain   Shallow raised bog vesetation surrounded by quaking poor   Drain     forus   Open water   Shallow raised bog vesetation surrounded by quaking poor   Drain     forus   Doen water   Open water and peripheral spring fed areas with base-olerant   Spring     for and peripheral spring fed areas with base-olerant   Open water   Open water and peripheral spring fed areas with base-olerant   Drain     for and peripheral spring fed areas with base-olerant   Open water with finging species poor scale bog vestation surrounded by quaking poor   Drain     for and peri	Occumented History   Ist Eatition OS (1860 ty)   Description 1990 S.   Outploty scanador   Outploty scanador     Rough land   Ratity excavator   Outplot   Outplot   Substratum*     ormerly known as the Roberton   Marsh   Bubletranean culvert with some lined acress channeys   Outplot   Substratum*     forss   Open water surrounded by guaking rich for with excursive fan   Outhors   Solid acress     fors   Open water surrounded by quaking an area of traised bog   Paring and acres   Solid areas     fors   Open water   Stabilow raised bog vegetation surrounded by quaking and area of traised bog   Outhors     for and areas   Open water   Open water   Den water   Den water     for and areas   Open water   Open water   Den water   Den water     for and peripheral spring fad areas with base-tolerant   Outhors   Drain   Outsing and open water     Open water   Open water   Open water   Open water   Den water     Open water   Open water   Open water   Den water   Den water     Open water   Open water   Open water   Den wat

	DACT CONDITION	***************************************				
	LAST CUNULIUN		PRESENT CONDITION			
Nite Name	Documented History	1st Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum*	Marl
Groundistone Moss	Important commercial marl pit	Marsh with a drain	Floating poor fen vegetation with embryonic raised hog	Culvert	Floating raft	
	run by the Buccleuch Estate.		vegetation and <i>Betula</i> scrub. Surrounded by species noor		0	
	Large quantities of marl were		reedbeds and pools of open water. Blocked outflow			
	removed over a 20 year period					
Iloining Moon	<u> </u>					
Halfilling MOSS		Kough land with scrub and	Fen carr. Pool fringed with Typha	Drain	Solid and	
		a nearoy track			open water	
Hall Moss	One of the four Synton marl	No symbols, a nearby track	Species-rich small sedge fen. Stone-lined subterranean culvert	Culvert	Quaking and	>
	mosses		with stone-lined access chimneys		solid areas	
Harden Moss	Formerly named Todshaw Moss. Part of Wilton Common and	Rough land with a drain and a nearby track	Species poor sedge fen. Surface drains	Drain	Solid	
	declared a common Moss at the	,				
	division of Wilton Common in					
	1764 with allocated spreading					
11	ground.					
		Open water and marsh with	Modified to create a pond. Fringing Phragmites and	dammed	Solid and	
		a drain and a nearby track	Equisetum/Carex rostrata swamp		open water	
Hartwoodburn		No symbols, a nearby track	Duck pond with fringing Phalaris/Sonchus tall herb fen	Shallow	Solid and	
				Drains	open water	-
Hignenesters Moss		Rough land with a nearby track	Species poor sedge fen, open outflow	Drain	Solid	
Hummelknowes		Marsh and rough land with	Species-rich small sedge fen, species poor sedge fen,	Drain	Ouaking and	
Moss		a drain and a nearby track	Phragmites reedbed, upwelling springs, rush pasture and wet		solid areas	
			grassland. Central drain leading to deep open outflow drain			
Huntley Moss	A marl pit.	No symbols	Modified. Species poor swamp vegetation. No peat. Concrete sluice to control drainage	Culvert	Solid	
Hutlerburn Loch		Open Water surrounded by	Open water at eastern end surrounded by quaking poor fen	Drain	Ouaking and	
		marsh with rough land to	Peripheral flushes surrounding shallow raised bog vegetation.		solid areas	
		the west	Shallow surface drain along northern edge		and open	
					water	

	DACT CONNTTON					
	FAST CUNULIUN		PRESENT CONDITION			
Site Name	Documented History	1st Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum*	Marl
Kippilaw Moss		Open water with a nearby	Central pools surrounded by nutrient enriched quaking rich	Culvert	Floating raft	>
		track	en vegetation. Partly blocked stone lined subterranean		and quaking	
			oulvert		areas	
Ladywoodedge	Part of Selkirk Common	Marsh and rough land with	Tall herb fen and small sedge rich fen. Open drain along	Drain	Solid	>
Moss		a nearby track	north western edge			
Lilliesleaf Moss		Marsh and scrub	Species poor tall herb fen and Phragmites reedbed with dense	Drain	Solid	
			Salix scrub			
Lionfield Moss		Rough land with a drain	Dpen water	Drain	Solid	
Little Moss		Marsh	Dense Phragmites and Typha reedbed surrounded by Salix scrub		Solid	
Long Moss	Part of Wilton Common and	Rough land with a drain	Pool with strongly quaking raft of sedge rich-fen vegetation	Drain	Ouaking and	
	declared a common moss at the		with some development of poor fen. Abrupt junction with		solid areas	
	division of Wilton Common in		solid peat supporting shallow raised bog vegetation		and floating	
	1764 with allocated spreading		surrounded by small sedge rich fen. Open outflow drain		rafts	
	Bround	•				
Mabonlaw Moss	Part of Wilton Common	Central drain, no symbols	Mosaic of bog/wet heath hummocks and rich fen runnels at	Culvert	Solid	
			northern end with sedge fen at the south end. Central drain			
			leading to a partly blocked stone-lined subterranean culvert			
Muirfield Moss		Curving central drain and a	Quaking rich fen, rich-fen flushes, wet grassland and rush	Culvert	Ouaking and	<
		nearby track	pasture with a curving central drain leading to a stone-lined		solid areas	
			subterranean conduit at the eastern end			
Murder Moss	Fewers of Midlem had rights to	Marsh with a drain and	Peripheral rich fen flushes, Small sedge rich fen, sedge	Culvert	Ouaking and	>
	cut peats from the edge. Drain	subterranean culvert	swamp and fen carr. Upwelling springs. Stone lined		solid areas	
	constructed and deposits removed		subterranean outflow drain.		and floating	
	along the south side but large				rafis	
	areas too wet to remove large					
N1241 1171 :41						
Nether Whitlaw Moss	Known as the Easter Long Moss	Marsh with a nearby track	Quaking raft of peripheral sedge fen and central poor fen. Blocked outflow	Drain	Floating raft	-

	***************************************					
	PAST CONDITION		PRESENT CONDITION			
Site Name	Documented History	Ist Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum *	Marl
Newhouse Moss		Open water, rough land	Modified under pond creation scheme. Open water and tall	Culvert	Solid and	
		and a drain	herb fen		open water	
Pickmaw Moss		Open water with a drain to	Open water with fringing species-poor sedge swamp	Drain	Quaking and	
		Murder Moss			solid areas	
					and open	
					water	
Riddellshiel Loch		Open water with a drain	Open water surrounded by species poor sedge swamp	Culvert	Solid and	
					open water	
Rotten Moss	Part of Wilton Common	Marsh	Sedge fen and fen carr. Peripheral upwelling spring. Central	Drain	Solid	
			uralli icauing to open outflow			
Seacroft Moss		Open water with a drain	Species poor sedge swamp, species-rich small sedge fen rush	Drain	Quaking and	
		and a nearby track	pasture and flushed grassland. Open drain at edge		solid areas	
Selkirk Hill Moss		Drain, no symbols	Species poor sedge swamp, drain recently dammed in pond creation scheme	Drain	Solid	
Selkirk Pot Loch	Selkirk Common and Greenhead	Marsh surrounding open	Open water surrounded by species-poor <i>Phragmites</i> and sedge	Shallow	Solid and	
	Estate marl moss	water with a nearby track	swamp	drain	onen water	
Selkirk Racecourse	Part of Selkirk Common	March with a drain	Derinheral rich fan fluchee mool mith andrine onder ne ond	-		
Moss			a varprission for the firm and for care Dartly blocked	Drain	Quaking and	>
	-		outflow		and floating	
Shielswood Loch		Open water with fringing	Open water with fringing <i>Phragmites</i> reedbed and Carex	Drain	Ouaking and	
		marsh	diandra rich-fen to the south		solid areas	
					and a	
					floating raft	
St Leonards Moss		Small area of open water,	Sedge swamp, sedge fen, small sedge rich-fen and peripheral	Culvert	Quaking and	
		central drain and	rich-fen flushes with a central drain leading to a stone-lined		solid areas	
		subterranean culvert	subterranean conduit which had been partly blocked with a			
			concrete sluice			
Stoneyford Moss	One of the four Synton marl Mosses	Drains, no symbols	Species poor sedge swamp, Flushed wet grassland. Surface drains	Drain	Solid	>
Stouslie Pool		Onen uister	Cmall cadra fan and Course activitient at activitient			
			Siliali scuge Icii allu Curex puniculata Swamp	Drain	Quaking	

table 3.14 cont.						
	PAST CONDITION		PRESENT CONDITION			
Site Name	Documented History	Ist Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum*	Marl
Synton Courses	One of the four Synton marl	Open water with a	Open water with fringing quaking species poor sedge swamp.	Culvert	Quaking and	>
Loch	mosses	subterranean culvert	Blocked stone-lined subterranean conduit outflow to the south		open water	
Synton Loch	Formerly part of Stoneyford Moss	Drain, no symbols	Dammed to create Loch for fishing	Culvert	Solid and	>
					open water	
Tandlaw Moss		Open water, scrub, drain	Open water with scrub and species poor <i>Phalaris</i> and <i>Phraomites</i> reed hed to the east	Drain	Solid and	
Tathyhole Moss	One of the four Synton marl	Marsh with a drain	Species poor rush pasture and swamp. Central drain leading	Drain	Solid	
	mosses		to deep open outflow			
Threephead Moss	Part of Wilton Common and	Rough land	Hummocks of Bog/wet heath vegetation forming a mosaic	Drain	Solid	
	declared a common moss at the		with rich-fen runnels at the east. Species rich small sedge			
	division of Wilton Common in		rich-fen to the west. Surface drains and an open outflow drain			
	1764 with allocated spreading ground					
Tocher Lodge Moss		No symbols	Dammed and flooded. peripheral spring and flushes	Culvert	Solid and	
					open water	
Todshawhill Moss	A commercially run peat pit.	Rough land	Tall herb fen and species poor swamp. Shallow pool. Surface drains	Drain	Solid	
Whitehaughmoor	Part of Wilton Common	Open water	'Grounded' raft of rich-fen vegetation with cushions of base-	Shallow	Quaking	
Moss East basin			tolerant Sphagnum species and nationally scarce rich-fen	drain	, ,	
			bryophytes			
Whitehaughmoor	Part of Wilton Common	Open water	'Grounded' raft of small sedge, bryophyte rich rich-fen	water	Quaking	
Moss Middle basin			vegetation	supply to farm		
Whitehaughmoor	Part of Wilton Common	Open water	'Grounded' raft of vegetation, species-rich fen vegetation to	Drain	Quaking	
Moss West basin			the north and wetter sedge fen to the south. Open outflow			
			drain to the south			
Whitmuir Moss		Marsh and scrub	Fen carr	Drain	Solid	

	PAST CONDITION		PRESENT CONDITION			
Site Name	Documented History	1st Edition OS (1860's)	Description 1990's	Outflow	Substratum * A	for
Whitmuirhall Loch	An important commercial marl	Marsh, open water at the	Loch to the east surrounded by 'grounded' rafts of nutrient	Culvert	Ouaking and V	
	pit. The western end was part of	eastern end, drain and a	enriched species poor sedge swamp and Phragmites reedbed.		solid areas	
	Selkirk Common	nearby track	Deep blocked stone lined outflow		and open	
					water	
woolaw Loch	Part of Wilton Common	Open water	Quaking raft. Mosaic of small sedge rich-fen and bryophyte-	Drain	Floating raft	
			rich poor-fen. Also small areas with base-tolerant Sphagnum			
			species. Partly blocked open outflow to the north		•••••	_
Voolaw Moss	Part of Wilton Common. An	Rough land with drains	Rush pasture and wet grassland. Surface drains and stone-	Culvert	Solid V	
	important source of peat for		lined subterranean conduit. The western end has been			
	commoners which was		excavated to form a pond			
	"exhausted" in places by the					
	division of Wilton Common in					
	1764				••••	
		***************************************				

cont.
4
-
$\mathbf{c}$
<u>e</u>
p.
ta

			- 1
Substratum beneath hiatus	Above hiatus	sites	
clay (blue-grey)	Fluid, watery	Bees Wood Moss	T
	peat,	Groundistone Moss	
	unsampled by	Bitchlaw Moss	
	a Hiller borer	Buckstruther Moss	
		Greenside Moss	_
		Selkirk Pot Loch	
		Synton Courses Loch	_
		Tathyhole Moss	
		Threephead Moss	
		Whitehaughmoor Moss West basin	
		Whitehaughmoor Moss Middle basin	_
		Woolaw Loch	
	Rooting zone	Huntley Moss	
	of present	Curdyhaugh Moss	
	vegetation	Hartwoodburn Moss	
		Little Moss	
clay (blue-grey) → marl	Sedge peat	Blackpool Moss	
	W oody peat	Berry Moss	_
	Detrital peat	Groundistone Moss	_
		Murder Moss	_
		Selkirk Racecourse Moss	_
		Shielswood Loch	_
		Stoneyford Moss	-
		Stouslie Pool	
		Tandlaw Moss	
	Rooting zone	Whitehaughmoor Moss East basin	
	of present	Whitmuirhall Loch	
	vegetation	Riddelshiel Moss	
		Boghall Moss	
		Muirfield Moss	

Table 3.16. Peat stratigraphic sequences found in the Scottish Borders fens. The hiatus is a marked discontinuity in the peat. Where the peat is solid the hiatus often occurs near the vegetation surface in the rooting zone of the present vegetation as noted at Rearrie Mose by Webb and Mose (1982).

table 3.16 cont.		
Substratum beneath hiatus	Above hiatus	sites
clay (blue-grey) $\rightarrow$ brown muds with <i>Potamogeton</i> fruitstones $\rightarrow$ hypnoid moss peat ( <i>Paludella squarrosa</i> )	Sedge and	Adderstonelee Moss
sometimes with wood fragments	Equisetum	Long Moss
	peat	Blind Moss
	(occasionally	Fluther Moss
	containing	Harden Moss
	wood	Mabonlaw Moss
	fragments)	Muirfield Moss
		St Leonard's Moss
clay (blue-grey) $\rightarrow$ pale muds with <i>Potamogeton</i> fruitstones and shell fragments $\rightarrow$ sedge / hypnoid moss peat	Sedge and	Ashkirk Loch
	Equisetum	
	peat	
clay (blue-grey) $\rightarrow$ marl $\rightarrow$ brown muds with <i>Potamogeton</i> fruitstones $\rightarrow$ hypnoid moss peat ( <i>Paludella squarrosa</i>	No hiatus	Blind Moss
or Scorpidium scorpioides dominant) $\rightarrow$ monocot peat (with wood fragments)	(Blind Moss	Branxholm Wester Loch
	and	
	Branxholm	
	Wester Loch)	
	Rooting zone	Long Moss
	of present	Hummelknowes Moss
	vegetation	
clay (bluc-grey) $\rightarrow$ pale muds with <i>Potamogeton</i> fruitstones and <i>Equisetum</i> $\rightarrow$ hypnoid moss peat ( <i>Paludella</i>	No hiatus	Long Moss
squarrosa often dominant) occasionally with sedge and wood fragments $\rightarrow$ Sphagnum moss peat		Brown Moor Heights
		Hutlerburn Loch
clay (blue-grey) $\rightarrow$ marl $\rightarrow$ brown muds with <i>Potamogeton</i> fruitstones $\rightarrow$ hypnoid moss peat ( <i>Paludella squarrosa</i>	No hiatus	Blind Moss
often dominant) $\rightarrow$ Sphagnum moss peat		Branxholm Wester Loch

4. They have a clay base overlain by watery detrital peat and a raft of vegetation (Bitchlaw Moss, Buckstruther Moss, Selkirk Racecourse Moss, Groundistone Moss, Synton Courses Loch, Woolaw Loch, Whitehaughmoor Mosses).

It is possible that these sites were easily drained or contained evenly distributed peat types and that all the deposits overlying the basal clays were removed, stripping the entire site. This practice has been reported from valley fen sites in Norfolk (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). The stripping of all deposits would be more likely to have occurred in sites with substantial marl deposits as these were typically found between the peat and the basal clay although they did not always occur over the entire site and often occurred in varying thicknesses (Robson 1985, Tight 1987).

Some sites also lack a hiatus in the peat stratigraphy because they are apparently uncut. These include Branxholm Wester Loch, Brown Moor Heights, Hutlerburn Loch, part of Long Moss and part of Blind Moss.

#### 3.3.8 STATUS OF INDIVIDUAL SITES

Most fen sites in the Scottish Borders show some evidence for the removal of peat and /or marl deposits and few areas of uncut peat remain. The status of each site, whether it has been cut-over, partly cut-over or uncut, based on the evidence presented is summarised in table 3.17.

The status of a site is sometimes not clear cut and often several pieces of evidence are required to reconstruct the history of a site, its status and the relationship between the present vegetation and the site history. For example, Long Moss and Blind Moss both contain areas of shallow raised bog vegetation developed over apparently uncut peat. However both these sites have documentary evidence for past peat cutting, Blind Moss was the "far moss" used by Burnfoot Farm and Long Moss was allocated as a common moss to the parishioners of Wilton, Hawick at the division of Wilton Common in 1764. Peat stratigraphy at both sites indicates that peat was removed from part of the site (near the outflow drain) leaving a substantial portion uncut (figure 3.5 a,b). Certain sites have been modified recently, mainly by pond and lake creation schemes and in these cases the impact of the past disturbance can only be assessed partially as the more recent disturbance has removed much of the stratigraphic evidence. Many sites with a well documented history of peat and/or marl extraction contain no residual deposits (Groundistone Moss, Huntley Moss, Stoneyford Moss, Synton Courses Moss, Hall Moss) probably because the peat and marl was entirely stripped from the site (figure 3.5 c). At Groundistone Moss there is, nowadays, a small but distinct area of raised bog vegetation. Although this is indicative of uncut peat surfaces, in this case no residual peat remains beneath the surface. Along with strikingly detailed documentary evidence this indicates that the post-glacial deposits were entirely stripped; hence the regeneration of bog must have occurred since the cessation of peat and marl operations at the

	Peat	marl	Summary description	Hiatus in	Visual	Documentary
	extra	iction		peat	evidence for	evidence for
Site Name	Peat	A farl		sirangrapity	aisturbance	disturbance
Adderstonelee Moss	>		Uneven peat removal; substantial depth of residual peat.			
Ashkirk Loch	>		Even removal of peat, deep deposits (>4.5m) of aquatic muds; 'grounded' vegetation raft.	>	>	
Beanrig Moss	>		Even removal of peat, little residual peat, grounded vegetation raft, flushes and fen meadow.	>	>	>
Bees Wood Moss	ė		Grounded vegetation raft, no peat deposits.			
Berry Moss	>		Even removal of peat and possibly some marl, little residual peat.	~	>	
Bitchlaw Moss	2		Floating vegetation raft and open water, no peat deposits.			
Blackcraig Moss	>		Vegetation rooted into solid peat, some residual peat.	~	>	
Blackpool moss	>	>	Uneven peat and marl removal. Marl and peat near the edges and at the western	>	>	>
			end has been stripped. Deep deposits of aquatic muds (>7m) in the central area. This is likely to be the "poor quality" peat described in a survey undertaken in the $1870$ 's (Robson 1985).			
Blind Moss	рап		Some peat removed at the northern end where a floating vegetation raft abruptly	>		<u>`</u>
	cut- over		adjoins deep solid peat supporting shallow raised bog vegetation.			
Boghall Moss	>		Little residual peat and marl. Species poor tall herb fen and sedge fen rooted into the solid peat.	>	>	
Boosmill Hill Moss	>		Floating raft over substantial deposits of residual hypnoid moss peat.	>	>	
Borthwickshiels Loch	>		Recently modified to create a lake, no peat deposits but documentary and visual evidence for removal of peat.		>	>
Branxholm Wester Loch	Uncut		Well developed shallow raised bog vegetation over deep (>7m) deposits of solid peat and marl.			
Brown Moor Heights	Uncut		Well developed shallow raised bog vegetation over deposits of soft but solid peat.			
Buckstruther Moss	6		No peat deposits. Open water and floating poor-fen vegetation.			
Cavers Long Moss	6		Recently modified site, no peat deposits.			
Clerklands moss	>		Some residual peat and marl beneath recent detrital peat. Species-poor fen rooted into solid peat.	>	>	

Table 3.17. Status of individual Scottish Borders fen sites based on evidence for past peat and marl extraction.

	Summary description		
	Peatmarl	extraction	- `
table 3.17 cont.			

	reavn	nari	numary description	Hiatus m	Visual	Documentary
	extrac	tion		peat	evidence for	evidence for
				stratigraphy	disturbance	disturbance
Curdyhaugh Moss	>		No residual peat, completely stripped. but recorded as the main source of peat for the shepherd at Clarilaw farm. Fen meadow vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.			>
Dry Loch	>		Some residual deposits of peat and marl. Fen meadow and species-poor sedge fen rooted into solid substratum.	>	>	
Dunhog Moss	>		Residual deposits of brown aquatic muds. 'Grounded' vegetation raft with scrub development and flush vegetation.	>	>	
Fluther Moss	>		Residual deposits of hypnoid moss peat. Species poor fen vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.	>		
Greenside Moss	>		Floating vegetation raft. Deep (>3m) residual deposits of brown aquatic muds.	>		
Groundistone Moss	>	>	No residual peat, site entirely stripped of peat and marl deposits. Floating raft of poor-fen vegetation with local development of bog vegetation.	>	>	>
Haining Moss	>		Residual woody peat overlain by sedge peat.	>		
Hall Moss	>	>	No residual peat, site entirely stripped of peat and marl. Grounded raft of rich-fen vegetation	>	>	>
Harden Moss	>		Uneven removal of peat, baulk in the centre with residual deposits of hypnoid moss peat, little residual peat around the edges. Species-poor sedge swamp	>	>	1
Hare Moss	ۍ د		Recently modified to create a lake. No peat or marl deposits.			
Hartwoodburn Moss			Recently modified to create a pond. No peat or marl deposits.			
Highchesters Moss	>		Residual deposits of dark brown muds overlain by recent detrital peat. Species poor sedge fen and swamp rooted into the solid substratum	>	>	
Hummelknowes Moss	>		Residual deposits of marl brown muds and hypnoid moss peat. Silt inwash, uneven stripping of peat leading to areas of vegetation developed on solid peat and as vegetation rafts.	>	>	
Huntley Moss	>	>	No residual peat, site entirely stripped of peat and marl.		>	>
Hutlerburn Loch	Uncut		Well developed shallow raised bog vegetation overlying deep (>4m) solid peat.			
Kippilaw Moss	>		Deep (>4.5m) deposits of fluid detrital peat overlying residual marl and woody peat. Blocked drain. Floating vegetation raft and open water.	>	>	
Ladywoodedge Moss	>		Some residual peat and marl. Rich-fen and tall herb fen vegetation rooted into solid peat.	>	>	

cont.
7
1
ς Γ
e
ab

......

	Dummary description	Hiatus in	Visual	Documentary
extraction		peat stratigraphy	evidence for disturbance	evidence for disturbance
>	Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid substratum.	>	>	
?	No peat deposits. Open water.			
5	No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.			
рагі	Some peat removed at the northern end where a floating vegetation raft abruptly	>		~
cut-	adjoins deep solid peat supporting shallow raised bog vegetation.			
over				
>	Varying quantities of residual peat, deepest at northern end. Range of vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.	>	>	>
>	Peat and marl deposits almost entirely stripped and supporting species-rich flush	>	>	*****
	vegetation rooted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there			
	are some residual deposits of peat and a vegetation raft.			
>	Peat unevenly stripped. Residual peat and marl deposits over much of the site.	>	>	~
	More peat has been removed along the southern edge and around the "island".			
	Present vegetation a mixture of vegetation rafts and areas rooted into the solid			
	peat.			
>	Little residual peat, site virtually stripped of peat. Present vegetation developed as	>		>
	a floating raft.			
>	Recently modified. No residual peat or marl.		>	
>	No residual peat or marl, mainly open water.		>	>
>	Some residual marl, no peat, mainly open water.	>	>	
>	Residual muds and monocot peat. Present vegetation rooted into the solid	>	>	>
	substratum.			
>	Residual muds and monocot peat. Present vegetation rooted into the solid	~		
	substratum with area developed as a 'grounded' vegetation raft.			
>	Recently modified. No peat deposits.	>	>	>
> >	No peat deposits, mainly open water.			>
>	Little residual peat or marl, site almost entirely stripped. Present vegetation rooted		>	>
	into the solid substratum, floating vegetation rafts with scrub development and			
	grounded vegetation raits.			
		*   Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Open water.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.     part   Some peat removed at the northern end where a floating vegetation raft abruptly adjoins deep solid peat supporting shallow raised bog vegtation.     over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deepest at northern end. Range of vegetation over     v   Narying quantities of residual peat, deepest at northern end. Range of vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.     v   Part and marl deposits almost centirely stripped and supporting species-rich flush vegetation rooted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there are some residual deposits of peat and marl deposits or removed as the residual deposits of peat and marl deposits or residual free the souther edge and around the "island".     V   Peat unevenly stripped of peat and marl deposits or removed as the residual peat is much areas rooted into the solid peat.     V   Nor peat large and in the souther regetation fait.     V   Present vegetation a mixture of vegetation raft.     V   Present vegetation and the "island".     Present vegetation a mixture of vegetation raft.   Present vegetation developed as a "grounded" vegetation raft.     V   Nor peat large and marl deposits freateresent vegetation developed as a large and marl. <td>*   Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   substratum.     oret   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   some peat removed at the northern end where a floating vegetation raft abruptly     over   Varying quantities of residual peat, decpest at northern end. Range of vegetation   vegetation noted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there     *   Narying quantities of residual peat and and ad position species-rich flush vegetation noted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there     *   Peat unovenly stripped Residual peat and and aforoid the "siland".     *   Peat unovenly stripped Nesidual peat and an areas rooted into the solid peat.     *   Present vegetation raft.     *   Peat unovenly stripped of peat. Present vegetation developed as a lattice solid peat.     *   Intitle residual peat, intrinue of vegetation raft.     *   No residual peat. and mart deposits over much of the solid peat.     *   No residual peat. Trasent vegetation developed as 'grounde'.     *   No residual mud</td> <td>*   Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid   strangerphy attent     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   setter correct at the northern end where a floating vegetation.     over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at an and areas rooted into the solid substratum.      *   Peat uneovery stripped Residual peat, and areas rooted into the solid peat.      *   Peat uneovery stripped stratam      *   Peat uneovery and moneou peat.      *</td>	*   Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   substratum.     oret   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix scrub over solid substratum.   some peat removed at the northern end where a floating vegetation raft abruptly     over   Varying quantities of residual peat, decpest at northern end. Range of vegetation   vegetation noted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there     *   Narying quantities of residual peat and and ad position species-rich flush vegetation noted into the solid substratum except at the western end where there     *   Peat unovenly stripped Residual peat and and aforoid the "siland".     *   Peat unovenly stripped Nesidual peat and an areas rooted into the solid peat.     *   Present vegetation raft.     *   Peat unovenly stripped of peat. Present vegetation developed as a lattice solid peat.     *   Intitle residual peat, intrinue of vegetation raft.     *   No residual peat. and mart deposits over much of the solid peat.     *   No residual peat. Trasent vegetation developed as 'grounde'.     *   No residual mud	*   Some residual peat, no marl. Phragmites reedbed and Salix carr over solid   strangerphy attent     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   substratum.     ?   No peat deposits. Phragmites reedbed and Salix sentb over solid substratum.   setter correct at the northern end where a floating vegetation.     over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at northern end Range of vegetation.      over   Varying quantities of residual peat, deopest at an and areas rooted into the solid substratum.      *   Peat uneovery stripped Residual peat, and areas rooted into the solid peat.      *   Peat uneovery stripped stratam      *   Peat uneovery and moneou peat.      *

table 3.17 cont.	Dant		Cummon dorowintion	11:	1	
	extra	ction		peat	evidence for	evidence for
Shielswood Loch	6		Some marl denosits mainly onen water	stratigraphy	disturbance	disturbance
St Leonards Moss	>		Residual deposits of hypnoid moss peat. Unevenly stripped alternate quaking and solid areas near central drain.	>	>	
Stoncyford Moss	>		No residual peat, a little marl, rank species-poor fen rooted into the solid substratum.	>	>	>
Stouslie Pool	>		Little residual peat or marl. Traces of marl above the basal clay.	~	>	
Synton Courses Loch	>	>	No residual peat or marl. Site entirely stripped. Floating species-poor sedge fen vegetation		>	>
Synton Loch	>	>	Recently modified, no peat deposits.		>	>
Tandlaw Moss	>		Recent sedge peat over thin residual marl deposits.	<	~	
Tathyhole Moss	>	>	No residual peat or marl. Site entirely stripped. Present species-poor fen vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.	>	>	>
Threephead Moss	>		No residual peat. Site entirely stripped. Present wet heath and rich-fen vegetation rooted into the solid substratum.			>
Tocher Lodge Moss	>		Recently modified, no peat deposits.			~
Todshawhill Moss	>		Sedge and Equisetum peat overlies woody residual peat and a thin marl layer.	~	>	>
Whitchaughmoor Moss East basin	>		No residual peat. A little marl. Site almost entirely stripped. Present rich-fen vegetation developed as a floating raft			
Whitehaughmoor Moss	>		No residual peat or marl. Site entirely stripped. Present rich-fen vegetation			
Whitehaughmoor Moss	>		No residual peat or marl. Site entirely stripped. Present rich-fen vegetation			
Whitmuir Moss	>		Wordy near overlies hymnoid moss near with wood fragments. No marl	<b>`</b>		~
Whitmuirhall Loch	>	>	Uneven peat and marl removal. Some residual deposits of aquatic muds and marl. Present species-poor fen vegetation developed as floating rafts, grounded rafts and over solid peat 1 arge area of onen water	>	>	
Woolaw Loch	>		No residual peat or marl. Site entirely stripped. Present rich-fen and poor-fen vegetation developed as a floating raft No residual peat.		>	
Woolaw Moss	>	>	Some residual peat, other areas entirely stripped. Present fen meadow and rush pasture vegetation rooted into solid substratum	>	>	>

site in the 1830's. Where there is no documentary or visual evidence for past peat or marl removal and no peat or marl deposits then it is impossible to assess the status of the site (Buckstruther Moss, Cavers Long Moss, Bees Wood Moss, Bitchlaw Moss, Hare Moss, Hartwoodburn Moss, Lionfield Moss, Little Moss, Shielswood Loch) though it seems likely that peat and / or marl may have been completely stripped from at least some of these sites.

Peat and marl deposits were removed to a varying extent both within sites and between sites but it appears that, where practicable, as much as possible was removed. Many sites were partially exploited but not entirely stripped (figure 3.5 b) - for example at Murder Moss and Blackpool Moss it became uneconomic to remove any more water and peat. Murder Moss was assessed as containing good quality peat but it was often flooded so the peat could rarely be easily removed from a large area of the site (Robson 1985).



Figure 3.5 a-c. Scenarios of site development.

Many sites which have been cut-over still contain a considerable depth of residual peat deposits, most notably those which contain aquatic brown and black muds (Greenside Moss, Ashkirk Loch, Blackpool Moss, Whitmuirhall Loch). Where similar deposits occur on uncut sites they occur in the deepest areas and it is assumed that these muds would have originally been laid down in deep water conditions and that a substantial depth of peat of a different type or open water was removed from the cutover sites after drainage. Paler brown, coarser muds are reported to form in areas of intermediate depth and marl is considered to form in shallow pool areas and near the edges of sites (Tight 1987).

The evidence presented suggests that in many cases only part of the peat deposits was removed leaving a variable quantity of residual peat and, occasionally, an area of intact, uncut peat. Where the peat and marl deposits were completely stripped leaving little but the clay and rock base (Robson 1985) there is only a stratigraphic record of the recent peat and vegetation development, either as vegetation rooted in thin peat or inwashed silt (e.g. Huntley Moss) or as vegetation developed hydroserally as a raft over a flooded peat cutting (e.g. Groundistone Moss, Nether Whitlaw Moss (figure 3.6)). This situation also occurs over parts of sites, where in places the deposits were completely or almost completely stripped away but where, in other areas, there were some residual deposits left, particularly in areas of deeper peat where the drainage was probably less successful or the peat was poorer quality (e.g. Long Moss (figure 3.4), St. Leonard's Moss (figure 3.7), Muirfield Moss (figure 3.8)). This may reflect the differential occurrence of residual peat types and marl over the expanse of a site although it may also reflect different extraction techniques - records indicate that there were recognised strategies for removing the peat to avoid leaving waterlogged holes and impeding further drainage (Robson 1985). Because peat was such an important source of domestic fuel and most of the accessible peat suitable for this purpose was removed we can only guess the types of peat that were most desirable as fuel. It appears that peats with large amounts of wood would have a higher calorific value than those composed of moss or aquatic muds (which are those which most commonly occur as large residual deposits). The peat at the centre of Blackpool Moss (brown and black fine-textured aquatic muds) was described in a drainage assessment survey as poor quality (Robson 1985).

# 3.3.9 PEAT AND MARL EXTRACTION IN THE SCOTTISH BORDERS FENS

British fens have been important resources in the past, as a source of peat for fuel and in the Borders as a source of marl which was used as low-grade lime. Therefore the present vegetation of many fens has resulted from the re-vegetation of a peat or marl cutting. In the Borders fens most of the peat and marl extraction had ceased by the 1830's when the industrial revolution had begun and improvements in transport meant that coal and lime were more readily available (Dodgshon 1978, Robson 1985). Modification of the Scottish Borders fens has continued to the present: unprotected sites have been drained and used for economic activity including agriculture,













forestry and landfill, some sites used as pasture have been fertilised; others have been dug out, reflooded and used as lakes or ponds. Many more have simply been fenced off and forgotten.

# 3.3.9.1 Removal of peat and marl

Peat could be obtained from sites either by first draining the site and then cutting the peats out, or by scooping wet peat out of pits. Drainage was the most effective method and would begin with a network of surface drains on the site and at the outflow (which had to be made deeper as more peat was removed). The deeper the drains, the more difficult and expensive the drainage operation. Therefore the deeper deposits were the most difficult and costly to remove. If marl was to be removed then the peat overlying the marl had to be removed first.

Draining a fen site was often an expensive operation but many landowners and tenants were prepared to pay, particularly if they could sell the peat and marl. The cost was calculated by surveyors who would also determine how much peat and marl were present and how much water would need to be removed to yield the greatest quantity of peat and /or marl.

## 3.3.9.2 Benefits of drainage

The reasons for draining a site were numerous:

- create pasture / arable land;
- remove peat, if present, for use as fuel;
- remove marl, if present.

Without drainage the fen site was less useful: it could be used as pasture for livestock during dry seasons and when the ground was frozen but was also a drowning hazard for livestock. In addition the hay could be cut by hand from sites which were inaccessible to livestock.

The possible benefits of draining fens meant that most of the sites in the Scottish Borders show some signs of attempted drainage although some attempts were more successful than others. Sometimes where peat and marl deposits were removed the site has subsequently re-flooded. In other cases the drains remained effective and agricultural land has been created. After each bout of peat cutting was finished the turf of vegetation which was removed from the top peats at the start of cutting was put back onto the peat surface to produce a new vegetation surface.

#### 3.3.9.3 Quantities of peat and marl removed from some of the Scottish Borders fens

About 40 cartloads of peat were required by each household per year. This approximates to 90 cubic metres of peat which is a similar amount to that allowed to the commoners in Norfolk (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). The peat shrank when it was drained and as it dried on the spreading ground around sites so these figures would represent less than the equivalent volume of wet peat

'in situ'. A simple estimate of the reduction in volume of a site after drainage is presented in table

3.18.

Table 3.18. Estimation of the reduction in peat volume after drainage based on the difference in height of the lip of the drain above the present vegetation surface. (This does not account for shrinkage of peat after drainage or for deposits which would have occurred beneath the present surface before re-flooding.)

Site	Height of drain lip above fen surface (m)	Area of basin (m²)	Estimate of reduction in peat volume (m <sup>3</sup> )
Muirfield Moss	3.08	39200	120736
Whitmuihall Loch	1.13	88900	100457
Murder Moss	0.89	88800	79032
Ashkirk Loch	1.255	50200	63001
Nether Whitlaw Moss	0.53	42300	22419
St. Leonard's Moss	0.87	24200	21054
Kippilaw Moss	2.2	7600	16720
Beanrig Moss	0.375	13500	5062.5

Accounts for estates which ran 'commercial' peat and marl extraction operations provide an insight into the quantities removed during the period of operation and how profitable a successful operation could be:

- Accounts for the marl sales at Groundistone Moss during 1813 report the sale of 3500 cubic yards of marl during that year. Groundistone Moss was stripped of peat and marl between 1813-1833:
- At Blackpool Moss 900 cubic yards of marl was removed during the period of operation of the marl pit between 1789 and 1791;
- Upto 5 m of peat was removed from the eastern side of Toshawhill Moss between 1811 and 1819;
- The income from the sale of peat at Whitmuihall Loch averaged £30 per year during the 1880's and the total income from marl sales between 1772 and 1807 was calculated at £5082.19s.

# 3.3.10 CHARACTERISTICS AND DEVELOPMENT OF CUT-OVER SURFACES

Most of the sites investigated in the Borders contain peat and / or marl cuttings. Therefore much of the present vegetation has developed in the past 200 years (since the cessation of peat and marl extraction). There seem to be two basic mechanisms and outcomes of re-vegetation of peatcuttings:

- 1. Formation of vegetation rafts;
- 2. Formation of vegetation rooted into the base of the peat cutting.

#### 3.3.10.1 Formation of vegetation rafts

The presence of a vegetation raft is not a reliable indicator of a re-vegetated peat cutting. However many sites where there is evidence of peat and / or marl removal now contain vegetation rafts. These rafts can either be floating over watery, fluid peat (e.g. Groundistone Moss, Nether Whitlaw Moss), or they can be "grounded" where the raft quakes but overlies a thin layer of loose peat (e.g. Beanrig Moss). Typically vegetation rafts support a luxuriant bryophyte cover, probably because of the hydrostatic environment maintained by the raft (Green & Pearson 1968, Giller & Wheeler 1986). The mechanisms of raft formation and development will be discussed further in chapter 5.

### 3.3.10.2 Formation of vegetation rooted into the base of the peat cutting

Re-vegetation also occurs through the direct colonisation of the base of the peat cutting. This can occur where the drains flowing out of a site remain unblocked after the cessation of peat and marl removal. This situation occurs widely in the Scottish Borders fens and the resulting surface can support a wide range of habitats and vegetation types. These include:

- Species-rich flushes with numerous rich-fen bryophytes and small sedges over seepage areas around the edges of sites on skeletal residual marl and peat (e.g. Muirfield Moss, Beanrig Moss, Ashkirk Loch). These areas are often not as species-rich as rich-fen flush vegetation in corresponding un-modified fens (e.g., fens in Anglesey) and this may be due to their recent development (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). As their development continues, provided there is an adequate pool of colonists, their species richness may increase. This has been observed in successional stages of colonisation of marl beds in the U.S.A. (Seichab 1984);
- Fen meadow and rush pasture. These communities are often found in re-vegetated peat cuttings where there are less obvious spring inputs and where the surface of the peat has become oxidised. These communities are often present around the margins of cut-over sites where much of the peat was completely stripped.
- Sedge swamp. These communities are often species poor and flooded for much of the year. They may represent situations where the drains have gradually become blocked, and where there are high fluctuations in the water table, favouring large sedge species and reeds.

## 3.3.10.3 Factors influencing the re-vegetation of peat and marl cuttings

It is unclear which factors are most important in determining the recolonisation and re-vegetation of peat and marl cuttings, and the precise mechanisms of raft formation are uncertain; however effectiveness of the drains at the cessation of peat cutting is likely to be important. Documentary evidence from Kingside Loch reports the deliberate re-flooding of this site, which in a partly drained state was a breeding ground for liver fluke and therefore a hazard to livestock (Robson 1985) so it is possible that some sites with poor drainage were deliberately dammed. Sites where the drainage was good would probably have been left and the new vegetation used as extra pasture for livestock. However some of these may also have gradually re-flooded as the drains became blocked.

A summary of factors affecting the re-vegetation of a former peat or marl cutting is presented in figure 3.9. These include:

- The morphology of the basin after the cessation of peat and marl operations and the amount of residual peat. White (1930) found that peat cuttings of different depths re-vegetated differently;
- The efficiency of the drains. Where drainage was poor, deeper sites with steeper sides would be more likely to develop vegetation rafts supporting rich fen vegetation where there was a strong influence from groundwater. Poor-fen, and in one case embryonic raised bog, has developed on the fen surface which has become isolated from groundwater inputs.;
- The occurrence and rate of discharge of springs. Where drainage remained good on sloping sites with discharging springs, flushed rich-fen vegetation, and wet grassland would probably occur.
- The source of the colonising material. This would depend on the presence of species present in others areas of the site, and in the vicinity, and the practise of "shoeing" the moss returning the turf at the top of the peat to the base of the cutting.



Figure 3.9. Probable pathways of re-vegetation of peat cuttings and marl pits.

# Chapter 4: Investigations into Relationships between Fen Water Chemical Conditions, Peat Fertility and Vegetation Composition.

### 4.1 Introduction.

Plants derive nutrients for growth from the substratum in which they grow. Different plants thrive under different conditions. In fens plants obtain nutrients from decomposing organic matter in the peat and from the water which irrigates the peat. The source and chemical composition of water irrigating fens has been regarded as important in determining the occurrence of particular vegetation types (Du Rietz 1949). Many studies have demonstrated the correlation of a gradient of decreasing pH and base-richness in mire waters with the change in vegetation types from richfen to poor-fen to bog (Sjors 1950, Malmer 1986,Vitt & Chee 1990). However the specific chemical requirements and constraints on the distribution of particular species and plant communities have been difficult to determine and vary between areas (Sjors 1950, Proctor 1992). Rich-fens are fed mainly by base-rich groundwater whereas poor fens are fed by base-poor water. Where poor-fen develops within rich-fen, then the poor-fen vegetation is fed mainly by rainwater, because the vegetation surface has become isolated from the base-rich groundwater.

The fertility of the substratum, that is its capacity to sustain plant growth, and the availability of the plant growth nutrients nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium can be particularly important in influencing the structure and composition of vegetation (Verhoeven *et al* 1983, Wheeler 1983, Verhoeven *et al*. 1988). Increased nutrient availability often causes increased growth and greater productivity so that the vegetation becomes taller and more robust (Wheeler & Giller 1982). This often just affects a few species and those which cannot compete often become overgrown and perish. Therefore an increase in fertility can lead to a change in vegetation composition and a loss of species, in particular of low-growing herbs and bryophytes. Fewer rare species occur in stands of fen vegetation with a high standing crop (Wheeler & Giller 1982, Shaw & Wheeler 1992).

In lowland Britain fens are often surrounded by intensively farmed agricultural land and inputs of nutrients and silt in the drainage and runoff from the fields can substantially increase the nutrient status and hence the fertility of the fen peat (Wheeler 1983). Increases in the rates of atmospheric nitrogen deposition, nitrogen and phosphorus transport from heavily fertilised agricultural areas via shallow groundwater and surface water flow have caused nutrient enrichment in Dutch wetlands (Verhoeven *et al.* 1993). This enrichment can lead to increased productivity of the

vegetation and the decline of rare species (Wheeler 1983, Van Wirdum 1991) and these effects are more severe in sites which are unmanaged (mown or grazed) (Shaw & Wheeler 1992).

The Scottish Borders fens are percolating fens, topogenous fens irrigated by telluric water and springs from Silurian greywackes, and from runoff from the surrounding land. The countryside surrounding the fens is mainly agricultural land ranging from unimproved rough pasture to intensive arable land, and many sites are considered to be at risk from nutrient inputs from the surrounding land, although the impact of the input of nutrients on the vegetation has not been quantified. The fens support a range of vegetation types including both rich and poor-fen. Site management is usually through grazing although this is rare and the majority of sites are fenced off from the surrounding land and are unmanaged.

The objectives of this part of the study were to determine:

1. The variation in chemical composition of interstitial water, peat fertility and inorganic content of peat from Borders fen sites

- (a) from areas supporting different vegetation types;
- (b) along transects, representing possible environmental gradients, across sites.
- 2. The impact of surrounding land-use on the fertility and chemical composition of peat and interstitial water within fen sites.

3. The impact of differing chemical conditions on the occurrence of different vegetation types.

# 4.2 Methods

# 4.2.1 SAMPLE SITES

The relationship between vegetation types and chemical conditions, fertility and surrounding land use of a range of contrasting sites (table 4.1) was investigated using sample points located in different vegetation types and along transects reflecting the vegetation zonation and / or an environmental gradient, for example, from the inflow to the centre of the site. The site maps and locations of transects are presented in Appendix 2.

Code	Site	Habitat	Surrounding Land use
WHM	Whitehaughmoor Moss	quaking rich fen	unimproved flushed pasture
BE	Beanrig Moss	rich fen	improved pasture / rough grassland
MU	Murder Moss	quaking fen /sedge swamp	improved pasture
K	Kippilaw Moss	quaking rich fen	improved pasture / tillage
AL	Ashkirk Loch	quaking poor fen / swamp	recent forestry plantation
WL	Whitmuirhall Loch	sedge and reed swamp	improved pasture
SL	St. Leonard's Moss	rich fen	improved pasture / tillage
MM	Muirfield Moss	wet grassland / rich fen	rough grassland
GM	Groundistone Moss	reedbed / quaking poor fen	improved pasture / tillage
NW	Nether Whitlaw Moss	quaking poor fen	improved pasture
BL	Blind Moss	quaking fen	rough grassland
LM	Long Moss	quaking fen and bog	rough grassland

Table 4.1. Characteristics of the sites selected for investigation of peat fertility and water chemistry.

At each sample point the vegetation was recorded and coded as for the general survey, the field pH and electrical conductivity were recorded, and the gross peat stratigraphy was recorded. Samples of peat and water were collected from the same sample points for assessment of fertility and chemical analysis, respectively.

The adjacent land use to the site was scored on a 14 point scale (table 4.2).

Table 4.2. Catchment Management Score (C.M.S.) used to categorise the agricultural intensity of surrounding land-use.

<i>C.M.S.</i>	Description of surrounding land
score	
1	Unimproved (moorland grassland)
2	Improved moorland / Rough grassland
3	Forest (plantation)
4	Small areas improved
5	>50% unimproved
6	>50% unimproved + intensive farmland
7	25-50% unimproved
8	25-50% unimproved + intensive farmland
9	<25% unimproved
10	<25% unimproved + intensive farmland
11	Mostly improved grassland
12	Mostly cultivated
13	Mostly intensive grassland
14	Mostly intensive cultivation

## 4.2.2 VEGETATION TYPES

The floristic classes of fen vegetation identified from the Scottish Borders fens in Chapter 2 provided the basis for the ordering of the samples collected. 13 distinct plant communities and variants were sampled (table 4.3).

Table 4.3. Plant communities of fen water and peat sampling sites (for sample site locations see Appendix 2).

Code	Plant community
FTH	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen community
FRP	Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture community
FMC	Molinia caerulea species-rich wet grassland community
RFF	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community
RFS	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community
POR	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community
BOG	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community
RFM	Mixed sedge rich-fen community
RFCb	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra
	variant
RFCa	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant
FSM	Carex rostrata -Potentilla palustris species-poor community
FSC	Carex rostrata species poor community
RPG	Phragmites australis reed-bed

### 4.2.3 PHYTOMETRIC ASSESSMENT OF PEAT FERTILITY

Simple measurements of available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (N,P,K) in samples of mire waters have often produced unreliable indications of substratum fertility (Boyer & Wheeler 1989, Vermeer & Berendse 1983). Phytometric assays aim to measure the fertility of the substratum through its capacity to sustain the growth of a test species in controlled conditions. This method is thought to provide some of the best estimates of the fertility of fen soils (Al Farraj *et al.* 1984, Wheeler *et al.* 1992) and provides a useful technique for comparing the peat fertility across a large number of fen sites.

Samples of peat were collected to 20cm depth from each sample point during February 1994. The surface vegetation was cut off and replaced and the peat was sealed into black plastic bags, transported back to Sheffield, and stored at 5°C until used. Some sample points were omitted due to inclement weather conditions which made access to Nether Whitlaw Moss, Long Moss, Blind Moss and part of Groundistone Moss impossible.

Each peat sample was sorted and mixed by removing large roots and rhizomes and any animals. The peat was then placed into 10 pots which were then arranged into sandwich boxes. The sandwich boxes were filled to a constant level with distilled water to keep the peat waterlogged. Five matched week-old seedlings of the phytometer species *Phalaris arundinacea* were planted into each pot. These were thinned to 3 matched seedlings after one week. The seedlings were

grown under constant light and temperature conditions in a greenhouse for 10 weeks. The seedlings were then harvested and dried to constant weight in a  $50^{\circ}$ C oven, and weighed. The peat fertility is therefore expressed as mg dry weight per plant.

Sub-samples of peat were collected and 25cm<sup>3</sup> were mixed to a slurry with an equal volume of distilled water. The pH and electrical conductivity of this slurry were recorded. The rest of the sub-sample was oven dried at 40°C, homogenised, and a sample of known weight was ashed at 400°C to determine percentage loss on ignition, as an indication of the organic content of the peat.

#### 4.2.4 WATER CHEMICAL DETERMINATION

Water samples were collected from each sample point during April 1994. Clean, dry, 250ml polythene bottles were completely filled with interstitial water which had re-filled 20cm recently dug pits. pH and electrical conductivity of the samples were measured in the field. The samples were stored in the dark and at  $5^{\circ}$ C. They were filtered and analysed for cations (ammonium, sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium, iron and manganese) and anions (phosphate, nitrate, sulphate, chloride) as specified in table 4.4.

Table 4.4.	Methods of	measuring the	ne co	oncentrations	of	cations,	anions,	pН	and	conductivity	of	water
samples.												

Measured variables	Method	Instrument Specification
Ca, Fe, Mn, Mg	Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry	Perkin Elmer 2100 A.A.S.
K, Na	Atomic Emission Spectrophotometry	Corning Flame Photometer 410
NO <sub>3</sub> , PO <sub>4</sub> , SO <sub>4</sub>	High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	Dionex 2000I H.P.L.C.
NH₄	Calorimetric Indophenol Method	Absorbance measured on Cary 1 UV-
	(modified from Scheiner, 1976)	visible spectrophotometer
рН	pH electrode	Jenway 3030 portable pH meter
Electrical conductivity	Conductivity electrode	Jenway 4070 portable conductivity
		meter

## 4.2.5 data analysis

Water types were classified using the L.A.T. (Lithotrophic, Atmotrophic, Thallasotrophic) model (VanWirdum 1991). This uses the ionic ratio  $([^{1}/_{2} Ca^{2+}] / ([^{1}/_{2} Ca^{2+}] + [Cl^{-}])) \times 100$  and electrical conductivity at 25°C to characterise the water type of each sample using three basic types as

references: lithotrophic (groundwater), atmotrophic (rainwater) and thalassotrophic (seawater). This model is based on the assumption that electrical conductivity values are often correlated with the concentrations of each major ion (Na, Cl, Mg, HCO<sub>3</sub>, Ca) so they are a suitable measure of the distribution of base-poor (rainwater and base-poor telluric water) and base-rich water types (calcium-rich telluric water and brackish water). The ionic ratio is used to differentiate between calcium-rich telluric water and brackish water (Wassen, Barendregt, Bootsma & Schot 1989).

The relationships between vegetation types and water chemistry, peat fertility and loss on ignition were examined using Canonical Community Ordination - CANOCO (Ter Braak 1988). This procedure relates the environmental variables associated with each sample to an ordination of the vegetation data. The ordination method (Canonical Correspondence Analysis) upon which CANOCO is based performs reliable ordination of species data and environmental data in conditions where other programs may distort the data, for example, where there are skewed species distributions, quantitative noise in species abundance data, highly intercorrelated environmental variables and in situations where not all the factors determining species composition are known (Palmer, 1993). The results are presented as biplots where the samples are plotted as a scatter plot on the primary and secondary axes of variation. The environmental variables are represented as vectors radiating from the origin. The direction of the arrow indicates the gradient of its influence and the length indicates the strength of its relationship with the variation in sample species data. A Monte Carlo significance test was used to assess the significance of the species-environment relationships.

Correlation coefficients were calculated for all pairs of measured variables. Nested, one factor analyses of variance with a Tukey multiple comparisons test were performed to assess the difference in concentration of each variable between different vegetation types. Minitab (version 10.5) and Microsoft Excel (version 5.0) were used for statistical analyses.

# 4.3 Results

#### **4.3.1 VEGETATION TYPES**

The total species richness and numbers of rare and characteristic bog, poor-fen and rich-fen species associated with each vegetation type are presented in table 4.5.

Vegetation type	n	Rare	Rich-fen	Poor-	Bog	Total
		species	Species	fen	Species	species-
				Species		richness
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	6	5.8	21.3	11.8	2.5	26.8
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	2	7.5	26.0	15.5	3.5	32.5
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	4	3.3	17.5	14.3	6.5	26.3
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	12	1.6	13.9	8.6	1.6	16.0
rostratum community, Carex diandra variant						
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	7	2.4	14.3	9.7	1.4	17.7
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	6	2.3	14.5	8.7	2.2	16.3
rostratum community, Typical variant						
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	15	0.9	10.4	6.3	0.7	12.1
community	<u> </u>					
Phragmites australis reedbed	5	0.2	6.8	3.4	0.0	8.8
Carex rostrata species-poor community	4	0.3	6.0	4.5	0.8	7.3
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog	2	0.0	4.0	8.5	7.5	13.5
community	Į					
Juncus acutiflorus Rush-pasture	2	1.5	15.0	10.5	3.0	21.5
<i>Molinia caerulea</i> Wet grassland	2	2.5	19.0	12.0	2.5	30.0
Filipendula ulmaria Tall-herb fen	3	0.7	11.3	6.0	0.0	16.0

Table 4.5. Mean species-richness of samples  $(4m^2 \text{ quadrats})$  representing different vegetation types. Characteristic wetland species are categorised into rare, rich-fen, poor-fen and bog species (see Appendix 3). n is the number of samples.

### 4.3.2 VARIATION BETWEEN VEGETATION TYPES

The relationship between chemical composition of mire waters and vegetation type shows no clear pattern. Generally the concentrations of cations and anions were low, very variable and, with the exception of magnesium and calcium, did not vary consistently between vegetation types. The results for each variable are presented in figures 4.1a-o and table 4.6. Concentrations of magnesium and calcium showed significant variation between plant communities (Mg: F = 2.44, p<0.05, d.f. 11; Ca: F = 6.27, p<0.001, d.f. 11). Electrical conductivity and pH also showed significant variation between plant communities.

Table 4.7 summarises the peat fertility and soil water pH and electrical conductivity associated with different plant communities. Greater fertility is associated with species-poor and tall herb vegetation (*Carex rostrata -Potentilla palustris* species-poor community, *Carex rostrata* species poor community, *Phragmites australis* reed-bed, *Filipendula ulmaria* tall-herb fen community) although there is often large variation between samples. The highest values are those associated with particular nutrient input points, and with silt enrichment. These vegetation types are often rooted in a silty or mineralised peat substratum (table 4.7).



Figure 4.1. Mean values (+/- Standard Error) of environmental variables associated with different plant communities. Plant<br/>community codes follow table 4.3.(a) Peat fertility: not significantp = 0.097(b) % Loss on ignition: not significantp = 0.107

(b)



Table 4.1 cont. (c) pH: F = 5.81, n = 69, p < 0.001. (d) Electrical conductivity ( $\mu$ S cm<sup>-1</sup>): F = 3.57, d.f. 11, p = 0.001.

135





Figure 4.1 cont.

(c)

(**f**)

(e) Calcium concentration: F = 6.27, d.f. 11, p < 0.001(f) Magnesium concentration: F = 2.44, d.f. 11, p = 0.014

(g) Potassium concentration: not significant p = 0.46


Figure 4.1 cont.

(h) Nitrate concentration: not significant. p = 0.30(i) Ammonium concentration: not significant p = 0.25

p=0.189 (j) Phosphate concentration: not significant

137





Figure 4.1 cont. p=0.200 (k) Chloride concentration: not significant. (1) Sulphate concentration: not significant

330 - م

(1)





Table 4.6. Mean values ( $mg 1^{-1}$ ) and standard errors (S.E.) of water chemical variables associated with different plant communities in some Scottish Borders fens. n = number of samples.

lant community	=	CI	S.E	NO3 S	S.E 5	0, S	E F	204 S	E (	Ca S	5.E 1	VIB L	S.E	Na S	S.E	K S.	$E \mid M$	44 S.	EF	e S	EA	lin S	E
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	9	11.66	1.31	0.89 0	.21 4	.10 0	0 09.	36 0	.05 42	4.97 3	11	0.02 1	.62 8	3.37 0	.28 0	.96 0.	21 0.	14 0.	05 0.	62 0.	22 0.	37 0.	52
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	7	14.0	4.69	0.62 0	.07 3	.96 0.	65 0	34 0.	06 4]	1.64 4	9 60	.20 0	. 96.	1.21 0	56 4	.85 3.	22 0.0	07 0	02 1.	47 1.	28 0	04	03
Carex rostrata - Calliergon	12	11.99	1.30	2.28 0	.73 5	44 1.	02 0	.38 0.	09 4(	0.35 4	24 7	.37 1	.30 5	0.82 2	.37 1	81 0.	45 0.	25 0.	0 90	87 0.	46 0.	05 0.	3
cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostatum																							
community, Carex diandra variant																							
Carex rostrata - Calliergon	9	27.3	12.4	1.19 0	1.49 5	0 60.	.78 0	.47 0.	.06 3(	0.22 5	.79 6	03 0	1.60 1	1.1 3	88 4	.07 0.	81 0.	19 0.	00 0.	19 0.	01 0	06 0.	8
cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum																							
community, typical variant																							
Carex rostrata -Potentilla palustris	15	11.19	0.52	2.49 0	.68 5	.69 0.	52 0	46 0	06 4	5.16 2	.66 8	1.26 0	.75 7	7.34 0	22 1	29 0.	25 0.	18 0.	05 0.	40 0.	13 0	04	6
species-poor community																							
Carex diandra - Sphagnum	7	8.77	0.85	0.85 0	0.18 5	43 1.	.58 0	0.25 0.	.23 24	4.72 1	9.8 4	1.61 1	.14 1	7.07 1	0.5 1	45 0.	27 0.	15 0.	15 0.	21 0.	17 0.	15 0.	4
contortum community																			-				
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum	4	9.98	1.88	0.64 0	.08	.18 0.	68 0	.33 0.	.19 4	.74 1	.94 3	1.06 C	3 66.0	3.85 1	82 2	.62 1.	39 0.1	07 0.	0-10	28 0.	0 60	2	3
community									<b>.</b> .														
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum	7	5.34	1.42	0 66.0	0.16 2	.76 0.	.15 0	0.03 0.	.00	.25 0	0.64 2	00.0	1.47	0.82 2	.07 2	.06 0.	58 0.0	01 0	01 0.	26 0.	23 0.	0.0	8
papillosum community																							
Carex rostrata species-poor	4	28.65	18.1	0.57 0	0.14 4	0.06	.84 0	.63 0	.07 42	2.91 6	.46 9	39 2	03 1	3.1 5	.85 1	.62 0.	24 0.	24 0.	13 0.	<u>35 0.</u>	10 0.	26 0.	26
community																							ì
Phragmites australis reedbed	5	12.10	1.80	3.24 1	.50 6	.22 0	61 0	.61 0	.19 4(	6.19 3	.72 8	1.29 C	. 99.	7.71 0	60 09	.86 0.	17 0.1	01 0	02 0.	13 0.	05 0.	0.0	8
Juncus acutifiorus Rush-pasture	7	9.84	0.60	0.69_0	0.07 4	1.02	22 0	.24 0	.05 25	5.43 1	3.9 5	52 1	07 6	5.20 0	01	.33 0.	41 0.(	05 0.1	01 0.	12 0.	12 0.	00	8
Molinia caerulea Wet grassland	7	9.33	0.23	1.02 0	0.25 3	47 0.	.88	.32 0.	.05 3.	1.41 1	.10 5	111 C	111 5	7.33 0	.48 1	.02 0.	<u>39 0.(</u>	05 0.4	00 00	<u>50 0.</u>	49 0.	0.10	5
Filipendula ulmaria Tall-herb fen	m	37.74	28.1	0.61 0	1.12 3	42 0	0 16	.39 0	.06 3.	3.14 9	02.0	.85 1	.61 1	8.0 1	1.4 3	.04 1	20 0.	26 0.	20 0.	69 0.	38 1.	54 I.	58

Table 4.7. Mean fertility, % loss on ignition (%LOI), pH and electrical conductivity values (EC) +/-

Vegetation type	n	Fertility	+/~ S.E.	%LOI	+/- <u>S.E</u> .	pН	+/- S.E.	EC	+/- S.E.
		(mg/plant)						(µS/cm)	
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	6	4.75	+/-0.93	71.82	+/-7.38	7.14	+/-0.08	343.87	+/-20.59
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	1-2	6.79		82.90		6.42	+/-0.50	191.00	+/-109.0
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	1-2	18.03	·	92.20		6.03	+/-0.20	68.28	+/-9.99
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	10	9.13	+/-2.10	74.15	+/-7.01	6.84	+/-0.15	304.65	+/-33.87
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	7	5.02	+/-0.64	71.46	+/-8.42	7.07	+/-0.18	307.82	+/-40.94
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Typical variant	4	17.82	+/-6.19	83.21	+/-5.44	7.04	+/-0.25	267.67	+/-48.28
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species- poor community	14	18.30	+/-4.40	67.45	+/-4.82	7.32	+/-0.12	335.48	+/-20.37
Phragmites australis reedbed	5	38.92	+/-18.72	39.15	+/-10.36	7.74	+/-0.15	354.96	+/-12.29
Carex rostrata species-poor community	3	44.77	+/-34.91	76.77	+/-12.99	6.70	+/-0.18	362.70	+/-24.31
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum	2					5.29	+/-0.77	109.50	+/-65.83
papillosum bog community									
Juncus acutiflorus Rush-pasture	2	6.95	+/-0.94	64.45	+/-2.15	7.09	+/-0.25	196.40	+/-81.60
Molinia caerulea Wet grassland	2	5.24	+/-1.51	52.88	+/-26.88	6.76	+/-0.10	235.00	+/-26.20
Filipendula ulmaria Tall-herb fen	3	20.68	+/-5.37	41.97	+/-21.98	6.43	+/-0.55	321.87	+/-146.2

Standard Error associated with different plant communities.

Flush and rich-fen vegetation types were associated with the lowest fertility peat (table 4.7). There is an interesting gradient in the fertility of peat samples associated with fen plant communities characterised by abundant *Carex rostrata* (table 4.8). The fertility of peat increases from the more variable and usually more species-rich Mixed sedge rich-fen community (associated with the lowest fertility peat) to the distinctive *Carex rostrata* - *Calliergon cupidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community, *Carex diandra* variant to the *Carex rostrata* - *Calliergon cupidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community, typical variant to *Carex rostrata* - *Potentilla palustris* species-poor community (associated with the highest fertility peat).

Table 4.8. Fertility of peat samples associated with *Carex rostrata* - based plant communities. Statistical significance between values is indicated by letters a,b,c. Differing letters indicates that the values are statistically significant (P<0.05). No difference indicates no statistical significance.

Vegetation type	Mean peat fertility (mg dry weight / plant +/- S.E.)
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	5.02 +/- 0.64 <sup>a</sup>
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cupidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum	9.13 +/- 2.10 <sup>b</sup>
community, Carex diandra variant	
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cupidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum	17.82 +/- 6.19°
community, typical variant	
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species - poor community	18.30 +/- 4.4°

## 4.3.3 WITHIN SITE VARIATION IN PEAT FERTILITY AND WATER CHEMISTRY

The chemical composition of interstitial water and peat fertility were often variable within sites (tables 4.9 - 4.18). Generally the largest differences are seen in electrical conductivity, calcium, magnesium and chloride concentration, fertility and percentage loss on ignition of the peat. These are most markedly different in areas of spring water discharge and at the edges of sites, near inflows and drains. The fertility values of samples from apparently spring-fed areas are consistently small (Beanrig Moss, Whitehaughmoor Moss, Muirfield Moss).

## Ashkirk Loch (table 4.9)

The fertility of samples AL7 and AL8 were the lowest at this site. These represented Mixed sedge rich fen vegetation closer to spring-fed areas at the northern margins of the site. The electrical conductivity, calcium, magnesium, and organic content of the peat also increased towards this end of the transect. The sample from the inflow (AL3) contained a relatively high proportion of inorganic matter, probably due to inwashed silt from the surrounding land. The surrounding land supports an immature forestry plantation.

#### Beanrig Moss (table 4.10)

The peat fertility at this site was greatest further from the spring-fed areas towards the centre of the site. Electrical conductivity was highest in spring fed areas (BE3 and BE6), probably because of the correspondingly higher calcium, magnesium and chloride concentrations. Loss on ignition was lowest in areas with the shallowest peat (BE6 and BE5) at the margins of the site.

## Groundistone Moss (table 4.11)

This site was surrounded by intensively farmed land, permanent pasture and arable cultivation. The central *Sphagnum*-rich area is surrounded by a silty moat containing *Phragmites australis* swamp, *Carex rostrata* swamp and *Glyceria fluitans* swamp. All these marginal areas were very fertile probably due to the inwashed silt deposits from the adjacent land. The flooded margins prevented access to the central areas of the site at the time of substratum sampling.

## Kippilaw Moss (table 4.12)

The fertility of the substratum was generally greater near the edges of the site but one sample nearer the centre of the site had the highest recorded fertility in the Scottish Borders fens (K2). This sample was taken from a very swampy area near a large pool. The land surrounding Kippilaw Moss is intensively farmed with permanent pasture along the northern edge and Table 4.9. Ashkirk Loch. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Ashkirk Loch. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples AL3, AL4, AL6, AL7, AL8 are located along transect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units are as follows: E.C (electrical conductivity mS cm<sup>-1</sup>), Fertility (substratum fertility, mg dry weight of phytometer species), water chemical variables calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), potassium (K), iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), chloride (Cl), phosphate (PO<sub>4</sub>), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>), sulphate (SO<sub>4</sub>) and ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>), in mg I<sup>-1</sup>.

Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IO1%	S.E	Peat	S.E
	Community							Fertility	
	Code				_			,	
ALI	RFCb	181.8	10.5	6.4	0.0	62.7	0.8	5.7	0.6
AL2 (edge)	FMC	318.6	1.5	6.8	0.1	29.0	0.6	7.6	1.0
AL3 (inflow)	FTH	184.8	0.9	7.3	0.0	12.9	0.1	20.9	2.1
AL4	RFCb	128.0	6.8	7.0	0.1	20.4	0.1	23.7	3.4
AL5	RFM	171.0	4.3	6.5	0.0	55.1	0.2	4.2	0.3
AL6	FSM	170.4	1.0	6.6	0.0	61.1	0.1	25.4	3.6
AL7	RFCb	258.2	3.4	6.6	0.1	89.9	0.9	4.5	0.1
AL8	RFCb	307.2	1.4	7.3	0.1	83.9	0.4	3.6	0.2
table 4.9 cont.									
Samule	Co SF	Ma	C.F.	2	C L	N/~	0 E	с 0 1	

	1					Ì														
Sample	Ca	S.E.	Mg	S.E.	X	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Fe	S.E.	CI	S.E.	NH4	S.E	P0,	SE	S	S.F.	NO.	S F
AT 1	265	1 6	0 0	ç		-		4	(		4				*		7	; ;	60.1	
1 mu	C.0.7	0.1	<i>د.</i> د	C.V	0.0	 1	7.0	7.0	0.7	0.3	8.9	0.3	0.1	0.0	0.3	0.2	2.3	0.8	0.5	0.2
AL2 (edge)	53.5	1.3	4.8	0.2	0.0	0.0	5.7	0.2	0.2	0.1	9.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	03	0 0	, c c	0.0	50	
AL3 (inflow)	24.5	1.0	4.1	0.2	1.0	0.0	5.9	0.2	0.0	0.0	9.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	03	20	5 1	100	00	1.0
AL4	163	13	36	60	51	10	۲ ۲ ۲		7 F		4 0					1	1.0	7.7	0.0	1.0
			2	1.2	1.1	1.2	<b>†</b>	7.0	+.0	+ -	C.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	1.8	0.2	0.8	0.2
ALD	23.1	0.3	3.5	0.3	23.2	22.3	6.6	0.4	7.3	2.1	9.7	0.2	0.2	0.0	0 1	0 1	<i>د د</i>	٤ 0	8.0	60
AL6	24.1	0.7	3.7	0.2	2.4	0.1	7.4	0.3	0.5	0.2	10.5	0.2	10	10	0.0	10	100	<u> </u>		1.0
AL7	37.1	2.0	5.3	0.3	1.3	0.1	8.0	0.3	1.2	0.5	11 7	- C 0	10	0.0	0.0		2 7 7	4.0 7.0	~ . 0	1.0
AT 9	101		r		0	•						2	••••	~	1.0	* >	C.4	7.7	7.V	1.0
VLO	40.1	1.4	7.1	4.0	0.8	0.2	<b>8</b> .4	0.3	0.0	0.0	24.2	6.7	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.2	11.0	0.5	18	0.6
								•												

Samples BE1, BE2 and BE3 are located along transect A-B. Samples BE4, BE5 and BE6 are located along transect C-D. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and Table 4.10. Beanrig Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Beanrig Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IO1%	S.E	Peat	S.I	5			
	Community							Fertility	~				
	Code	_											
BE1(edge)	RFS	82.6	2.5	5.9	0.1	92.2	0.0	18.0	-				
BE2	RFCa	192.4	25.8	6.6	0.1	89.1	0.0	29.6	3.]				
BE3 (edge)	RFF	364.2	6.1	7.3	0.1	90.1	0.0	3.3	0.]				
BE4 (edge)	RFCa	143.0	4.4	7.1	0.1	88.5	0.1	10.9	1				
BE5	FMR	114.8	2.7	6.8	0.1	66.6	0.1	7.9	1.	0			
BE6 (edge)	RFF	312.0	3.2	7.1	0.0	51.8	0.4	3.2	0.0	~			
BE7	RFS	82.0	1.7	5.9	0.0	,		,	•				
Table 4.10 cont.										1			
sample	Ca S.E.	Mg	S.E.	K	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Fe S	E.	NH4	S.E.	CI	S.E
BE1(edge)	10.0 1.0	3.9	0.2	2.0	0.2	5.8	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.0	8.6	0.4
BE2	22.2 1.6	5.7	0.3	1.6	0.4	8.0	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.1	17.6	7.3
BE3 (edge)	45.5 2.8	16.1	0.7	0.6	0.0	8.9	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	10.0	0.5
BE4 (edge)	14.7 1.2	5.3	0.4	2.3	0.2	6.6	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	8.9	0.1
BE5	11.5 1.9	4.5	0.4	1.7	0.1	6.2	0.3	0.0	0.0	00	0.0	92	60

S.E. 0.0 0.1

NO3 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 1.0

S.E. 0.4 0.5 0.4

SO.

S.E0.2 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.0

 $PO_4$ 0.6 2.9

0.2 0.4

1.9

4.7

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2

0.1 0.1

3.1

0.5

0.2

0.2

9.2

0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.0

0.0

0.0 0.2 0.4

0.3 0.2 18.7

0.0 0.1

27.6 8.6 6.2

> 0.0 0.5

> 0.7 1.2

> 0.8 1.5

12.3

2.2 3.3

32.1 4.9

BE6 (edge)

BE7

3.5

2.8 6.4 7.0

0.5 1.2

0.5

2.2 0.1

17.3 7.9

0.0

0.1

Table 4.11. Groundistone Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Groundistone Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IOT%	S.E	Peat	S.E					
	Community							Fertility						
	roae													
GM1(inflow)	FSM	402.8	3.8	7.5	0.1	52.4	0.6	23.7	2.3					
GM2 (edge)	RPG	311.4	1.5	8.2	0.2	19.2	1.1	112.2	5.3					
GM3 (edge)	FSM	309.0	2.3	6.7	0.1	22.6	0.1	63.5	4.5					
GM4	BOG	23.0	2.1	4.45	0.1	•		1	•					
Table 4.11 cont.										1				
Sample	Ca S.E.	Mg	S.E.	×	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Fe S	E.	$NH_4$	S.E.	CI	S.E	PO4
GM1(inflow)	50.0 6.6	8.0	0.4	0.9	0.2	6.8	0.4	0.2 (	0.2	0.0	0.0	10.2	0.2	0.6
GM2 (edge)	35.5 0.8	6.9	0.4	0.5	0.0	6.2	0.6	0.1 (	0.1	0.0	0.0	9.4	0.2	0.4
GM3 (edge)	43.5 1.2	7.7	0.2	1.2	0.1	6.7	0.2	1.3 (	0.2	0.0	0.0	16.6	1.1	0.7
GM4	0.61 0.2	2.5	1.2	1.5	0.7	8.8	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.9	0.3	0.0

S.E. 0.8

 $NO_3$ 

S.E.

 $SO_4$ 

S.E0.4 0.2

 $\begin{array}{c} PO_4 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.4 \end{array}$ 

0.0 0.1 0.2

0.4

2.9

3.8 0.3 0.8

0.6 0.1

6.4 5.8 6.0

0.1 0.0

Sample	Plant	<i>EC</i>	S.E	$H^{d}$	S.E	IOT%	S.E	Peat	S.E
	Community		-	I				Fertility	-
	Code								
K1(edge)	RFCb	355.2	15.8	6.7	0.1	88.2	0.1	16.2	1.7
K2	FSC	305.6	14.0	6.8	0.2	89.2	0.2	114.3	11.7
K6	RFCb	390.8	12.0	6.6	0.1	93.3	0.4	8.3	0.5
K5	FSC	409.2	22.2	6.2	0.1	90.5	0.0	4.4	0.3
K4 (edge)	RFCb	473.0	5.3	6.5	0.0	59.7	0.7	13.4	2.3
K3	FSM	409.4	19.0	6.7	0.1	51.0	1.3	7.7	0.9
K7	FSM	430.4	1.6	7.0	0.0	75.8	0.2	5.4	0.7

Table 4.12. Kippilaw Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Kippilaw Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples K1, K2, K6, K5 and K4 are located along trasect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Table 4.12 cont.

r		-	÷		:	-	:	_		-			<del>.</del> .	-
	S.F.		1.0	0.1	-	<b>.</b> .	10	1.0	2 2	0.0	¢ 0	0.0	5 5	5.1
	NO,	2		4.0	0.2	0.0	70	<b>†</b>		1.1	00	0.0	c o	7.0
	S.E.	00		0.0	0 6	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		1.2	10	1.2	20	r.>	5	1.1
0	SO,	57		4.0	16	2	16	2.1	С с	7.7	0 C	¢.7	0 8	N.0
1	S.E	50		C.V	0,0	1	10			1.2	<b>C</b> 0	4.2	10	1.2
0	PO4			0.0	0.5	2	07		0.8		07		0	•••
	S.E	4	2	C.V	0	,	10		۲ 0	2.2	0.6	>	03	2.2
5	5	13.9	00	0.0	10.2		11 3		10.2		16		11 3	
2	N.L.	0.3	00	2.2	0.2		0.5		04		0.6		010	;
NIT	$NII_4$	0.5	10	1.2	0.5		0.6		0.4		0.7		0.2	1
с г. V	<u>с.</u>	0.1	0.1		0.0		0.1		0.5		0.5		0.0	
27	гe	0.1	10		0.0		0.5		1.0		<b>-</b>		0.0	
55	ac .	0.1	0.0	2	0.1		0.3		0.0		0.1		0.0	
N/n	HIM	0.1	0.0		0.1		0.4		0.0		0.1		0.0	
S F	N.E.	0.8	04		0.5		1.9		2.2		0.2		1.0	1
VN	744	6.8	61		6.L		5.7		4.1		7.6		9.0	
SF	i	3.5	0.6		0.0	•	0.2	t	- ^ · 0	•	0.7		U.I	
~	:	9.0	1.8	0	7.3	•	1.7	<	7.0	4	2.9		0.9	
SF	i	0.6	0.4		C.U	(	0.7	2 0	C.D	, ,	U.J	, ,	U.U	
Alo	0	7.2	7.4	\ c [	13.0		0.CI	C []	C./1	r -	11./	15.1	+.CI	
S.E.		5.0	3.5	<	1.U		4.4	c v	7.6	0 0	۲.۲		<del>1</del> .4	
Ca		51.2	46.0	5 7 7	1.00	6 2 3	8.CC	51.0	21.7	50.7	7.00	707	47.0	
Sample		K I (edge)	Z	, KK	04	L 2 1		K4 (edge)	tot (cubu)	27	2	K7		

alternating grass and arable crops along the southern edge. This site may therefore receive substantial nutrient inputs from runoff from the surrounding land.

# Muirfield Moss (table 4.13)

Fertility gradually increased along the transect although the values were generally low. Calcium concentrations were highest at sample points MM5 and MM6, which appear to be areas of spring discharge. EC was highest at point 5. Percentage loss on ignition was lowest at MM4, a sample from *Molinia caerulea* grassland at the margin of the site. Part of the site was excavated for the laying of a pipeline. This area is disturbed and supports species poor *Carex rostrata* dominated fen (MM2), which is growing in a silty substratum, probably resulting from the inwashing of silt to this area after the ground excavation. The surrounding land is mainly unimproved rough grassland and there appeared to be no obvious points of nutrient enrichment.

# Murder Moss (table 4.14)

Fertility was highest at the inflows from Lindean reservoir (MU6) and from the adjacent farmland (MU1). Electrical conductivity values and chloride concentratons were highest near the southern edge of the site (MU2). Loss on ignition was lowest near the inflows, probably indicating inwashed silt deposits.

# Nether Whitlaw Moss (table 4.15)

The calcium concentration of the sample nearest the centre of the site (NW3 *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen) was lower than those from other samples. Chloride and sodium concentrations were higher in some samples, in particular at the inflow. This may be due to the proximity of the inflow to the road and inwashing of salt. The site is surrounded by intensive pasture land with occasional arable crops.

## St. Leonard's Moss (table 4.16)

At this site, sample SL5 was more fertile, had lower pH and electrical conductivity than other samples along the transect. This sample was adjacent to the drain and did not appear to receive inputs from marginal springs. Samples near the edge (SL3, SL6) appeared to receive inputs from spring discharge.

Chloride concentration, and electrical conductivity were higher in the edge area (SL3) than in other samples along the transect. The samples from the inflow, outflow and drain were more fertile than those from other areas. Silt ponded back at the outflow sluice supported a distinct

Table 4.13. Muirfield Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Muirfield Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples MM4, MM5, MM6 and MM7 are located along trasect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Sample	Plant		EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IOT%	S.E	Peat	S.	E		
	Commun	ity							Fertilii	5			
	Code									•			
IMMI	RFCb		397.6	2.6	7.6	0.1	72.4	0.0	6.9				
MM2	FSM		291.4	3.5	7.7	0.0	65.0	0.1	28.0	1	4		
MM3	FMR		278.0	2.2	7.3	0.1	62.3	0.0	6.0	0	∞		
MM4 (edge)	FMC		208.8	3.4	6.9	0.0	26.0	0.2	3.7	0	2		
MM5	RFF		360.0	17.6	7.3	0.1	48.9	0.1	3.5	0	2		
MM6	RFM		290.0	1.2	7.7	0.0	90.1	0.0	4.8	0	2		
MM7 (edge)	FMC		261.2	5.9	6.7	0.1	79.8	0.1	6.7	0	5		
Table 4.13 cont.										ļ	]		
Sample	Ca S	Ē	Mg	S.E.	×	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Fe	S.E.	NH4	S.E.	G
IMMI	57.4 3	.1	9.3	0.4	0.5	0.1	6.2	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	11.4
MM2	41.6 4	4.4	6.5	0.4	0.9	0.1	8.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	10.9
MM3	39.3	9.	6.6	0.4	0.9	0.0	6.2	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	10.4
MM4 (edge)	32.5 2	4	5.0	0.3	1.4	0.1	6.9	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	9.1

S.E.

 $NO_3$ 2.4 0.8

S.E. 0.4 0.3

SO.

SE0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.1

 $PO_4$ 

S.E0.5

0.1

0.1 0.1

5.8

7.3

0.3

0.2 0.2 0.3

0.8

5.2 4.4

0.3

0.5

1.3

0.4 0.4

0.1

0.8 0.8 0.8

4.0 6.6 2.6

0.3 0.3

0.2 0.3

0.3

9.5 9.5 9.6

0.0 0.1

0.1

0,4

0.3

0.4

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.3 0.0

0.0 0.5 0.0 1.0

0.1 0.3 0.2 0.3

6.9 7.5 7.5 7.8

5.0 7.2 6.4 5.2

2.4 2.2 1.7

32.5 49.8 41.7 30.3

0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1

0.4 0.3

0.2 6.0

0.1

0.6

5.6

MM7 (edge) MM6 **MM5** 

0.2 0.0

0.4 0.2

Table 4.14. Murder Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.)from samples at Murder Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples MU2, MU3, MU4, MU5 and MU6 are located along transect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

	Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IOT%	S.E	Peat	S.E		
		Community							Fertility			
		Code							` 			
	MU1 (inflow)	RPG	387.8	1.2	7.7	0.1	23.6	0.2	25.7	2.0		
	MU2 (edge)	RFCa	417.0	17.1	7.7	0.1	88.4	0.2	4.0	0.2		
	MU3	RFM	314.8	5.3	7.5	0.1	87.6	0.1	6.8	0.3		
	MU4	FSM	322.0	2.2	7.1	0.2	87.8	0.1	16.3	1.0		
	MU5	FSM	305.8	3.6	7.2	0.1	83.4	0.1	6.1	0.7		
	MU6 (inflow)	RFCa	295.0	2.2	7.8	0.0	6.99	0.2	26.9	9.4		
4.4	MU7	RFCb	291.6	4.5	7.4	0.0	86.7	0.1	3.1	0.1		
0	MU8	RFCb	401.4	23.8	7.7	0.0	85.1	0.0	5.9	0.7		
	Table 4.14 cont.									]		
	Sample	Ca $S.E.$	Mg	S.E.	×	S.E.	Na	S.E.	NH <sup>2</sup>	S.F. CI	SE	À

Sample	Ca	S.E.	Mg	S.E.	K	S.E.	Na	S.E.	NH <sub>4</sub>	S.E.	CI	S.E.	PO4	S.E.	SO.	SE	NO,	SF
MU1 (inflow)	39.1	3.1	8.2	0.4	0.6	0.1	9.6	0.3	0.1	0.0	19.2	1.6	1.3	0.7	85	03	28	0 0
MU2 (edge)	50.6	3.5	8.6	0.4	6.9	3.9	9.7	0.3	0.4	0.3	28.0	5.7	0.5	0.2	7.1	04	3.5	0.2
MU3	45.4	2.8	7.0	0.4	0.9	0.1	6.9	0.5	0.1	0.0	10.1	0.2	0.4	0.1	4.8	0.4	0.5	10
MU4	47.8	2.6	7.5	0.4	0.6	0.0	6.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	10.0	0.3	0.3	0.2	6.8	04	15	0.2
MUS	46.8	2.9	7.0	0.3	0.9	0.1	6.8	0.4	0.4	0.3	10.4	0.5	0.2	0.1	5.2	1	01	10
MU6 (inflow)	44.6	1.7	6.8	0.3	3.4	1.9	6.5	0.3	0.1	0.0	12.6	2.0	0.5	0.2	7.3	0.2	1.5	0.1
MU7	40.5	3.0	7.1	0.7	0.7	0.0	6.7	0.3	0.2	0.1	10.8	0.2	0.2	0.1	5.8	0.2	1.0	0.4
MU8	50.2	6.3	8.9	0.8	1.9	0.8	7.6	0.1	0.1	0.0	13.9	1.3	0.2	0.2	9.9	0.5	6.7	2.5

Table 4.15. Nether Whitlaw Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Nether Whitlaw Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples NW2, NW3, NW4 and NW5 are located along transect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Sample	Plan	21	EC	S.E	Ha	S.E	IOT%	S.E	Peat	S.	<u>ل</u>				
	Commu	mity le			•				Fertilit	£					
NW1(inflow)	FTF		614.0	10.8	6.5	0.0	28.0	0.2	29.9	2					
NW2 (edge)	RFC	a	166.6	4.2	6.5	0.0	1	•	•	•	Ī				
NW3	POI	~	88.2	9.5	6.4	0.1	•	•	•	•					
NW4	FSC	7)	396.4	6.7	7.0	0.1	,	•	•	•					
NW5 (edge)	RFC	a	392.0	5.6	6.5	0.1	•	•	•	•					
NW6 (edge)	FSN	И	173.4	9.8	7.1	0.1	•	•	•	•					
NW7	IOd	~	53.3	0.9	4.6	0.0	•	,	•	•					
Table 4.15 cont.											]				
Sample	Ca	S.E.	Mg	S.E.	K	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Мn	se	Fe	S.E.	$NH_4$	S.E.	CI
NW1(inflow)	52.1	3.3	9.1	0.9	5.1	0.2	40.8	1.6	3.8	1.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.0	93.7
NW2 (edge)	21.6	0.4	4.4	0.2	3.8	0.2	5.6	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.2	9.3
NW3	5.2	0.4	1.8	0.2	6.7	2.8	5.6	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	14.6
NW4	25.0	1.3	5.7	0.2	2.0	0.1	30.6	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	82.8
NW5 (edge)	27.7	2.8	5.4	0.2	6.1	2.7	30.3	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	87.8
NW6 (edge)	21.8	0.4	4.1	0.2	3.9	3.1	5.4	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	15.2
NW7	1.8	0.2	5.5	0.3	0.5	0.1	11.4	4 8	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.0

S.E.

 $NO_3$ 0.4 0.5 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.7

S.E.

*SO*4

S.E

 $PO_4$ 

S.E7.0 0.3 4.7 5.3 6.6 5.9 3.2

0.1 0.1

0.4

3.2 4.7 2.1

0.2 0.2

0.4 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.1

0.1

4.9 5.5

> 0.1 0.1

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1

0.2 0.2

0.1

0.3

0.4

4.3

0.0

0.2

11.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.0

4.8 8

11.4

2.1

0.1

nted in Annendix	
f samples are prese	w table 4.9.
s. Locations o	viations follo
eonard's Mos	nits and abbre
umples at St. L	or table 4.3. U
: (S.E.) from s	are coded as f
standard errors	t communities
variables and s	sect A-B. Plan
nvironmental v	ed along ttrans
s. Values of en	SL6 are locate
eonard's Mos	SL4, SL5 and
able 4.16. St. L	Samples SL3, {

Sample	Plant		EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IO1%	S.E	Peat	S	E	
	Communit Code	8							Fertili	£		
SL1(outflow)	FSC	-	339.6	1.2	6.8	0.1	50.8	0.1	15.6			
SL2	RPG		356.8	1.3	7.4	0.1	59.6	0.1	8.0	1.	2	
SL3 (edge)	RFM	- 1	522.6	4.3	7.2	0.1	81.7	0.3	4.0	0	5	
SL4	RFF	7	409.8	6.3	7.4	0.1	69.69	0.1	4.9	0	2	
SL5	FTH		166.8	3.4	5.4	0.1	85.1	0.3	11.3	1.	5	
SL6 (edge)	RFF		354.4	5.0	7.0	0.1	83.9	0.0	4.7	0	3	
SL7	FSM		354.4	1.0	7.6	0.1	61.5	0.2	37.1	10	2	
SL8 (inflow)	FSM		358.6	1.8	8.0	0.1	58.5	0.1	12.3	0	~	
Table 4.16 cont.											]	
Sample	Ca S.H	(ri	ЯĮ	S.E.	K	S.E.	Na	S.E.	νĮ	se	Fe	S.E.
SL1(outflow)	44.8 2.0	0	9.5	0.3	0.9	0.2	8.2	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2
SL2	51.9 1.8	∞	10.7	0.4	1.5	0.1	7.7	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
SL3 (edge)	51.8 6.0	0	11.3	0.3	7.7	1.4	10.3	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
SL4	51.1 6.0	0	9.0	0.9	1.3	0.3	9.2	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.3
SL5	22.8 2	-	4.4	0.9	3.0	0.4	7.4	0.6	0.0	0.0	1.5	0.4
SL6 (edge)	55.4 1.9	6	10.8	0.3	1.8	0.2	8.1	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
SL7	50.1 1.9	6	10.4	0.3	0.9	0.1	7.9	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
SL8 (inflow)	48.3 1.4	4	10.9	0.3	0.9	0.0	7.4	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

0.2 0.4 0.5 0.3 0.7 0.2

4.2

0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2

0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

0.1 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.0

10.3 11.2

0.6 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.4

0.2 0.2 0.8

1.3 0.6 1.7 2.5 2.6

1.3 0.5 0.4 0.1

1.9 1.9

1.3 0.8

0.7 0.2 0.6

*SO*<sub>4</sub> 5.3 5.4 5.4

S.E.

 $NO_3$ 1.0

S.E.

S.E

 $PO_4$ 

S.E

C

S.E.

 $NH_4$ 

11.6 11.3 42.2 13.3 0.6

8.1 7.2

0.7 0.7

10.7 10.6

0.6

Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	IO1%	S.E	Peat	S.E	_										
	Community Code							Fertility												
WHM1 (outflow)	RFM	237.0	3.9	6.8	0.1	71.3	0.3	2.7	0.2											
WHM2	RFM	300.8	4.4	6.8	0.0	85.6	0.0	5.0	04											
WHM3 (edge)	RFF	262.8	2.9	6.9	0.1	86.8	0.1	4.6	0.3											
WHM4	RFS	300.0	3.1	6.9	0.1	82.9	0.1	6.8												
able 4.17 cont.										7										
Sample	Ca S.E.	Alg	S.E.	×	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Vín s		Fo SF	HN .	C F		LI LI LI		С С	0	ב כ	~~~	;
WHM1 (outflow)	31.9 1.3	4.6	0.2	1.2	0.5	6.6	03	00								3.6		3.E	NO3	S.E.
WHM2	44.1 1.4	5.9	0.1	0.7	0.2	6.8	0.5	0 0 0					1.0	7.0	0.0	C.U	2.Y	0.2	0.4	0.0
WHM3 (edge)	35.9 3.4	48	0.2	1.0	0.2	7.8	0 0	0 2 0	2				0	0.0	1.0	0.1	5.0	<b>4</b> .0	0.5	0.1
WHM4	44.6 2.0	5.7	0.4	1 7	0 6	66	20		2 -				0	<b>4</b> .0	0.4 -	0.2	4.5	0.2	0.5	0.1
					2	2	2.2	> • •	-			-		2			0 ~		r <	<

0.2

0.7

0.2

3.9

0.1

0.5

0.6

9.6

0.1

0.3

0.0

WHM4

Table 4.17. Whitehaughmoor Moss. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Whitehaughmoor Moss. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Samples WHM1, WHM2 and WHM 3 are located along trasect A-B. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

Table 4.18. Whitmuirhall Loch. Values of environmental variables and standard errors (S.E.) from samples at Whitmuirhall Loch. Locations of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Plant communities are coded as for table 4.3. Units and abbreviations follow table 4.9.

	Sample	Plant	EC	S.E	Hd	S.E	107%	S.E	Peat	S.E	<u> </u>					
		Community Code							Fertility	2	-					
	ML1	FSM	341.0	2.6	7.0	0.1	86.2	0.1	4.5	0.4	<u> </u>					
	WL2	FSM	354.0	1.4	7.9	0.0	76.9	0.4	2.8	0.1						
	WL3	RPG	360.4	2.2	7.5	0.1			17.9	3.0	<u> </u>					
	WL4 (edge)	FSM	407.0	1.2	7.9	0.0	78.5	0.1	14.9	1.0	Τ_					
	WL5 (edge)	FSM	402.6	5.0	7.8	0.0	83.3	0.2	10.3	1.1						
	WL6 (outflow)	RPG	358.4	1.7	7.9	0.0	54.4	0.1	30.9	8.5	-					
	Table 4.18 cont.										٦					
	Sample	Ca S.E.	NIg	S.E.	×	S.E.	Na	S.E.	Fe	S.E.	NH <sub>4</sub>	S.E.	C	S.E	PO.	SE
15	WLI	52.6 3.7	8.1	0.4	=	0.1	7.6	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	10.7	0.2	0.6	0.3
ર	WL2	52.9 2.2	7.6	0.4	0.7	0.2	7.2	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	10.2	0.2	0.5	0.2
	WL3	53.8 2.4	7.5	0.3	0.9	0.1	7.5	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	10.4	0.4	0.7	0.1
	WL4 (edge)	55.6 6.7	7.8	0.4	0.6	0.1	7.7	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	10.6	0.4	0.3	0.1
	WL5 (edge)	49.4 7.4	7.4	0.4	0.6	0.1	8.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	10.8	0.2	0.4	0.1
	WL6 (outflow)	50.7 2.6	8.1	0.5	0.9	0.1	7.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.3	10	04	0 0

S.E. 0.4 0.8 0.3 0.3

0.6 0.1 0.3 0.6 0.5

5.6 6.1 6.2 5.1 7.3

4.0 1.2

1.0 1.8

0.6

5.1

0.2

0.4

0.1

10.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

 $NO_3$ 

S.E.

*SO*4

1.5 3.0

stand of *Phragmites australis*. The surrounding land was farmed fairly intensively with a mixture of permanent pasture and arable crops.

## Whitehaughmoor Moss (table 4.17)

There was little variation in chemical conditions and peat fertility across this small site. Generally the peat fertility was low. The surrounding land is unimproved and there were no obvious potential sources of nutrient enrichment.

## Whitmuirhall Loch (table 4.18)

There was little variation in the chemical conditions found within the site. The peat fertility was substantially higher at the outflow (WL6). Samples from the shallower peat near the dry inflow had much lower fertility than those towards the eastern expanse of the site. Fertility values were higher in samples 4 and 5 which were close to the southern edge, adjacent to intensive pasture land.

## 4.3.4 IMPACT OF CATCHMENT LAND-USE ON SITE CHEMICAL CONDITIONS

In general the highest peat fertility values were associated with peat samples from inflows and the edges of sites (figure 4.2 (table 4.19) and 4.3). The peat fertility of samples from the edges of sites surrounded by unimproved land were consistently low (2.72-7.65 mg/plant). Where the surrounding land was more intensively farmed the peat fertility of samples near the edges was more variable (3.25-112.2 mg/plant) but many values were low, despite the catchment management score being high (table 4.20). The samples from near water inflows were of more consistent fertility (12.2-37.1mg/plant) but still showed considerable variation. The inflows were associated with relatively low values of % loss on ignition, probably because silt is often brought into sites at the inflow. The values of % loss on ignition for samples from the edges of sites were more variable. Smaller values may be associated with areas where the substratum was oxidised or where silt was inwashed (e.g. Groundistone Moss, Murder Moss inflow).





Table 4.19. Plant community symbols used in figures 4.2, 4.5, 4.6, 4.7, 4.8.

Plant community	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen community	Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture community	Afolinia caerulea species-rich wet grassland community	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	Mixed sedge rich-fen community	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagionnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant	Carex rostrata -Potentilla palustris species-poor community	Carex rostrata species poor community	Phragmites australis reed-bed
Code	FTH	FRP	FMC	RFF	RFS	POR	BOG	RFM	RFCb	RFCa	FSM	FSC	RPG
Symbol	÷	\$	٠	٩	×	×	۲	4	0	•		٥	1





Table 4.20. The peat fertility and % Loss on ignition of samples from the edges of sites surrounded by unimproved land and improved land, and from inflows into sites. C.M.S. is the catchment management score (see section 4.2.1). The edge of the site is defined as the junction of wetland vegetation types with surrounding land. This excludes flushed vegetation on surrounding slopes.

Sample	Plant community	Sample	$\overline{C}$	%L01	S.E.	Fertility	S.E.
location			M.		0.20	(mg/plant)	
			S.			1	
Edges	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	AL8	3	83.9	0.4	3.60	0.19
C.M.S.<5	rostratum community, Carex diandra variant						
	Molinia caerulea wet grassland	AL2	3	29.0	0.6	7.65	1.02
	Mixed sedge rich-fen community	WHM1	1	71.6		2.72	0.16
1	Molinia caerulea wet grassland	MM4	2	26.0	0.2	3.73	0.19
	Molinia caerulea wet grassland	MM7	5	79.8	0.05	6.75	0.52
	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	WHM3	1	86.8		4.61	0.28
Edges C.M.S.>5	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	BE1	6	92.2	0	18.0	1.74
	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community typical variant	MU2	11	88.4	0.15	4.01	0.24
	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	K1	13	88.2	0.1	16.3	1.71
	rostratum community, Carex diandra variant				•		
	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	K4	11	59.7	0.65	13.4	2.32
	Constraium community, Carex alanara variant			00 5	0.1	10.0	1 1 2
	Carex rosirala - Callergon cuspidalum / Plagiomnium	DC+	0	88.5	0.1	10.9	1.12
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	WT A	11	78 5	0.1	14.0	1.02
	community			70.5	0.1	14.7	1.02
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	WL5	5	83.3	0.2	10.3	1.07
	community				•	1010	
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	GM3	13	22.6	0.1	63.5	4.53
	community						
	Mixed sedge rich-fen community	SL3	11	81.7	0.25	3.96	0.22
	Phragmites australis reedbed	GM2	14	19.2	1.1	112.2	5.34
	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	BE6	6	51.8	0.4	3.25	0.17
	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	BE3	6	90.1	0.05	3.27	0.13
	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	SL6	8	83.9	0	4.69	0.26
Inflows	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium	MU6	11	66.9	0.2	26.9	9.37
	rostratum community, typical variant						
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	SL7	8	61.5	0.2	37.1	10.68
	community						
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	GM1	14	52.6	0.55	23.7	2.31
	community						
	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor	SL8	8	58.5	0.1	12.2	0.85
	community						
	Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	AL3	3	12.9	0.15	20.9	2.14
	Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	NW1	11	28.0	0.2	29.9	2.72
	Phragmites australis reedbed	MU1	11	23.6	0.15	25.7	2.04

The catchment management score is positively correlated with the fertility of the peat at the edges of sites (r = 0.563, d.f. 16, p < 0.02) (figure 4.4) and with calcium and potassium concentrations in interstitial water from the same sample points (table 4.21). However there are some sites where the catchment management score is high but the fertility of the edge samples remains lower than



Figure 4.4. Relationship between catchment management score and peat fertility of samples from the edges of fen sites (r = 0.56, d.f. 15, p<0.02).

- + Ashkirk Loch
- ♦ Beanrig Moss
- ▲ Groundistone Moss
- Kippilaw Moss
- Muirfield Moss
- $\Delta$  Murder Moss
- O St. Leonard's Moss
- × Whitehaughmoor Moss

might have been expected (figure 4.4). The peat fertility values of both edge samples from St Leonard's Moss and the sample from the south side of Murder Moss were low despite the relatively high intensity of the adjacent land-use.

Table 4.21. Correlations of land-use category with mean interstitial water concentrations of cations and anions associated with nutrient status, and mean fertlity and loss-on-ignition of peat from samples at the edges of sites (d.f. 16). NS indicates not significant.

	Fertility	PO4	K	NO <sub>3</sub>	NH4	Ca	LÕI
Catchment Management Score	0.563	0.440	0.536	0.304	0.285	0.605	-0.189
0	p<0.02	NS	p<0.05	NS	NS	p<0.01	NS

## 4.3.5 VARIATION IN FEN WATER AND SUBSTRATUM CONDITIONS

The ranges of soil fertility, organic content of the fen soil and water chemical conditions recorded from the Scottish Borders fens are presented in table 4.22.

Table 4.22.Ranges of some environmental variables measured in the substrata and water of the Scottish Borders fens examined in this part of the study.

		mean	S.E.	min	max
Peat	Soil Fertility (mg)	15.9	2.84	2.72	114.3
n=58	% loss on ignition	68.10	2.95	12.85	93.25
Water	pH	6.95	0.08	4.52	8.23
n=68	Electrical Conductivity µS/cm <sup>-1</sup>	292.00	14.38	43.67	614.00
	Cl (mg l <sup>-1</sup> )	14.85	1.98	3.92	93.72
c	$NO_3 (mg l^{-1})$	1.59	0.24	0.23	8.79
	$SO_4 (mg l^{-1})$	4.79	0.27	1.55	11.02
	$PO_4 (mg l^{-1})$	0.41	0.03	0.00	1.32
	$NH_4$ (mg l <sup>-1</sup> )	0.16	0.02	0.00	0.67
	$K (mg l^{-1})$	2.10	0.37	0.03	23.19
	$Ca (mg l^{-1})$	37.23	1.98	0.61	58.16
	Mg (mg $l^{-1}$ )	7.08	0.42	1.16	17.34
	Na (mg $l^{-1}$ )	9.41	0.83	5.37	40.79
	Fe (mg $l^{-1}$ )	0.56	0.15	0.00	9.13
	$Mn (mg l^{-1})$	0.15	0.07	0.00	4.79

There is a wide range of fertility with a few extremely fertile samples. Fen vegetation occurs on a range of substrata, from mineralised soil to almost purely organic peat. Calcium concentrations show much variation, with most samples containing 30-50 mg  $l^{-1}$  but a few exceptional samples containing less than 10 mg  $l^{-1}$ . Concentrations of potentially toxic chemicals, iron and manganese, were generally so low they were undetectable in the chemical analyses.

# 4.3.5.1 L.A.T model

The water types of the Scottish Borders fens were characterised according to the L.A.T. model of VanWirdum 1991 (figure 4.5). This uses the ionic ratio (I.R.) and electrical conductivity (E.C.) at 25°C to characterise fen waters as one of three types (table 4.23).

Table 4.23. Electrical conductivity (E.C.) at 25 °C and the Ionic ratio (I.R.) of reference water types (after VanWirdum 1981).

Water type	E.C. $(25^{\circ}C) \text{ mS/m}^{-1}$	I.R.
Lithotrophic (groundwater)	65.2	95
Atmotrophic (rainwater)	5.0	20
Thalassotrophic (seawater)	<b>52</b> 00.0	4

Other intermediate types are also recognised:

Monulotrophic (polluted brackish water)

Poikilotrophic (intermediate between lithotrophic and atmotrophic water types).

Most of the samples from the Scottish Borders fens are characterised as lithotrophic because of their high base content, however some approach the atmotrophic reference point, notably those representing poor-fen vegetation. The vegetation types otherwise show no pattern in relation to the water types. A few samples approach the monulotrophic reference point which indicates nutrient enrichment. These are samples from the edges of sites, often near fertilised fields or roads which are salted in the winter.

## 4.3.6 RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN WATER CHEMISTRY, FERTILITY AND VEGETATION

The main relationships between fen vegetation and water chemistry and peat fertility are very general. Many of the variables were highly inter-correlated. In particular pH and electrical conductivity were significantly correlated with many of the measured water chemical variables (table 4.24). Peat fertility was not significantly correlated (p<0.05) with any water chemical variables and has not been included in table 4.24.

Table 4.24. Correlation of pH and electrical conductivity (E.C.) with water chemical variables. N=58. ns indicates no statistically significant relationship.

	Fe	K	Na	Mg	Ca	SO4	NO3	Cl	Е.С.
<i>E.C.</i>	-0.340	ns	0.367	0.481	0.641	0.388	0.279	0.356	1
pН	-0.420	-0.297	ns	0.354	0.643	0.425	0.309	ns	0.430





Some variables showed significant relationships to the species richness of the samples (table 4.25). In all cases these were negative relationships so higher values of peat fertility, electrical conductivity, calcium concentration and sulphate concentration were associated with lower species richness. The number of rare species was significantly negatively correlated with peat fertility. The number of bog species was negatively correlated with pH.

Table 4.25. Correlations between peat fertility, water pH, Electrical conductivity, calcium and sulphate concentrations and species richness. ns indicates no significant relationship, \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001.

	total	Rich-fen	Poor-fen	Bog	Rare fen
	species richness	species	species	species	species
Fertility (mg/plant)	-0.355**	-0.407**	-0.360**	ns	-0.343*
pН	ns	ns	ns	-0.314*	ns
EC (µS/cm)	-0.343*	-0.401*	-0.407**	-0.378*	ns
Ca (mg/l)	-0.441**	-0.447***	-0.555***	-0.592***	ns
SO <sup>4</sup> (mg/l)	-0.323*	ns	-0.314*	-0.310*	ns

The strong negative relationship between calcium concentration and species richness is surprising because high calcium concentrations are often associated with areas of spring discharge, which are often species-rich. This may explained by liming (in spring) of fertilised fields, so that high calcium concentrations are often associated with increased nutrient concentrations in addition to indicating base-rich water input. This negative relationship does not exist for rare species many of which are concentrated in areas which appear to be fed by base-rich spring water.

# 4.3.6.1 CANOCO analysis

# 4.3.6.1.1 Linear combinations of environmental variables

The biplot of linear combinations of environmental variables (figure 4.6) produces an ordination diagram based on the combination of environmental variables (mire water contents) for each sample without taking the species composition into account. The samples with the most distinct water chemistry are those representing poor-fen and bog vegetation, characterised by abundant *Sphagnum*. All other samples (representing rich-fen and species-poor fen and swamp vegetation types) are grouped together, showing no clear distinction between the water types associated with different plant communities.





## 4.3.6.1.2 Vegetation in relation to environmental variables

The CANOCO biplots are based on the sample scores which are derived from the sample ordination with respect to species composition.

(i) Water chemistry (figure 4.7)

(axes 1 and 2 account for 36.2% of the variation in the species ordination; monte carlo test not significant.)

The following gradients represent the primary and secondary axes of floristic variation:

- 1. Base-rich base-poor water (represented by calcium concentration and pH vectors)
- 2. Nutrient-poor nutrient-rich water (represented by nitrate, ammonium, phosphate and sulphate vectors).

These axes are roughly orthogonal, although the nutrient axis is skewed to the base-rich (high calcium concentration) end of the base richness axis.

The chemical variables potassium, iron, chloride and sodium all show little relation to the sample ordination, as indicated by the short length of the vectors. High manganese concentration is associated with low nutrient status. Samples representing poor-fen vegetation form a distinct cluster towards the negative end of the base-richness gradient (low calcium concentration and low pH). The other vegetation types are not distinctly grouped, although samples of the *Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* species-poor community and the *Phragmites australis* reedbed community tend to be concentrated nearer towards the positive end of the nutrient gradient and the *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* community and *Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum*/*Plagiomnium rostratum* community, *Carex diandra* variant tend to be grouped towards the negative end of the nutrient gradient.

(ii) Water chemistry, peat fertility and % loss on ignition (figure 4.8)

(axes 1 and 2 account for 32.9% of the variation in the species ordination; monte carlo test not significant)

The following gradients represent the primary and secondary axes of floristic variation:

- 1. Low -high fertility (represented by peat fertility, nitrate, ammonium, phosphate, sulphate potassium vectors).
- 2. Base-rich base-poor water (represented by calcium concentration and pH vectors)

This biplot shows again a low to high pH and calcium concentration gradient and, roughly orthogonal to this, a fertility and nutrient status gradient; however it is the variation in nutrient status which corresponds to the primary axis of floristic variation in this analysis. The base-







Figure 4.8. CANOCO biplot of sample ordination scores (based on species composition) and environmental variables scores (x 10) showing the relationship between plant communities and peat fertility and % loss on ignition (%LOI) and water chemical variables (n = 57; monte carlo test not significant). Symbols represent plant communities (see table 4.19).

richness gradient is less important in this data set than that without phytometric data because there were fewer samples representing poor-fen vegetation types included in the phytometric trials. Iron, sodium and chloride have little impact on the ordination as indicated by the small magnitude of their representative vectors.

Samples representing Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species -poor community, Carex rostrata species -poor community, and Phragmites australis reed-bed vegetation are grouped towards the positive end of the fertility gradient. Samples representing the Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community and the mixed sedge rich-fen community are grouped towards the negative end of the fertility gradient. The Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant and Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant show no distinct grouping.

## 4.4 Discussion

The objectives of this part of the study were to determine the range of chemical conditions and peat fertility present in the Scottish Borders fens and investigate the relation of the variation in these variables to the surrounding land-use and the occurrence of different plant communities.

#### 4.4.1 COMPARISON WITH OTHER FENS

A wide range of conditions is encompassed by the Scottish Borders fens (see table 4.22) although concentrations of major nutrients (N, P, K) are low compared with other examples from the U.K. (e.g. Wheeler 1983), and from the Netherlands (e.g.Van Wirdum 1991, Kooijman & Bakker 1995). The plant communities of the Scottish Borders fens have synonymous counterparts in other British fens. Some hydrochemical and peat fertility data from other comparable studies are presented in table 4.26. The water associated with fen plant communities at Malham tarn (Proctor 1974, 1995) is more calcareous than that of the Scottish Borders fens. Also water samples associated with sedge fen plant communities in Catfield and Irstead fen in the Norfolk Broads were more calcareous than their counterpart Scottish Borders fens plant communities (Giller & Wheeler 1986).

Table 4.26. Comparison of hydrochemical and peat fertility data from some of the Scottish Borders fens (S.B. fens) with data from synonymous plant communities from other U.K. fens (Wheeler & Shaw 1987, Shaw & Wheeler 1990) and data from Malham Tarn (Proctor 1974).

	pH		$EC$ $(\mu S cm^{-1})$		Peat Fertility (mg plant <sup>-1</sup> )		$\begin{array}{c} Ca\\ (mg\ l^{l})\end{array}$	
Scottish Borders fens plant community	S.B.	<i>U.K</i> .	S.B.	<i>U.K</i> .	S.B.	<i>U.K</i> .	<i>S.B</i> .	Malham
	fens	fens	fens	fens	fens	fens	fens	tarn fen
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	7.0	6.4	307.8	676	5.02	6.6	41.6	60.1
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	6.8	6.1	304.7	274	9.13	13.4	30.2	54.11
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	7.1	6.9	347.9	449	4.75	7.3	-	-
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	6.0	4.8	68.28	115	18.0	14.1	4.74	24.1
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community	7.3	5.6	335.5	227	18.3	12.9	-	-
Phragmites australis reedbed	7.7	6.6	354	630	38.9	33.5		

# 4.4.2 VARIATION IN ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH DIFFERENT VEGETATION TYPES

There was much variation in chemical concentrations in water samples associated with different vegetation types, but few consistent and statistically significant relationships were found between this variation and the occurrence of plant communities. Large variations in the chemical conditions associated with a particular plant community have been highlighted by Summerfield (1974) who found that there were large variations in the concentrations of cations and the electrical conductivity of mire water samples collected at different times of year and in slightly different 'positions' (horizontal and vertical distance) at the same location. Some of this variation can be explained by the existence of microtopographical zonation within vegetation types which is usually expressed as a mosaic of contrasting water conditions (Clapham 1940, Bellamy & Riely 1967, Van Wirdum 1991, Wheeler 1980b, Proctor 1974, 1995). Much of the vegetation of the Scottish Borders fens has developed as a vegetation raft overlying fluid muds. Quaking fens often contain areas of mosaic vegetation which is intermediate in character between poor and rich fen, often with cushions of Sphagnum species, including base-tolerant Sphagnum species and other bryophytes surrounded by Carex lepidocarpa-brown moss fen vegetation. Such areas show a striking vertical variation in their water chemistry, because the vegetation is associated with both the atmocline (calcium poor) water type and lithocline (calcium rich) water type. Plants rooted in different layers of a vegetation raft may be fed by different water types (Kulczynski 1949) again highlighting the potential for variation in vertical water chemistry.

General relationships between site chemical conditions and vegetation were indicated by CANOCO sample-environment biplots. These indicated that two gradients representing base-richness and fertility corresponded with the main axes of floristic variation. The gradients were roughly orthogonal to one another (therefore largely independent), the fertility gradient being skewed towards the positive end of the base-richness gradient probably because few base-poor soils are very fertile (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a) and because calcium concentration is associated with higher fertility as well as base-rich water because of liming of agricultural soils.

# 4.4.2.1 Base richness

The most obvious distinction in water type was between rich-fen and poor-fen vegetation types. These habitats are also floristically distinguished by the presence of abundant *Sphagnum* species in samples representing poor-fen vegetation.

Vegetation associated with spring-fed areas was generally more species rich and contained more rare species than other plant communities. Base-rich water flow may be important in maintaining populations of rare species. The replacement of *Dactylorhiza incarnata*, *Fissidens* and *Liparis* by *Sphagnum palustre*, *Sphagnum flexuosum*, *Aulacomnium palustre*, *Carex curta* and *Carex nigra* within a Dutch fen has been attributed to a reduction in the calcium-rich seepage flow (Wassen, Barendregt, Bootsma and Schot 1989).

Base-poor water was associated with an abundance of *Sphagnum* species in the vegetation. The accumulation of rainwater may lead to the invasion of species tolerant of base-poor conditions, for example *Sphagnum* species. Once *Sphagnum* has invaded the storage of rainwater and active hydrogen ion release by *Sphagnum* species (Clymo 1963) leads to the lowering of the pH. In laboratory trials, Kooijman and Bakker (1995) found that *Calliergon cuspidatum* grew better in base-rich ground water than in base-poor rain water. *Sphagnum subnitens* was the opposite and *Scorpidium scorpioides* and *Sphagnum squarrosum* thrived in both water types. However the growth of *Sphagnum squarrosum* was stimulated by increased nutrient supply. These preferences may affect the speed of species replacement and succession in fens where nutrient-poor fens have slow succession and nutrient-rich fens have fast succession (Kooijman & Bakker 1995).

## 4.4.2.2 Nutrient status and fertility

In the Scottish Borders fens species-richness was negatively related to fertility. The most speciesrich fen vegetation recorded in this part of the study was associated with the lowest peat fertility. The *Phragmites australis* reedbed, *Carex rostrata*, *Carex rostrata-Potentilla palustris* and *Filipendula ulmaria* tall herb fen species poor communities showed considerable variation in the conditions with which they were associated. Low species richness can be associated both with low and high fertility situations because species poor vegetation types occur as early successional plant communities under a range of conditions and as stable plant communities in high nutrient situations. Inputs of nutrients and silt may favour the growth of tall, robust species such as *Phragmites australis* (e.g. at the western inflow to Murder Moss). In British fens the fen plant communities that are most species rich and which contain the most rare species are confined to low fertility environments (Wheeler 1988, Shaw & Wheeler 1990).

Many of the Scottish Borders fens are at potential risk from nutrient enrichment from the surrounding land. Some plant communities and some areas of a site may be more susceptible to nutrient enrichment, for example the edges of a site and inflows, where inputs from the catchment will be concentrated. Except in a few cases, notably those which appear to be spring-fed, these areas were often more fertile and supported species-poor plant communities.

At some sample points, particularly in areas which appeared to receive inputs from marginal springs, the intensity of the surrounding land-use was not reflected in the peat fertility of the samples near the edge of the sites nor by the concentration of nitrogen, ammonium, phosphate and potassium ions in the interstitial water. Other workers have also found that differences in vegetation types between fens situated in similar catchments can often not be related to the concentration of nutrients (NPK) within the fen waters and peat and that spring-fed (discharge) fens have been less affected by eutrophication than topogenous fens fed by runoff / river water (recharge) (Koerselman *et al.* 1990). It is possible that the base-richness of the spring water affects the availability of the inwashed nutrients, or that the springs are so strong that they form a much more important water source for the vegetation than does the runoff from the catchment.

The availability of certain nutrients to plants may be affected by the base-richness of the fen water and its pH (Koerselman *et al.* 1990). It has been suggested that calcium can adsorb phosphorus so that areas with high interstitial water calcium concentrations can maintain low productivity vegetation through the limitation of phosphorus availability (Boyer and Wheeler 1989). High calcium concentrations in interstitial waters also favour the bacterial decomposition of organic matter leading to low carbon : nitrogen ratios and generally also to mobilisation of nitrogen from organic matter (Kemmers & Jansen 1988, Verhoeven *et al.* 1990, Verhoeven *et al.* 1993). Therefore discharge areas of calcareous groundwater (springs) may have increased turnover of organic matter with much nitrogen but a limited supply of phosphorus and they may therefore be less susceptible to the effects of nitrogen inputs. The calcium ion also has an indirect effect on soil acidity as it interferes with the processes of mineralization, e.g. ammonification and nitrification (Kemmers 1986). The availability of phosphorus may also be decreased by the presence of aluminium and iron ions in interstitial water (Verhoeven *et al.* 1993).

In areas where the vegetation has developed as a quaking raft, nutrients derived from runoff from the surrounding land may be absorbed by peat layers below the raft or simply be diverted in the water flow beneath the vegetation raft and may therefore have little immediate impact on the vegetation at the surface (Verhoeven 1983).

# 4.4.2.3 Vegetation management

Management of vegetation can have a drastic effect on species composition (Wheeler 1983). Nutrient enrichment and increased peat fertility can lead to an increase in the standing crop and the productivity of vegetation and impoverishment of species-rich fen (Wheeler & Giller 1982). However increases in productivity often only result in changes in species composition if they are drastic and lead to distinct changes in the vegetation structure (Verhoeven *et al.* 1993). Vegetation management (mowing or grazing) can prevent changes in vegetation structure by maintaining an open sward and preventing the dominance of robust and competitive species which are favoured by nutrient enrichment. Tree species can also be prevented from invading in this way.

Most rich-fen vegetation types were associated with a wide range of fertility and chemical conditions. Fen vegetation occupies a wide range of habitats (Wheeler 1993) and it is often difficult to distinguish between fen plant communities on the basis of the chemical composition of the waters with which they are associated. Other factors may be more important than the influence of water chemical conditions in determining the occurrence and distribution of vegetation. Proctor (1992) demonstrated that it is possible that variation in major ions may have little direct influence on the distribution of ombrogenous bog species or vegetation types.

Much of the variation in chemical conditions in the Scottish Borders fens appears to be a result of the development of the vegetation, especially where rafts have developed and different components of the vegetation are influenced by water of different chemical composition; this will be investigated in Chapter 5. In areas which have been subject to nutrient enrichment the vegetation is generally species-poor and robust; mowing has reduced the dominance of *Phragmites australis* at some sites. Other areas, which appear to be threatened by nutrient enrichment, have low fertility peat and support species rich vegetation. These areas appear to be influenced by inputs of spring water. It may be possible to maintain species-rich plant communities with populations of rare species in sub-optimal chemical conditions, despite nutrient enrichment, through the buffering capacity of fen waters and the continuation of vegetation
management (Shaw & Wheeler 1992). The impact of grazing on species richness of fen vegetation will be examined in Chapter 6 of this study.

# Chapter 5: Vegetation rafts: composition, development and chemical conditions.

#### **5.1 Introduction**

Although not recognised in the "classic" description of the hydrosere (Tansley 1939), hydroseral colonisation of small bodies of open water often occurs by the formation of a quaking raft overlying water or fluid muds (Kulczynski 1949, Segal 1966, Walker 1966, Walker 1970, Van Wirdum et al. 1992). Vegetation rafts can develop naturally over lakes and open water (Walker 1966, Wilcox & Simonin 1988), over subsided peatland (Tallis 1973), and over flooded peat cuttings (White 1930, Lambert *et al.* 1960, Van Wirdum 1991). The raft can develop through the direct colonisation of open water (hydroseral succession), or as a result of the flooding of vegetated solid peat when buoyant rhizomes of rooted species such as *Phragmites australis* and *Typha latifolia* lose their attachment to the solid peat and float to the water surface (H. Pick (1972) cited in Bakker 1979).

Vegetation rafts commonly occupy former peat cuttings (White 1930, Segal 1966, Giller & Wheeler 1986, Van Wirdum 1991) and these semi-natural habitats often contain conservationally important plant communities and rare plant species (Wheeler 1993). The bryophyte flora of all but early successional rafts is often well developed probably because the raft creates a hydrostatic environment which does not suffer large fluctuations in the water table relative to the vegetation surface, reducing the stress of both desiccation and flooding (Green & Pearson 1968, Giller & Wheeler 1986). Under these conditions some bryophyte species, most notably *Sphagnum* spp., can alter the chemical conditions at the vegetation surface and thus can sometimes influence the direction and rate of vegetation development through the rapid formation of peat and the isolation of the vegetation surface from the base-rich water supply (O'Connell 1981, Kooijman & Bakker 1995, Glime *et al.* 1982).

Many of the Scottish Borders fens support vegetation rafts, with a range of plant communities including examples of rich-fen, poor fen and bog vegetation. The objectives of this part of the study were to examine the processes of vegetation raft formation and development through investigations into:

- 1. the occurrence of different plant communities on vegetation rafts;
- 2. the composition and thickness of vegetation rafts supporting different plant communities;
- 3. the impact of basin morphology on raft development;

4. the development of poor-fen vegetation on vegetation rafts and the reasons for the occurrence of two distinctive *Sphagnum* communities:

(a) Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community rich in Sphagnum species typical of poor-fen and bog (e.g. Sphagnum recurvum, Sphagnum fimbriatum, Sphagnum palustre);
(b) Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community rich in Sphagnum species tolerant of base-rich conditions (e.g. Sphagnum contortum, Sphagnum teres, Sphagnum warnstorfii).

5. differences in baseline water chemistry between sites and the autogenic alteration of water chemical conditions during raft development and vegetation succession.

# 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 THE OCCURRENCE OF VEGETATION RAFTS IN DIFFERENT PLANT COMMUNITIES

Quadrat data from the general survey of the Scottish Borders fens were used to determine the occurrence of vegetation rafts in different plant communities. This was calculated as the proportion of all samples representing a particular plant community occurring as a quaking raft or rooted into solid peat.

The average depth from the vegetation surface to solid substratum for quaking samples representing each plant community was calculated. The beginning of the solid substratum was taken as the surface of residual peat deposits beneath the raft or of the clay base where there were no residual peat deposits.

#### 5.2.2 COMPOSITION AND STRATIGRAPHY OF RAFTS

The composition and stratigraphy of vegetation rafts were investigated along transects across 5 sites supporting different vegetation types, usually with clear zonation (table 5.1). A monolith of the raft was extracted using a serrated knife which could extract up to 80cm depth. In some cases this was insufficient to reach the bottom of the raft, but it allowed the composition of the at least the upper layers of the raft to be determined. The thickness of the raft was estimated using a 'bog mat depth sampler' (figure 5.1) and the components of the raft (roots, rhizomes, moss, mud) were separated and quantified. The dominant components in different layers of the raft were recorded.



Figure 5.1. 'Bog mat depth sampler' a tool to estimate raft thickness. It is inverted into the core hole, opened to an inverted T, and lifted until resistance is met (after Wilcox & Simonin 1988).

The degree of fibrousness was also noted. The peat stratigraphy was recorded using a Hiller borer at each sample point.

Table 5.1.	. Sites and principal	plant communities	used in the stu	udy of raft	composition.	The status of	the
site (peat-	cutting or undisturt	bed) is indicated.					

Site	Plant communities
Whitehaughmoor Moss (peat cutting)	<i>Carex diandra-Sphagnum contortum</i> community, mixed sedge rich-fen community with rare bryophytes.
Kippilaw Moss (peat cutting)	Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum - Plagiomnium rostratum community
Greenside Moss (peat cutting)	Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum - Plagiomnium rosratum fen, Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community
Nether Whitlaw Moss (peat cutting)	Carex rostrata- Potentilla palustris species-poor community, Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community
Brown Moor Heights (undisturbed)	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community, Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community

#### 5.2.3 WATER CHEMISTRY

The differences between measurements of pH and electrical conductivity recorded in the field during the general survey of the Scottish Borders fens (1992 & 1993) from above and below the raft in samples representing different plant communities were analysed.

Water samples were also collected during December 1994 from a selection of sample sites containing comparable and contrasting vegetation types developed as vegetation rafts (table 5.2). The area of *Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum* bog vegetation at Long Moss on solid peat was also included as a reference sample point.

Table 5.2. Sample locations and vegetation types used for water sampling. Substratum refers to the deposits between the raft and solid (residual) deposits. Sample locations are presented in Appendix 2.

Sample location	Code	Plant community	Substratum
Whitehaughmoor Moss	WHM2	Mixed sedge rich-fen with rare bryophytes	loose peat / grounded
Beanrig Moss	BE7	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	loose peat / grounded
Long Moss fen	LM2	Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum - Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant	fluid detrital peat
Nether Whitlaw fen	NW2	Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum - Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant	fluid detrital peat
Nether Whitlaw poor fen	NW7	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor- fen community	fluid detrital peat
Blind Moss	BL1	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor- fen community	fluid detrital peat
Groundistone moss bog	GM4	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	fluid detrital peat
(Long Moss bog)	LM1	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	solid peat

Triplicate water samples were collected from the vegetation surface and from beneath the raft at each sample point. Samples were collected in 250ml high density polythene bottles, were stored at  $<5^{\circ}$ C and were filtered and analysed in Sheffield for cations (calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium, manganese, iron, ammonium) and anions (nitrate, phosphate, sulphate, chloride) using the methods described in Chapter 4 of this thesis. pH and electrical conductivity were recorded in the field. The water type of each sample was characterised using the L.A.T. (lithotrophic, atmotrophic, thallassotrophic) model of Van Wirdum (1991) based on the electrical conductivity and Ionic Ratio (base-status) of each sample, as described in Chapter 4.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 OCCURRENCE OF VEGETATION RAFTS IN DIFFERENT PLANT COMMUNITIES

Most plant communities in the Scottish Borders fens can occur as vegetation rafts (table 5.3); however two communities, the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* rich-fen community and *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen community occurred *exclusively* as vegetation rafts.

Table 5.3. The percentage occurrence of plant communities on quaking and solid substrata in the Scottish Borders fens data set.

	Proportion of samples developed as quaking rafts or rooted into solid peat		
Plant Community	Quaking	Solid	
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	100	0	
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	100	0	
Glyceria fluitans species-poor community	75	25	
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, miscellaneous variant	65	35	
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant	58	42	
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Menyanthes trifoliata variant	56	44	
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	54	46	
Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community	53	47	
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog	50	50	
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	37	63	
Carex rostrata- Potentilla palustris species-poor community	34	66	
Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community	33	67	
Acidified / wooded fen	25	75	
Sparganium erectum species-poor community	25	75	
Eleocharis palustris species-poor community	20	<b>8</b> 0	
Phragmites australis reedbed	20	80	
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Carex rostrata variant	14	86	
Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen	13	87	
Mixed wet grassland	11	89	
Molinia caerulea / Juncus acutiflorus fen meadow	10	90	
Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	9	91	
Phalaris arundinacea reedbed	0	100	
Carex acutiformis species-poor community	0	100	

# 5.3.2 COMPOSITION OF VEGETATION RAFTS

#### 5.3.2.1 Nether Whitlaw Moss

A long, narrow site containing extensive *Carex rostrata* swamp vegetation with localised development of the *Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum*, *Plagiomnium rostratum* community, and with a central area of *Carex rostrata-Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen supporting birch and willow carr.

The thickest and most stable rafts were those supporting poor-fen vegetation, and occurred near the centre of the site (table 5.4). The main components of the rafts are presented in figure 5.2.

a) Rich-fen and swamp samples:



b) Poor-fen samples:





Table 5.4. The abundance of different species and components of the raft at different locations on Nether Whitlaw Moss. The locations of the transect and samples are presented in Appendix 2.

The vegetation types on the raft surface and the main components of the raft were recorded using the following scale:

Habitat type		Abundance scale		
RF	Rich-fen	XXXX	>50%	
PF	Poor-fen	XXX	31-50%	
S	Swamp	XX	21-30%	
		Х	5-20%	
		+	<5%	

Sample	NW2	NW3	NW4	NW5	NW7
Habitat type	RF	PF	S	S	PF
Raft Thickness (cm)	40	70	60	50	80-100
Menyanthes trifoliata	XXX	XX	xxxx	XXX	+
Carex rostrata rhizomes	xxx	XX	xxx	XXX	XX
Eriophorum angustifolium	I	XXX			
mud	x	x	+	+	xx
Sphagnum moss		+			XXX
Hypnoid moss	+	+			+
Equisetum fluviatile	x	x	x	XXX	x
Potamogeton roots			x		
Depth from vegetation surface	160	180	220	100	200
to solid substratum (cm)					
Distance from nearest edge (m)	3	24	47	5	45

# 5.3.2.2 Kippilaw Moss

A small, triangular site containing 3 central pools surrounded by *Carex rostrata* swamp, *Carex paniculata* swamp, *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* rich-fen and *Salix* carr.

The raft thickness varied across the site (table 5.5). Areas nearer the centre of the site, where there was patchy *Salix* scrub, were the thickest recorded at Kippilaw Moss (60cm). Other areas of *Carex rostrata* swamp occurred as a treacherous, thin raft (30cm). Both these areas were near pools of open water. The main structural components of the raft were *Carex rostrata* and *Menyanthes trifoliata* rhizomes. *Equisetum* rhizomes were abundant at the base of the raft and mosses and mud tended to occur throughout although these were more abundant near the surface. Where scrub occurred the tree roots were present near the surface of the raft (table 5.5 and figure 5.3).





Table 5.5. The abundance of different species and components of the raft at different locations on Kippilaw Moss. The location of the transect and sample locations are presented in Appendix 2. Habitat types and the abundance of raft components are scored as for table 5.4.

Sample code	K4	K5	K6	K2	K1
Habitat type	RF	S	S	S	RF
Raft Thickness (cm)	grounded	60	60	30	40
Menyanthes trifoliata	XXXX	XXXX	XXX	xx	XXXX
wood			x		
mud	XX	х	х	+	xxx
Carex diandra	Х				
Carex rostrata	xx	XXX	xxx	xxxx	xx
Plagiomnium rostratum	x		x		xx
Calliergon cuspidatum	x		x		x
Equisetum fluviatile	+	х	x	+	
Depth from vegetation surface	25	150	100	120	125
to solid substratum (cm)					
Distance from nearest edge (m)	3	16	21	11	5

# 5.3.2.3 Brown Moor Heights

A small, circular site mostly containing poor-fen vegetation. A narrow strip around the edge supported *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* fen which merged into *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen with *Sphagnum papillosum - Eriophorum vaginatum* bog vegetation in the centre.

The peat at this site is considered to be uncut and the vegetation raft is mostly "grounded" over up to 4 metres of undisturbed peat deposits. Only the vegetation around the margins of the site is still strongly quaking (this being the area where the raft was sampled). *Sphagnum* moss is abundant in the raft and at the surface (table 5.6).

Table 5.6. The abundance of different species and components of the raft at Brown Moor Heights Moss. The sample location is presented in Appendix 2.

Habitat types and the abundance of raft components are scored as for table 5.4.

Sample code	BMH1
Habitat type	PF
Raft Thickness (cm)	50
Living Sphagnum	XX
Sphagnum	XXXX
Menyanthes trifoliata	x
Carex diandra rhizomes	+
Carex rostrata rhizomes	XXX
Depth from vegetation surface	100
to solid substratum (cm)	
Distance from nearest edge (m)	10

Menyanthes trifoliata and Carex rostrata rhizomes are the main components of the raft and these are mixed with a superficial layer of Sphagnum remains (figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Main components in layers of the vegetation raft at Brown Moor Heights Moss (sample BMH1).

#### 5.3.2.4 Whitehaughmoor Moss

A very small site containing a mosaic of *Carex lepidocarpa* brown moss rich fen (including *Cinclidium stygium*) and *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* fen with hummocks of *Homalothecium nitens*.

This is a shallow site with a part-floating, part-"grounded" vegetation raft, which is up to 80cm thick in places (table 5.7).

Table 5.7. The abundance of different species and components of the raft at different locations on Whitehaughmoor Moss. The sample locations are presented in Appendix 2. Habitat types and the abundance of raft components are scored as for table 5.4.

Sample code	WHM1	WHM2
Habitat type / location	RF	RF
Raft Thickness (cm)	40	80
Menyanthes trifoliata	x	X
Carex rostrata rhizomes	XXXX	XXX
Calliergon giganteum	x	XXX
Scorpidium scorpioides	x	XX
Equisetum fluviatile	+	+
Depth from vegetation surface	70	120
to solid substratum (cm)		
Distance from nearest edge (m)	15	30

The bulk of the raft is made up of sedge rhizomes, in particular *Carex rostrata*, and *Menyanthes trifoliata* rhizomes. *Equisetum fluviatile* rhizomes become abundant at the base of the raft (figure 5.5). Hypnoid moss fragments occurred throughout the raft and in detrital peat beneath the raft (table 5.7).



WHM2

Living shoots and moss

Menyanthes trifoliata rhizomes

Moss, *Carex rostrata* and *Equisetum fluviatile* rhizomes

Figure 5.5. Main components in layers of vegetation rafts at different locations on Whitehaughmoor Moss.

# 5.3.2.5 Greenside Moss

A small site with a central area of *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen surrounded by *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* rich-fen. Other areas represent the *Carex rostrata*, *Eleocharis palustris* and *Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* species-poor communities.

The thickest part of the raft contained abundant *Sphagnum* remains overlying a layer which contained substantial quantities of *Aulacomnium palustre*. The junction between these layers was striking and coincided with an increase in the abundance of *Carex rostrata* rhizomes and *Equisetum* fragments towards the base of the raft (table 5.8 and figure 5.6).

Table 5.8. The abundance of different species and components of the raft at different locations on Greenside Moss. The location of samples are presented in Appendix 2. Habitat types and the abundance of raft components are scored as for table 5.4.

Sample code	GREENI	GREEN2
Habitat type	PF	RF
Raft Thickness (cm)	70	60
Sphagnum	XXX	
Aulacomnium palustre	x	
Calliergon	I	х
Menyanthes trifoliata		x
Carex rostrata rhizomes	xxx	xx
Equisetum fluviatile	xx	XXX
Depth from vegetation surface	200	70
to solid substratum (cm)		
Distance from nearest edge (m)	30	5

The thinner fen raft did not contain *Sphagnum* but was otherwise similar in structure to the poorfen raft (figure 5.6).

GREEN1 (Poor-fen)

0

70

Sphagnum and Carex rostrata

Living shoots and Sphagnum moss

Aulacomnium palustre, Sphagnum and Carex rostrata thizomes Equisetum fluviatile GREEN2 (Rich-fen)



Figure 5.6. Dominant components in layers of the vegetation raft at different locations on Greenside Moss.

# 5.3.3 RAFT DEVELOPMENT AND BASIN MORPHOLOGY

There was no significant relationship between the raft thickness and the depth from the vegetation surface to solid substratum (r=0.466, d.f. 12, not significant). Therefore the depth of water or fluid peat beneath a raft has no simple relation to its thickness. However, raft thickness was positively correlated with distance from the nearest edge (defined as the edge of the basin area, not including marginal flushes etc.) (r= 0.737, d.f. 12 p<0.01, figure 5.7), so the thickest rafts were encountered near the centre of the sites. The depth from the vegetation surface to solid substratum was also greater further from the site edge showing that at most sites hydroseral succession has occurred in a shallow basin (r=0.709, d.f. 12 p<0.01). Areas of well developed poor-fen vegetation also tended to occur furthest from the edges of sites and in the deepest areas (table 5.9).



Figure 5.7. Relationship between vegetation raft thickness and the distance from the edge of the fen site in some Scottish Borders fens. r = 0.737, d.f. 12, p<0.01.

The depth from the vegetation surface to solid substratum within plant communities is presented in table 5.9. Rafts occupying the deepest areas of flooded basins supported poor-fen and swamp communities. Rich-fen and swamp vegetation was found in shallower areas.

Table 5.9. The mean depth from the vegetation surface to solid substratum within different pla	nt
communities.	

Plant community	Habitat type	Number	Mean depth
		of	from vegetation
		samples	surface to solid
			peat (cm)
Glyceria fluitans community	Swamp	3	58
Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community	Rich-fen	9	83
Menyanthes trifoliata community	Swamp	9	87
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum	Rich-fen	7	88
community, Carex diandra variant			
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum	Rich-fen	11	89
community, typical variant			
Acidified degraded fen	Rich-fen	2	90
Filipendula ulmaria tall herb fen community	Tall herb fen	2	100
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	Rich-fen	17	105
Carex rostrata- Potentilla palustris species-poor community	Swamp	14	107
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	Rich-fen	7	114
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum	Rich-fen	15	130
community, miscellaneous variant			
Carex rostrata species-poor community	Swamp	2	135
Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community	Swamp	2	160
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	Bog	4	178
Phragmites australis reedbed community	Swamp	2	205
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	Poor-fen	10	212

#### 5.3.4 WATER CHEMISTRY

#### 5.3.4.1 Spatial variation in water chemistry

Much vertical variation was found in the water chemistry. In some samples surface measurements were very different from sub-surface samples (table 5.10). T-tests were performed between surface and sub-surface measurements for each variable.

Table 5.10. Relationship between surface and subsurface water samples at each sample point. - indicates surface concentrations were significantly lower than subsurface concentrations: + indicates surface concentrations significantly higher than subsurface concentrations; - indicates surface concentrations significantly lower than sub-surface concentrations. ns indicates no significant difference.

Site	Habitat	Sample	рН	EC	Cl	Ca	NH4	Fe	Mg	Na
	type	Code		[			L		Ŭ	
Whitehaughmoor Moss	rich-fen	WHM2	ns	-	ns	+	ns	ns	ns	ns
Nether Whitlaw Moss	rich-fen	NW2	+	-	-	-	-	ns	-	-
Long Moss	rich-fen	LM2	ns	-	-		ns	ns	ns	ns
Beanrig Moss	fen	BE7	-	-	-	-	ns	ns	ns	ns
Nether Whitlaw Moss	poor- fen	NW7	-	-	ns	-	ns	ns	+	ns
Blind Moss	poor- fen	BL1	-	-	-	-	ns	+	ns	ns
Groundistone Moss	bog	GM4	-	-	-	-	ns	ns	ns	ns
Long Moss	bog	LM1	-	-	-	-	ns	ns	ns	ns

The most striking differences were in the measurements of pH, electrical conductivity, chloride and calcium concentrations. The results for each variable are presented in figures 5.8 a-m and table 5.11. The difference between measurements from surface and sub-surface samples were greatest in poor-fen and bog communities. In some cases in rich-fen vegetation there was no significant difference in the measurements from the surface and sub-surface samples.

Potassium, nitrate, phosphate and sulphate concentrations were not significantly different between samples from the surface water and the sub-surface water.

Generally where there were significant differences between the surface and sub surface values, the surface values were lower, indicating the prevalence of telluric water beneath the vegetation raft.

pH values of all surface samples (except WHM2, NW2 and LM2) were significantly lower than subsurface samples. The pH of surface water was significantly greater than sub-surface water in sample NW2.

Electrical conductivity values of all surface samples was significantly smaller than sub-surface values. Calcium concentrations of all surface samples (except WHM2) were significantly smaller than sub-surface concentrations. At Whitehaughmoor Moss surface calcium concentrations were significantly higher than sub-surface. There was no significant difference between surface and sub-surface concentrations of calcium at Long Moss (LM2)

Chloride concentrations of all surface samples (except WHM2) were significantly smaller than sub-surface concentrations.

# 5.3.4.2 Vertical variation in water chemistry in different plant communities

Measurements of electrical conductivity were significantly lower in surface water samples than sub-surface water samples in certain plant communities (*Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum* 



(b)









•

Figure 5.8. Mean values (+/- standard error) of chemical variables in surface and sub-surface water samples from vegetation rafts in some Scottish Borders fens.
(a) pH
(b) Electrical conductivity
(c) Calcium



sample site

(e)



Figure 5.8 cont. (d) Chloride (e) Sulphate

(d)







Figure 5.8 cont. (f) Iron (g) Manganese

3









Ξ



Table 5.11. Mean values and standard errors (S.E.) of chemical variables at the vegetation surface (Surface) and beneath the vegetation raft (Sub-surface) (except LM1 which is on solid peat)
Surface

SE	87	1 47	4 20	4 97	18 73	127	201	35 78	
Na	12.89	8 75	11 40	12.55	27 59	5 41	<u>616</u>	11 67	
S.F.	100	1 22	0 34	0.39	1.5	20	1 83	1 49	Ì
Mo	0	2.47	545	911	3 47	365	3.22	2.71	i
S.E.	10.0	10 0	0.0	00.0	000	000	10.0	000	, , , ,
νĮ	0.05	0.02	0.12	0.03	00	80	0.01	00.0	,
S.E.	0.16	0.02	0.0	0.04	10 0	0.03	0.01	0.0	
Fe	0.48	0.0	0.17	0.24	0.38	0.14	0.08	0.02	
S.E.	0.50	0.37	0.16	0.82	0.11	0.24	0.41	0.86	
G	6.76	3.92	11.03	5.70	7.62	8.72	6.20	8.35	
S.E.	0.22	0.36	0.42	0.45	1.22	0.51	0.26	1.57	
<i>SO</i> ,	2.61	2.91	4.25	4.46	7.01	4.77	5.61	7.40	
S.E.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.02	00.0	0.06	0.00	0.0	
PO.	0.03	0.02	0.16	0.07	0.02	0.21	0.02	0.01	
S.E.	0.0	0.01	0.02	0.0	0.00	0.03	0.0	0.00	
HH +	0.0	0.01	0.03	0.0	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.00	
S.E.	0.17	0.16	0.34	0.12	0.21	0.23	0.11	0.13	
vo,	1.14	0.83	0.68	0.84	1.03	1.24	1.02	0.82	
S.E.	0.93	0.66	0.12	0.88	0.54	0.71	0.47	0.72	
K	2.63	1.48	0.46	1.33	1.18	2.24	1.47	1.18	
S.E.	0.08	0.23	0.15	0.13	3.33	0.04	1.78	1.06	
Са	1.88	0.61	1.83	1.86	4.89	12.93	13.79	29.31	
 S.E.	4	5	-	4	7	10	6	9	
D.7	44	23	53	49	82	138	100	182	
S.E.	0.10	0.11	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.03	0.08	0.04	
Hd	4.04	4.45	4.55	6.29	5.82	5.88	5.65	6.07	
Sumple	(IWI)	GM4	NW7	BLI	BE7	NW2	1.M2	WHM2	
Habitat	bog	bog	poor-fen	poor-fen	rich-fen	rich-fen	rich-tèn	rich-fen	

0	1
õ	1
Ē.	ļ
4	
_ <u>_</u>	
_	
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{S}}$	
- T	
9	1
	ł
75	ł
<b>U</b> 1	1

			ſ					ľ		ĺ	ľ															
Hubitat	Sumple	Hd	S.E.	EC	S.E.	Ca	S.E.	K	S.E.	NO,	S.E.	NH 4	S.E.	, , OY	S.E.	so, i	5.E.	CI S	.E.	He S.	$E \mid h$	fn = S.	E M	9 S.F		SE
bog	(IWI)	4.71	0.03	71	3	8.92	2.54	2.22	0.54	1.02	0.12	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.00	2.95 (	.68	3.05 0	39 0	1.25 0	0	090	02		5 5 9	0 0
bog	GM4	6.06	0.04	175	7	16.24	4.50	1.74	0.83	1.12	0.08	0.13	0.04	0.03	0.0	8.76	10.0	1.68 0	33 6	03 0	0	0	02	86 0.4	5 15 5	050
poor-fen	NW7	5.49	0.07	232	32	13.81	0.96	1.83	0.55	0.86	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.01	2.98 (	).36 3	6.65 3	17 6	13 0	9 0	0	02 2	11 0.4	3 12 5	4 2
poor-fen	BL1	6.23	0.01	279	37	28.24	2.57	3.62	2.01	1.02	0.07	0.13	0.09	0.01	0.00	4.00	1.18	8.76 6	31 0	04	0	0	01 2	0 <del>0</del> 0 9	84	0 1
rich-fen	BE7	5.67	0.02	173	13	18.30	0.79	7.49	5.75	1.14	0.11	10.0	0.01	0.02	0.00	4.32	.22	7.60 6	.16 0	76 0.	37 0.	0	01 2.4	4 1 1	6 55 6	8 24 7
rich-fen	NW2	5.71	0.04	275		26.58	3.99	2.01	0.26	1.15	0.10	0.21	0.02	0.03	0.00	4.63	04 1	8.07 0	61 0	12 0	04 0		00	0 0 0	10 4	0 0 0
rich-fen	LM2	5.74	0.07	165	9	16.63	1.49	3.25	1.36	1.24	0.12	0.30	0.22	0.02	0.00	4.81	-87	3.44 0	30	080	02	04	02 3	61 60	2 14 6	2 6 6(
rich-fen	WHM2	6.07	0.02	365	S	22.95	1.74	0.75	0.28	0.71	0.24	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	3.66	60.5	<u>3.02 6</u>	16 0	0 10	0	0 10	01 4 6	208	9 37 8	2 28 7

/ Plagiomnium rostratum community, mixed sedge rich-fen and Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor-fen). The pH of surface water samples was significantly lower than that of subsurface water samples from poor-fen and bog vegetation types (table 5.12). There was no significant difference between surface and sub-surface pH and electrical conductivity in the Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community.

Table 5.12. T-tests between surface and subsurface measurements of pH and electrical conductivity fr	rom
different vegetation types occurring as rafts in the Scottish Borders fens.* $p<0.05$ , ** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.02$ , *** $p<0.0$	.01

	pH (mean)		µS/cm (mean)	
Vegetation type	Surface	Sub-surface	Surface	Sub-surface
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	6.2	6.3	200*	468
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant	6.6	6.6	337***	467
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, miscellaneous variant	6.5	6.3	241***	376
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	6.2	6.2	245**	405
Carex diandra-Sphagnum contortum community	6.1	6.3	255	339
Carex lepidocarpa brown moss community	6.7	6.5	370	376
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species- poor community	6.5	6.3	336	420
Carex rostrata species-poor community, Menyanthes trifoliata variant	6.3	6.0	374	460
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	4.9**	5.8	118*	135
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	4.2*	5.4	100	134

# 5.3.4.3 Variation between sample sites

Surface water measurements of electrical conductivity (r=0.679), pH (r=0.668), chloride (r=0.660), iron (r=0.494), nitrate (r=0.402) and sodium (r=0.569) were positively correlated (p<0.05, d.f.= 46) with sub-surface measurements at sample sites; all other variables showed no significant relationship between surface and sub-surface measurements.

The between sample site variation in chemical conditions at the vegetation surface and underneath the raft was assessed statistically (oneway analysis of variance, Tukey test p<0.05). Generally there was more variance in surface samples than sub-surface samples indicating that base-line conditions, prior to vegetation development, may have once been more similar in sites which now support different vegetation types and different surface water chemistry (table 5.13).

Table 5.13. Mean values, standard errors and maximum and minimum values of chemical variables of surface and sub-surface water samples from different areas of vegetation developed as a quaking raft. \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*p < 0.01, \* P < 0.05, ns not significant.

	Surfac	e				Sub-su	rface			
	mean	S.E	min	max	_	mean	S.E	min	max	
pН	5.34	0.30	4.04	6.29	F=145.06***	5.71	0.17	4.71	6.23	F=99.27***
EC ( $\mu$ S cm <sup>-1</sup> )	96.21	29.37	23.00	281.0	F=137.74***	216.9	31.94	71.00	365.0	F=15.69***
Ca (mg 1 <sup>-1</sup> )	8.39	3.51	0.61	29.31	F=50.76***	18.96	2.32	8.92	28.24	F=5.34**
Cl (mg $1^{-1}$ )	7.29	0.76	3.92	11.03	F=18.26***	13.78	3.47	7.60	36.65	F=60.27***
Fe (mg $l^{-1}$ )	0.19	0.06	0.02	0.48	F=7.67***	0.18	0.09	0.01	0.76	F=2.87*
Mn (mg $l^{-1}$ )	0.03	0.01	0.00	0.12	F=10.58***	0.03	0.01	0.00	0.06	ns
$SO_4 (mg l^{-1})$	4.88	0.61	2.61	7.40	F=4.97*	4.52	0.65	2.95	8.76	ns
$PO_4 (mg l^{-1})$	0.07	0.03	0.01	0.21	ns	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.05	ns
K (mg $l^{-1}$ )	1.50	0.24	0.46	2.63	ns	2.86	0.73	0.75	7.49	ns
NO <sub>3</sub> (mg $l^{-1}$ )	0.95	0.07	0.68	1.24	ns	1.03	0.06	0.71	1.24	ns
$NH_4 (mg l^{-1})$	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.10	ns	0.10	0.04	0.00	0.30	ns
Mg (mg $l^{-1}$ )	2.96	0.47	1.16	5.45	ns	3.31	0.53	1.99	6.22	ns
Na (mg $l^{-1}$ )	14.93	3.34	5.44	31.67	ns	20.10	6.08	5.93	55.08	ns

There was significant variation in the measurements of pH, electrical conductivity, chloride, sulphate, calcium, iron and manganese in surface water samples from different sampling points. The concentrations of potassium, nitrate, phosphate, magnesium, and sodium did not differ significantly between surface water samples from different sampling points.

There was significant variation in the measurements of pH, electrical conductivity, chloride, calcium and iron in sub-surface water samples from different sampling points. The two samples from Nether Whitlaw Moss contained chloride concentrations significantly greater than those from other samples. For the other variables samples from areas of bog and poor-fen tended to cause most of the variation that was present.

The concentrations of ammonium, nitrate, phosphate, potassium, sulphate, magnesium, sodium and manganese did not differ significantly between sub-surface water samples from different sampling points.

#### 5.3.4.4 Water types

The samples form a continuum between the atmotrophic (calcium poor) and lithotrophic (calcium rich) water types of Van Wirdum (1991) (figure 5.9). The samples from beneath the vegetation raft were usually closer to the lithotrophic reference point than those from the vegetation surface indicating the prevalence of telluric water beneath the raft. The samples of surface waters showed wider variation with samples from poor fen vegetation falling nearer the atmotrophic reference point. In





addition some samples showed some evidence of nutrient enrichment indicated by their proximity to the monulotrophic reference point (which represents the water type of polluted river water).

The ratio of key cations in water samples has been used to characterise early hydroseral and ombrotrophic water types (Pearsall 1921, Tallis 1983). Many of the samples from the Scottish Borders fens show ombrotrophic tendencies (table 5.14), mainly in areas of poor fen or in areas with abundant bryophytes, particularly *Sphagnum* species. This may reflect the ability of bryophyte species to alter the surface water chemistry and isolate the vegetation surface from the water beneath the raft (Clymo 1963, Glime *et al.* 1982, O'Connell 1981). In some samples the sub-surface waters were also characterised as ombrotrophic. This may be a result of *Sphagnum* fragments altering the water chemistry beneath the raft, or of high inputs of sodium and potassium into the mire waters. The concentrations of these cations in some surface replicates were very variable and exclusion of certain replicates produced very different values of the Pearsall ratio (table 5.15). This may be due to the mosaic hummock-hollow nature of the vegetation in some sample areas, for example Beanrig Moss and Whitehaughmoor Moss.

Table 5.14. S (surface); SS (sub-surface) Pearsall ratio from Tallis 1983 ([Na]+[K])/([Ca]+[Mg]) <0.6 = early hydroseral water types, >1.5 = ombrotrophic water types.

	Sample	Pearsall
	-	ratio
Early hydroseral	WHM2 S (excluding 1 replicate)	0.32
(<0.6)	NW2 SS	0.55
	WHM2 SS	0.59
	BL1 SS	0.62
	NW2 S	0.64
	LM2 S	0.92
	LM1 SS	1.06
	GM4 SS	1.40
Ombrotrophic	NW7 SS	1.53
(>1.5)	LM2 SS	1.57
	WHM2 S (all replicates)	1.74
	NW7 S	1.84
	BE7 SS	4.71
	GM4 S	5.37
	LMI S	5.95
	BLI S	6.08
	BE7 S	6.29

# 5.4 Discussion

# 5.4.1 OCCURRENCE OF DIFFERENT PLANT COMMUNITIES AS VEGETATION RAFTS: ZONATION AND SUCCESSION

Many of the vegetation rafts in the Scottish Borders fens have developed in former peat-cuttings. Vegetation rafts supporting contrasting vegetation types vary in thickness (figure 5.10) but have stratigraphical similarities (figure 5.11). A summary of the main characteristics of vegetation rafts from rich-fen and poor-fen vegetation types is presented in figure 5.10. The lowest layers of the rafts are usually dominated by *Equisetum fluviatile* which was subsequently colonised by a network of *Carex rostrata* rhizomes. Bryophytes can be present in this layer and other sedge rhizomes also occur, in particular *Carex diandra* and *Eriophorum angustifolium*. In fen vegetation *Menyanthes trifoliata* rhizomes become abundant nearer the raft surface. In poor fen vegetation the upper layers of the raft are dominated by *Sphagnum* remains, interwoven to a varying extent with *Carex rostrata*, *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *Menyanthes trifoliata* rhizomes.

The thickest rafts are characteristic of poor-fen habitats (table 5.15, figure 5.10); however at some sites poor-fen occurs on rafts which are thinner than those supporting swamp at other sites.

Site (habitat type)	Plant communities	raft	depth from
		thickness	vegetation
		(cm)	surface to solid
			substratum (cm)
Whitehaughmoor Moss	Carex diandra-Sphagnum contortum community,	40-80	70-120
(rich-fen)	and Mixed sedge rich-fen community		
Kippilaw Moss (rich-	Carex diandra-Calliergon cuspidatum -	40	125
fen)	Plagiomnium rostratum community		i i
Kippilaw Moss	Carex rostrata species-poor community	30-60	120-150
(swamp)			
Greenside Moss (rich-	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum /	60	70
fen)	Plagiomnium rosratum community		
Greenside Moss (poor-	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	70	200
fen)			
Nether Whitlaw Moss	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum /	40	160
(rich-fen)	Plagiomnium rosratum community		
Nether Whitlaw Moss	Carex rostrata -Potentilla palustris species-poor	50-60	100-220
(swamp)	community		
Nether Whitlaw Moss	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community	70-100	180-200
(poor-fen)			
Brown Moor Heights	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	50	100
(rich-fen)	(edge)		
Groundistone Moss	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum	~80	360
(embryonic bog)	community	J	

Table 5.15. The thickness of rafts and range of depths from the vegetation surface to the solid substratum from rafts supporting contrasting plant communities.







Figure 5.10. Range of thickness of rafts supporting different habitat types.

The rate of succession may be different at different sites, so the vegetation at one site may represent an earlier phase in succession to that at another site. The controls on rates of succession in re-vegetated peat cuttings have received little attention although White (1930) found that the sequence of succession and the colonising vegetation in abandoned peat cuttings depended on the depth of the peat cutting, so aquatic and fen plant communities were pioneers in the deepest peat-cuttings whereas *Sphagnum* poor-fen communities were pioneers in shallower peat-cuttings, and that succession proceeded faster in small sites. This, however does not appear to apply in the Scottish Borders fens as some of the deepest cuttings now support poor-fen vegetation and the shallowest support rich-fen. Also poor-fen occurs extensively on some of the largest sites.

The reasons for the occurrence of different habitats and plant communities therefore appears to be dependent on the conditions present at individual sites and their influence on the rate of succession from rich-fen and swamp to poor-fen and bog.

Successional relationships may exist between plant communities developed as vegetation rafts. Raft vegetation can be described by dividing the vegetation into different components (table 5.16) which represent phases in hydroseral succession (Segal 1966, Van Wirdum 1991) seen in the stratigraphy of the raft. Initial raft builders are often present throughout the vegetation succession (e.g. pioneer *Phragmites australis* shoots persist amongst embryonic raised bog vegetation at Groundistone Moss).

The following components of rafts can be assigned to plant communities developed as quaking rafts in the Scottish Borders fens (after Van Wirdum 1991):

- Pioneer component: a few species with extensive rhizomes exploiting the resources underneath the raft (*Carex rostrata, Menyanthes trifoliata, Equisetum fluviatile, Phragmites australis*). These communities are often species-poor and form a strongly quaking raft.
- Intermediate component: species rooted in the top 20-40 cms of the raft, usually slender *Carex* spp. and *Amblystegious* or *Sphagnaceous* bryophytes.
- Hummock and hollow components: species thriving on the substratum provided by the hummock building species, with wetter hollows in between. (*Carex paniculata*, trees, *Erica tetralix*, *Sphagnum* spp, *Vaccinium oxycoccos*, *Valeriana dioica*, *Drosera rotundifolia*)
- Microzonation component: seedlings, mosses, hepatics and algae found at the base of taller species and dead stems of large helophytes.

Table 5.16. Plant communities of vegetation rafts and the component of the raft succession they represent.

Plant community	component	n	D
Menyanthes trifoliata species-poor community	pioneer	9	87
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community typical variant	pioneer	11	89
Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community	pioneer	14	107
Carex rostrata species-poor community	pioneer	2	135
Equisetum fluviatile species-poor community	pioneer	2	160
Phragmites australis reedbed	pioneer	2	205
Carex lepidocarpa - brown moss community	Intermediate	9	83
Carex rostrata-Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant	Intermediate	7	88
Mixed sedge rich-fen community	Intermediate	7	114
Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	Intermediate / hummock	17	105
Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum poor-fen community	Intermediate / hummock	10	212
Acidified /wooded fen	hummock	2	90
Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community, miscellaneous variant	hummock	15	130
Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog community	hummock	4	178

n = number of samples; D = mean depth from vegetation surface to solid peat (cm)

The Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community often occurs as a small scale mosaic with pronounced microtopographical zonation. This type of hummock-hollow vegetation can persist for a long time (Segal 1966, O'Connell 1981) possibly due to competitive interactions of the species in the "hollow" areas (such as Scorpidium scorpioides) with potential invaders more typical of the Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community (Kooijman & Bakker 1995). It

may be that this community is a transitional but prolonged phase in the hydroseral succession from rich-fen to poor-fen which will ultimately develop into the *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* community and then possibly into ombrotrophic *Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum* bog. This successional sequence has been described in the fens of N.W. Overijesel in the Netherlands where the *Sphagnum recurvum* phase of the *Caricetum diandrae* (+/synonymous with the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community described in this study) develops into the *Sphagnum palustris* phase (+/-synonymous with the *Carex rostrata -Sphagnum recurvum* community described in this study). However the latter phase is scarce in the Netherlands, so other possible successional sequences leading to its development are unknown (Segal 1966).

The raised bog plant community, *Eriophorum vaginatum -Sphagnum papillosum* community, is recorded in an embryonic form from a raft at Groundistone Moss which has developed in a former base-rich peat-cutting.

#### 5.4.2 AUTOGENIC ALTERATION OF CHEMICAL CONDITIONS

Vegetation which has developed as a quaking vegetation raft can show pronounced microtopographical zonation. This is often expressed as a mosaic of contrasting water conditions, where in the most striking examples the hummock or tussock tops can provide an environment favourable for the establishment of calcifuge species such as *Calluna vulgaris*, within a matrix of base rich vegetation (Segal 1966, Wheeler 1980b, 1993).

High spatial (vertical and horizontal) variation in water measurements at some sites may reflect the mosaic nature of the vegetation and the corresponding environmental heterogeneity resulting from the influence of different water types (Van Wirdum 1991, Wheeler 1993). For example the values of the Pearsall ratio at Whitehaughmoor Moss represent both early successional and ombrotrophic water types.

In this study in all samples the chemical composition of the sub-surface water was more characteristic of telluric water than of rainwater. This suggests that where the surface water chemistry is significantly different from that beneath the raft the surface conditions have arisen either through the alteration of the chemical conditions of the surface water by certain species or through the local accumulation of lenses of rainwater at the vegetation surface.

Non-Sphagnum mosses may facilitate the succession from rich-fen to Sphagnum bog (O'Connell 1981, Glime et al. 1982). Green and brown portions of many bryophytes can reduce the electrical conductivity and calcium content of fen water, especially in hummocks where they are buffered from the influence of mire waters. These areas provide a suitable substratum for the invasion of Sphagnum species (Glime et al. 1982). The differences found in sub-surface water chemistry in

this study may therefore be largely attributable to the ability of brown parts of bryophytes, in particular *Sphagnum*, to alter the chemistry of fen water.

#### 5.4.3 RAFT FORMATION AND HYDROSERAL SUCCESSION

#### 5.4.3.1 Patterns of hydroseral succession in the Scottish Borders fens

Examples of terrestrialisation in the Scottish Borders fens seem to follow a general pattern which contradicts many standard concepts of the hydrosere. Accounts of hydroseral succession from fens in Britain describe the centripetal encroachment of vegetation, sometimes as a raft, from the edge into the centre of the site (Tansley 1939, Lambert *et al.* 1960, Walker 1966, Tallis 1973) where the firmest deposits are near the edge and the most treacherous in the centre (figure 5.12 b). This pattern has been described from the Norfolk Broads (figure 5.12 bi) (Lambert *et al.* 1960) and many other sites of different location and extent in the UK (Walker 1966, Walker 1970).

However in the Scottish Borders fens (and probably in other basin mires (B.D. Wheeler, pers. comm.) this pattern is reversed and the thickest and firmest rafts are developed in the central areas with treacherous "lagg" areas around the mire margins. This applies even where the vegetation *appears* to be colonising centripetally with vegetation encroaching gradually from the edges. For example at Kippilaw Moss the rafts nearer the centre are usually thicker than any found nearer the edge ,even though they may be adjacent to open water or areas with a thin raft. Two patterns are particularly striking in the Scottish Borders fens:

- A central island supported by a very firm raft, often containing poor-fen vegetation surrounded by a very thin raft (figure 5.12 ai).
   Examples: Nether Whitlaw Moss, Blind Moss north end, Greenside Moss, Brown Moor Heights, Groundistone Moss, Selkirk Racecourse Moss.
- A more uniform raft; either a generally treacherous vegetation raft with isolated moss hummocks, up to 3m diameter; or a thicker, more stable raft containing poor-fen vegetation or rich-fen with plentiful bryophytes (figure 5.12 aii).

Examples: Woolaw Loch, Whitehaughmoor Moss East and Middle basins, Long Moss north end, Kippilaw Moss.

a) Hydroseral succession in the Scottish Borders fens



b) Hydroseral succession (centripetal) (Norfolk Broads (Lambert et al. 1960), Cheshire Meres (Tallis 1973), Cumbrian kettleholes (Walker 1966))



(i) "Littoral" terrestrialisation

(ii) "Hover" terrestrialisation

Figure 5.12. Patterns of hydroseral succession

#### Basin morphology

The processes of raft formation in the Scottish Borders fens are unclear. After the cessation of peat and marl extraction the drains could have been immediately blocked and the subsequent vegetation raft development would have been through the direct colonisation of open water. Alternatively the pits may have been colonised when the drains were still effective so that a vegetation cover established loosely rooted into the substratum. Subsequent gradual flooding may have detached buoyant rhizomes or turves to form a raft, a process which has been described in the Netherlands (H. Piek (1972) cited by Bakker 1979). The source of colonising material could have been from uncut areas, from nearby sites, from 'shoeing' (replacement of turves removed before peat cutting, this was a common practice). The regrowth of rhizomes occurring beneath the cutting base and from seed banks would be unlikely in totally stripped pits (Giller &Wheeler 1986).

Other workers have attributed raft formation to the presence of raft-forming species and the occurrence of deep, steep-sided basins that allow horizontal mat growth to exceed vertical peat accumulation (Kratz & DeWitt 1986, Wilcox & Simonin 1988). Clay lined basins and lack of inlets and outlets resulting in water level changes in the basin and weakly minerotrophic waters conducive to *Sphagnum* growth have also been identified as important contributing factors (Wilcox & Simonin 1988); however most of the Scottish Borders fens have inlets and all have outlets.

#### Diversion of water flow

The pattern of central thickening of a vegetation raft has been attributed to the diversion of water flow around the mire margins by an accumulating plug of peat (Kulczynski 1949, Moore & Bellamy 1974). The diversion of telluric water beneath the raft and around the mire margins leads to the isolation of the central area from telluric water inputs and to the development of base-poor conditions at the vegetation surface. These conditions favour the establishment and fast growth of bryophytes, in particular *Sphagnum* (Kulczynski 1949). This theory explains the mechanism of positive feed-back leading to development of poor-fen vegetation once the pattern of central thickening is established. It does not explain the mechanism of *initiation* of central raft thickening in sites where the main flow of telluric water is along the central axis.

#### Cattle poaching

Cattle grazing of the mire margins is also associated with the pattern of central raft thickening (e.g. Selkirk Racecourse Moss, Groundistone Moss, Nether Whitlaw Moss before fencing), and peripheral trampling damage may perhaps explain the thinness of the marginal raft. However cattle grazing has not occurred at all the sites exhibiting this zonation so cannot solely explain its occurrence.

#### Raft attachment to margins

One possible explanation of the pattern of raft development in the Scottish Borders fens is that because most of the sites are small and sheltered, the colonising network of *Equisetum fluviatile* rhizomes and subsequently *Carex rostrata* rhizomes spread quickly and fairly uniformly over the entire site. Central areas would then be expected to suffer smaller water table fluctuations relative to the vegetation surface than edge areas because in these areas the raft would be firmly anchored to the basin edge, and thus more susceptible both to flooding by telluric water, and to drying out. The processes of decomposition would therefore be faster at the edges of the sites than in central areas which would be more buffered from the impact of water table fluctuations. Decomposition rates of peat at the mire margins may also be encouraged by flow of water from fields and from groundwater inputs leading to slower rates of peat accumulation at the edge relative to the centre of the site. Hence the central areas of the site, buffered from the decomposition processes experienced by the edge zones, would become relatively thicker.

Limited data from recording of the water table relative to the vegetation surface at Nether Whitlaw Moss (by wardens at Scottish Natural Heritage, Galashiels) appear to support this hypothesis (table 5.17) where more variation is found in the water table relative to the vegetation surface in edge sample points than in central sample points.

Table 5.17. Measurements of water table fluctuations relative to the vegetation surface from transects across Nether Whitlaw Moss. Depths are in mm, the data were recorded during 1991-1992 on 36 occasions.

*	(standard	deviation	./ mean	) x100
1	(Stanuara	ueviation	./ mean	/ ~ / (

	Sample location		
Water table fluctuations relative to the vegetation surface	Dipwell 1 (edge)	Dipwell 5 (edge)	Dipwell 3 (centre)
Mean	-16.2	39.9	-22.3
Standard deviation	47.2	56.2	28.9
Coefficient of variation*	291	141	130
	Dipwell 6 (edge)	Dipwell 10 (edge)	Dipwell 8 (centre)
Mean	44.6	13.5	99.1
Standard deviation	63.1	53.9	64.2
Coefficient of variation*	141	400	65

#### 5.4.4 FACTORS AFFECTING THE DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT VEGETATION TYPES

Distinct macrotopographical zonation of vegetation with central poor-fen surrounded by rich-fen and swamp habitats is characteristic in some Scottish Borders fens. However, in many small, shallow sites and at the margins of larger sites the raft is colonised by a mosaic of hummockhollow vegetation showing no clear macrotopographical zonation (e.g. Beanrig Moss, Woolaw Loch, Whitehaughmoor Moss Middle and Eastern basins, basin area of Muirfield Moss). The central areas of small shallow sites may be more susceptible to flooding by base-rich telluric water than central areas of larger, deeper sites because:

- there is less central area relative to the edge; therefore the influence of base-rich water may extend further into the site, particularly where there are strong marginal springs,
- in shallower sites the water flow may be directed nearer to the vegetation surface whereas in deeper sites it may be directed well beneath the raft.

Physical features of some sites where the vegetation has developed hydroserally as a raft over the entire site are presented in table 5.18. At Whitehaughmoor Moss and Brown Moor Heights the raft is "grounded" so there is little fluid peat between the raft and the solid substratum. The peat at Brown Moor Heights is believed to be uncut whereas the peat at the other sites investigated here is believed to have been removed to varying extents (see Chapter 3). The smallest sites (Whitehaughmoor Moss and Kippilaw Moss) are dominated by rich-fen and swamp vegetation, and do not exhibit the characteristic zonation described above with central development of poor fen. The thickest rafts are, however, developed further from the site edges. These sites have the smallest area: edge ratios indicating a long edge relative to area. Whitehaughmoor Moss also has the most gently shelving basin edge. The sites dominated by poor-fen habitats (Greenside Moss, Brown Moor Heights Moss and Nether Whitlaw Moss) are generally larger and have a larger area relative to perimeter than the sites dominated by rich-fen. These sites all show the characteristic vegetation zonation with central development of poor-fen described above. The raft at Brown Moor Heights is "grounded" in the centre where there is development of bog vegetation with Eriophorum vaginatum and Sphagnum papillosum. This site is believed to be uncut and the vegetation it supports may therefore represent a successional "climax" of raft vegetation development.
Site	Principal habitat types	Area (ha)	Area / perimeter ratio	approximate gradient of slope of basin edge
Whitehaughmoor Moss	rich-fen (hummock- hollow)	0.331	13.74	1:20 (5%)
Kippilaw Moss	swamp, rich-fen and pools	0.76	17.55	1:10 (10%)
Greenside Moss	poor-fen, rich-fen and swamp	1.1	20.94	1:7 (14%)
Brown Moor Heights	poor-fen and bog	1.13	27.83	1:10 (10%)
Nether Whitlaw Moss	poor-fen and swamp	4.23	38.16	1:2-1:5 (20-50%)

Table 5.18. Physical features of sites where the vegetation has developed as a raft over the entire site.

In small, shallow sites the microtopographical vegetation zonation may result from the colonisation of small lenses of relatively base-poor water producing hummock-hollow vegetation mosaics. This situation is also frequently found around the edges of sites with distinct macrotopographical zonation (e.g. Nether Whitlaw Moss, Brown Moor Heights Moss). The presence of areas of open water and thin rafts in central areas of sites (e.g. Kippilaw Moss) may be due to the non-uniform initial colonisation of the basin.

## 5.4.5 DEVELOPMENT OF SPHAGNUM-DOMINATED PLANT COMMUNITIES

The colonisation of *Sphagnum* species within base-rich fens is favoured in areas of acidic or weakly minerotrophic water. Within rich-fens *Sphagnum* invasion may be facilitated by non-*Sphagnaceous* bryophytes which depress the pH of the substratum through cation exchange (Glime *et al.* 1982, O'Connell 1981). Alternatively lenses of relatively base-poor water may develop in areas where the flow of base -rich water has been diverted (Kulczynski 1949, Van Diggelen *et al.* 1996) allowing the colonisation of *Sphagnum* species.

At some sites the relative stability of the water table in central areas described above may particularly favour the growth of mosses, and the accumulation of rainwater. As soon as a lens of base-poor water is established and *Sphagnum* colonises then succession continues aided by positive feedback mechanisms where the active exchange of hydrogen ions by *Sphagnum* further decreases the pH of the surface water and rapid growth of bryophytes increases the thickness of the raft. This leads to the isolation of the vegetation surface from the influence of telluric water and favours the growth of species characteristic of base-poor conditions in central areas, confining rich-fen vegetation to the edges of the site and producing the characteristic vegetation zonation described in the Scottish Borders fens.

In the Scottish Borders fens the factors controlling the development of *Sphagnum*-dominated communities are complicated by the occurrence of two *Sphagnum* rich plant communities which occur exclusively on quaking rafts, never on a solid substratum. The *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community, characterised by base-tolerant species of *Sphagnum (Sphagnum contortum, Sphagnum warntorfii, Sphagnum teres)*, is found extensively at Beanrig Moss, Whitehaughmoor Moss East basin, Woolaw Loch, Wester Branxholm Loch, and at the margins of Brown Moor Heights.

The Sphagnum recurvum - Carex rostrata community, characterised by Sphagnum species more typical of poor fen (Sphagnum recurvum, Sphagnum squarrosum, Sphagnum fimbriatum, Sphagnum palustre), is well developed at Greenside Moss, Groundistone Moss, Nether Whitlaw Moss, Buckstruther Moss, Brown Moor Heights and Wester Branxholm Moss.

The Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community occurs in shallower basins (mean depth from vegetation surface to solid substratum 105 cm), where the raft is often "grounded", than the Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community (mean depth from vegetation surface to solid substratum 212 cm) where the raft is often floating over fluid detrital peats.

Table 5.19. Site and vegetation features associated with the occurrence of two contrasting *Sphagnum* - rich plant communities in the Borders fens.

Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum
community	community
small scale mosaic	uniform vegetation
shallow basins (grounded raft)	deep basins (floating raft)
small sites or marginal areas	larger sites, central areas
strong inputs of base-rich telluric water	isolated from telluric water

Differences in the physical features (table 5.19) of a site may be responsible for the different pathways of development and the occurrence of different plant communities and species at sites. These contrasts can be emphasised by comparing the site and vegetation features of two sites included in the Whitlaw Mosses National Nature Reserve, Beanrig Moss which supports the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community, and Nether Whitlaw Moss which supports the *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* community (table 5.20 & table 5.21).

Table 5.20. Site feature	es of Beanrig	Moss and	Nether	Whitlaw	Moss.
--------------------------	---------------	----------	--------	---------	-------

Site features	Beanrig	Nether Whitlaw
Size	1.35ha	4.23ha
Altitude	245m	275m
Basin shape (area/perimeter)	27.2	38.2
Range of depth from vegetation	40-130cms	85-335cms
surface to solid substratum		
Gradient of slope	5-16%	33-50%

Beanrig Moss and Nether Whitlaw Moss have many similarities but Beanrig Moss contains more species and more rare species than Nether Whitlaw Moss (table 5.21). It also supports extensive development of base-tolerant *Sphagnum* communities from rich-fen, whereas at Nether Whitlaw Moss poor-fen has developed from species-poor fen and swamp.

Table 5.21. Vegetation features of Beanrig Moss and Nether Whitlaw Moss. (* combined RFS, and RARE species)								
Vegetation features	Beanrig	Nether Whitlaw						

<u> </u>	
microtopographical	macrotopographical, 2 zones
88	53
58	30
36	22
11	8
22	7
66	37
34.95	14.13
109	50
	microtopographical 88 58 36 11 22 66 34.95 109

Both sites have a hiatus in the peat stratigraphy close to the basal deposits which have been dated as Late Devensian at Beanrig Moss (Webb & Moore 1982). Therefore at both sites the postglacial peat deposits are believed to have been completely stripped. Both sites lie within improved catchments used mainly as permanent pasture. Beanrig Moss is bordered on the Eastern edge by unimproved neutral grassland which is an SSSI. Both sites are drained via open ditch drains.

Essentially Beanrig Moss is a small, shallow basin supporting a range of vegetation in a number of habitats, including Willow carr (*Salix pentandra* and *Salix cinerea*), marginal springs and flushes with microtopographical zonation, grounded vegetation rafts supporting rich-fen communities with extensive local development of ombrotrophic vegetation rich in base-tolerant *Sphagnum* species. In contrast Nether Whitlaw Moss is a relatively large, deep basin with steep sides supporting poor-fen vegetation with Salix and Birch carr in central areas and marginal swamp and rich-fen communities developed as a floating raft in a clear macrotopographical zonation.

It therefore seems likely that at Beanrig Moss the base-rich telluric water still floods the vegetation surface, preventing the encroachment of *Sphagnum* species typical of poor-fen habitats but helps to maintain the present 'hummock-hollow' vegetation mosaic whereas at Nether Whitlaw Moss the isolation of the vegetation surface from telluric water and the absence of strong springs has lead to the direct development of extensive poor-fen. Ultimately, the course of

succession at both sites will be likely to lead to the development of bog vegetation when the accumulating peat beneath the raft prevents the flooding of the vegetation surface by telluric water.

# Chapter 6: Biodiversity, Conservation Evaluation and Management of the Scottish Borders Fens.

## **6.1 Introduction**

#### 6.1.1 ISLAND BIOGEOGRAPHICAL PRINCIPLES AND CONSERVATION STRATEGY

The publication of the Theory of Island Biogeography (MacArthur & Wilson, 1967) initiated a debate about the distribution of species populations and their conservation. The theory stated that the biota of an island are in a dynamic equilibrium between immigration of new species onto the island and extinction of species already present. Thus at equilibrium small islands and islands far from the mainland should contain fewer species than large islands and islands near to the mainland. The theory was criticised for considering only one source of colonists (the mainland) and ignoring the population density and species identity. These can both be very important because sometimes the presence of a certain species is necessary for the immigration of another and in terms of conservation, specific groups of species are the focus of the research and diversity per se may not necessarily be important when attempting to conserve characteristic species groups (Webb & Vermaat 1990). Later studies (Hanski & Gilpin 1991, Harrison & Quinn 1989), used metapopulation dynamics (where sources and sinks are interchangeable), and the incorporation of species identity in examining species distributions (Smith & Charman 1988, Webb & Vermaat 1990, Usher 1980). The focus of the debate soon became the design of nature reserves (size and shape), distribution of species populations (isolation, size, interdependence) and prioritisation of sites for the maximisation of biodiversity, and the conservation of rare and threatened species.

The equation  $S = cA^z$  (Preston 1962, May 1975) has been widely used to describe species-area relationships, where S (equilibrium species number) decreases with increasing distance from the mainland or colonising source and is directly proportional to A (island area). The logged power function has been used to construct species area curves where  $\ln S = \ln c + z \ln A$ . (c and z are constants) (Connor & McCoy 1979).

Loss of natural or semi-natural habitats to urban, commercial or agricultural development has highlighted the problems of conserving the remaining habitats. These sites are often described as terrestrial "habitat islands" and have therefore been the focus for studies of metapopulation dynamics and species area relations in order to determine which features of fragments are important when choosing and designing reserves for the preservation of characteristic and rare species. This debate has mainly concerned the importance of several small versus single large reserves in the conservation of threatened habitats. May (1975) stated that as a rough rule a ten fold decrease in area would lead to a halving of the equilibrium number of species present and concluded that several small areas would support fewer species than a large area of equivalent size. However the conclusion of most of the studies concerning the "single large or several small debate" (S.L.O.S.S.) was that several smaller reserves contain more species than a single large reserve of equivalent total area (Robertson & Quinn 1988; Quinn & Harrison 1988; Higgs & Usher 1980; Jarvinen 1982). More recently research has focused on the systematic selection of networks of reserves to maximise the diversity of biological features, in particular the diversity of characteristic and rare species (Margules *et al.* 1988) and the prioritisation of sites for nature conservation (Pressey *et al.* 1993).

## 6.1.2 EVALUATION AND PRIORITISATION OF FEN SITES FOR NATURE CONSERVATION

Various schemes exist for the statutory conservation and protection of natural habitats in the UK. Sites can be protected, on the basis of their national and regional importance, through designation as National Nature Reserves (NNRs) and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). Inclusion in Environmentally Sensitive Area schemes (ESAs) can afford some protection to sites by rewarding landowners and tenants modestly for appropriate management of sites and their catchment. The maintenance of viable populations and overall biodiversity is an important consideration in the evaluation and selection of areas for nature conservation. Constraints of funding and rapid habitat destruction necessitate prioritisation of sites for nature conservation and protection. Systematic methods for the evaluation of sites and the prioritisation of sites for nature conservation on the basis of biodiversity have been recently developed (Williams 1996, Wheeler 1997). Methods for evaluation of rich-fen vegetation on the basis of species rarity and richness were described by Wheeler (1988). Fen species and plant communities have been categorised as characteristic and rare on a national, regional and continental basis (Wheeler 1996). Reserve selection has often been achieved on an *ad hoc* basis, often on the basis of "hotspots" of species richness and rarity. but these methods may not yield a set of reserves which represent all the target species and may result in the over-representation of more widespread species (Williams et al. 1996, Pressey 1990, 1994). The principles of complementarity, flexibility, irreplaceablility and efficiency (Pressey & Nicholls 1989, Pressey et al. 1993, Vane-Wright 1994) have been used in the systematic selection of networks of areas to represent all species from target species groups.

Systematic methods based on the selection of sets of complementary sites with the greatest combined species richness (complementarity and efficiency) are effective in identifying 'irreplaceable' sites (unique sites which support the only population of a species) and 'flexible' sites (interchangeable sites containing more common species and habitats) which will represent

sites (interchangeable sites containing more common species and habitats) which will represent all target species. These methods can also measure the effectiveness of current networks of protected sites in representing species and can identify priority sites for future protection (Williams *et al.* 1996). Other features apart from species richness and rarity are important in the evaluation of sites but these are often difficult to apply consistently (Ratcliffe 1977, Usher 1986). In mire sites the vegetation zonation, structure of vegetation, the surrounding land, the number of characteristic communities and prescence of physical features such as springs, pools, vegetation rafts, runnels and laggs all contribute to the essence and conservation value of a site. The stability and viability of populations are also factors which need to be addressed in the selection of the best sites for conservation management. Until these can be accurately assessed and integrated into systematic selection techniques the techniques presented can only be viewed as a preliminary procedure which can identify potential sets of sites to ensure the maximisation of biodiversity at one point in time (Williams *et al.* 1996, Vane-Wright 1996) which can be used as a *baseline* for the application of other criteria.

In this chapter the conservation importance of the Scottish Borders fens are assessed, using a range of techniques and the relation of species richness to site area, isolation, land management and catchment land use is examined.

## 6.2 Methods

## 6.2.1 VEGETATION

The numbers of total species, notable mire species (combined rich-fen species, poor-fen species, bog species and rare fen species), rare species, rich-fen species, poor-fen species and bog species (Wheeler 1988, Wheeler 1997) occurring at each site were calculated.

#### 6.2.2 AREA, ISOLATION AND SHAPE

The area and perimeter of each site were measured using a map-graphics computer package.

The area : perimeter ratio was calculated for each site as an indicator of the shape of the site. The isolation of each site was expressed as average distance to all sites, average distance to the nearest 10 sites and the number of sites within a 5km radius. Correlation coefficients were calculated between isolation, shape and species richness and number of plant communities.

The relationship's between species richness (total species; rich fen species; poor-fen species; bog species and rare fen species) and site area were calculated by regression analyses. Sites which were known to have been substantially modified recently(Borthwickshiels Loch, Cavers Long Moss, Hare Moss, Newhouse Moss, Tocher Lodge Moss), for example in pond creation schemes, were excluded from the area analysis. The relationship between species richness and stand area was also calculated for one plant community, the *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community, which is widespread in the Scottish Borders fens. Stand area was estimated from sketch maps.

## 6.2.3 SITE EVALUATION AND CONSERVATION PRIORITISATION

## 6.2.3.1 Aims

- 1. To identify sites which are important in a national and regional context
- 2. To identify which sites would represent all notable mire species 1, 3 and 5 times.
- 3. To identify "irreplaceable" and "flexible" sites for nature conservation.
- 4. To compare these results to the currently protected sites in the region (SSSIs and NNRs) and to calculate whether these latter sites represent notable mire species and rare species at least once, and, if not, to calculate which sites should be protected in addition to maintain biodiversity of notable mire species.

The sites were evaluated using the following techniques.

## 6.2.3.2 Species scores (Wheeler 1988, 1996)

Numbers of rich-fen species (RFS), poor-fen species (PFS), bog species (BGS) and rare fen species (RARE) were calculated for each site and sites were ranked on this basis.

6.2.3.3 Rarity weighted species richness (Wheeler 1988) / Range-size rarity (Usher 1986, Williams 1996)

This rarity score is based on the sum of the inverse frequency of site records for notable mire species in the Scottish Borders fens dataset.

Range-size rarity =  $\sum 1$  / frequency x where frequency x is the number of sites occupied by species x.

## 6.2.3.4 Fenbase database (Wheeler 1997)

The Fenbase database calculates a 'biodiversity score' and 'target species score' for the evaluation of sites. The biodiversity score (based on the species richness, community number and habitat diversity recorded on the Site Condition form) and target species score (based on a fairly complex algorithm which uses data on the number of rare species and community types together with the extent of the rare community types recorded on the Vegetation form) were calculated for each site and the sites were ranked on this basis. Also sites containing nationally and regionally rare species (Appendix 3) were identified.

## 6.2.3.5 Worldmap (Williams 1996)

The sites were selected objectively using an iterative algorithm (based on Margules *et al.* 1988) on the basis of the following principles for the maximisation of biodiversity in nature reserves:

- Complementarity- the number of new species a new site adds to an existing species list;
- Irreplacability-unique sites which support the only population of a species;
- *Flexibility*-a pool of interchangeable sites groups of which would add the same species / habitats to the final selection;
- *Efficiency* choosing the minimum number of sites and minimum area to conserve the required habitat/species through the maximisation of complementarity;
- Representation-the least number of sites on which the species/habitats should occur.

## 6.2.4 CATCHMENT LAND-USE AND SITE MANAGEMENT

The land-use of the site catchment was recorded using a semi-quantitative scale as defined in chapter 4. This was correlated with habitat type and species richness at each site. The species richness of grazed and ungrazed sites in similar catchments was compared.

## 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1 SPECIES TOTALS

In total 210 species were recorded in the survey of the fens of the Central Scottish Borders. These were further categorised into notable wetland species (121), rich-fen species (95), poor-fen species (60), bog species (23) and rare species (39). In total 24 plant communities were recorded. Lists of nationally and regionally rare species, and notable wetland plant communities are presented in Appendix 3.

A large proportion of the total recorded species and notable wetland species tended to occur on only few sites, whereas a smaller proportion occurred on a larger number of sites (figures 6.1 & 6.2). This effect was weaker for notable mire species than for all species (figure 6.3) probably because notable mire species are more characteristic of fens so are likely to be more widespread in this habitat. One relatively large site (Wester Branxholm Loch, 9.84 ha) contained the largest proportion of the recorded species in all categories. This indicates that there is a high degree of "nestedness" within the data set where one site contains most of the recorded species and the other sites contain subsets of the total. This is not surprising in a data set of this type where many sites have overlaps in the habitats and species they contain.

#### 6.3.2 SPECIES - AREA / ISOLATION RELATIONS

The largest site in the data set was Adderstonelee Moss (12.2 ha), and the smallest was Whitehaughmoor Moss middle basin (0.07 ha) (table 6.1). Only 11 sites out of 63 were larger than 5 ha in extent. These were Adderstonelee Moss, Ashkirk Loch, Blind Moss, Branxholm Wester Loch, Dry Loch, Lilliesleaf Moss, Murder Moss, Shielswood Loch, Tandlaw Moss, Whitmuir Moss and Whitmuirhall Loch.

Site area was positively correlated with the number of communities present, the number of notable wetland species, rich-fen species and total species (table 6.2). The index of shape (area/perimeter) was significantly positively correlated with the number of plant communities, total species richness, notable mire species richness, rich-fen species richness, bog species richness and rare fen species richness. The number of communities was significantly correlated with the number of species in all categories.

	total species	notable mire species	rich-fen species	poor-fen species	bog species	rare fen species	plant communities
area	0.389**	0.360**	0.347**	0.297*	0.268	0.301*	0.443***
shape	0.357**	0.314*	0.284*	0.274	0.300*	0.250*	0.315*
plant communities	0.572***	0.573***	0.588***	0.512***	0.379**	0.514***	1

Table 6.2. Correlation coefficients of recorded species with the area, shape (area:perimeter ratio) and number of plant communities at each site. \*\*\* p<0.001; \*\*p<0.01, \*p<0.05 (d.f 61).

Generally there was a positive relationship between species richness and site area (figures 6.4 a,b) although this was not significant for bog species richness and rare fen species richness.

The regression equations for each species-richness category and site area were:



Figure 6.1. The proportion of the (a) total species (n = 209) and (b) notable mire species (n = 121) occurring on Scottish Borders fens. A large proportion of the recorded species occur on just one site (Branxholm Wester Loch).



Figure 6.2. Distribution of (a) all species (n = 209) and (b) notable mire species (n = 121) in the Scottish Borders fens. Many plant species occur on only a few sites.



Borders fens. Many plant species occur on only a few sites, although the distribution of notable mire species is more even than that of all species.

Tab	e 6	.1.	Area,	altitude,	catchment	management	score and	isolation	of	the Sc	xottish	Borders	fens.
-----	-----	-----	-------	-----------	-----------	------------	-----------	-----------	----	--------	---------	---------	-------

Site name	NCR	Site	areal	altituda	Catchment	4.00000	1	T Maria
Sile nume	NOR	Dire	urea	(m O D)	Calchiment	Average	Average	Number
	NI	area	perimeter	(m 0.D)	Management	distance	distance	of sites
		(ha)			Score	to all sites	to nearest	within a
						(km)	10 sites	5 km radius
						1	(km)	
Adderstonelee Moss	533 119	12.24	73.8	235	5	11.4	3.5	7
Ashkırk Loch	476 193	5.02	44.4	270	3	5.8	16	30
Reanning Mass	517 293	135	27.2	245	5	00		18
Baas Wood Moss	147 222	0.117	8 4	210		7.2	2.2	10
Dees wood Moss	447 252	0.117	0.4	310	3	1.2	2.9	19
Berry Moss	491 250	1.875	29.8	250	11	6.8	1.4	31
Bitchlaw Moss	525 121	0.28	17.0	270	2	10.3	3.1	9
Blackcraig Moss	502 208	2.66	23.1	270	12	6.1	2.1	30
Blackpool moss	517 290	3.38	42.9	240	11	9.9	2.2	18
Blind Moss	458 183	5.22	29.3	285	3	66	15	28
Boghall Mors	401 186	2.00	30.6	260	13	61	1.6	20
Bogmull Hill Mars	502 226	0.12	90.0	200	- 13			
Doosmill IIIII Moss	102 230	0.12	.0.0	210	- 11	0.3	2.3	29
Borthwickshiels Loch	425 155			260	11	9.4	3.4	14
Branxholm Wester Loch	422 110	9.84	75.3	270	2	12.0	5.3	5
Brown Moor Heights	458 247	1.13	27.8	295	1	7.0	2.5	25
Buckstruther Moss	540 120	2.92	35.9	235	6	11.3	3.6	6
Cavers Long Moss	543 146			205	7	10.1	3.7	7
Clerklands moss	494 253	1.65	27.6	235	11	6.8	14	31
Curdyhaugh Moss	504 282	0.5	15.0	245		8.9	12	
Den Look	192 202	6.24	10.7	245		7.0	1.3	22
	463 200	0.24	48.2	200	10	1.3	1.4	21
Dunhog Moss	4/4 247	3.03	34.5	285	7	6.4	2	33
Fluther Moss	548 123	0.32	_16.0	220	12	11.3	3.6	6
Greenside Moss	518 258	1.1	20.9	190	11	7.4	2.2	25
Groundistone Moss	498 195	3.84	32.2	265	13	5.9	1.4	27
Haining Moss	467 273	3.17	30.8	185	11	8.2	2.5	25
Hall Moss	489 197	1 206	21.7	295		57	1.4	20
	403 137	2.60	21.7	295		77	- 1.4	29
ITAPACEN MOSS	449 104	2.39	39.2	290		1.1	2.1	
Hare Moss	468 247			265	4	6.7	2.3	29
Hartwoodburn Moss	466 269	0.824	23.5	175	5	7.6	2.3	26
Highchesters Moss	413 145	1.204	23.0	200	7	10.6	4.5	6
Hummelknowes Moss	515 127	2.83	32.4	190	5	9.9	3.4	12
Huntley Moss	413 248	0.33	12.8	155	11	9.6	4.5	6
Hutlerburn Loch	420 253	4 43	47.9	330	2	92	3.8	8
Kippilay Mass	493 154	0.76	176	105	11	75	2.0	20
Ladaveodadas Mass	100 754	2.76	20.2	245	11		1.5	23
Ladywoodeage Moss	488 200	2.20	29.3	245		0.8	1.5	32
Lilliesleaf Moss	539 251	8.04	45.6	140	13	8.7	3.6	17
Lionfield Moss	485 161	0.38	14.2	215	4	6.7	1.4	26
Little Moss	540 144	0.71	23.7	175	11	10.1	3.7	7
Long Moss	478 185	2.74	33.8	290	1	5.9	1.2	25
Mabonlaw Moss	455 167	1.64	22.9	295	2	7.2	1.6	25
Murfield Moss	504 204	3.92	23.4	260	2	61	21	30
Murdar Mose	504 285	0.00	25.4	245	<u> </u>	0.1	1.2	
Noth on Whitley Mass	509 201	0.00	29.2	245	11		1.3	10
Nether Whillaw Moss	508 294	4.23		215		9.0	1.7	19
Newhouse Moss	518 234			165	11	6.8	2.7	25
Pickmaw Moss	493 281	0.799	13.7	270	11	8.6	1.4	23
Riddellshiel Loch	501 253	1.49	29.2	235	11	7.1	1.6	30
Rotten Moss	460 170	0.516	18.1	280	2	6.5	0.9	27
Seacroft Moss	478 104	1.23	19.7	230	11	11.1	4.8	6
Selkirk Hill Moss	486 285	0.62	16.8	205	2	86	16	
Selkurk Pot Lock	479 202	0 767	17.0	170		0.0	- 1.0	
Sollenk Dages	100 273	2.07	- 20.0	270		- 7.3	2.0	
Selkirk Racecourse Moss	498 276	2.03		270	2		1.2	25
Snielswood Loch	453 191	5.79	57.6	275	2	6.4	2.2	30
St Leonards Moss	483 107	2.42	35.3	225	10	11.1	4.7	6
Stoneyford Moss	486 204	0.64	11.4	240	2	5.7	1.4	34
Stouslie Pool	490 170	0.26	17.3	250	2	6.4	1.6	26
Synton Couses Loch	483 274	0.14	7.0	225	7	59	2.4	
Syntan Loch	183 206	3 10	26.4	240		57	14	3,1
Tan dime Mars	403 200	6.22		2240		<u> </u>	1.4	- 34
Tanalaw MOSS	+70 1//	3.33	- 26.1	- 200		0.4	1.0	
1 athyhole Moss	475 218	1.29	_26.2	205	11	5.8	2.2	37
Threephead Moss	450 174	0.828	14.4	295	2	6.8	1.4	25
Tocher Lodge Moss	438 231			295	2	7.8	3.1	13
Todshawhill Moss	452 122	1.299	25.8	200	9	9.9	4.1	16
Whitehaughmoor Moss E	474 176	0.331	13.7	270	1 1	6.3	-11-1	27
Whitehaughmoor Mose M	173 179	0.072	66	285	$\frac{1}{1}$	63		
Whitehoughten 1 T	171 17/	0.075	16.0	- 205		- 0.3		21
malenaugamoor Moss W	4/11/0	0.58	10.9		4	0.3	1.1	
Whitmuir Moss	492 269	3.8	61.1	250	11	7.3	1.3	26
Whitmuirhall Loch	497 272	8.89	47.4	245	8	7.9	1.2	25
Woolaw Loch	461 173	0.387	13.3	300	3	6.5	0.9	27
Woolaw Moss	465 172	1.73	28.8	270	2	6.5	0.9	27

Total species richness = $1.57 + 0.197$ area	$R^2 = 17.1\%$	p = 0.001
Notable mire species = $1.42 + 0.178$ area	$R^2 = 14.0\%$	p = 0.002
Rich-fen species = $1.40 + 0.158$ area	$R^2 = 13.0\%$	p = 0.004
Poor-fen species = $1.17 + 0.175$ area	$R^2 = 9.9\%$	p = 0.012
Bog species = $0.544 + 0.204$ area	$R^2 = 6.1\%$	p = 0.064 (not significant)
Rare fen species = $0.652 + 0.153$ area	$R^2 = 4.0\%$	p = 0.140 (not significant)

Even where the relationship between site area and species richness was significant (p<0.05) much of the variation in species richness in all categories was not accounted for by the site area. There was a trend for more species to occur in larger sites but there were many exceptions where larger sites were species-poor (e.g. Lilliesleaf Moss) and smaller sites were species-rich (e.g. Whitehaughmoor Moss east basin). This relationship may be largely a result of the tendency for large sites to support a wider range of habitats and plant communities than small sites (table 6.2) therefore increasing the site species-richness through cumulative species-richness of different habitats and plant communities. Differences in sampling effort at small and large sites may also have some impact on the numbers of species recorded as larger sites are often less well known than smaller sites (Usher 1979).

Numbers of bog species showed no significant correlation to area but were significantly greater on sites with a large area to perimeter ratio where the centre of the site is further from the boundaries (correlation coefficient r=0.300, p<0.05).

The effect of the positive relationship between the number of plant communities and site area on species - area relations can be eliminated by analysing the species - area relationship of one plant community, where the actual area occupied by a particular plant community on each site where it occurs (the stand area), is measured and related to the species-richness of that plant community at each site. The *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community is widespread in the Scottish Borders fens. Regression equations for species richness and stand area of the *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community are:

Total species richness = $1.46 + 0.176$ area of stand	$R^2 = 21.4\%$	p = 0.015
Notable mire species = $1.38 + 0.182$ area of stand	$R^2 = 27.9\%$	p = 0.005



Figure 6.4. The relationship between site area and (a) total species richness and (b) notable mire species richness in 62 Scottish Borders fens.



Figure 6.5. The relationship between stand area of the *Carex rostrata* - *Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community and (a) total species richness and (b) notable mire species richness in 26 Scottish Borders fens.

Within stands of the *Carex rostrata* - *Calliergon cuspidatum* / *Plagiomnium rostratum* community the number of notable mire species is more strongly related to stand area than the total number of species (figures 6.5 a,b). Also, in this plant community, the stand area accounts for a larger proportion of the variation in species richness than does the site area for variation in site species richness.

Isolation was calculated using three methods: the average distance to all other sites, the average distance to the nearest 10 sites and the number of sites within a 5 km radius. The sites showed a range of isolation, the mean scores were:

- average distance to all sites 7.9 km (range 5.7-12.0 km)
- average distance to nearest 10 sites 2.3 km (range 0.9-5.3 km)
- number of sites within a 5 km radius 22.3 (range 5-38)

There was no significant correlation between isolation of sites and species richness in any category. The most isolated sites were Branxholm Wester Loch, Buckstruther Moss, Adderstonelee Moss, St Leonard's Moss, Fluther Moss, Fluther Moss, Bitchlaw Moss, Little Moss and Cavers Long Moss (table 6.1). The average distance from these sites to all others within the study area was greater than 10 km, the average distance to the nearest 10 sites was greater than 3 km and there were less than 10 sites within a 5 km radius. Sites with 30 or more sites within a 5 km radius were Ashkirk Loch, Blackcraig Moss, Clerklands Moss, Dunhog Moss, Ladywoodedge Moss, Muirfield Moss, Riddellshiel Loch, Shielswood Loch, Stoneyford Moss, Tathyhole Moss. There was no significant difference between the species richness of the most and least isolated sites (p>0.05) (table 6.3).

Table 6.3	. Species	richness	of the mo	st and I	least isolat	ed sites	s within	the	Borders	fens stud	y area.
-----------	-----------	----------	-----------	----------	--------------	----------	----------	-----	---------	-----------	---------

site	Site	Average	Average	Notable	Rich-fen	poor-fen	Bog	Rare	Total
	area	distance	distance to	mire	species	species	species	fen	species
	(ha)	to all	nearest 10	species	-	_	-	species	richness
		sites (km)	sites (km)	[				_	
Most isolated sites									
(<10 sites within a 5 km									
radius)		10.0						• •	·····
Branxholm Wester Loch	9.84	12.0	5.3	94	74	52	20	28	144
Buckstruther Moss	2.92	11.3	3.6	32	25	24	10	2	41
Fluther Moss	0.32	11.3	3.6	26	26	15	2	3	34
Highchesters Moss	1.20	10.6	4.5	14	14	7	0	0	21
Huntley Moss	0.33	9.6	4.5	9	9	4	0	0	15
Seacroft Moss	1.23	11.1	4.8	41	40	19	5	5	65
St Leonards Moss	2.42	11.1	4.7	56	55	28	4	13	80
Adderstonelee Moss	12.2	11.4	3.5	42	41	23	4	11	55
Cavers Long Moss		10.1	3.7	12	12	8	1	0	14
Little Moss	0.71	10.1	3.7	6	6	2	0	0	7
Hutlerburn Loch	4.43	9.2	3.8	39	27	31	15	9	54
Bitchlaw Moss	0.28	10.3	3.1	18	18	11	1	2	26
		••••••	average	32.4	28.9	18.7	5.2	6.1	46.3
Least isolated sites		-							
(>30 sites within a 5 km									
radius)	,			,					<b></b>
Ashkirk Loch	5.02	5.8	1.6	59	55	31	7	17	91
Blackcraig Moss	2.66	6.1	2.1	28	28	. 14	0	2	45
Muirfield Moss	3.92	6.1	2.1	58	57	29	4	20	77
Riddellshiel Loch	1.49	7.1	1.6	24	24	10	1	6	33
Shielswood Loch	5.79	6.4	2.2	21	21	10	1	1	29
Berry Moss	1.88	6.8	1.4	25	25	13	2	3	34
Clerklands moss	1.65	6.8	1.4	25	25	15	2	1	39
Ladywoodedge Moss	2.26	6.8	1.5	44	43	19	2	8	56
Dunhog Moss	3.03	6.4	2	57	49	29	9	9	81
Stoneyford Moss	0.64	5.7	1.4	38	37	21	4	6	48
Synton Loch	3.19	5.7	1.4	15	15	8	0	3	19
Tathyhole Moss	1.29	5.8	2.2	18	18	9	0	0	23
Synton Courses Loch	0.14	5.9	2.4	10	10	5	0	0	18

## 6.3.3 LAND USE AND SITE MANAGEMENT

Catchment management score was negatively correlated to altitude (r = -0.506, d.f. 66, p<0.001), indicating that, in general, agricultural land-use was more intensive in more lowland areas.

The Catchment Management Score was also significantly negatively correlated with the total species richness (r = -0.309, d.f.66, p<0.02), rare fen species (r = -0.439, d.f.66, p<0.001), bog species (r = -0.406, d.f.66, p<0.01), poor-fen species (r = -0.429, d.f.66, p<0.01), and rich-fen

species (r = -0.307, d.f.66, p<0.05). Therefore the most species rich vegetation was likely to occur in areas with low intensity catchment management.

Site management in the Scottish Borders fens usually takes the form of grazing by sheep and or cattle. In the past sites have been mown for animal fodder and bedding but this practice has long ceased. The reedbeds on the Whitlaw Mosses are mown yearly for conservation management to open up the herbaceous vegetation, to weaken the dominance of *Phragmites australis* and to remove nutrients from the sites (Scottish Natural Heritage 1991). Most of the grazed sites in the Borders have a low catchment management score of less than 5 and mostly 1 or 2. Many sites are fenced off and unmanaged. A total of 12 sites are grazed (Brown Moor Heights, Long Moss, Whitehaughmoor Moss (middle basin), Hutlerburn Loch, Mabonlaw Moss, Muirfield Moss, Selkirk Racecourse Moss, Stoneyford Moss, Threephead Moss, Woolaw Moss, Blind Moss and Hall Moss). The grazed sites contained more species in all categories than contrasting ungrazed sites with low catchment management scores (figure 6.6) indicating the importance of site management for the maintenance of species richness.

## **6.3.4 EVALUATION**

#### 6.3.4.1 Species Richness Scores

The sites were ranked according to their species richness (split into 6 categories, total species, notable mire species, rich-fen species, poor-fen species and rare fen species). The top ten ranked sites within each category were combined to produce a list of the sites representing the greatest overall species and plant community richness. This analysis yielded 17 sites (table 6.4). Wester Branxholm Loch was ranked first in all species richness categories because of the range of distinct plant communities it contains, and their associated species richness. Ashkirk Loch supported the most plant communities but this is due to the range of species-poor and swamp communities present.



Figure 6.6. Species richness of some grazed (n = 12) and ungrazed (n = 17)Scottish Borders fens with a catchment management score (CMS) of 5 or less. There is no statistical significance between the species-richness of grazed and ungrazed sites in any species category.

RFS - Rich-fen species; PFS - Poor-fen species; BGS - Bog species; RARE · Rare fen species; TOTAL - Total species-richness.

Table 6.4. The most species-rich sites and their associated species richness and number of plant communities resulting from the combination of the top ten ranked sites in each category of species richness: total species, notable mire species, rich-fen species, poor-fen species and rare fen species.

	Plant	Notable	Rich-	Poor-	Bog	Rare	Total
	communities	mire	fen	fen	species	species	species
		species	species	species		·	
Ashkirk Moss	8	59	55	31	7	17	91
Beanrig Moss	4	66	58	36	11	22	88
Blind Moss	7	70	54	45	17	17	98
Branxholm Wester Loch	7	94	74	52	20	28	144
Brown Moor Heights Moss	4	55	42	40	15	13	65
Buckstruther Moss	2	32	25	24	10	2	41
Dunhog Moss	4	57	49	29	9	9	81
Groundistone Moss	6	37	28	26	11	2	54
Hutlerburn Moss	5	39	27	31	15	9	54
Long Moss	5	62	51	38	16	14	87
Mabonlaw Moss	6	49	43	32	9	10	73
Muirfield Moss	6	58	57	29	4	20	77
Murder Moss	7	50	47	23	4	10	60
Selkirk Racecource Moss	4	59	57	25	4	20	92
St Leonards Moss	6	56	55	28	4	13	80
Whitehaughmoor Moss, east basin	3	47	42	26	5	17	54
Woolaw Loch	3	37	30	26	9	7	43

# 6.3.4.2 Fenbase Evaluation

The biodiversity and target species scores for each site and numbers of nationally and regionally rare species recorded for each site in the Fenbase database (Borders basin fen survey) are presented in table 6.5. Of a possible 68 sites, 29 sites contained 1 or more regionally rare species and 47 sites contained 1 or more nationally rare species. The sites were ranked by biodiversity score. Branxholm Wester Loch had the highest biodiversity score, followed by Beanrig Moss. 27 sites had scores of 50 or above. 13 sites had scores above 64, the value for Clack fen (table 6.5) but no site matched the score for Catfield and Irstead Fens, Norfolk (table 6.6). The scores for the Scottish Borders fens are high, considering the small size of most of the sites.

Table	6.6. Fenbase biodiv	versity and target :	species scores of	f a range of contr	asting British fe	n sites
(Whee	eler 1988, 1997).					

Site	Biodiversity	Target species
	score	score
Catfield and Irstead Fens, Norfolk	137	19
Beanrig Moss, Selkirk	86	11
Wheatfen, Norfolk	72	9
Clack Fen, Bucks	64	3
Drabblegate Common, Norfolk	12	0

-		-	~			•						•		• •	~	<b>n</b> 1	~
1.04			N-aa		<b>hn</b> 0 0 0		000	- h	distorest	11 000	torgot	0000000	000500	A+ 1	Soott oh	Unedae	a tona
няп	ne ci		SDEC	ICS 110	Inness	таних	мни	1116 8	II VEI SII	v ann	TALVEL	SUCCIES.	NUTLES.	CH .	SCOULSE	DURUPT	S IEUS
1 40		·	0000		JILLOUD,	104107	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	0101		,		0000000	000100	<b>UL</b> 1		D01.001	.,

Site	Notable	Range	Fenhase	Fenhase	Nationally	Locally
Dife	mire	size	Biodiversity	Turget species	ranonally	FOR
	ind c	rarity	Score	ranger species	enaciae	enaciae
	species	, any	score	30076	species	species
Adderstonelee Moss	42	17.87	62	3	3	1 0
Ashkirk Loch	59	22.31	69	5	7	2
Beanrig Moss	66	34.95	109	8	13	4
Beeswood Moss	17	2.25	27	0	2	0
Berry Moss	25	4.97	38	0	1	0
Bitchlaw Moss	18	2.46	32	0	1	0
Blackcraig Moss	28	7.96	47	0	1	0
Blackpool Moss	40	10.24	61	4	4	1
Blind Moss	70	36.33	77	5	6	0
Boghall Moss	21	3.11	28	0	0	0
Boosmill Moss	25	4.8	30	2	0	0
Borthwickshiels Loch	20	4.1	35	0	1	0
Branxholm Wester Loch	94	60.24	111	8	11	3
Brown Moor Heights	55	24.71	84	7	5	1
Buckstruther Moss	32	10.84	49	0	1	0
Cavers long Moss	12	1.61	14	0	0	0
Clerklands Moss	25	4.11	37	0	0	0
Curdyhaugh Moss	34	9.2	51	0	1	0
Dry Moss	34	6.1	56	0	0	0
Dunhog Moss	57	20.57	/9	2	3	
Fluther Moss	26	4.06	54	<u> </u>	1	
Greenside Moss	31	1.15	10		4	
Unining Mars	3/	13.01	19	<u> </u>	2	
Haining Moss	21	7.29	40	0		
Hall Moss	27	7.58	30		3	
Harden Moss	10	4.11	29	0	0	<u>  0</u>
Hartwoodburn Moss	15	1 97	21	1	1	0
Highchesters Moss	14	2.07	20	0	0	0
Hummelknowes Moss	47	11.1	76	5	2	1
Huntley Moss	9	1.76	15	0	0	0
Hutlerburn Loch	39	22.54	62	5	2	2
Kippilaw Moss	26	4.7	47	2	4	0
Ladywoodedge Moss	44	13.15	66	4	5	2
Lilliesleaf Moss	11	1.48	13	0	0	0
Lionfield Moss	13	2.22	18	0	0	0
Little Moss	6	0.79	6	0	0	0
Long Moss	62	24.3	72	5	4	1
Mabonlaw Moss	49	14.83	77 _	5	2	0
Muirfield Moss	58	20.98	84	6	7	3
Murder Moss	50	16.38	55	4	4	1
Nether Whitlaw Moss	37	14.13	50	4	4	2
Newhouse Moss	8	1.43	11	0	0	0
Pickmaw Moss	22	5.82	30	1	2	1
Pot Loch	22	6.19	30	1	3	1
Riddelshiel Loch	24	0.63	37	2	3	2
Kotten Moss	26	4.98	30		1	
Seacron Moss	41	2.55		3		
Selkirk Hill Moss		3.33	63	<u> </u>		2
Shielewood Mose	21	3.51	30	0	1	0
St Leonarde Moss	56	16.43	66	4	2	1
Stoneyford Mose	38	11.22	50	0	2	<u> </u>
Stouslie Pool	15	1.89	16	0	0	0
Synton Courses Loch	10	3.7	20	0	0	0
Synton Loch	15	2.65	20	0	1	0
Tandlaw Moss	23	4.75	28	1	2	1
Tathyhole Moss	18	4.94	22	0	0	0
Threephead Moss	31	9.4	57	3	0	1
Tocher Lodge Moss	9	1.19	15	0	0	0
Todshawhill Moss	11	1.49	12	0	0	0
Whitehaughmoor Moss East	47	23.85	64	5	10	3
Whitehaughmoor Moss Middle	30	6.63	44	2	3	1
Whitehaughmoor Moss West	35	6.34	45	2	1	1
Whitmuir Moss	13	2.87	30	0	0	0
Whitmuirhall Loch	32	12.47	39	2	2	2
Woolaw Loch	37	11.73	50	2	4	0
Woolaw Moss	17	2.88	46	0	0	0

## 6.3.4.3 Vegetation zonation

The zonation of vegetation on a large, site scale (macrotopographical) and a small, hummockhollow scale (microtopographical) is an important feature of fen sites. In sites which have developed hydroserally these zonations are often interpreted as phase in a successional sequence, although this is not always the case as the occurrence of particular species and plant communities can be influenced by a variety of factors which may be prevalent in different areas of a site. The zones of vegetation may therefore represent different environments and sites showing distinct zonation may therefore support a wider range of plant communities than those which do not. Where microtopographical zonation is present this often adds another structural dimension to a plant community, increasing the species richness (Wheeler 1980b). It is contentious whether plant communities commonly found as small scale mosaics of hummocks and hollows should be considered as one or more distinct plant communities. Several sites in the Scottish Borders exhibit distinct zonation (table 6.7).

	Zonation	
Site	Macrotopographical	Microtopographical
Long Moss	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Branxholm Wester Loch	√	✓
Selkirk Racecource Moss	✓	✓
Kippilaw Moss	✓	
Brown Moor Heights	✓	
Ashkirk Loch	✓	
Nether Whitlaw Moss	✓	······
Greenside Moss	✓	
Hutlerburn Loch	+	
Dunhog Moss	+	
Blind Moss	+	✓
Beanrig Moss		✓
Mabonlaw Moss		✓
Threephead Moss		√
Woolaw Loch		✓
Whitehaughmoor Moss (E)		√

Table 6.7. Sites showing distinct vegetation zonation.  $\checkmark$  indicates distinct zonation; + indicates indistinct zonation.

## 6.3.3.4 Prioritising sites for the maximisation of biodiversity

The sites exhibit a high degree of nestedness where one site contains a large proportion of the total species in the data set (Branxholm Wester Loch). Table 6.8 summarises the nested distribution of notable mire species in Scottish Borders fens sites.

Table 6.8. Matrix showing the 'nestedness' of the Scottish Borders fens on the basis of notable mire species richness. X represents the occurrence of a species on a site. The sites are ranked from left to right in the order of decreasing species richness. The species are ranked from top to bottom in the order of decreasing number of occurrences in the Scottish Borders fens. The sites and their notable mire species richness and the species and their number of occurrences are listed overleaf.

	Sites	decreasing species richness	
	most species-rich		most species-poor
decreasing number of occurences			
	x Î		

## Table 6.8 cont.

Notable mire species	No. of occurence	s (out of a possible 68)		Sites	No. of notable mire species
Carex rostrata	62	Cratoneuron commutatum	9	Branxholm Wester Loch	94
Equisetum fluviatile	58	Myosotis laxa caespitosa	0	Bhnd Moss	70
Callierson curridatum	57	Trialochin nalustris	0	Repris Mose	66
Galum paluette	56	Anorra anorra	,	Dealing Moss	60
Calthe selucture	50	Aneura pinguis	8	Long Moss	62
Calina palusiris	33	Erica letralix	8	Ashkirk Loch	59
Polentilla palustris	53	Fissidens adianthoides	8	Selkirk Racecourse Moss	59
Epilobium palustre	52	Sphagnum capillifolium	8	Murfield Moss	58
Filipendula ulmarıa	51	Sphagnum contortum	8	Dunhog Moss	57
Juncus effusus	51	Sphagnum fimbriatum	8	St Leonards Moss	56
Menyanthes trifoliata	49	Utricularia minor	8	Brown Moor Heights	55
Juncus acutiflorus	48	Hydrocotyle vulgaris	7	Murder Moss	50
Carex nigra	45	Salix repens and	7	Maboniaw Maboniaw	49
Myosotis scornioides	45	Sphamum papillorum	7	Hummellenewer More	47
Mentha aquatica	43	Ciente unose	, ,	Matchewski and Mass	47
Plania ugaunca	43	Cienta virosa	6	whitehaughthoor Moss E	47
Flagtomnium rostratum	41	Eriophorum latifolium	0	Ladywoodedge Moss	44
Eriophorum angustifolium	39	Philonotis calcarea	6	Adderstonelee Moss	42
Salix cinerea	39	Philonotis fontana	6	Seacroft Mosa	41
Cirsium palustre	38	Salix pentandra	6	Blackpool Moss	40
Ranunculus flammula	38	Scutellaria galericulata	6	Hutlerburn	39
Lychnis flos-cuculi	35	Calliergon stramineum	5	Stoneyford Moss	38
Equisatum palustre	34	Eriophorum vaginatum	5	Groundistone Moss	37
Angelica sylvestris	33	Iris pseudacorus	5	Nether Whitlaw Moss	37
Callieran aigarteur	32	Northcourt orgification	š	Woolew Leeb	27
Carer diaudua	32	Sologinalla sologingi das	\$	Woolaw Loch	37
Carea analas a	32	Selaginena selaginolaes	5	Whitehaughmoor Moss W	33
Carex panicea	31	Spragnum auriculatum	2	Curdynaugh Moss	34
Juncus articulatus	30	Corallorhiza trifida	4	Dry Loch	34
Sparganium erectum	30	Eleocharis quinqueflora	4	Buckstruther Moss	32
Carex lepidocarpa	28	Epilobium hirsutum	4	Whitmuirhall Loch	32
Galium uliginosum	28	Juncus alpino-articulatus	4	Greenside Moss	31
Molinia caerulea	27	Mylia anomala	4	Hall Moss	31
Valeriana dioica	26	Polytrichum alpestre	4	Threephead Moss	31
Callierzon cordifolium	24	Sphaonum teres	4	Whitehaughmoor Moss M	30
Carex disticha	24	Stellaria alzine	4	Blackcraig Moss	28
Potamogeton polygonifolius	24	Tucha latifolia	4	Hamma More	23
Braze provide the second	24	Versinium emission	4	Haning Moss	27
Dryam pseudoriquerum	23	Course continue develoceos	4	Harden Moss	27
Drepanociaaus revolvens	22	Carex acutijormis	3	Fluther Moss	26
Carex paniculata	20	Carex limosa	3	Kippilaw Moss	26
Pedicularis palustris	20	Homalothecium nitens	3	Rotten Moss	26
Phragmites australis	20	Potamogeton coloratus	3	Berry Moss	25
Viola palustris	20	Pyrola rotundifolia	3	Boosmill Moss	25
Aulacomnium palustre	19	Sphagnum magellanicum	3	Clerklands Moss	25
Campylium stellatum	19	Sphagnum warnstorfii	3	Riddelshiel Moss	24
Carex echinata	19	Calamagrostis stricta	2	Tandlaw Moss	23
Dactylorhiza purpurella	19	Carex appropinguata	2	Pickmaw Mosa	22
Dactvlorhiza fuchati	18	Caret vesicaria	2	Pat Loch	22
Rhizomnium neudopunotatum	18	Enilohium namuflomum	2	Portal Mass	22
Flaosharia palustus	18	Odentesshisme inskun	2	Bognau Moss	21
Eleocharis palastris	17	D donioschisma spanghi	2	Shielswood Loch	21
veronica scutettata	17	Pellia endivitjolia	2	Borthwickshiels Loch	20
Scorpidium scorpioides	16	Sphagnum cuspidatum	2	Selkirk Hill Moss	20
Carex hostiana	15	Cinclidium stygium	1	Hare Moss	19
Carex lasiocarpa	15	Sphagnum imbricatum	1	Bitchlaw Moss	18
Carex pulicaris	15	Sphagnum fuscum	1	Tathyhole Moss	18
Sphagnum recurvum	14			Beeswood Moss	17
Sphagnum subnitens	14			Woolaw Moss	17
Carex dioica	13			Hartwoodhurn Moss	15
Climacium dendroides	13			Stoutie Bool	15
	13			Stousle Foor	15
Dryopieris carinasiana	13			Synton Moss	15
Parnassia paiustris	12			Highchesters Moss	14
Phalaris arundinacea	12			Lionfield Moss	13
Pinguicula vulgaris	12			Whatmur Moss	13
Ranunculus lingua	12			Cavers Long Moss	12
Sagina nodosa	12			Libesleaf Moss	11
Drosera rotundifolia	11			Todshawhill Moss	11
Sphagnum palustre	11			Synton Courses Moss	10
Dactylorhiza incarnata	10			Huntley Mose	
Juncus bulbosus	10			Topher Lodge Mour	, ,
Sphamum tayona	10			Neuhouse Mars	7
Almus alutinase	10			INCWINUSE MOSS	5
Ainus giunnosa	y			Little Moss	6
Carex curta	9				

"Hotspots" of species richness and rarity -weighted species richness / range-size rarity (the top ~5% of total sites, based on Prendergast *et al.* 1993) are Wester Branxholm Loch, Blind Moss and Beanrig Moss. Out of a total of 68 sites a combination of 8 sites represents all notable mire species at least once. Branxholm Wester Loch, Blind Moss and Whitehaughmoor Moss are "irreplaceable" sites because they are the only locations of certain species (*Sphagnum fuscum*, *Sphagnum imbricatum* and *Cinclidium stygium* respectively) within the study area. 26 sites are required for the representation of all notable wetland species three times and 36 sites are necessary for five representations (table 6.9).

Table 6.9. Near-minimum-area set for 1,3 and 5 representations of notable mire species (combined number of RFS, PFS, BGS and RARE species). "Hotspots" of species richness are indicated in **bold** type. Flexible sites at each step are indicated in *italics*.

Site	Notable mire Species Richness	
Wester Branxholm Loch	96	
Blind Moss	70	
Ashkirk Loch	59	
Whitehaughmoor Moss E.	47	
Ladywoodedge Moss	44	1 representation
Adderstonelee Moss	42	8 sites
Seacroft Moss	41	2 irreplaceable
Whitmuirhall Loch	32	6 flexible
Beanrig Moss	66	
Long Moss	62	
Selkirk Racecourse Moss	59	
Dunhog Moss	57	
Brown Moor Heights	55	
Murder Moss	50	
Hutlerburn Moss	39	
Stoneyford Moss	38	
Nether Whitlaw Moss	37	
Woolaw Loch	37	
Blackcraig Moss	28	
Haining Moss	27	
Harden Moss	27	
Riddelshiel Loch	23	3 representations
Pickmaw Moss	22	26 sites
Pot Loch	22	23 irreplaceable
Synton Courses Loch	10	3 flexible
Muirfield Moss	58	
St Leonards Moss	56	
Mabonlaw Moss	49	
Blackpool Moss	40	
Groundistone Moss	37	
Curdyhaugh Moss	34	
Buckstruther Moss	33	
Boosmill Moss	25	5 representations
Borthwickshiels Loch	20	36 sites
Hare Moss	10	36 irrenlaceable
***************************************	17	50 mephaceable

Sixteen of the fen sites included in this study are currently protected as reserves, either as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and/or National Nature Reserves (NNR). These sites represented 97.5% of the total (notable mire species) biodiversity of the data set (table 6.10).

Site	Notable
	mire
	species
	richness
Wester Branxholm Loch (SSSI)	96
Blind Moss (SSSI)	70
Beanrig Moss (NNR)	66
Long Moss (SSSI)	62
Ashkirk Loch (SSSI)	59
Selkirk Racecourse Moss (SSSI)	59
Dunhog Moss (SSSI)	57
Brown Moor Height (pSSSI)	55
Murder Moss (NNR)	50
Hummelknowes Moss (SSSI)	47
Adderstonelee Moss (SSSI)	42
Blackpool Moss (NNR)	40
Buckstruther Moss (SSSI)	3
Whitmuirhall Moss (SSSI)	32
Nether Whitlaw Moss (NNR)	37
Kippilaw Moss (SSSI)	26

Table 6.10. 16 currently protected sites accounting for 97.5% of notable wetland species.

Using these sixteen sites as a starting point for the site selection procedure, three additional sites were required to represent all notable mire species at least once, 13 additional sites were required for three representations and 22 additional sites were required for 5 representations (Table 6.11).

Table 6.11. Sites required in addition to the 16 currently protected sites (table 6.10) for 1, 3 and 5
representations of notable wetland species. Flexible sites are indicated by <i>italics</i> .

Site	
Whitehaughmoor Moss E.	1 representation (16+3 sites)
Seacroft Moss	1 irreplaceable site
Ladywoodedge Moss	2 flexible sites
Haining Moss	
Harden Moss	
Pickmaw Moss	
Riddelshiel Loch	
Hutlerburn Loch	
Stoneyford Moss	
Blackcraig Moss	
Pot Loch	3 representations (16+13 sites)
Synton courses Loch	10 irreplaceable sites
Woolaw Loch	3 flexible sites
Curdyhaugh Moss	
Groundistone Moss	
Borthwickshiels Loch	
Hare Moss	
Boosmill Moss	
Muirfield Moss	
Mabonlaw Moss	5 representations (16+22 sites)
Tathyhole Moss	22 irreplaceable sites
St Leonards Moss	0 flexible sites

It should be stressed that these techniques select sites on the basis of presence and absence of species with no regard to the plant communities or population size and should be regarded as a template for reserve network selection to ensure the representation of biodiversity as a baseline. The analyses presented are the most basic as the techniques are still being developed with the aim of incorporating other important site features. Notable mire plant species recorded in this study are the only species group taken into account in these analyses and a different network of sites may be important for maintaining other species groups, for example birds and invertebrates.

## 6.4 Discussion

The objectives of this part of the study were to evaluate fen sites within the study area on the basis of their species richness, to identify groups of sites which would represent the biodiversity of notable mire species a number of times and to examine the impact of area, area : perimeter ratio, isolation, site management and the intensity of catchment land-use on site species richness.

## 6.4.1 EVALUATION AND PRIORITISATION OF SITES FOR NATURE CONSERVATION

The use of evaluation and site prioritisation procedures based on species richness requires some caution. They rely on the assumption that an equally good inventory of species has been made for

all sites, which is not always the case, as some sites frequently receive more attention than others (Usher 1979, Bond *et al.* 1988). These techniques also only provide a snapshot of the current resource and require updating through monitoring of species distributions.

There are two approaches to the objective prioritisation of sites:

- 1. selecting a set of sites which fulfil the desired criteria (e.g. representing the total species biodiversity, all sites with a score above a certain value)
- 2. choosing a quota of sites (e.g. selecting 20 sites).

The analyses presented were mainly concerned with the first approach. The biodiversity analyses identified groups of sites which could represent the total species richness of the fens a specified number of times and these proved a more satisfactory technique for prioritising sites than simple ranking procedures because they selected groups of sites, based on established criteria, rather than simply listing all sites. A number of species-poor sites which in simple ranking operations would be at the end of the list (Tathyhole Moss, Borthwickshiels Loch), and certainly not in the top twenty or thirty places, were included in the biodiversity selection as well as those with high species richness (Branxholm Wester Loch, Blind Moss). This indicates that the groups of sites selected in the biodiversity analyses contain a more representative range of vegetation types, not just the richest examples.

The data set from the Borders fens is strongly nested so one site contains almost all the species in the data set. In a perfectly nested data set one site contains all the species and other sites contain a subset of the entire species complement. In this situation the issue in prioritisation on the basis of biodiversity becomes the representation of particular species. Largely for this reason the sixteen currently protected sites account for 97.5 % of the total notable mire species richness but they do not include a number of sites with important species populations, notably Whitehaughmoor Moss. Other sites support extensive examples of rare plant communities (e.g. small sedge species-rich flushes with abundant Eriophorum latifolium at Muirfield Moss) but this is only included in the group of sites required to represent all notable mire species 5 times because the species population sizes are not accounted for in the analyses presented. The number of representations of a species required to ensure adequate protection is not known and selection of sites on the basis of biodiversity cannot identify the most threatened populations and the functioning metapopulations. There is rather little detailed knowledge about the processes of colonisation, establishment requirements and autecology of wetland plant species in natural habitats and although metapopulation dynamics have been demonstrated to be important in the conservation of some species groups, e.g. invertebrates, their significance to the maintenance of populations of long lived perennial plant species is little understood, and probably negligible in influencing

changes in species composition compared to other factors (e.g. habitat destruction, vegetation management) (Gibson 1986).

The use of ranking operations in site prioritisation requires the setting of arbitrary criteria and cut-off points (e.g. the determination of "standard" scores with which to compare the ranked scores, the top 10%) for the selection of a group of priority sites. The biodiversity scores for the Borders fens showed that these sites compare well with some important sites in the Norfolk Broads, which are usually much larger than the Borders fen sites indicating the exceptional richness of some of these sites relative to their size.

"Hotspots" of species richness have been defined in some bird studies as the top 5 % of sites (Prendergast *et al.* 1993). In this study of the Scottish Borders fens this corresponds to about 3 sites (Branxholm Wester Loch, Blind Moss, Beanrig Moss). The biodiversity analyses presented here show that at least 8 (~11%) sites are required to represent all species at least once, and 36 (>50%) are required to represent all notable mire species 5 times.

One goal of conservation is to maximise the biodiversity and representation of notable and rare species in a region through the selection and protection of reserves, and subsequent management of sites and site catchments to maintain and create habitats which will support viable species populations.

However in evaluating fens and prioritising areas for nature conservation other qualities of a desirable *site* also need to be defined if the selection is to be made objectively, and this involves the setting of additional more complex criteria as well as maintaining species biodiversity. Fens have been classified on the basis of their hydrology, situation, hydrochemistry and the vegetation they contain. Therefore fens are currently protected on an "ad hoc" basis as *sites* taking account of the vegetation, zonation of vegetation, peat deposits, and in recent years including part or all of the catchment as a buffer zone. The use of factors other than species richness, rarity and size (e.g. Ratcliffe 1977) in assessing the quality of sites and in reserve selection has been difficult to quantify and applied inconsistently to sites (Usher 1985, Wheeler 1988). The use of a range of criteria in producing a numerical score representing the conservation importance of a site also relies on the aggregation of the different criteria, the importance of which may vary between sites (Usher 1985). Moreover the goals of conservation importance or "quality" of sites can be determined and compared on a truly objective basis.

#### 6.4.2 SITE SIZE, ISOLATION AND EDGE EFFECTS

In the Borders fens larger sites tend to support more plant communities types and more species. This relationship would be expected because larger sites generally provide more habitats and a larger possible area for colonisation of species than smaller sites (Usher 1991). However area accounts for only a small amount of the variation in species richness in the Scottish Borders fens and many sites deviate from the regression line indicating that many sites are more species-rich and more species-poor than would be expected on the basis of area alone (Usher 1985).

The relationship between stand area and species richness within one plant community (*Carex* rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community) is stronger than that between site area and site species richness in the Scottish Borders fens. Notable mire species richness (indicating the number of 'characteristic' mire species) is more strongly related to stand area than total species richness suggesting that the relationship between species richness and area cannot be simply explained by the tendency of large areas to support more habitats than small areas... Usher (1980) also found that the number of species 'typical' or 'characteristic' of limestone pavements was more strongly related to habitat area than the total number of species. He suggested that this was because larger areas contain more niches than smaller areas and there is a higher chance of colonisation by species in larger areas.

In the Scottish Borders fens rare species occur on sites of all sizes and no species are excluded from small sites. This was also the case in a study of remnant prairies and forests in the U.S.A (Simberloff & Gotelli 1984) although these sites had only been remnants for a short time and the species-area relationship represents a static measure of a dynamic community (Usher 1979 & 1985).

Because area usually accounts for only a small amount of the variation in species richness in different sites the importance of critical minimal areas for conservation of plant communities has not been widely studied (McCoy, 1983; Helliwell 1976). Instead the focus has been on the conservation of individual sites and species.

Little is known about the importance of area *per se* for the conservation of species but there is substantial evidence to suggest that although species-area relations can be a useful guide for the selection of sites that are the most diverse or typical or which contain the most rare species they are probably insufficient to provide more than a snapshot of a community at a particular time and should not therefore be relied upon as an exclusive guide for conservation management (Usher 1985). The importance of a thorough knowledge of the autecology of endangered species and the consideration of the value of individual sites cannot be underestimated.

Shape has been considered as important in the minimisation of edge effects in the conservation of specific species groups (Smith & Charman 1988) and it was largely believed that circular sites, with the smallest edge:area ratio, would be most suitable as reserves for species conservation (Diamond 1975), minimising the risk of nutrient enrichment, damage by livestock, drying out and invasion by other species. The impact of edge effects on vegetation composition is largely dependent on the surrounding land-use. In this study of the Scottish Borders fens the intensity of catchment land-use was significantly negatively related to the species richness of the vegetation so sites surrounded by intensively farmed land contained fewer species than those surrounded by unimproved land. The designation of buffer zones, the water catchment in the case of fen sites, is perceived to be a practical solution to the protection of sites threatened by edge effects. In the current study shape was crudely characterised by the area : perimeter ratio and sites which are approximately circular and those with regular boundaries have relatively large area : perimeter ratios. Blouin & Connor (1985) used a more complicated index of shape and found no significant relationship between shape and total species diversity.

In the Scottish Borders fens there was no significant relationship between bog species richness and site area but there was a positive and significant correlation between bog species richness and area : perimeter ratio. Therefore sites which had a larger area : edge ratio contained more bog species than those with a small area : edge ratio. This was also found in a study of the distribution of ombrothrophic bog vegetation in Northumberland by Smith and Charman (1988). Characteristic bog species thrive in areas isolated from groundwater, conditions which are more likely to occur near the centre of basin fen sites, away from inputs of runoff and telluric water. In sites with a large area : edge ratio the extent of the central habitat is reduced, and reserves with long perimeters relative to site area may have proportionately fewer species characteristic of the central area (Williamson 1975, Margules et al 1982).

In the current study all species richness categories except poor-fen species were significantly correlated with area : perimeter ratio, probably due to the impact of surrounding land-use on vegetation composition in sites affected by nutrient enrichment, but the relationship was weaker for rich-fen and rare-fen species. This may be because not all sites are affected by nutrient enrichment from runoff from the surrounding land and some species may be favoured by conditions nearer the edges of sites especially in areas of spring discharge, or where central areas of the site are colonised by bog and the rich fen and poor-fen species are concentrated nearer the edge.

Isolation of sites has been regarded as undesirable in nature conservation strategies (see Usher 1991) because immigration rates of species have been assumed to be lower in more isolated sites (MacArthur & Wilson 1967). There is little evidence on the effect of immigration and isolation in maintaining species numbers in sites. Moore (1962) found that in the case of certain species of birds and reptiles a distance of 5km was effective in preventing recolonisation of fragments of Dorset heathland and Hooper (1971) suggested that much smaller distances may be effective in preventing recolonisation of fragments of woodland by higher plant species, probably due to small dispersal distances of seeds and the prevention of propagation by vegetative reproduction. Many characteristic fen species are long-lived perennials so the impact of immigration on maintaining their populations is likely to be negligible. The degree of isolation of fen sites in the Scottish Borders showed no relationship to their species richness, and there were no significant differences between the mean species richness of the most and least isolated fen sites. There are no truly isolated sites in the Borders fens because most sites occur in clusters and the nearest site is usually within 1-2km. Also some 'fen' species occur in other habitats, for example stream margins. In addition a number of very small hollows were not included in this study and may be sources of potential colonists.

## 6.4.3 IMPACT OF VEGETATION MANAGEMENT ON SPECIES RICHNESS

The effects of natural immigration and extinction rates and therefore species turnover have been found to be negligible compared to the effects of management in changing community composition (Gibson 1986). In semi-natural habitats land management, and catchment management are as important as biogeographical conditions (e.g. area, isolation) in influencing the occurrence of conservationally important species and plant communities and species richness of sites (Helliwell 1976, Wheeler 1983, Bond *et al.* 1988). In this study managed (grazed) sites contained more species than those which were unmanaged. In natural systems species turnover (extinction and invasion) is inevitable, especially during spontaneous succession. The Scottish Borders fens have traditionally been used as summer grazing for cattle and sheep and in the past the vegetation was cut where the water was too deep for the grazing of livestock.

A lack of management or change of surrounding land management can quickly lead to dereliction and loss of species and renewed management may only encourage the growth of species which are already struggling, not those which have already perished. The cessation of grazing of the fen at Ashkirk Loch since the recent forestry development has already led to the colonisation of the fen surface by *Salix* seedlings. Summer mowing of dense *Phragmites australis* reedbeds at Murder Moss and Blackpool Moss has noticeably increased the cover of associated species *Filipendula ulmaria* and *Caltha palustris* and bryophytes *Calliergon* spp., although there has been no noticeable recovery in the populations of rare species in these areas. There are many documented cases of site dereliction, through cessation of management, especially in areas where management by mowing was traditional, for example the Norfolk Broads (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a).

Hydroseral succession is a feature of many fen sites, especially in the Borders fens where the vegetation at many sites has developed through the hydroseral colonisation of former peat cuttings and marl workings. Some species appear to be dependent upon particular phases in a successional sequence (e.g. *Liparis loeselii*, Giller & Wheeler 1986). The only way to conserve such species may be through the re-excavation of peat cuttings to re-initiate the vegetation succession (Wheeler & Shaw 1995a). The vegetation composition of a site is dependent on many factors unique to individual sites (e.g. management history) which often account for more of the variation found than measured variables (McCune & Allen 1985). Hence the continuation of vegetation management in fen sites for the maintenance of species richness is therefore of major importance in conservation.

# **Chapter 7: General Discussion**

#### 7.1 Controls on vegetation composition

The fen habitat encompasses a wide range of plant communities occurring under a range of environmental conditions. At present rather little is known about the specific establishment requirements, comparative ecology and competitive interactions of typical wetland plant species so the exact constraints on the species composition of fen vegetation remain uncertain. This study has shown that the influences of soil and water chemical conditions, water movement, management history and vegetation succession are of primary importance to the vegetation composition of the Scottish Borders fens.

## 7.1.1 SUBSTRATUM CHEMICAL CONDITIONS

#### 7.1.1.1 Base status

The Scottish Borders fens occur over a wide range of water base-richness. In some plant communities, with well developed vegetation mosaics, there is a striking vertical variation in base-richness. But at depth there is little variation in the base-richness of the fen water between sites in general. The base-richness of the interstitial water (at the rooting zone of the vegetation) corresponds to the primary axis of floristic variation in the Scottish Borders fens (chapter 4). This was also found for British fens (Shaw & Wheeler 1991). Variation in base-richness was the basis for the early categorisation of fen vegetation into rich-fen and poor-fen (Du Rietz 1949, 1954) where rich and poor fens were separated by the 'calciphyte plant limit' (a floristic boundary based on the presence of plants believed to be indicators of base-rich conditions). However it proved difficult to relate this division of poor-fen and rich-fen vegetation to specific chemical conditions so the chemical distinction between rich and poor fen was regarded as a relative one where at any one site the rich-fen vegetation occupied more base-rich conditions relative to the poor-fen vegetation. The split between rich and poor fen vegetation was regarded by Sjors (1950) as an arbitrary sub-division on a continuous gradient of floristic and baserichness variation. In the Scottish Borders poor-fen vegetation was the most chemically-distinct vegetation type with lower concentrations of calcium and lower pH than rich-fen vegetation types. This is probably largely because poor-fen vegetation is characterised by abundant Sphagnum spp. which have been shown to reduce the pH of water through active exchange of hydrogen ions (Clymo 1963). Shaw and Wheeler (1991) observed that poor-fen vegetation tended to have a pH less than 5.5 and rich-fen greater than pH 5.5. This was largely due to the association of more acidic water with plant communities characterised by plentiful Sphagnum.
## 7.1.1.2 Fertility

The fertility of fen soils is primarily determined by the availability of growth-limiting nutrients, especially nitrogen and phosphorus. A more realistic assessment of the comparative soil fertility of fens can be obtained using phytometric procedures than by simple measurements of nutrient concentrations (Wheeler *et al.* 1992). The peat fertility of the Scottish Borders fens corresponds to the secondary axis of floristic variation, which is orthogonal to (and therefore largely independent of) the base-richness gradient (chapter 4). Phytometric fertility and concentrations of phosphate anions in interstitial water show no significant (p<0.05) correlation with pH, suggesting that pH has little value as an indicator of the nutrient status of fens. However pH is significantly correlated with nitrate concentrations and peat fertility is significantly correlated with water calcium concentration, probably because of the application of lime to surrounding agricultural land. Some of the greatest peat fertility values in the Scottish Borders fens were recorded from the inflows and edges of sites surrounded by land used intensively for agriculture.

As a general rule, in British fens and in the Scottish Borders fens, plant communities which are most species-rich and those which contain most rare species are confined to low fertility environments (Wheeler 1988, Shaw & Wheeler 1991). The species-richness of vegetation in the Scottish Borders fens was significantly negatively correlated with fertility and calcium concentrations. The plant communities associated with the lowest average peat fertility were the species-rich small sedge flush community, the mixed sedge rich fen community, *Molinia caerulea* wet grassland and the *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community. Enrichment by agricultural nutrients is detrimental to such species-rich communities (Wheeler 1993).

#### 7.1.2 WATER LEVELS AND WATER MOVEMENT

Wheeler (1993) found that the number of characteristic fen species within fen vegetation is not correlated with water table and that most fen phanerophytes can be grown in garden conditions without supplementary watering. The restriction of some fen plants to waterlogged sites may be due more to their competitive exclusion from drier sites than to their requirement for waterlogged conditions (Ellenberg 1954). Microtopographical zonation occurs within some plant communities in the Scottish Borders fens where different components of the vegetation occur as a small scale mosaic of hummocks and hollows, occupying areas subject to contrasting water conditions.

The effect of water movement on the ecology of fens has proved difficult to study although its potential significance has been emphasised by some workers (e.g. Kulczynski 1949). Water flow may help to supply nutrients to plants in soakways (Ingram 1967). It may also lead to better aeration of the substratum. In British fens soligenous fen soils have higher redox potentials than other fen soils (Shaw & Wheeler 1991). This may explain the occurrence of typically dryland

plants (e.g. *Briza media*) in spring-fed fens. The distribution of typical fen plants within fens may be attributable to the aeration of the substratum as some species are intolerant to strongly reducing soil conditions (e.g. *Molinia caerulea* (Webster 1962)) and typical fen plants show considerable variation in their tolerance of high concentrations of reduced iron (Snowden &Wheeler 1993). Most of the Scottish Borders fens have inflows and outflows, and many sites appear to be fed by marginal springs discharging into the basin so these systems are topogenous (developed in basins) but there is some water movement through them. These fens have been classified as 'percolating fens' (Succow & Lange 1984). The importance of the marginal springs to the hydrodynamics of these Scottish Borders sites has not been quantified.

## 7.1.3 MANAGEMENT HISTORY AND HYDROSERAL SUCCESSION

The present vegetation of the Borders fens has developed through:

- Unmodified succession since the Late glacial;
- The re-vegetation of peat cuttings;
- The re-vegetation of areas which have been recently modified in pond-creation schemes.

## 7.1.3.1 Extraction of peat and marl

Former peat and marl cuttings have re-vegetated in two different ways:

- 1. Where drainage has remained effective the vegetation has colonised the base of the peat cutting, often several metres beneath the former peat surface. Fen meadow and rush pasture are frequently found in these areas, and swamp and species poor fen vegetation in areas with standing water, which are unmanaged and subject to nutrient enrichment. In areas where there are strong springs the substratum has been colonised by species-rich small sedge flush vegetation.
- 2. Where the drains are blocked or ineffective the vegetation has developed as a quaking raft over fluid mud. Rafts support vegetation ranging from species-poor communities to *Carex rostrata* based rich-fen to poor-fen with abundant *Sphagnum* species. One former peat cutting supports embryonic raised bog vegetation with *Sphagnum papillosum* and *Eriophorum vaginatum*.

## 7.1.3.2 Hydroseral succession and the occurrence of Sphagnum - rich vegetation

Many fen sites in the Scottish Borders fens have developed hydroserally, through the colonisation of open water. The pathways of hydroseral succession in British fens have been described by Walker (1970). Bog vegetation is usually the climax community resulting from autogenic hydroseral succession in fens. Un-modified stratigraphic sequences in the Scottish Borders fens show the succession of open water  $\rightarrow$  aquatic communities  $\rightarrow$  fen  $\rightarrow$  bog. In many of the Scottish Borders fens hydroseral succession has also taken place over former peat and marl cuttings within the last 200 years. A range of plant communities occur in former peat and marl cutting in the Scottish Borders fens but the development of *Sphagnum* rich vegetation is of particular interest.

The occurrence of *Sphagnum* coincides with base-poor surface water (chapters 4 & 5). However, in these areas at depth the water is not consistently different from that at sites which do not contain *Sphagnum*. This is true at sites believed to be former peat cuttings and also beneath the bog vegetation in undisturbed peat at Long Moss. The occurrence of *Sphagnum* dominated communities is therefore not simply a function of less base-rich groundwater but a developmental phase controlled by other factors. Potentially all sites in the Scottish Borders fens could probably develop *Sphagnum* rich vegetation.

Different species of Sphagnum characterise different communities. The two most widespread Sphagnum communities in the Scottish Borders fens are the Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community and the Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community. The former community is encountered in small sites which appear to be subject to strong inputs from marginal springs and where the raft is 'grounded' so the distance from the vegetation surface to 'solid' peat is usually less than 150 cms and the vegetation surface may be subject to periodic flooding by base-rich waters from beneath the raft (Whitehaughmoor Moss, Woolaw Loch, Beanrig Moss, Wester Branxholm Loch. Brown Moor Heights). The Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community is commonly found in larger sites, or nearer the centre of sites in areas which do not appear to have strong inputs from marginal springs. In these areas the vegetation is developed as a "floating" raft where the solid substratum lies more than 150 cms beneath the vegetation surface (Nether Whitlaw Moss, Greenside Moss, Buckstruther Moss, Brown Moor Heights, Groundistone Moss, Hutlerburn Loch). It therefore appears that basin topography, combined with the influence of marginal springwater and frequency of periodic flooding are the main factors determining the development of Sphagnum vegetation types in these systems. Except where there are major external inputs of nutrients which exert an effect on the vegetation, the differences in chemistry detected between vegetation types appear to occur as a result of the vegetation development, in particular the development of Sphagnum rich communities, rather than the chemical conditions being a controlling factor in the development of different vegetation types. Basin shape and the influence of marginal springs may also have been of primary importance in determining the vegetation development in the post-glacial period, leading to the differences in peat types and stratigraphic sequences presently found in undisturbed and residual peat deposits in the Scottish Borders fens (chapter 3).

The pattern of hydroseral succession in the Scottish Borders fens where peat formation is most rapid in central areas contradicts some widely accepted models of hover colonisation and littoral colonisation. The mechanisms of *initiation* of raft formation and central thickening do not appear to be satisfactorily explained by existing theories (chapter 5). Greater fluctuation of the water table *relative to the vegetation surface* at the edges of the site, where the raft is firmly anchored to the edge, than in the centre of the site may be responsible (through differential rates of decomposition) for the pattern of raft thickening at the centre of sites described from Scottish Borders fen sites (chapter 5). Once this pattern is established then positive feedback processes may be expected to re-enforce the faster development of the central area through isolation from telluric water, diversion of water flow by the central peat plug, etc.. (Kulczynski 1949, Moore & Bellamy 1974).

#### 7.1.4 MANAGEMENT OF FEN SITES FOR NATURE CONSERVATION

Important factors in the maintenance of the conservation interest of the Scottish Borders fens are the management of fen sites (by grazing) and the management of fen catchments to prevent further nutrient enrichment (chapters 4 & 6).

The past extraction of peat and marl has been important in determining the present vegetation at most fen sites in the Scottish Borders. Successional sequences can be reinitiated by the reexcavation of peat-cuttings and, elsewhere, this form of management is potentially important for the conservation and restoration of some rich-fen plant communities and species (e.g. Liparis loeselii) which are confined to a particular phase in the hydrosere (Wheeler 1993). The range of vegetation types present in the Scottish Borders fens today indicate the potential of the methods of drainage and peat cutting for the manipulation of vegetation. Bog vegetation, often regarded as a successional "climax" community with abundant Sphagnum papillosum and Eriophorum vaginatum, has developed at one site, abandoned in the 1830s. However the communities present in the Borders fens have also been affected by other factors such as nutrient enrichment and grazing / mowing and the initial conditions for the re-vegetation of peat cuttings is often unknown as are the actual processes of raft formation. The size and depth of peat cuttings were found to be important in determining the vegetation which colonised abandoned peat-cutting in Irish Bogs (White 1930). Trials investigating the roles of methods of drainage and re-flooding, the size of peat pits and the practices of returning the turf to the cutting (shoeing the moss) in the revegetation of peat-cuttings would be useful in monitoring the potential of this method for fen vegetation restoration. Vegetation rafts often establish over former peat cuttings and sometimes

these rafts contain species characteristic of soligenous flushes occurring on solid peat substrata (Wheeler 1993). These species are often scarce and a target for species conservation (Wheeler 1988). Their occurrence may be due to the maintenance of a constant water table at the vegetation surface through the hydrostatic environment of a vegetation raft (Giller & Wheeler 1986). This may be similar to the environment at the vegetation surface in a habitat subject to continuous telluric discharge.

## 7.1.5 EXTERNAL VERSUS INTERNAL CONTROLS ON VEGETATION DEVELOPMENT

The template for vegetation development is the initial state of the site prior to colonisation and primary succession. In sites which have been disturbed by peat and / or marl extraction this state is that at abandonment. This template may be altered through time, the water regime may change, for example the site may become wetter as drains become blocked, and the environment may be altered by colonising species through the alteration of the vegetation structure (microtopography) (Van Wirdum 1991) or the alteration of the chemical environment at the vegetation surface favouring the establishment of particular species (Glime *et al.* 1982).

Therefore variation in chemistry and vegetation structure within sites can be caused by internal factors, (e.g. discharge of springs, mineralization rates, nitrogen fixation by roots of leguminous plants, increase in deposition of litter) and external factors (e.g., increased nutrient inputs near site boundaries and inflowing drains, fouling by animals (e.g. seagull populations, ducks), site management (mowing or grazing)).

#### 7.2 Conservation Importance of the Scottish Borders fens

The Scottish Borders fens are characterised by a number of features seldom found in combination elsewhere in Britain. These include:

- Wide range of characteristic and rare fen vegetation types and habitats;
- Populations of nationally rare and nationally scarce plant species including Red Data Book species; Calamagrostis stricta and Hierochloë odorata and abundant populations of the nationally scarce sedge Carex diandra;
- Examples of clear macrotopographical and microtopographical vegetation zonation;
- Quaking rafts of vegetation;
- Documented management histories;
- Peat deposits showing continuous and truncated sequences since initiation during the lateglacial period (Webb & Moore 1982, Tight 1987);

- Basal deposits from the Late Devensian, Allerød interstadial (Webb & Moore 1982);
- Concentration of sites in a small area and the existence of "complexes" of sites.

# 7.2.1 CONSERVATION GOALS

The goals of conservation should include the protection of a range of sites selected to be representative of all aspects of the ecology of the Scottish Borders fens. This requires the conservation of sites which represent the full range of:

- Wetland habitats with examples of each type in different and comparable situations;
- Baseline water chemistry from base-rich to base-poor and including examples along a gradient of nutrient enrichment;
- Documented management history and / or evidence of this;
- unmodified postglacial peat deposits;
- Distinct vegetation zonation (microtopographical and macrotopographical);
- Plant species characteristic of wetland plant communities and nationally and locally rare species;
- Animal species characteristic of wetlands and nationally and locally rare species;
- Catchment land-use;

Table 7.1 summarises the vegetation resource, the physical features and the management history documentation for each site included in the general survey. In terms of selecting sites to represent fully and understand all aspects of the ecology of the Scottish Borders fens (within the scope of this survey) the following rationale is suggested:

- 1. Select all sites with a recorded management history (with examples containing structures relating to their management history, e.g. stone drains, and associated stonework);
- 2. Select all sites containing unmodified peat profiles;
- 3. Select all sites containing rare species and rare communities;
- 4. Select all sites showing distinct micro- and macro- topographical vegetation zonation;
- 5. Check the set of sites for representation of biodiversity (use the set for 5 representations of notable wetland species as a template) and for representation of catchment land use and catchment management scores.

On this basis a set of at least 48 out of 68 sites is required. It must be emphasised that this takes no account of other species groups for example birds, invertebrates for which different factors

		Dlant	nooioo			17								
		7 11/01 7	operies			reg a	elallon					Feature	S	
	Located	Nationally	Regionally	Rich fen	Poor fen	Bog	Species-	Carr	Rare plant	Distinct	[]b-welling	Snrines	I In-modified	Peroriad
	within	rare	rare	•••••		1	poor fen		communities	Zonation	souras	-0J	stratioranhu	History
	E.S.A.	species	species				•••••	·			(well-eves)		(udn Qun uc	<i>k</i> ment
	boundary									_				
nelee Afoss SSSI*		>		>			>	>	~					
Loch SSSI*	>	>	>	>		<b>†</b>	>		×					
A foss NNR*	>	>	>	>				>				.   `		
d Moss	>					t	>					·		
SSO	>					+		>						
Moss				>			>	Ť						
iig Afoss	>			>		-	>							
ol Afoss NNR*	>	>	~	>			>	>						
*ISSS ssc		>		>		>	>					<b>\</b>		
Moss*					-	+	>				,	• \`	•	>
Moss	>			>			>				·	·		
kshiels Loch*							>							
Im Wester Loch SSSI*		>	>	>		>	>	>	>	>		>	,	•
oor Heights pSSSI*	>	>	>	>	•	>		T				. ,	• •	
ther Moss SSSI*					>								•	
ong Moss				>			>							
ds Moss	>						>							
ugh Atoss*	>			>	<b> </b>	<b> </b>	>							\ \
	>							-						
Hoss SSSI*	>	>	>				>	<b>\</b>		>				
Aoss				>										
e Moss*	>	>		>	>		>	1						T
tone Aloss*	>				>	>	>	<b> </b>						7
Afoss	~							1						·
*S8	>		>	>	†			+-				T		Ţ

Table 7.1. Summary of the features of the Scottish Borders fens. Sites in italics are those required to represent all notable mire species at least 5 times including 16 sites already designated as nature reserves. \* denotes sites required in combination to represent all aspects of the ecology of the Scottish Borders fens.

		Plant s	species			Vege	etation					Feature	5.	
Site name	Located	Nationally	Regionally	Rich fen	Poor fen	Bog	Species- (	Carr	Rare plant	Distinct	Up-welling	Springs	Un-modified	Recorded
	within	rare	rare		•••••		poor fen		communities	Zonation	sprines	•	strationnhy	History
	E.S.A.	species	species	••••	•••••	•	•••••				(nell-ever)		(	
	boundary		•		•••••						(mala man)			
Harden Aloss*				•••••		<b> </b>								
Hare Moss	>						<b> </b>							
Hartwoodburn Moss*	>		>		<b> </b>	 		†						
Highchesters Moss						<b> </b>	<b>&gt;</b>							
Hummelknowes Moss SSSI*			>	>			>	<b>\</b>						
Huntley Moss*					   	 	>							
Hutlerburn Loch*			>	>	>	>	 		>	>				
Kippilaw Moss*		>		>			>	<b>\</b>		>				
Ladywoodedge Moss*	>	>	>	>	   				>		>			
Lilliesleaf Moss	>			}			>	<b>\</b>						
Lionfield Moss							  >	-						
Little Moss					<b> </b>		<b> </b>	5						
Long Atoss SSSI*	>	>	>	>	.    		  >		<	>				
Alabonlaw Aloss*				>	<b> </b>	 	 		~	>				
Muirfield Moss*	>		>	>				1-	<ul> <li></li> </ul>					
Afurder Aloss NNR*	>	>	>	>	.		>	<b>\</b>	~					
Nether Whitlaw Aloss SSSI*	>	>	>	•	>	<b> </b>	<b>\</b>	5	>					
Newhouse Moss	>						>	t		T				
Pickmaw Moss*	>		>			 	>							
Riddellshiel Moss*	>	>	>	>			<u> </u>							
Rotten Moss*	>			>				<b> </b>						
Sea Croft Aloss*			>	>	<b> </b>		>		>					
Selkirk Hill Moss*	>	>	>				>	┼╴						
Selkirk Pot Loch*		~	>					$\left[ \right]$						
Selkirk Race Course Moss SSSI*	>		~	>			>	5	>	>				
Shielswood Loch				>			>	┢─						
								ĺ					-	

table 7.1 cont.

		Plant s	pecies			Vege	etation					Features		
Site name	Located	Nationally	Regionally	Rich fen	Poor fen	Bog	Species-	Carr	Rare plant	Distinct	Up-welling	Springs	Un-modified	Recorded
	within	rare	rare				poor fen		communities	Zonation	springs		stratigraphy	History
	E.S.A.	species	species	••••							(well-eyes)			
	boundary						•••••				•			
St. Leonards Moss*			>	>			>	>	>					
Stoneyford Moss*	>			>			>							>
Stouslie Pool	~			>			>							
Synton Courses Loch*	~						>							>
Synton Loch*	~						>							>
Tandlaw Moss*	~		>				>	>						
Tathyhole Aloss*	>				<b>-</b>		>							
Threephead Moss*			~	>					<	>				
Tocher Lodge Moss							>							
Todshawhill Moss*							>							>
Whitehaughmoor Moss W*	~			>			>		~					
117 hitehaughmoor Aloss E*	>	>	<u> </u>	>					>	~		>		
Whitehaughmoor Moss M*	>		>	>					>			>		
Whitmuihall Loch SSSI*	~		>	>			>							>
Whitmuir Moss*	>						>	>						
Woolaw Loch*	>	>		>	>		>		~	~		>		
Woolaw Moss*	>			>										>

table 7.1 cont.



may be important. Many of the Scottish Borders fens support rich assemblages of rare water beetles and some are protected on the basis of this interest (e.g. Buckstruther Moss).

Practically, particularly in the Scottish Borders where the sites often lie in close proximity and have overlapping catchments, it is desirable to protect complexes of sites especially where the surrounding land can be included as a buffer zone. A substantial area of the Central Scottish Borders already lies within an Environmentally Sensitive Area (ESA) (figure 7.1) which affords some protection to fen sites and their catchments if the land-owner or tenant participates in the scheme. Presently 45 of the sites included in this survey lie within the Central Borders ESA boundary including the Whitlaw Mosses NNR and some of the Drinkstone Hill complex of sites (on the site of the former Wilton Common). This area includes sites which contain a number of contrasting fen types and vegetation types some of which are of primary importance for the maintenance of biodiversity and rare species populations (chapter 6) but the boundary of the present E.S.A. excludes Harden Moss, Mabonlaw Moss and Threephead Moss. Many of these sites have a well documented management history making them ideal for comparative studies on the impact of management history on fen vegetation development.

## 7.3 Conclusions

- The Scottish Borders fens are an important series of British fen sites, supporting a range of fen plant communities, many of them rare, and significant and often abundant populations of characteristic, scarce and rare fen plant species. The conservation and management of these sites is necessary to maintain biodiversity and populations of target species and to improve understanding of the impact of management history on processes of fen vegetation development.
- Most of the Borders fens have been modified to a varying extent by peat and marl extraction. Documentary evidence suggests that different sites were cut to a different extent due to the size, shape, quality of peat and ease of drainage. Where the site was easily drained and contained deposits of a very good quality the peat and marl deposits were completely stripped away. At other sites the deposits were only partially removed and a few examples of intact areas exist.
- Un-modified peat stratigraphic sequences from mire initiation during the late-glacial to the present exist at Blind Moss, Branxholm Wester Loch, Long Moss and Brown Moor Heights.

There is no evidence of un-modified stratigraphic sequences at the Whitaw Mosses NNR. Basal Deposits are intact at many sites and often include late-glacial deposits within basal blue-grey clays (Webb & Moore 1982).

- Water chemistry exhibits a high degree of vertical variation in the Scottish Borders fens. The relationship of water chemistry to vegetation is rather general with an axis representing a gradient of base-richness corresponding to the primary axis of floristic variation, and a second axis, orthogonal to that of base-richness, representing a nutrient richness gradient. There are few consistent statistically significant relationships between chemical variables and vegetation types indicating the lack of an absolute causal relationship between the water chemistry and the development of vegetation in the Borders fens. Except in extreme cases of nutrient enrichment and spring discharge it is likely that the differences in water chemistry are a result of other factors influencing the vegetation, for example the establishment and autogenic development of vegetation rafts.
- Hydroseral succession follows a pattern contrary to that widely described from other areas. The thickest rafts are always found nearer the centre of sites; thin rafts and pools can be found in all areas, and hydroseral sites are often surrounded by a lagg of treacherous swamp vegetation with the most stable areas near the centre. These features may be affected by basin size and shape, the steepness of the basin sides, grazing of the margins by cattle, and the nature of the colonising vegetation and the method of colonisation. It is possible that the sites do not represent successional sequences resulting from the direct colonisation of open water, but more complicated events, for example the colonisation of a bare peat surface followed by reflooding and the detachment of rhizomes to form a floating raft.
- There are few strictly ombrogenous areas in the Scottish Borders fens. Some 'raised bog vegetation' occurs at Branxholm Wester Loch, Long Moss, Blind Moss, Brown Moor Heights and Hutlerburn Loch, on solid peat which is believed to be un-disturbed. There is only one example in the Scottish Borders fens of embryonic raised bog developing over a former peat and marl cutting (Groundistone Moss). The development of poor-fen communities from rich fen may be affected by the size and shape of the basin. Deeper sites with floating rafts support poor-fen vegetation containing abundant *Sphagnum* species typical of base-poor conditions whereas some shallower sites with grounded rafts support abundant base-tolerant *Sphagnum* species.

# References

- Al Farraj, M.M., Giller, K.E. & Wheeler, B.D. 1984. Phytometric estimation of fertility of waterlogged rich-fen peats using *Epilobium hirsutum* L. Plant and Soil 81: 283-289.
- Bakker, P.A. 1979. Vegetation science and nature conservation. The study of vegetation (Ed. by M.J.A. Werger), pp. 249-288. Junk, The Hague.
- Beggren, G. 1969. Atlas of seeds and small fruits of North-west European plant species with morphological descriptions. Part 2 Cyperaceae. Ed. by Swedish Natural Science Research Council, Stockholm.
- Beggren, G. 1981. Atlas of seeds and small fruits of North-west European plant species with morphological descriptions.. Part 3 Salicaceae - Cruciferae. Ed. by Swedish Museum of Natural History, Stockholm.
- Bellamy, D.J. & Riely, J. 1967. Some ecological characteristics of a 'miniature bog'. Oikos 18: 33-40.
- Bellamy, D.J., Bradshaw, M.E, Millington, G.R. & Simmons, I.G. 1966. Two quaternary deposits in the lower Tees Basin. New Phytologist 65:429-441.
- Birse, E.L. 1980. Plant communities of Scotland. Aberdeen: Macaulay Institute for Soil Research.
- Blouin, M.S. & Connor, E.F. 1985. Is there a best shape for nature reserves? Biological Conservation 32: 277-288.
- Bond, W.J., Midgley, J. & Vlok, J. 1988. When an island is not an island. Oecologia 77: 515-521.
- Boyer, M.L.H. & Wheeler, B.D. 1989. Vegetation patterns in spring-fed calcareous fens: calcite precipitation and constraints on fertility. Journal of Ecology 77:597-609.
- Clapham, A. R. 1940. The role of bryophytes in the calcareous fens of the Oxford district. Journal of Ecology 28: 71-80.
- Clapham, A.R., Tutin, T.G. & Warburg, E.F. 1981. Excursion Flora of the British Isles. Third Edition.Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Clymo, R.S. 1963. Ion exchange in *Sphagnum* and its relation to bog ecology. Annals of Botany (London) 27: 309-324.
- Connor, E.F. & McCoy, E.D. 1979. The statistics and biology of the species area relationship. American Naturalist 113: 791-833.
- Daniels, R. 1978. Floristic Analyses of British Mires and Mire communities. Journal of Ecology 66: 773-802.

- Den Held, A.J., Schmitz, M. & VanWirdum, G.1992. Types of terrestrializing fen vegetation in the Nederlands. In Fens and Bogs in the Netherlands: Vegetation, history, nutrient dynamics and conservation. Ed by. J.T.A. Verhoeven. Dordrecht, Kluwer.
- Diamond, J, M. 1975. The island dilemma: lessons of modern biogeographic theory for the design of nature reserves. Biological Conservation 7: 426-429.
- Dickson, J.H. 1973. Bryophytes of the Pleistocene: The British record and its chronological and ecological implications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Dodgshon, R.A. 1978. Land improvement in Scottish farming: marl and lime in Roxburghshire and Berwickshire in the eighteenth century. The Agricultural History Review 26: 1-14.
- Du Rietz, G.E. 1949. Huvudenheter och granser i Svensk myrvegetation. Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift 43: 299-309.
- Du Rietz, G.E. 1954. Die Mineralbodenwasserzeigergrenze als Grundlage einer Natürlichen Zweigliderung der Nord- und Mitteleuropäishen Moore. Vegetatio 5-6: 571-85.
- Ellenberg, H. 1954. Uber einige Fortschritte der Kausalen Vegetationskunde. Vegetatio 5-6: 199-211.
- Fuller, R.M. 1986. Taking stock of changing Broadland. II. Status of semi-natural and man-made habitats. Journal of Biogeography 13: 327-337.
- Gibson, C.W.D. 1986. Management history in relation to changes in the flora of different habitats on an Oxfordshire Estate, England. Biological Conservation 38: 217-232.
- Giller, K.E. & Wheeler, B.D. 1986. Past peat cutting and present vegetation patterns in an undrained fen in the Norfolk Broadland. Journal of Ecology 74:219-247.
- Glime, J.M., Wetzel, R.G. & Kennedy, B.J. 1982. The effects of bryophytes on succession from alkaline marsh to Sphagnum bog. The American Midland Naturalist 108:209-223.
- Godwin, H. 1975. History of the British Flora, 2nd Edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Gore, A.J.P. 1983. Introduction. In: Ecosystems of the World, 4A: Mires, Swamp, Bog, Fen and Moor. General Studies(ed. A.J.P. Gore). Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Green, B.H. & Pearson, M.C. 1968. The ecology of Wybunbury Moss, Cheshire. I. The present vegetation and some physical, chemical and historical factors controlling its nature and distribution. Journal of Ecology 56:245-267.
- Hammond, R.F. 1968. Studies in the development of a raised bog in Central Ireland. Proceedings of the 3rd International Peat Congress. Quebec, Canada. pp109-115.
- Hanski, I. & Gilpin, M. 1991. Metapopulation dynamics: brief history and conceptual domain. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 42: 3-16.
- Harrison, S. & Quinn, J.F. 1989. Correlated environments and the persistence of metapopulations. Oikos 56: 293-298.

- Helliwell, D.R. 1976. The effects of size and isolation on the conservation value of woodland sites in Britain. Journal of Biogeography 3: 407-416.
- Higgs, A.J. & Usher, M.B. 1980. Should nature reserves be large or small? Nature 285: 568-569.
- Hill, M.O. 1979. TWINSPAN A FORTRAN programme for arranging multivariate data in a two-way table by classification of the individuals and attributes. Cornell University, Ithaca, New York..
- Hooper M.D. 1971. The size and surroundings of nature reserves. In The Scientific Management of Plant and Animal Communities for Nature Conservation (ed. by E. Duffey and A.S. Watt). pp. 556-561. Blackwell, Oxford.
- Ingram, H.A.P. 1967. Problems of hydrology and plant distribution in mires. Journal of Ecology 55: 711-724.
- Jarvinen, O. 1982. Conservation of endangered plant populations: Single large or several small reserves? Oikos 38: 301-307.
- Jones, R.L. 1977. Late quaternary vegetational history of the North York Moors. V The Cleveland Dales. Journal of Biogeography 4:353-362.
- Katz, N.J., Katz, S.V. & Kipiani, M.G. 1965. Atlas and keys of fruits and seeds occurring in the quaternary deposits of the USSR. Nauka, Moscow.
- Kelts, K. & Hsu, K.J. 1978. Freshwater Carbonate Sedimentation. In: Lakes: chemistry, geology, physics. Ed. A. Lerman. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Kemmers, R.H. 1986. Calcium as a hydrochemical characteristic for ecological states. Ekológia (CSSR) 5: 271-282.
- Kemmers, R.H. & Jansen, P.C. 1988. Hydrochemistry of rich-fen and water management. Agricultural Water Management 14:399-412.
- Koerselman, W., Claessens, D., ten Den, P. & van Winden, E. 1990. Dynamic hydrochemical and vegetation gradients in fens. Wetlands Ecology and Management 1:73-84.
- Kooijman, A.M. & Bakker, C. 1995. Species replacement in the bryophyte layer in mires: the role of water type, nutrient supply and interspecific interactions. Journal of Ecology 83:1-8.
- Kratz, T.K. & DeWitt, C.B. 1986. Internal factors controlling peatland-lake ecosystem development. Ecology 67:100-107.
- Kulczynski, S. 1949. Peat Bogs of Polesie. Memoirs de l'Academie des Sciences et des Lettres, Cracovie Series B. 15:1-356.
- Lambert, J.M., Jennings, J.N., Smith, C.A., Green, C. & Hutchinson, J.N. 1960. The making of the Broads. Royal Geographic Society Research Series 3. Murray, London.

- MacArthur, R. & Wilson, E.O. 1967. The Theory of Island Biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.
- Macaulay Institute for Soils Research (Birse, E.L. & Dry, F.T. ). 1970 a. Assessment of climatic conditions in Scotland. I. Based on accumulated temperature and potential water deficit. Macaulay Institute, Aberdeen.
- Macaulay Institute for Soils Research (Birse, E.L. & Robertson, L.). 1970 b. Assessment of climatic conditions in Scotland. II. Based on exposure and accumulated frost. Macaulay Institute, Aberdeen.
- Macaulay Institute for Soils Research (Brown, J. & Stupley, B.M. ). 1982. Soil Survey of Scotland. South East Scotland (Sheet 7). The Macaulay Institute, Aberdeen.
- Malloch, A.J.C. 1988. Vespan II Lancaster. University of Lancaster.
- Malmer, N. 1986. Vegetation gradients in relation to environmental conditions in northwestern European mires. Canadian Journal of Botany. 64: 375-383.
- Margules, C.R., Higgs, A.J., & Rafe, R.W. 1982. Modern biogeographic theory: are there any lessons for nature reserve design? Biological Conservation 24: 115-128.
- Margules, C.R., Nicholls, A.O. & Pressey, R.L. 1988. Selecting networks of reserves to maximise biological diversity. Biological Conservation 43: 63-76.
- May, R.M. 1975. Island biogeography and the design of nature reserves. Nature 254: 177-178.
- McCoy, E.D. 1983. The application of Island biogeographic theory to patches of habitat: how much is enough? Biological Conservation 25: 53-61.
- McCune, B. & Allen, T.F.H. 1985. Will similar forests develop on similar sites? Canadian Journal of Botany 63: 367-376.
- McVean, D.N. & Ratcliffe, D.A. 1962. Plant Communities of the Scottish Highlands. H.M.S.O. London.
- Moore, N.W. 1962. The heaths of Dorset and their conservation. Journal of Ecology 50: 369-391.
- Moore, P.D. & Bellamy, D.J. 1974. Peatlands. Paul Elek, London.
- Moore, P.D. 1984. The Classification of mires: an introduction. In: European Mires (ed. by P.D. Moore). Academic Press, London.
- O'Connell, M. 1981. The phytosociology and ecology of Scragh Bog, Co. Westmeath. New Phytologist, 87:139-187.
- Palmer, N.W. 1993. Putting things in even better order: the advantages of canonical correspondence analysis. Ecology 74:2215-2230.
- Pearsall, W.H. 1921. A suggestion as to factors influencing the distribution of free floating vegetation. Journal of Ecology 9:241-253.
- Perring, S.H. & Walters, F.M. 1962. Atlas of the British Flora. London: Nelson.

- Prendergast, J.R, Quinn, R.M., Lawton, J.H., Eversham, B.C. & Gibbons, D.W. 1993. Rare species, the coincidence of rarity hotspots and conservation strategies. Nature 365, 335-337.
- Pressey, R.L. 1990. Reserve selection in New South Wales: where to from here? Australian Zoology 26:70-75.
- Pressey, R.L. 1994. Ad hoc reservations: forward or backward steps in developing representative reserve systems? Conservation Biology 8:662-668.
- Pressey, R.L. & Nicholls, A.O. 1989. Application of a numerical algorithm to the selection of reserves in semi-arid New South Wales. Biological Conservation 50: 263-278.
- Pressey, R.L, Humphries, C.J., Margules, C.R., Vane-Wright, R.I., and Williams, P.H. 1993. Beyond opportunism: key principles for systematic reserve selection. Trends in Environment and Evolution 8: 124-129.
- Preston, F.W. 1962. The canonical distribution of commoness and rarity. Ecology 43: 185-215, 410-432.
- Proctor, M.C.F. 1974. The Vegetation of the Malham Tarn Fens. Field Studies 4: 1-38.
- Proctor, M.C.F. 1992. Regional and local variations in the chemical composition of ombrogenous mire waters in Great Britain and Ireland. Journal of Ecology 80:719-736.
- Proctor, M.C.F. 1995. Hydrochemistry of the Raised Bog and Fens at Malham Tarn NNR, Yorkshire, U.K. In: Hydrology and Hydrochemistry of British Wetlands. (eds. J.M.R. Hughes & A.L. Heathwaite). Wiley & sons., Chichester.
- Quinn, J.F. & Harrisson, S.P. 1988. Effects of habitat fragmentation and isolation on species richness: evidence from biogeographical patterns. Oecologia 75: 132-140.
- Ratcliffe, D.A. (editor) 1977. A Nature Conservation Review, vols. 1 and 2. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Ragg,, J.M. 1960. The soils around Kelso and Lauder. Memoirs of the Soil Survey of Britain. HMSO, London.
- Robertson, G.R. & Quinn, J.F. 1988. Extinction, turnover and species diversity in an experimentally fragmented Californian annual grassland. Oecologia 76: 71-82.
- Robson, M.J.H. 1985. An historical account of the Whitlaw Mosses National Nature Reserve. Volume 2. Unpublished report to the Nature Conservancy Council.
- Rodwell J.S., ed. 1991. British Plant Communities Volume 2. Mires and Heaths. Cambridge University Press.
- Rodwell J.S., ed. 1994. British Plant Communities Volume 4. Aquatic communities, swamps and tall herb fen. Cambridge University Press.

- Rose, F. 1957. The importance of the study of disjunct distribution to progress in understanding the British Flora. Progress in the Study of the British Flora (ed. by J.E. Lousley). pp. 61-78. Botanical Society of the British Isles, London.
- Schaminee, J., Weeda, E. & Westhoff, V. 1995. De Vegetatie van Nederland, Deel 2: Plantengemeenschappen van wateren moerassen en natte heiden. Opulus Press, Lieden.
- Scheiner, D. 1976. Calorimetric (Indophenol) method for determination of ammonium -N. Water Research 10:31-36.
- Scottish Natural Heritage. 1991. Whitlaw Mosses Management Plan 1991-1996. Unpublished.
- Segal, S. 1966. Ecological studies of peat-bog vegetation in the North-Western part of the province of Overijsel (the Netherlands). Wentia 15: 109-141.
- Seichab, F.K. 1984. Plant community development in the Byron-Bergen swamp:marl bed vegetation. Canadian Journal of Botany 62:1006-1017.
- Shaw, S.C. & Wheeler, B.D. 1990. Comparative survey of Habitat Conditions and management Characteristics of Herbaceous Poor-Fen Vegetation Types. Contract Survey 129. Nature Conservancy Council, Peterborough. ISSN 0952-4355.
- Shaw, S.C. & Wheeler, B.D. 1991. A review of the habitat conditions and management characteristics of herbaceous fen types in lowland Britain. Nature Conservancy Council, Peterborough (unpublished).
- Shaw, S.C. & Wheeler, B.D. 1992. Agricultural land-use and rich-fen vegetation. In Peatland Ecosystems and Man: an Impact Assessment, (ed. by O.M. Bragg, P.D. Hulme, H.A.P. Ingram & R.A. Robertson), pp. 238-243, University of Dundee.
- Simberloff, D. & Gotelli, N. 1984. Effects of insularisation on plant species richness in the prairie-forest ecotone. Biological Conservation 29: 27-46.
- Sissons, J.B. 1967. The Evolution of Scotland's Scenery. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh.
- Sissons, J.B. 1974. The Quaternary in Scotland: a review. Scottish Journal of Geology 10(4): 311-337.
- Sjors, J. 1950. On the relation between vegetation and electrolytes in North Swedish mire waters. Oikos, 2: 241-258.
- Smith, A.J.E. 1978. The Moss Flora of Britain and Ireland. Cambridge Unversity Press, Cambridge.
- Smith, R.S. & Charman, D.J. 1988. The vegetation of upland mires within conifer plantations in Northumberland, Northern England. Journal of Applied Ecology 25:579-594.
- Snowden, R.E.D. & Wheeler, B.D. 1993. Iron toxicity to fen plant species. Journal of Ecology 81: 35-46.

- Spence, D.H.N. 1964. The macrophytic vegetation of freshwater lochs, swamps and associated fens. in The vegetation of Scotland (ed. by J.H. Burnett), pp. 306-425. Oliver & Boyd. Edinburgh.
- Succow, M. & Lange, E. 1984. The Mire Types of the German Democratic Republic. In: European Mires (ed. by P.D. Moore). pp. 149-175. Academic Press, London.
- Summerfield, R.J. 1974. The reliability of mire water chemical analysis as an index of plant nutrient availability. Plant and Soil 40:97-106.
- Tallis, J.H. 1973. The terrestrialization of lake basins in North Cheshire, with special reference to the development of a 'schwingmoor' structure. Journal of Ecology 61:537-567.
- Tansley, A.G. 1939. The British Islands and their Vegetation. Cambridge University Press, London.
- Ter Braak, C.J.F. 1988. CANOCO, a FORTRAN program for canonical ordination by partial, detrended or canonical correspondence analysis. Agricultural Mathematics Group, Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, Wageningen.
- Tight, J.A. 1987. The late quaternary history of Wester Branxholme and Kingside Lochs. Southeast Scotland. PhD thesis, University of Reading.
- Troels-Smith, J. 1955. Characterisation of unconsolidated sediments. Danmarks Geologiske Undersøgelse IV volume 3. Number 10.
- Usher, M.B. 1979. Changes in the species area relations of higher plants on nature reserves. Journal of Applied Ecology 16: 213-215.
- Usher, M.B. 1980. An assessment of conservation values within a large SSSI, North Yorkshire. Field Studies 5: 323-348.
- Usher, M.B. 1985. Implications of species area relationships for wildlife conservation. Journal of Environmental Management 21: 181-191.
- Usher, M.B. (ed.) 1986. Wildlife Conservation Evaluation. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Usher, M.B. 1991. Habitat structure and the design of nature reserves. In Habitat Structure: the physical arrangement of objects in space, (ed. by S.S Bell, E.D. McCoy & H.R. Mushinsky), pp. 373-391. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Van Diggelen, R., Molenar, W.J. & Koojiman, A.M. 1996. Vegetation succession in a floating mire in relation to management and hydrology. Journal of Vegetation Science 7: 809-820.
- Van Groenewoud, H. 1992. The robustness of Correspondence Analysis, Detrended Correspondence Analysis and TWINSPAN Analysis. Journal of Vegetation Science 3:239-246.
- Van Wirdum, G. 1991. Vegetation and hydrology of floating rich-fens. PhD thesis. University of Amsterdam. Datawyse, Maastricht.

- Van Wirdum, G., DenHeld, A.J. & Schmitz, M. 1992. Terrestrializing fen vegetation in former turbaries in the Nederlands. In Fens and Bogs in the Netherlands: Vegetation, history, nutrient dynamics and conservation. (Ed by. J.T.A. Verhoeven). pp.323-360. Dordrecht, Kluwer.
- Vane-Wright, R.I. 1994. Systematics and the conservation of biodiversity: global, national, and local perspectives. In Perspectives on Insect Conservation, (ed. by K.J. Gaston, T.R. New & M.J. Samways), pp. 197-211. Intercept, Andover.
- Vane-Wright, R.I. 1996. Identifying priorities for the conservation of biodiversity: systematic biological criterea within a socio-political framework. In Biodiversity: A Biology of Numbers and Difference, (ed. K.J. Gaston), pp.309-344. Blackwell, Oxford.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A. 1983. Nutrient dynamics in mesotrophic fens under the influence of eutrophicated groundwater. Proceedings of the International Symposium on Aquatic Macrophytes. Nijmegen. The Netherlands. pp 241-250.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A., Kemmers, R.H. & Koerselman, W. 1993.Nutrient enrichment of freshwater wetlands. In Landscape Ecology of a Stressed Environment (ed. by C.C. Vos & P. Opdam). pp33-59. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A., Koerselman, W. & Beltman, B. 1988. The vegetation of fens in relation to their hydrology and nutrient dynamics: a case study. In: Vegetation of Inland Waters. Handbook of Vegetation Science 15, pp. 249-282. Ed J.J. Symoens. Kluwer Academic Press, Dordrecht.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A., van Beek, S., Dekker, M. & Storm, W. 1983. Nutrient dynamics in small mesotrophic fens surrounded by cultivated land. I. Productivity and nutrient uptake by the vegetation in relation to the flow of eutrophicated ground water. Oecologia 60:25-33.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A., Maltby, E. & Schmitz, M.B. 1990. Nitrogen and phosphorus mineralization in fens and bogs. Journal of Ecology 78:135-148.
- Vermeer, J.G. & Berendse, F. 1983. The relationship between nutrient availability, shoot biomass and species richness in grassland and wetland communities. Vegetatio 53: 121-126.
- Vitt, D.H. & Chee, W.L. 1990. The relationships of vegetation to surface water chemistry of fens in Alberta, Canada. Vegetatio 89:87-106.
- Walker, D. 1966. The late quaternary history of the Cumberland lowlands. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B. 261 (770): 1-210.
- Walker, D. 1970. Direction and rate in some British post-glacial hydroseres. In: Studies in the vegetational history of the British Isles, (ed. by D. Walker & R.G. West) pp.117-139. Cambridge University Press.

- Ward, J.H. 1963. Hierarchical grouping to optimise an objective function. Journal of the American Statistical Association 58: 236-244.
- Wassen, M.J., Barendreght, A., Bootsma, M.C. & Schot, P.P. 1989. Groundwater chemistry and vegetation gradients from rich-fen to poor-fen in the Naardermeer (Netherlands). Vegetatio 79: 117-132.
- Watson, E.V. 1981. British Mosses and Liverworts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Webb, J.A. & Moore, P.D. 1982. The Late Devensian vegetational history of the Whitlaw Mosses, Southeast cotland. New Phytologist 91:341-398.
- Webb, N.R. & Vermaat, A.H. 1990. Changes in the vegetational diversity on remnant heathland fragments. Biological Conservation 53: 253-264.
- Webster, J.R. 1962. The composition of wet heath vegetation in relation to aeration of the ground-water and soil. II. Response of Molinia caerulea to controlled conditions of soil aeration and ground-water movement. Journal of Ecology 50: 639-50.
- Wells, C.E. 1988. Historical and Palaeological Investigations of some Norfolk Broadland Flood Plain Mires and Post Medieval Turf Cutting. PhD Thesis, University of Sheffield.
- Wetzel, R.G. 1960. Marl encrustations on hydrophytes in several Michigan Lakes. Oikos 11:223-236.
- Wetzel, R.G. 1975. Limnology. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia.
- Wheeler B.D. 1975. Phytosociological studies on rich-fen systems in England and Wales. PhD. thesis, University of Durham.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1980a. Plant communities of rich-fen systems in England and Wales. I. Introduction. Tall sedge and reed communities. Journal of Ecology 68:365-395.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1980b. Plant communities of rich-fen systems in England and Wales. II. Communities of calcareous mires. Journal of Ecology 68:405-420.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1980c. Plant communities of rich-fen systems in England and Wales. III. Fen meadow, fen grassland and fen woodland communities, and contact communities. Journal of Ecology 68:761-788.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1983. Vegetation, nutrients and agricultural land use in a north Buckinghamshire valley fen. Journal of Ecology 71:529-544.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1988. Species richness, species rarity and conservation evaluation of rich-fen vegetation in lowland England and Wales. Journal of Applied Ecology 25:331-353.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1993. Botanical diversity in British mires. Biodiversity and Conservation 2: 490-512.
- Wheeler, B.D. 1997. FENBASE (Vesrsion 3.1).

- Wheeler, B.D. & Giller, K.E. 1982. Species richness of herbaceous fen vegetation in Broadland, Norfolk in relation to the quantity of above-ground plant material. Journal of Ecology 70:179-200.
- Wheeler, B.D. & Shaw, S.C. 1987. Comparative study of Habitat Conditions and Management Characteristics of Herbaceous Rich-fen Vegetation Types. Report to Nature Conservancy Council, Peterborough.
- Wheeler, B.D. & Shaw, S.C. 1995a. A focus on fens. In: Restoration of Temperate Wetlands (eds. B.D. Wheeler, S.C. Shaw, W.J. Fojt & R.A. Robertson). Wiley, Chichester.
- Wheeler, B.D. & Shaw, S.C. 1995b. Wetland Resource Evaluation and the NRA's Role in its Conservation. 2. Classification of British Wetlands. Report to the National Rivers Authority.
- Wheeler, B.D., Shaw, S.C. & Cook, R.E.D. 1992. Phytometric assessment of the fertility of undrained rich-fen soils. Journal of Applied Ecology 29:466-475.
- White, J.M. 1930. Re-colonisation after peat-cutting. Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy Volume XXXIX, Section B, Number 21.
- Wilcox, D.A. & Simonin, H.A. 1988. The stratigraphy and development of a floating peatland, Pinhook Bog, Indiana. Wetlands 8:75-91.
- Williams, P., Gibbons, D., Margules, C., Rebelo, A., Humphries, C. & Pressey, R. 1996. A comparison of richness hotspots, rarity hotspots and complemetary areas for conserving diversity of British birds. Conservation Biology 10:155-174.
- Williams, P. 1996. WORLDMAP version 4.13. Privately distributed.
- Williams, W.T. & Lambert, J.M. 1959. Multivariate Methods in Plant Ecology I. Association analysis in Plant Communities. Journal of Ecology 47:83-107.
- Williamson, M. 1975. The design of wildlife preserves. Nature 256: 519.

# **Appendix 1: Site Descriptions**

#### Adderstonelee Moss NT 533 119

A large, fenced, site (12.24ha) surrounded by a mixture of rough pasture and arable fields. The site is drained via a large open outflow and surface drains, some deep occur over the site. Salix cinerea and Betula pubescens fen carr dominates the centre of the site. This is surrounded by rich-fen vegetation (Carex lepidocarpa- brown moss community, Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum community). Phragmites australis is sometimes dominant. A small area of Carex dioica -Carex hostiana rich-fen occurs on flushed peat at the northwestern margins of the site.

#### Ashkirk Loch SSSI NT 476 193

A relatively large (5.02ha) steep-sided fen site surrounding a small Loch. Drained by a surface drain from the loch leading to a deep stone-covered outflow (rumbling cundy). The vegetation is mainly open fen dominated by *Carex diandra, Carex lepidocarpa, Carex rostrata* and *Carex lasiocarpa* with a groundflora of *Calliergon spp.(Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* community) In many areas the water table is permanently high and swamp vegetation dominated by *Phragmites australis* and *Carex rostrata* has developed. On the slopes surrounding the site species-rich *Carex dioica- Carex hostiana* rich-fen vegetation occurs. This site is prone to winter flooding. The surrounding land has been recently developed for forestry and is now ungrazed.

#### Beanrig Moss NT 517 293

A small site (1.35ha) with areas of quaking fen vegetation and *Salix* scrub. It is drained via a central open drain which discharges into Blackpool Moss to the south. A large area of the site supports plant communities characterised by base-tolerant *Sphagnum species (Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community with *Sphagnum contortum* and *Sphagnum warnstorfii*). Along the western margins there is a small population of *Homalothecium nitens* occurring in an area apparently fed by springs and supporting *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* rich-fen. The surrounding land is mainly used as improved permanent pasture. Some areas are mown for nature conservation annually during the summer. The site is fenced and ungrazed.

## Bees Wood Moss NT 447 232

This small (0.12) circular site supports vegetation dominated by Menyanthes trifoliata (Carex rostrata species-poor community, Menyanthes trifoliata variant) which has developed as a

quaking raft. The site is surrounded by forestry plantations of varying ages. The site is drained via an open shallow drain.

## Berry Moss NT 491 250

This moderately sized (1.88ha), square site lies within intensively farmed fields. It is wooded with a canopy of *Salix cinerea* and *Salix pentandra* with a sparse understorey of *Carex disticha*, *Carex rostrata* and *Menyanthes trifoliata*. A deep outflow drain leads from the site. The site is unmanaged.

## Bitchlaw Moss NT 525 121

A very small site (0.28ha) which is mostly open water with a small amount of Carex rostrata -Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum rich-fen vegetation developed as a floating raft. The site is fenced and surrounded by steeply sloping rough pasture. A deep drain, now dammed, leads from the site.

## Blackcraig Moss NT 502 208

A moderately large(2.66ha), long, thin site surrounded by intensively farmed fields. Most of the site is vegetated with rather rank *Filipendula ulmaria* tall herb fen vegetation although there is a small area of *Carex diandra* dominated rich-fen to the western end. The site is effectively drained by a network of surface drains leading to an open outflow.

### Blackpool Moss NT 517 290

This site (3.38 ha) is part of the Whitlaw Moses NNR. *Carex rostrata* and *Carex lasiocarpa* dominated species-poor communities are widespread and often occur as floating rafts. *Phragmites australis* dominated vegetation has developed over silted areas to the northwest. The central area of the site is dominated by *Salix cinerea* and *Salix pentandra* and is very wet. A small area to the northeast supports species-rich rich-fen vegetation but this has become impoverished in recent years (B.D. Wheeler, pers comm). It is drained via a large, deep stone-covered drain (rumbling cundy) and open surface drains. The surrounding land is mainly used as intensive permanent pasture. The site is fenced and ungrazed. Some areas are mown for nature conservation annually during the summer.

## Blind Moss NT 458 183

A relatively large site (5.22ha) with an extensive area of raised bog vegetation adjacent to an area of strongly quaking raft vegetation floating on more than 1.5m depth of fluid peat. Marginal vegetation includes rich-fen dominated by *Carex rostrata, Carex diandra, Carex lasiocarpa* and

*Carex lepidocarpa* with brown mosses often forming a luxuriant groundlayer. A small population of *Homalothecium nitens* occurs along the northeastern margin. There is a surface drain which flows into the outflow stream. An inflow stream discharges into the southwest of the site. The surrounding land is mainly unimproved pasture which has been recently developed for forestry. The site is grazed.

#### Boghall Moss NT 491 186

This site (2.09ha) is fenced and surrounded by intensively farmed arable fields and permanent pasture. The vegetation is dominated by *Filipendula ulmaria* over most of the site with an area of *Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* species-poor fen vegetation in the centre. The site becomes very dry during the summer months. It is drained via a deep, covered drain. There is a 'well-eye' at the eastern margin.

#### Borthwickshiels Loch NT 425 153

Recently modified to create a fishing loch, this site is now mainly open water with peripheral species -poor plant communities dominated by *Eleocharis palustris* and *Carex rostrata*.

#### Branxholm Wester Loch NT 422 110

A large, fenced, site (9.84ha) containing a variety of vegetation types arranged in a distinct centripetal zonation. There is a loch at the northern end and the remainder of the site contains a central area of raised bog vegetation with *Betula* scrub surrounded by *Carex lepidocarpa* - brown moss rich fen, *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* rich-fen and *Carex dioica- Carex hostiana* rich-fen. Well-eyes occur along the mire margins. The surrounding land is little improved with areas of forestry plantation, permanent pasture and moorland. The site is drained via shallow surface streams.

#### Brown Moor Heights NT 458 247

A small (1.13ha) circular site with distinct centripetal zonation of vegetation types. The central area contains raised bog vegetation surrounded by poor fen vegetation and at the edges rich fen vegetation with base-tolerant *Sphagnum* species (*Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* community). Much of the vegetation occurs as a gently quaking raft. The surrounding land is unimproved pasture and the site is grazed. An open outflow drain leads out of the northern end of the site.

## Buckstruther Moss NT 540 120

This site is dominated by a quaking raft of *Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum* poor-fen. There is a network of pools over the site with a larger pool at either end. Betula pubescens scrub occurs

over the site. The outflow is now dammed. The site is fenced and surrounded by moorland and arable fields.

## Clerklands Moss NT 494 253

This fenced site (1.65ha) supports rather rank vegetation with tussocks of *Carex paniculata* and much *Filipendula ulmaria*. Deep, open drains surround the site. The drains flow out of the site into Riddellshiel Loch.

## Curdyhaugh Moss NT 504 282

A small site (0.5ha) receiving drainage water from Murder Moss. The site is vegetated with *Carex lepidocarpa* -brown moss rich fen and wet grassland communites. It is surrounded by a mature forestry plantation and is ungrazed.

#### Dry Moss NT 483 266

A relatively large, fenced, site (6.24ha) surrounded by improved permanent pasture and arable fields. The site is surrounded by deep drains which lead out into a deep outflow. Species-poor plant communities are extensive with *Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* fen particularly prominent.

#### Dunhog Moss NT 474 247

This is a long, thin site (3.03ha)which supports a variety of rich-fen vegetation types around a small central area of 'embryonic' poor-fen with *Salix* scrub. *Carex appropinquata* occurs on this site within the Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum plant community. This site is fenced and the once deep, covered outflow is now partly dammed. The outflow leads to Hare Moss. It is surrounded by improved permanent pasture

#### Fluther Moss NT 548 123

A small (0.32ha), circular site with much *Juncus acutiflorus* rush pasture. *Carex echinata* and *Carex diandra* occur over part of the site. The site is unfenced and lies within arable fields and is drained via a shallow surface drain.

## Greenside Moss NT 518 258

The vegetation at this small site (1.1ha) occurs as a floating raft of vegetation with poor fen dominated by *Sphagnum recurvum* and *Sphagnum fimbriatum* at the centre surrounded by nutrient-enriched rich-fen. A pond along the south edge is used as a duck pond. It is surrounded by a mature forestry plantation and improved fields.

#### Groundistone Moss NT 498 195

This is a relatively large site (3.84ha) consisting of an area of quaking poor fen dominated by *Sphagnum recurvum* and *Sphagnum fimbriatum* surrounded by *Phragmites australis* swamp and pools of water. There is a small area of embryonic bog vegetation.

A deep outflow drain leads from the site but this is blocked. The surrounding land is intensively farmed as permanent pasture and for arable crops. Some cattle grazing occurs around the mire margins.

## Haining Moss NT 467 273

A wooded site (3.17ha) with a canopy of *Salix cinerea* over a rather impoverished understorey with sparse *Carex rostrata* and *Mentha aquatica*. There is a small loch at the eastern end with *Typha* and *Phragmites australis*. The site is fenced and surrounded by improved farmland.

#### Hall Moss NT 489 197

This small site (1.2ha) supports rich-fen vegetation dominated by Carex lepidocarpa, Carex diandra and Carex rostrata. 'Brown mosses' form a sometimes luxuriant groundcover. The site is surrounded by permanent pasture and is drained via a deep and still effective stone-covered drain. It is unfenced and grazed, mainly by sheep.

## Harden Moss NT 449 164

A rectangular site (2.6ha) supporting species-poor swamp plant communities dominated by *Carex rostrata*. Surface drains cross the site but standing water is present most of the year. It is particularly wet around the mire margins. The site is surrounded by a small marginal conifer plantation, rough pasture and moorland.

# Hare Moss NT 468 247

This site was recently modified to create a pond habitat and is largely open water with fringing *Carex rostrata* and *Phragmites australis* dominated species-poor plant communities.

## Hartwoodburn Moss NT 466 269

A small, fenced, site (0.82ha) with a duck-pond at one end. The species-poor vegetation is dominated by *Phalaris arundinacea*. The surrounding land is improved pasture.

#### Highchesters Moss NT 463 145

Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor fen vegetation dominates this site (1.2ha). It is surrounded by improved pasture and drained via an open drain to the north.

#### Hummelknowes Moss NT 515 127

A relatively large site (2.83ha) which is designated as an SSSI. There are well-eyes along the northern edge and central development of Salix scrub. At the southern inflow inwashed silt supports dense *Phragmites australis* reedbed vegetation. Species-rich rich fen communities predominate over the rest of the site. It is surrounded by permanent pasture and arable fields and is drained via an open outflow to the east.

## Huntley Moss NT 413 248

This small site (0.33ha) supports *Sparganium erectum* and *Agrostis stolonifera* dominated species-poor swamp vegetation. The outflow drain has been dammed. The site is fenced and surrounded by improved permanent pasture.

#### Hutlerburn Loch NT 420 253

A relatively large (4.43ha), upland site surrounded by rough pasture and grazed by sheep and cattle. There is a loch at the western end with fringing *Phragmites australis*. Carex dioica - Carex hostiana rich fen vegetation around the mire margins gives way to Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum bog in the centre.

## Kippilaw Moss NT 493 154

A very small (0.76ha) deep site containing central pools surrounded by quaking fen vegetation dominated by *Carex rostrata*, *Carex diandra* and *Carex paniculata*. It is drained by a deep stone-covered outflow drain which is now partly blocked. It is fenced and surrounded by permanent pasture and arable fields.

#### Ladywoodedge Moss NT 488 256

This site (2.26ha) is dominated by *Filipendula ulmaria* tall herb fen vegetation with a few areas of Carex diandra dominated rich-fen. There are some marginal well eyes and a pool containing *Chara*. A wide drain flows along the western edge of the site to the outflow. It is surrounded by improved permanent pasture.

### Lilliesleaf Moss NT 539 251

A large (8.04ha) wooded site with dense *Phragmites australis* dominated vegetation underneath a canopy of *Salix cinerea*. The site is surrounded by intensively farmed arable fields.

#### Lionfield Moss NT 485 161

This site is mainly open water with some fringing species-poor vegetation dominated by *Eleocharis palustris*. It is surrounded by permanent pasture.

## Little Moss NT 540 144

A small (0.71ha), triangular site surrounded by intensively farmed fields. The vegetation is dominated by dense *Phragmites australis*.

#### Long Moss NT 478 185

This site (2.74ha) contains an central area of *Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum* raised bog vegetation to the south surrounded by *Carex lepidocarpa* and *Carex lasiocarpa* dominated rich fen vegetation at the edges and abruptly adjoining an area of strongly quaking raft vegetation to the north. There is an open drain to the north. The steep slopes surrounding this long thin site are used as rough pasture. The site is unfenced and grazed by sheep and cattle.

## Mabonlaw Moss NT 455 167

A central drain runs though this long thin site (1.64ha) leading to a deep, stone-covered outflow. Wet heath vegetation dominates the northern area of the site. *Carex dioica- Carex hostiana* rich fen occurs around the margins. The slopes surrounding the site are used as rough grazing and the site is grazed by sheep and cattle.

#### Muirfield Moss NT 504 204

A large site (3.92ha) with a central drain leading to a deep stone-covered outflow drain. The vegetation is predominantly *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* rich fen vegetation which has colonised the spring fed slopes. There is a small area where the vegetation occurs as a quaking raft. The site is surrounded by unimproved rough pasture and is grazed by cattle and sheep.

#### Murder Moss NT 504 285

This site (8.9ha) contains areas of quaking fen vegetation dominated by *Carex diandra*, *Carex lasiocarpa* and *Carex rostrata*. There are also areas of *Salix cinerea* and *Salix pentandra* fen carr, pools and peripheral well-eyes. It is drained via a deep stone-covered outflow drain. *Phragmites australis* dominated reedbed vegetation has expanded over the western end of the site near the inflow. The site is often flooded. It is fenced and surrounded by improved permanent pasture. The vegetation is mown for nature conservation in the summer.

## Nether Whitlaw Moss NT 508 294

This long, narrow site (4.23ha) contains a central area of *Sphagnum recurvum* dominated poor fen vegetation surrounded by *Carex rostrata* dominated sedge swamp and rich fen. The entire vegetation surface is strongly quaking. The site is drained by a blocked open drain and receives drainage water from Lindean Reservoir. Surrounding fields are used as permanent pasture and for arable crops.

### Newhouse Moss NT 518 234

This site has been recently modified to create a pond. Fringing species-poor vegetation is dominated by *Carex rostrata*.

#### Pickmaw Moss NT 493 281

Largely open water this fenced site (0.8ha)has fringing species-poor Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris vegetation. It lies within intensively improved farmland.

#### Riddellshiel Moss NT 501 253

*Carex paniculata* and *Carex rostrata* dominated species-poor vegetation surrounds a large area of open water. There is a small patch of *Carex acutiformis* dominated vegetation. The site (1.49ha) is surrounded by improved farmland.

#### Rotten Moss NT 460 170

A small (0.5ha), fenced site supporting *Carex rostrata* and *Carex disticha* dominated rich-fen vegetation with some *Salix cinerea* scrub. The site is surrounded by rough pasture.

## St. Leonards Moss NT 483 107

A site containing marginal Carex dioica -Carex hostiana rich-fen vegetation with a central drain leading to a deep stone-covered outflow drain which is now modified with a sluice. *Carex rostrata, Carex lepidocarpa* and *Carex diandra* are abundant at this site. It is surrounded by permanent pasture and arable fields. The site is fenced and ungrazed.

## Sea Croft Moss NT 478 104

A narrow, fenced site (1.23ha) draining into St. Leonard's Moss. *Carex rostrata, Carex lasiocarpa* and *Eriophorum angustifolium* dominate rich-fen plant communities. There is an area of dense *Carex acutiformis* dominated vegetation near the outflow. The site is surrounded by arable fields.

#### Selkirk Hill Moss NT 486 285

This site has been recently modified in a pond creation scheme. *Menyanthes trifoliata and Carex rostrata* dominate the fringing vegetation.

### Selkirk Pot Loch NT 478 283

This site is largely open water with fringing vegetation dominated by *Carex rostrata* with *Iris pseudacorus* and *Ranunculus lingua*. There is an area of dense *Phragmites australis* to the south. The loch supports *Nuphar lutea*.

#### Selkirk Race Course Moss NT 498 276

A small (2ha) but interesting site with a central floating island with rich-fen vegetation dominated by *Carex diandra* with luxuriant groundflora of *Calliergon giganteum* and *Scorpidium scorpioides*. The raft is surrounded by a treacherous raft of *Menyanthes trifoliata* and *Carex rostrata*. *Carex dioica-Carex hostiana* rich-fen vegetation is widespread around the sloping mire margins. The site is surrounded by rough pasture and is grazed by cattle and sheep. A covered outflow leads from the east of the site.

## Shielswood Loch NT 453 191

Mainly open water there is a small area of fen along the south side of the loch. This is dominated by *Carex diandra* and *Phragmites australis*.

#### Stoneyford Moss NT 486 204

This site consists of a network of small hollows supporting species-poor vegetation dominated by *Carex rostrata* and *Deschampsia cespitosa* connected by surface drains which lead to Synton Loch. A small marginal area contains *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* rich-fen vegetation. The surrounding land is permanent pasture.

#### Stouslie Pool NT 490 170

A very small site (0.26ha) with species-poor vegetation dominated by *Carex rostrata* and *Carex paniculata* (*Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* community). There is an open outflow to the east. The site is surrounded by improved farmland.

#### Synton Loch NT 483 206

This relatively large (3.19ha) site has been recently dammed to create a loch and consists mainly of open water with fringing *Carex rostrata*, *Equisetum fluviatile* and *Phragmites australis* species-poor vegetation.

#### Synton Courses Loch NT483 224

A very small site (0.14ha) surrounded by steep slopes. A quaking vegetation raft dominated by *Carex rostrata* fringes open water. The deep stone covered outflow has been partly blocked.

## Tandlaw Moss NT 490 177

A large site (5.33ha) which often becomes very dry. Most of the site is dominated by Phalaris arundinacea dominated vegetation. There is a small loch at the western end which is surrounded by *Salix cinerea* scrub and *Carex paniculata* and *Carex rostrata* dominated vegetation (*Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* community. The site is surrounded by improved farmland.

## Tathyhole Moss NT 475 218

Rather rank, species-poor vegetation dominated by *Filipendula ulmaria* and *Agrostis stolonifera* dominated this small (1.29ha) site. It is surrounded by intensively farmed land and is drained via a central drain leading to an open outflow.

## Threephead Moss NT 450 175

This site (0.81ha) is surrounded by unimproved rough pasture. It is unfenced and well drained. The vegetation consists of hummocks supporting wet heath vegetation with runnels in-between supporting *Carex dioica - Carex hostiana* rich-fen.

#### Tocher Lodge Moss NT 438 231

Largely open water this site has fringing vegetation dominated by *Carex rostrata and Juncus acutiflorus (Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris* community). It has been recently modified and the deep outflow has been dammed.

## Todshawhill Moss NT 452 122

The central area of this site (1.3ha) is dominated by species -poor *Carex rostrata* and *Potentilla palustris* dominated vegetation surrounded by *Filipendula ulmaria* tall herb fen vegetation. There is a shallow central pool. The site is surrounded by improved farmland and a small conifer plantation. It is drained via a peripheral drain leading to a covered outflow.

#### Whitehaughmoor Moss W NT 471 176

A very small site (0.6ha) supporting *Carex diandra* dominated rich-fen vegetation. The site is fenced and ungrazed and is surrounded by rough pasture. It is drained via an open outflow to the south.

#### Whitehaughmoor Moss E NT 474 176

This small (0.3ha) triangular site contains very species rich-fen supporting the rare bryophytes *Homalothecium nitens* and *Cinclidium stygium*. The *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* rich-fen plant community is well developed here. Surrounding fields are unimproved. The site is fenced and there is a shallow outflow to the south.

## Whitmuihall Loch NT 497 272

This is a large site (8.9ha) with a loch at the eastern end, The vegetation is mostly species poor and appears to be nutrient enriched. *Carex rostrata*, *Carex diandra* and *Phragmites australis* are all dominant and often form dense swards. Around the loch there are vegetation rafts dominated by *Agrostis stolonifera* with *Cicuta virosa*. The site is drained via a deep outflow drain to the east. The slopes surrounding the site support woodland to the north and east. Surrounding farmland is improved pasture and rough grazing.

# Whitmuir Moss NT 492 269

A wooded site (5.8ha) with a canopy of *Salix cinerea* and an impoverished understorey with *Carex rostrata* and *Mentha aquatica*. Marginal drains lead to an open outflow. The site is surrounded by improved farmland.

# Woolaw Loch NT461 173

This small (0.4ha) site supports a floating raft with *Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum* richfen vegetation at the eastern end and *Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum / Plagiomnium rostratum* vegetation at the western end. It is surrounded by a mature forestry plantation and has a blocked outflow drain leading from the north of the site. There are nearby springs.

# Woolaw Moss NT 465 172

This site (1.73ha) supports mainly *Juncus acutiflorus* rush pasture vegetation. It is surrounded by steep slopes and is drained via surface drains leading to a very deep stone-covered outflow drain. Part of the site has been recently excavated. It is grazed by cattle and is surrounded by improved permanent pasture.

# Appendix 2: Locations of sampling sites and transects for detailed investigations into aspects of the ecology of some of the Scottish Borders fens.

A number of contrasting Scottish Borders fen sites were selected for detailed investigations into peat stratigraphy, site chemical conditions and peat fertility and vegetation raft development as described in chapters 3-5 of this study. The locations of transects and sampling sites are indicated in tables A2.2 - A2.14 and fen site sketch maps (figures A2.1 - A2.13). The last five columns in each table correspond to different investigations as indicated in table A2.1. The use of a sample site in each investigation is indicated by a tick symbol ( $\checkmark$ ). In all cases the sample code indicated in tables A2.2-2.14 is used throughout this study.

Table A 2.1. Codes for different investigations into vegetation development in the Scottish Borders fens as used in tables A2.2-A2.14.

Chapter and investigation	Code in tables
	A2.2-A2.14
Chapter 3: Stratigraphical investigations past peat and marl extraction and vegetation development in the Scottish Borders fens	Ch.3 strat
Chapter 4: Relationships between chemical composition of fen waters, peat fertility and vegetation composition	
a) Chemistry of Scottish Borders fen waters	Ch.4 water chem
b) Peat fertility	Ch.4 peat fert
Chapter 5: Vegetation rafts: composition, development and chemical conditions.	
a) Raft composition and stratigraphy	Ch.5 rafts strat
b) Chemical conditions at the raft surface and below the raft	Ch.5 rafts chem

The following symbols are used in figures 2.1 - 2.13:

Boundary of wetland vegetation.

- Boundary of site (e.g. fence) which does not coincide with the boundary of
- wetland vegetation.
- × Sampling site.
- ----- Transect and sampling site.
- $\rightarrow$   $\rightarrow$  Drains, water inflows and outflows.



Figure A2.1. Locations of transect and sample sites at Ashkirk Loch. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
1		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
AL1	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium		✓	✓		
	rostratum community, Carex diandra variant		<u>.</u>			
AL2 (edge)	Molinia caerulea wet grassland		✓	✓		
AL3 (inflow)	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen		✓	✓		
AL4	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium rostratum community. Carex diandra variant		✓	✓		
AL5	Mixed sedge rich-fen community		<b>√</b>	<		
AL6	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		<b>√</b>	<b>~</b>		
AL7	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant		<b>√</b>	✓		
AL8	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant		✓	<ul> <li></li> </ul>		

Table A2.2. Sample sites at Ashkirk Loch, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.1. Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.



Figure A2.2. Locations of transects and sampling sites at Beanrig Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
<b>f</b>		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
BE1(edge)	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community		✓	✓		
BE2	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant		-	~		
BE3 (edge)	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community		✓	✓		
BE4 (edge)	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant		~	~		
BE5	Juncus acutiflorus rush pasture community		✓	✓		
BE6 (edge)	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community		$\checkmark$	✓		
BE7	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community		✓	_		✓

Table A2.3. Sample sites at Beanrig Moss, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.2. Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.


```
Figure A 2.3. Locations of sampling sites at Blind Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).
```

Table A2.4. S	ample sites at Blind Moss,	corresponding to the locations	marked on figure A2.3. Plant
communities (	correspond to those describ	ed in chapter 2 of this study.	

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
BL1	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>				
BL2	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum					✓
	community					



Figure A2.4. Locations of sampling sites at Brown Moor Heights. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
-		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
BMHI	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community				✓	
BMH2	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	~				
BMH3	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	~				

Table A2.5. Sample sites at Brown Moor Heights, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.4. Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.



Figure A2.5. Locations of sample sites at Greenside Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m)

Table A2.6. Sample sites at Greenside Moss, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.5.
Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
-		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
GREEN1	Carex rostrata - Sphagnum recurvum community				✓	
GREEN2	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum /				✓	
	Plagiomnium rostratum community, typical variant.					



Figure A2.6. Locations of sampling sites at Groundistone Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
-		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
GM1(inflow)	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		✓	✓		
GM2 (edge)	Phragmites australis reedbed community		<b>~</b>	✓		
GM3 (edge)	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		<b>~</b>	•		
GM4	Eriophorum vaginatum - Sphagnum papillosum community	~				✓

 Table A2.7. Sample sites at Groundistone Moss, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.6.

 Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.



Figure A2.7. Locations of transect and sampling sites at Kippilaw Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Table A2.8. Sample sites at Kippilaw Moss, corresponding to the locat	tions marked on figure A2.7. Plant
communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.	

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
-		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
K1(edge)	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium		✓	✓	✓	
	rostratum community, Carex diandra variant					
K2	Carex rostrata species-poor community		✓	1	<b>√</b>	
K6	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium		✓	✓	✓	
K5	Carex rostrata species-poor community		✓	✓	✓	
K4 (edge)	Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium rostratum community, Carex diandra variant		~	<b>~</b>		
К3	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		1	<b>~</b>		
K7	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		~	~		



chem C.h.5 rafts Figure A 2.9. Locations of transect and sampling sites at Murder Moss. Scale 1: 3500 (1cm = 35m). C.h.5 rafis strat Ch.4 water peat fert chem C'h.4 C'h.3 strat Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum, Plagiomnium Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagionnium Carex rostrata - Calliergon cuspidatum/Plagiomnium communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study. ۱ Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor rostratum community, Carex diandra variant rostratum community, Carex diandra variant Phragmites australis reedbed community rostratum community, typical variant rostratum community, typical variant Mixed sedge rich-fen community o = `well-eyes' Plant community community community MU1 (inflow) MU6 (inflow) Sample code MU2 (edge) 0 8 × 8 MU8 MU3 MU4 MU5 MU7 'ISLAND' ×7 a 0 ٥n 2 ŝ ø ∢ 0 Pools ï١ i \ \ 0

Table A2.10. Sample sites at Murder Moss, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.9. Plant





Figure A2.11. Locations of transect and sampling sites at St Leonard's Moss. Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
1		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
SL1(outflow)	Carex rostrata species-poor community		✓	✓		
SL2	Phragmites australis reedbed community		✓	✓		
SL3 (edge)	Mixed sedge rich-fen community	✓	✓	✓		
SL4	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	✓	✓	✓		
SL5	Filipendula ulmaria tall-herb fen	✓	✓	✓		
SL6 (edge)	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community	✓	✓	✓		
SL7	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		1	✓		
SL8 (inflow)	Carex rostrata - Potentilla palustris species-poor community		<b>v</b>	✓		

Table A2.12. Sample sites at St Leonard's Moss, corresponding to the locations marked on figure A2.11. Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.



Figure A2.12. Locations of transect and sampling sites at Whitehaughmoor Moss (east basin). Scale 1:2500 (1cm = 25m).

Table A2.13. Sample sites at Whitehaughmoor Moss (east basin), corresponding to the locations marked
on figure A2.12. Plant communities correspond to those described in chapter 2 of this study.

Sample code	Plant community	Ch.3	Ch.4	Ch.4	Ch.5	Ch.5
-		strat	water	peat	rafts	rafts
			chem	fert	strat	chem
WHM1(outflow)	Mixed sedge rich-fen community		✓	✓	✓	
WHM2	Mixed sedge rich-fen community		✓	✓	✓	
WHM3 (edge)	Carex dioica - Carex hostiana community		✓	✓		
WHM4	Carex diandra - Sphagnum contortum community		✓	✓		✓



## Appendix 3:

## Notable mire species (all rich-fen species (RFS), poor-fen species (PFS), bog species (BGS), rare fen species (RFS)) and nationally and locally rare species recorded in the Scottish Borders fens survey.

Species	RFS	PFS	BGS	RARE	Nationally rare*	Locally rare*
Almus glutinosa	X	Τ				
Aneura pinguis	x					
Angelica sylvestris	X					
Aulacomnium palustre	X	X	X			
Bryum pseudotriquetrum	X	1				
Calamagrostis stricta	X			X	X	X
Calliergon cordifolium	X	X				
Calliergon cuspidatum	X	Х				
Calliergon giganteum	X			X	X	
Calliergon stramineum		X		X		
Caltha palustris	х					
Campylium stellatum	X	X				· [ ]
Carex acuttformis	X					
Carex appropinguata	X			Ī	X	
Carex curta		X	X			
Carex diandra	X	X		X	X	
Carex dioica	X			X		
Carex disticha	X					
Carex echinata	X	X				
Carex hostiana	Х	X		X		
Carex lasiocarpa	X	X		Х	X	
Carex lepidocarpa	X		1			
Carex limosa		X		X	X	X
Carex nigra	Х	Х	_			
Carex panicea	X	X				
Carex panıculata	X	[				
Carex pulicaris	X		Τ	X		
Carex rostrata	X	X	T			
Carex vesicaria	X					
Cicuta virosa	X			X	X	X
Cinclidium stygium	X			X	X	
Cirsium palustre	x					
Climacium dendroides	X					
Corallorhiza trifida				X		
Cratoneuron commutatum	X			X		
Dactylorhiza fuchsii	X					
Dactylorhiza incarnata	X					
Dactylorhiza purpurella	X			X		X
Drepanocladus revolvens	X	Х				
Drosera rotundifolia	X	X	X			
Dryopteris carthusiana	X					
Eleocharis palustris	x	X		ļ	1	
Eleocharis quinquestora	X			X		
Epilobium hirsutum	X	ļ				
Epilobium palustre	X	X				
Epilobium parviflorum	x				1	
Equisetum fluviatile	x	X	ļ		4	
Equisetum palustre	x	X			1	
Erica tetralix		X	x			
Eriophorum angustifolium	X	Х	X		1	
Eriophorum latifolium	X			X	X	X
Eriophorum vaginatum		X	X			
Filipendula ulmaria	x	ļ				
Fissidens adjunthouses		1	1	1		
I ISTUETS CONTINUES	X					
Galtum palustre	X X					
Galium palustre Galium uliginosum	X X X					
Galium palustre Galium uliginosum Homalothecium nitens	X X X	X		X	x	
Galium palustre Galium uliginosum Homalothecium nitens Hydrocotyle vulgaris	X X X X	X X		x	x	
Galium palustre Galium uliginosum Homalothecium nitens Hydrocotyle vulgans Iris pseudacorus	X X X X X	X X		x	x	
Galium palustre Galium uliginosum Homalothecium nitens Hydrocotyle vulgaris Iris pseudacorus Juncus acutiflorus	X X X X X X X	X X X		X	x	

Species	RFS	PFS	BGS	R4RE	Nationally rare*	Locally rare*
Juncus articulatus		+			+-	+-
Juncus bulbosus						+
Juncus effusus		-1 <del>x</del>		+	+	
Lychnis flos-cuculi					+	
Mentha aquatica		-x				
Menvanthes trifoliata	- IX	Tx				-
Molima caerulea		-tx-	$-\frac{\alpha}{v}$	-+	+	
Myha anomala			T			
Myosotis laxa caespitosa	x				-+	
Myosotis scorpioides		+				
Narthecium ossifragum		X	x	- †		-
Odontoschisma spahgni		X	$-\frac{1}{x}$		-	+-
Parnassia palustris	X		-	Tx	-1	+
Pedicularis palustris	$-\mathbf{x}$	X	-1	+	+	+
Pellia endiviifolia	X	1	1	X	-	
Phalaris arundinacea	X					- †
Philonotis calcarea	X		1-	X	1	
Philonotis fontana	X	X		X	-1	
Phragmites australis	X	X			1	1-
Pinguicula vulgaris	X	X	-	X	1	
Plagiomnium rostratum	X			1		1
Polytrichum alpestre		X	X			
Potamogeton coloratus	X			X	X	X
Potamogeton polygonifolius	X	X				
Potentilla palustris	X	X				I
Pyrola rotundifolia	Х	X		X	X	X
Ranunculus flammula	X	Х		X		
Ranunculus lingua	Х			X	Х	Х
Rhizomnium pseudopunctatum	X	_		X	Х	
Sagina nodosa	X	$\downarrow$	<u> </u>	Х	+	_
Salix cinerea	X				-	-
Salix pentandra	X	<u> </u>		X	<b>_</b>	1
Salix repens agg.	<u> </u>	1				<b>-</b>
Scorpidium scorpioides		<u></u>	<u> </u>	<u></u>	<b>_</b>	1
Scutellaria minor	-X	+	4	-	<u> </u>	X
Selaginella selaginoides		<u></u>	+	<u> </u>	X	+
sparganium minimum	$-\mathbf{x}$				X	
Spriagnum auriculatum			X	+		+
Sphagnum capilijolium		X V	+ <u>x</u>	1	+	+
Sprugnum contortum	$-\frac{1}{1}$	X	- <del> .</del>	<u> x</u>	<u>+x</u>	+
Sphagnum cuspiaaium		1 <u>~</u>		+	┨───	
Sphagnum jimoriatum			1 <u>×</u>			
Sphagnum juscum		+				+
Sahaanum maaallamaan		-		<u> ^</u>	<u>+?</u>	+
phagnum magenanicum			+	+	+	+-
phagnum panilo		$\frac{1}{V}$	$\frac{1}{v}$	+	╉───	+
phagnum papillosum		$\frac{A}{V}$	$\frac{1}{x}$	+	+	+
phasnum squarroeum	· ·	1x	<u>+</u> ^-	+	+	+
phagnum subnitens	$-\mathbf{x}$	ix	x	+	+	+
phagnum teres		Tx -	<del> `</del>	x	x	+
phagnum warnstorfi	x	x	+	İx -	<del>İx</del>	+
itellaria alsine	- x	† <del></del>	+	+ <u> </u>	† <del>:</del>	+
riglochin palustris	x	1	† ·	†	t	
ypha lattfolia	- x	+-	+	+	1	1
itricularia minor	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	+	+	$\mathbf{x}^{-}$	tx -	1x
accinium oxycoccos		x	1x	<u> </u>	† <u> </u>	†
aleriana dioica	X	† <u> </u>	†	<u>† – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –</u>	t —	1
eromca scutellata	x	1	1-	x	<u> </u>	†
	_		4		·	+

.